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Dear Partners:

We are pleased to provide the 2012 annual report for United Development Funding IIT, L.P. ("UDF 1I17).

Fiscal 2012 was another strong year for UDF III. Earnings per unit for the year ended December 31,2012, were
$2.04, down 2.4% from the previous year of $2.09 per unit. This decline in earnings was due primarily to the
prudent increase in the general reserve and the absence of origination fees typically associated with new loan
originations. 'The fund remains fully invested and for the seventh consecutive year UDF 11 paid a monthly
annualized distribution of 9.75% to its investors, all covered from earnings from operations.

We continue to be pleased with our operating and financial performance. As of December 31, 2012, we have
funded an aggregate of 60 loans (including 33 that have been repaid in full), totaling approximately $572.3
million. No loans were funded in calendar year 2012 and we sold one loan participation.

Throughout the six year housing recession, UDF IIl concentrated its lending activities in the largest
homebuilding markets in the country, with affordable and stable home prices, balanced supply, and healthy
economies and strong demand fundamentals.  Currently, 95% of the UDF II portfolio is concentrated in
major Texas homebuilding markets, including Austin, Dallas-Fort Worth, Houston, and San Antonio. The
Texas markets are all among the 15 largest homebuilding markets in the country, and each market recently was
noted by the Brookings Institution as being in the top six of the 100 largest metropolitan areas for economic
performance since the end of the recession (as ranked by unemployment, job growth, home price increase,
and growth in gross metropolitan product). -We also have assets in Colorado (3%) and Arizona (2%). In
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- As foif December 31, 2012, we have funded an aggfeg'ate
. 1‘9fj60iléa;ns (indudjhg 33 that have been repaid mfuﬂ), ’ '
~ totaling approximately $572.3 million. ;

recent annual report published on the SEC’s website
(Form 10-K, filed April 1,2013). This section provides
a‘high level of detail which confirms our adherence
to our underwriting standards and our decisions to
concentrate investment in the Texas markets.

2012, construction permits for single-family homes
in Texas increased over 20% from the previous year,
and new home sales and starts increased in all four
major Texas markets. Notably, the market of Houston
had more single-family home permits issued in 2012
than 47 states and the Dallas-Fort Worth housing
market had more single-family home permits issued’ ' As we enter our 8th year of operations in fiscal 2013,
than 46 states. Employment in Texas has also grown': we continué to be pleased with the performance of
by 260,800 in the past 12 months, substantially all . - UDF IIT and remain strongly confident that we are
of which were private sector jobs. For a more in-' well-positioned going forward. We intend to continue
depth discussion of the markets in which UDF III has = 'to manage our portfolio while maintaining liquidity,
concentrated its lending and how management has.  protecting asset. value “and = maximizing ~earnings:
identified those markets, please see the section titled; - We ‘thank you for your investment and continued
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial support, and we look forward to updating you in
Condition and Results of Operations” in our most - fature quarters.

Sincerely, UMT Services, Inc. Board of Directors

TODD E ETTER HOLLIS M GREENLAW MICHAEL K. WILSON
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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

[Mark One]
‘ ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
- SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal_ year ended December 31; 2012

OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from 4 to

Commission File Number: 000-53159

United Development Funding III, L.P.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

: Delaware 20-3269195
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or (L.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
organization)

1301 Municipal Way, Suite 100, Grapevine, Texas 76051
(Address of principal executive offices)
(Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (214) 370-8960

Securities registered pursuant to section 12(b) of the Act:
None

Securities registered pursuant to section 12(g) of the Act:
Units of Limited Partnership Interest

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.
Yes O No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.
Yes O No

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to
file such reports) and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes No O



Indicate by check mark whéther the registrant has submitted electronically arid posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every
Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 months
(or for such shorter period that the régistrant was required to subniit and post such files). Yes ® No [

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will
not be contained, to the best of the registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by
reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller
reporting company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule
12b-2 of the Exchange Act. ' ’

Large accelerated filer [ Accelerated filer [

Non-accelerated filer IZI ‘Smaller reporting company O

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes O No X

While there is no established market for the Registrant’s units of limited partnership interest, the Registrant has made an initial
public offering of its units of limited partniership interest prsuant to a Registration Statement on Form S-11. The Registrant
ceased offering units of limited partnership interest in its primary offering on April 23, 2009. The last price paid to acquire a unit
in the Registrant’s primary public offering was $20.00. On March 6, 2012, the general partner of the Registrant approved an
estimated value per unit of the Registrant’s limited partnership interests of $20.00 derived from the estimated value of the
Registrant’s assets, less the estimated value of the Reglstrant’ s liabilities, and the execution of the Registrant’s business model,
divided by the number of units outstanding. There were approximately 18,564, 705 units of limited partnership interest held by
non-affiliates at June 30, 2012, the last business day of the Registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter.

As of March 15, 2013, the Registrant had 18,913,172 units of limited partnership interest outstanding.
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Forward-Looking Statements -

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements, including discussion and analysis of
United Development Funding III, L.P. (which may be referred to as the “Partnership,” “we,” “us,” “our,”
or “UDF III”), our financial condition, our investment objectives, amounts of anticipated cash
distributions to our limited partners in the future and other matters. Our statements contained in this
annual report that are not historical facts are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section
27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, and are the intent, belief or current expectations of our management based on their
knowledge and understanding of the business and industry. Words such as “may,” “anticipates,”
“expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “seeks,” “estimates,” “would,” “could,” “should” and variations
of these words and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These
statements are not guarantees of our future performance and are subject to risks, uncertainties and other
factors, some of which are beyond our control, are difficult to predict and could cause actual results to
differ materially from those expressed or forecasted in the forward-looking statements.

9 <6

Forward-looking statements that were true at the time made may ultimately prove to be incorrect
or false. We caution investors not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which reflect
our management’s view only as of the date of this Form 10-K. We undertake no obligation to update or
revise forward-looking statements to reflect changed assumptions, the occurrence of unanticipated events
or changes to future operating results. Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from any
forward-looking statements made in this Form 10-K include changes in general economic conditions,
changes in real estate conditions, development costs that may exceed estimates, development delays,
increases in interest rates, residential lot take down or purchase rates or inability to sell residential lots
experienced by our borrowers, and the potential need to fund development costs not completed by the
initial borrower or other capital expenditures out of operating cash flows. The forward-looking statements
should be read in light of the risk factors identified in the “Risk Factors” section of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

PARTI1
Item 1. Business.
General

United Development Funding III, L.P. was organized on June 13, 2005 as a Delaware limited
partnership. Our principal business purpose is to originate, acquire, service, and otherwise manage, either
alone or in association with others, a portfolio of mortgage loans that are secured by real property or
equity interests that hold real property already subject to other mortgages (including mortgage loans that
are not first in priority and participation interests in mortgage loans) and to issue or acquire an interest in
credit enhancements for the benefit of borrowers, such as guarantees or letters of credit.

"We concentrate on making development loans to single-family lot developers who sell their lots
to national and regional home builders, as well as making loans to entities created by home builders in
conjunction with our general partner or affiliates of our general partner for the acquisition of property and
development of residential lots. We seek to make or acquire loans primarily with respect to projects
where the completed subdivision will consist of homes at or below the median price of the U.S. housing
market. Please see the financial statements and the notes accompanying the financial statements included
in this Annual Report for information regarding our revenues, profits and total assets for each of the last
three fiscal years.



We were organized by our general partner, UMTH Land Development, L.P., a Delaware limited
partnership (“Land Development”). Land Development is responsible for our overall management,
conduct and operation. Our general partner has authority to act on our behalf in all matters respecting us,
our business and our property. The limited partners take no part in the management of our business or
transact any business for us and have no power to sign for or bind us; provided, however, that the limited
partners, by a majority vote and without the concurrence of the general partner, have the right to: (a)
amend the Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership governing the Partnership,
as amended (the “Partnership Agreement”), (b) dissolve the Partnership, (¢) remove the general partner or
any successor general partner, (d) elect a new general partner, and (e) approve or disapprove a transaction
entailing the sale of all or substantially all of the real properties acquired by the Partnership.

UMT Holdings, L.P. (“UMT Holdings”) holds 99.9% of the limited partnership interests in our
general partner. UMT Services, Inc. (“UMT Services”) owns the remaining 0.1% of the limited
partnership interests in our general partner and serves as its general partner. Theodore “Todd” F. Etter, Jr.
and Hollis M. Greenlaw, who are directors of UMT Services, own 100% of the equity interests in UMT
Services. UMT Services is the general partner and owns 0.1% of the limited partnership interests in UMT
Holdings. The remaining 99.9% of the limited partnership interests in UMT Holdings are held as follows
as of December 31, 2012: Todd F. Etter (30.00%), Hollis M. Greenlaw (30.00%), Craig A. Pettit
(5.00%), Christine A. Griffin (1.95%), Timothy J. Kopacka (4.84%), William E. Lowe (1.06%), Michael
K. Wilson (7.41%), Ben L. Wissink (10.09%), Cara D. Obert (4.82%) and Melissa H. Youngblood
(4.83%). For more information regarding the relationships of our key personnel to our general partner
and its affiliates, see the diagram in “Item 1, Business — Investment Objectives and Policies — Conflicts of
Interest” and see “Item 10, Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance — Key Personnel.”

Land Development has been engaged to provide asset management services for four investment
partnerships (United Development Funding, L.P. and its subsidiaries (“UDF I"), United Development
Funding II, L.P. (“UDF II”), UDF TX Two, LP and United Development Funding Land Opportunity
Fund, L.P. (“UDF LOF”)) and one real estate investment trust (United Development Funding IV (“UDF
IV”)). Land Development also holds a 99.9% partnership interest in UMTHLD FLF I, L.P., UMTHLD
FLF II, L.P. and United Development Funding X, L.P. (“UDF X”), with the remaining 0.1% interest
owned by UMT Services. In addition, Land Development owns :100% of the interests in UDF Land GP,
LLC, which serves as the general partner of the general partner of UDF LOF, an investment partnership.
Please see “Item 1, Business — Investment Objectives and Policies — Conflicts of Interest” for a diagram
illustrating the relatlonshlps of the aforementioned people and entities. 21% of our portfolio consists of
current performing investments with affiliates of Land Development. For the years ended December 31,
2010, 2011 and 2012, we paid Land Development and its affiliates approximately $2.0 million, $7.5
million and $9.0 million, respectively, for compensation, distributions, and other fees. For the years
ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012, we incurred general and administrative expenses — related
parties (including amortization of certain fees paid in prior years) to Land Development and its affiliates
of approximately $2.8 million, $2.7 million and $2.8 million, respectively. Please see “Item 13, Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence — Transactions with Related Persons”
for a detailed description of these investments, payments and expenses.

On May 15, 2006, our Registration Statement on Form S-11, covering an initial pubhc offering
(the “Offering”) of up to 12,500,000 units of limited partnership interest at a price of $20 per unit (the
“Primary Offering”), was declared effective under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The
Registration Statement also covered up to 5,000,000 units of limited partnership interest to be issued
pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan (“DRIP”) at a price of $20 per unit. On July 3, 2006, we
accepted our initial public subscribers as limited partners. We had the right to reallocate the units of
limited partnership interest we were offering between the Primary Offering and our DRIP, and pursuant to
Supplement No. 8 to our prospectus regarding the Offering, which was filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on September 4, 2008, we reallocated the units being offered such



that 16,250,000 units were offered pursuant to the Primary Offering and 1,250,000 units were offered
pursuant to the DRIP. Pursuant to Supplement No. 11 to our prospectus regarding the Offering, which
was filed with the SEC on March 6, 2009, we further reallocated the units being offered such that
16,500,000 units were offered pursuant to the Primary Offering and 1,000,000 units were offered pursuant
to the DRIP. The aggregate offering price for the units was $350 million. The Primary Offering was
terminated on April 23, 2009. We extended the offering of our units of limited partnership interest
pursuant to our DRIP until the earlier of the sale of all units of limited partnership interest being offered
pursuant to our DRIP or May 15, 2010; provided, however, that our general partner was permitted to
terminate the offering of units pursuant to our DRIP at any earlier time.

On June 9, 2009, we held a special meeting of our limited partners as of April 13, 2009, at which
our limited partners approved three proposals to amend certain provisions of our Partnership Agreement
for the purpose of making available additional units of limited partnership interest for sale pursuant to an
Amended and Restated Distribution Reinvestment Plan (“Secondary DRIP”). On June 12, 2009, we

registered 5,000,000 additional units to be offered pursuant to our Secondary DRIP at a price of $20 per
unit in a Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-159939). As such, we ceased offering units
under the DRIP as of July 21, 2009 and concurrently commenced our current offering of units pursuant to
the Secondary DRIP. The aggregate offering price for the units being offered pursuant to the Secondary
DRIP is $100,000,000. The Secondary DRIP will be available until we sell all $100,000,000 worth of
units being offered; provided, however, that our general partner may terminate the offering of units
pursuant to the Secondary DRIP at any earlier time.

As of December 31, 2012, we had issued an aggregate of 18,827,498 units of limited partnership
interest in the Offering and the Secondary DRIP, consisting of 16,499,994 units that have been issued to
our limited partners pursuant to our Primary Offering in exchange for gross proceeds of approximately
$330.3 million, 716,260 units of limited partnership interest issued to limited partners in accordance with
our DRIP in exchange for gross proceeds of approximately $14.3 million, and 1,946,931 units of limited
partnership interest issued to limited partners in accordance with our Secondary DRIP in exchange for
gross proceeds of approximately $39.0 million, minus 335,687 units of limited partnership interest that
have been repurchased pursuait to our unit redemption program for approximately $6.7 million. Our
limited partnership units are not currently listed on a national exchange, and we do not expect any public
market for the units to develop. :

Our Partnership Agreement provides that we will continue in existence until December 31, 2028,
unless sooner terminated as provided in the Partnership Agreement or unless such term is extended by the
general partner and the majority vote of the limited partners.

Loan Portfolio

As of December 31, 2012, we had originated 60 loans (33 of which were repaid in full by the
respective borrowers) with an aggregate principal amount of approximately $572.3 million. As of
December 31, 2012, there are approximately $36.6 million of commitments to be funded, including
approximately $22.4 million to related parties, under the terms of mortgage notes receivable and
participation interests. During the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012, we originated 2, 2 and
0 loans, respectively, purchased 1, 0 and 0 loans, respectively, sold 5, 3, and 1 loan participations,
respectively, and did not acquire any additional participation interests.

Approximately 95% of the outstanding aggregate principal amount of mortgage notes originated
by us as of December 31, 2012 are secured by properties located throughout Texas, approximately 3% are
secured by properties located in Colorado and approximately 2% are secured by properties located in
Arizona. Approximately 59% of the outstanding aggregate pr1n01pa1 amount of mortgage notes originated
by us as of December 31, 2012 are secured by properties located in the Dallas, Texas area; approximately
24% are secured by properties located in the Austin, Texas area; approximately 7% are secured by
properties located in the Houston, Texas area; approximately 4% are secured by properties located in the



Lubbock, Texas area; approximately 1% are secured by properties located in the San Antonio, Texas area;
approximately 3% are secured by properties located in the Denver, Colorado area; and approximately 2%
are secured by properties located in the Kingman, Arizona area.

11 of the 27 loans outstanding as of December 31, 2012, representing approximately 15% of the
aggregate principal amount of the outstanding loans, are secured by a first lien on the respective property;
5 of the 27 Toans outstanding as of December 31, 2012, reépresenting approx1mately 4% of the aggregate
principal amount of the outstanding loans, are secured by a second lien on the respective property; 3 of
the 27 loans outstanding as of December 31, 2012, representing approximately 49% of the aggregate
principal amount of the outstanding loans, are secured by a co-investment (which are secured by multiple
properties through second liens, pledges of ownership interests and guarantees, as described below); 5 of
the 27 loans outstanding as of December 31, 2012, representing approximately 5% of the aggregate
principal amount of the outstanding loans, are secured by a pledge of the ownership interest of the
borrower or entity which holds title to the property; and 3 of the 27 loans outstanding as of December 31,
2012, representing approximately 27% of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding loans, are
secured by other types of security interests. Co-investments areé mezzanine loans that are secured by
multiple projects in which an affiliate has also invested. Co-investment loans are cross-collateralized and
are secured by second liens in finished lots and entitled land, pledges of the ownership interests in the
borrowing entities, and guarantees. We enter into. collateral-sharing arrangements with our affiliates and
our borrowers that allocate the proceeds of the co-investment collateral between us and our affiliates.
Under these collateral-sharing arrangements, we are generally entitled to receive 50-75% of collateral
proceeds. In the event of a borrower’s bankruptcy, we are entitled to receive 100% of the collateral
proceeds after payment of the senior lenders, -ahead of payment to our affiliates.

12 of the 27 loans outstandmg as of December 31, 2012, representing approx1mately 87% of the
aggregate pr1nc1pa1 amount of the outstanding loans, are. made with respect to projects that are selling
finished home lots to national public or regional private homebuilders, or are made with respect to a
project in which one of these homebuilders holds an option to purchase the ‘finished home lots. 16 of the
27 loans outstanding as of December 31, 2012, representing approximately 73% of the aggregate
pr1nc1pa1 amount of the outstandmg loans, are made to developer entities which hold ownership interests
in projects other than the project funded by us. 11 of the 27 loans outstanding as of December 31, 2012,
representing approxrmately 87% of the aggregate pr1nc1pa1 amount of the outstanding loans, are secured
by multiple single-family residential communities. 9 of the 27 loans outstanding as of December 31,
2012, representing approximately 65% of the aggregate prrncrpal amount of the outstandmg loans, are
secured by a personal guarantee of the developer in addition to a hen on the real property or a pledge of
the equity interests in the entity that holds the real property.

~ As of December 31, 2012, three entities and their affiliates were 1nc1uded in our mortgage notes
receivables (including related party transactrons) and participation interest — related party that accounted
for over 10% of the outstanding balance of our portfolio, These entities include (i) CTMGT LLC, an
unaffiliated Texas limited liability company, which comprises approx1mately 28% of the outstanding
balance ‘of our portfolio, and certain of its affiliated entities, which comprise an ‘additional 15% of the
outstandmg balance; (ii) Bufﬁngton Land, Ltd., an unafﬁhated Texas limited partnership, which
comprises approximately 21% of the outstanding balance of « our portfoho 1nc1ud1ng additional loans to its
affiliated entities; and (iii)) UDF I, an afﬁhated Delaware 11m1ted partnership, which comprises
approximately 21% of the outstandlng balance of our portfoho and additional loans to its affiliated
entities, which comprise ‘an addltronal 6% of the outstandmg balance. Our general partner rs the asset
manager for UDF I : : : :

The average 1nterest rate payable W1th respect to the 27 loans outstandmg as of December 31
2012 is 14%, and the average term of each loan is approximately 50 months



Investment Objectives and Policies
Principal Investment Objectives

Our principal investment objectives are:

e to make, originate or acquire a participation interest in mortgage loans (secured by first
priority or junior priority liens against real property or liens against equity interests of
entities that hold real property) typically in the range of $500,000 to $10 million, and to
provide credit enhancements to real estate developers and regional and national
homebuilders who acquire real property, subdivide such real property into single-family

- residential lots and sell such lots to homebuilders or build homes on such lots;
e to produce net interest income from the interest on loans that we originate or purchase or
_ in which we acquire a participation interest;

e to produce a profitable fee from our credit enhancement transactions;
to produce income through -origination, commitment and credit enhancement fees
charged to borrowers;

e to maximize distributable cash to 1nvestors and

e to preserve, protect and return capital contributions.

Investment Policy

We derive a substantial portion of our income by originating, purchasing, participating in and
holding for investment mortgage and mezzanine loans made directly by us or indirectly through our
affiliates to persons and entities for the acquisition and development of parcels of real property as single-
family residential lots that will be marketed and sold to home builders. We also offer credit enhancements
to developers in the form of loan guarantees to third-party lenders, letters of credit issued for the benefit
of third-party lenders and similar credit enhancements. In the typical credit enhancement transaction, we
charge the borrower a credit enhancement fee of generally 1% to 7% of the projected maximum amount
of our outstandmg credit enhancement' obligation for each 12-month period such obligation is
outstanding, in addition to any costs that we may incur in providing the credit enhancement. We cannot
guarantee that we will obtain a 1% to 7% credit enhancement fee. The actual amount of such charges will
be based on the risk perceived by our general partner to be associated with the transaction, the value of
the collateral associated with the transaction, our security priority as to the collateral associated with the
transaction, the form and term of the credit enhancement, and our overall costs associated with providing
the credit enhancement.

We intend to reinvest the pr1nc1pa1 repayments we receive on loans to create or invest in new
loans during the term of the Partnership. However, following the seventh anniversary of the effectiveness
of the Offering on May 15, 2006, a limited partner may elect to receive his or her pro rata share of any
loan principal repayments. Any capital not reinvested will be used first to return our limited partners’
capital contributions and then to pay distributions to our limited partners. Within 20 years after
termination of the Offering, we will either (1) make an orderly disposition of investments and distribute
the cash to investors or (2) upon approval of limited partners holding more than 50% of the outstanding
units, continue the operatlon of the Partnershlp for the term approved by the limited partners.

Cash available for distributions consists of the funds received by us from operations (other than
proceeds from a capital transaction or a liquidating distribution), less cash used by us to pay our expenses,
debt payments, and amounts set aside to create a retained earnings reserve (currently at 9.5% of our net
income; the retained earnings reserve is intended to recover some of the organization and offering
expenses incurred in connection with the Offering). Our general partner receives a monthly distribution
for promotional and carried interest from the cash available for distributions. Monthly distributions are



currently paid to the limited partners as a 9.75% annualized return, assuming a purchase price of $20.00
per unit, on a pro rata basis based on the number of days the limited partner has been invested in the
Partnership. Retained earnings would contain a surplus if the cash available for distribution less the 9.5%
reserve exceeded the monthly. distributions to the general partner and limited partners. Retained earnings
would contain a deficit if cash available for distributions less the 9.5% reserve is less than the monthly
distributions to the general partner and limited partners. ~

The chart below summarizes the approximate aggregate amount of distributions to our general
partner and limited partners and the retained earnings deficit as of December 31, 2012 and 2011:

As of December-31,

Limited Partners ' 160,674,000 (3) 124,457,000 )

( ,000) . (8,801,000)

(1) approximately $19.8 mllhon paid in cash.
(2) approximately $13.7 m11110n paid in cash and $1 6 million has been declared but not pa1d

(3) approximately $107.4 million paid in cash and approximately $53.3 million reinvested in
2,663,191 units of limited partnership interest under our DRIP and Secondary DRIP.

(4) approximately $81.6 million paid in cash and approximately $42.9 million reinvested in
2,144,754 units of limited partnership interest under our DRIP and Secondary DRIP.

Security

Our mortgage notes receivable are generally secured by:

» parcels of land to be developed (which secure 73% of our mortgage notes receivable as of
December 31, 2012);

* apledge of some or all of the equity interests in the developer entity (which secures 65%
of our mortgage notes receivable as of December 31, 2012);

* additional assets of the developer, including parcels of undeveloped and developed real
estate (which secure 67% of our mortgage notes receivable as of December 31, 2012);
and

» personal guarantees of the principals of the developer entity (whlch secure 65% of our
mortgage notes receivable as of December 31, 2012).

If there is no thlrd-party financing for a development pro;ect our lien on the sub_]ect parcels is a
first priority lien. If there is third-party financing, our lien on the subJect parcels is subordinate to such
financing. We enter each loan prepared to assume or retire any senior debt if necessary to protect our
capital. We seek to enter into agreements with third-party lenders that require the third-party lenders to
notify us of a default by the developer under the senior debt and allow us to assume or retire the senior
debt upon any default under the senior debt. 11 of the 27 loans outstanding as of December 31, 2012,
representing approximately 15% of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding loans, are secured
by a first lien on the respective property; 5 of the 27 loans outstanding as of December 31, 2012,
representing approximately 4% of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding loans, are seeured by
a second lien on the respective property; 3 of the 27 loans outstanding as of December 31, 2012,
representing approximately 49% of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding loans, are secured
by a co-investment (which are secured by multiple properties through second liens, pledges of ownership
interests and guarantees, as described below); 5 of the 27 loans outstanding as of December 31, 2012,
representing approximately 5% of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding loans, are secured by



a pledge of the ownership interest of the borrower or entity which holds title to the property; and 3 of the
27 loans outstanding as of December 31, 2012, representing approximately 27% of the aggregate
principal amount of the outstanding loans, are secured by other types of security interests. Co-
investments are mezzanine loans that are secured by multiple projects in which an affiliate has also
invested. Co-investment loans are cross-collateralized and are secured by second liens in finished lots and
entitled land, pledges of the ownership interests in the borrowing entities, and guarantees. We enter into
collateral-sharing arrangements with our affiliates and our borrowers that allocate the proceeds of the co-
investment collateral between us and our afﬁhates Under these collateral-sharing arrangements, we are
generally entitled to receive 50- 75% of collateral proceeds. In the event of a borrower’s bankruptcy, we
are entitled to receive 100% of the collateral proceeds after payment of the senior lenders, ahead of
payment to our affiliates. '

Mortgage notes. that are secured only by a pledge of ownership interests may not be as valuable as
notes secured by a first lien in the event of a loan default, as there may be liens on the property and the
borrower’s only source of cash flow and only asset may be the property itself. To-mitigate this risk, we
sometimes make co-investment loans secured by multiple pledges of ownership interests and collateral-
sharing agreements with our affiliates which permit us to share in the proceeds of second liens.
Furthermore, most of our real estate loans, including loans made to entities affiliated with our general
partner, have- the benefit of unconditional guarantees of the developer and/or its parent company and
pledges of additional assets of the developer. The use of pledges of ownership interests allows us to more
quickly obtain ownership of a property when the borrower has defaulted on a loan, thus allowing us to

more quickly determine future actions regarding the property. Where the borrower owns more than one
property, the use of pledges may provide us with additional sources of repayment. In addition, loans made
to the same borrower -or related borrowers are cross-collateralized, unless cross-collateralization is
prohibited by the borrower’s senior lender or the investors in the related borrowers are materially
different.

We obtain an appraisal in conjunction with the initial underwriting and origination of each loan in
our portfolio.. In some cases, we may use an appraisal that has been prepared for another third-party
lender, such as a commercial bank. We are not required to reappraise any individual asset; however, we
generally will obtain an updated appralsal within 36 months from the date we originate our loan. We
actively manage our portfoho reviewing development timelines and budgets, market absorption rates and
trends, lot and land prices, homebuilder performance and thlrd-party market studies to evaluate the value
of our collateral on a real time and continuous basis.

Underwriting Criteria

When selecting mortgage loans and investments that we intend to originate or purchase, our general
partner adheres to the following underwriting criteria:

‘¢ Liens. All loans and investments made by us must be evidenced by a note and must be

* secured (1) by a first or second lien that is insured by a title insurance company, (2) by a

- pledge of the partnership interests in the special purpose entity holding the property or by

" both a‘subordinate lien position and a pledge of the partnership interests in the special

~ purpose entity, or (3) by a commitment as to the priority of the loan or the condition of

title. In addition, our loans and investments may be secured by a pledge of additional
ownership interests of the developer and its affiliates in other development projects.

" o Interest Rate. We seek to originate loans bearing interest at rates ranging from 10% to

16% per annum.

o Term and Amortization. We currently do not have a pohcy that establishes a minimum or

 maximum term for the loans we may make, nor do we intend to establish one. Loans

“typically are structured as interest-only notes with balloon payments or reductions to
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principal tied to net cash from the sale of developed lots and the release formula created
by the senior lender, i.e., the conditions under which principal is repaid to the senior
lender, if any. :

* Geographical Boundaries. We may buy or originate loans in any of the 48 contiguous
United States. As of December 31, 2012, we have originated loans in Texas, Colorado,
Arizona and New Mexico. ' :

As part of our evaluation of a potential borrower, we will generally obtain and review personal
and entity tax returns, personal and entity financial statements and entity organizational documents and
certificates of good standing for each potential borrower or guarantor. In addition, we retain the right to
receive updated financial statements and tax returns from any borrower or guarantor as long as our loan is
outstanding. '

Credit Facility

On September 21, 2009, during the credit crisis.in which financial institutions severely reduced
the number of loans made to entities involved in real estate, the Partnership entered into a Loan and
Security Agreement (the “Loan Agreement™) with Wesley J. Brockhoeft, an unaffiliated individual (the
“Lender”), pursuant to which the Lender provided the Partnership with a revolving credit facility in the
maximum principal amount of $15 million (the “Brockhoeft Credit Facility”). The interest rate on the
Brockhoeft Credit Facility is equal to 10% per annum. Accrued interest on the outstanding principal
amount of the Brockhoeft Credit Facility is payable monthly. The Brockhoeft Credit Facility is secured
by a first priority lien on all of the Partnership’s existing and future assets. In consideration of the Lender
originating the Brockhoeft Credit Facility, the Partnership paid the Lender an origination fee in the
amount of $300,000. On June 21, 2010, the Partnership entered into the First Amendment to Loan and
Security Agreement (the “Amended Loan Agreement”), pursuant to which the maturity date on the
Brockhoeft Credit Facility was extended from September 20, 2010 to June 21, 2012. In consideration for
amending the Brockhoeft Credit Facility, the Partnership paid the Lender an amendment fee in the
amount of $150,000, which was amortized over the life of the Amended Loan Agreement. The Amended
Loan Agreement also permitted the Partnership’s existing and future assets to secure our guaranty of a
$15 million loan (the “UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan™) from the Lender, as agent for a group of lenders, to
UDF 1. In connection with the guaranty, we received from UDF I a monthly fee equal to 3% per annum
of the outstanding balance of the UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan. The Amended Loan Agreement also
provided for cross-default of the Brockhoeft Credit Facility with the UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan. On June
21, 2012, the Partnership entered into the Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement (the
“Second Amended Loan Agreement™), pursuant to which the maturity date on the Brockhoeft Credit
Facility was extended from June 21, 2012 to June 21, 2014. In consideration for entering into the Second
Amended Loan Agreement, the Partnership paid the Lender an additional amendment fee in the amount
of $150,000, which is being amortized over the life of the Second Amended Loan Agreement. Our
guaranty of the UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan was also modified effective June 21, 2012, pursuant to which
UDF I agreed to pay us a monthly fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal balance of
the UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan. UDF I paid off the UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan in December 2012, thus
extinguishing the Partnership’s guaranty of the UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan and extinguishing the cross-
default of the Brockhoeft Credit Facility with the UDF T — Brockhoeft Loan. We believe that the interest
rate and terms of the Brockhoeft Credit Facility, the Amended Loan Agreement and the Second Amended
- Loan Agreement are consistent with those offered by financial institutions.

The Partnership’s eligibility to borrow up to $15 million under the Brockhoeft Credit Facility is
determined pursuant to a borrowing base. The borrowing base is equal to (a) the lesser of (i) up to 50% of
the aggregate principal amount outstanding under the Partnership’s eligible notes, (ii) up to 50% of the
face amount of the Partnership’s eligible notes, or (iii) 40% of the appraised value of the real property
subject to the liens securing the Partnership’s eligible notes; minus (b) any reserves required by the
Lender. Eligible notes are those promissory notes which are secured by first liens, meet certain other
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criteria established by the Lender, and are otherwise approved by the Lender for inclusion in the
borrowing base. The Second Amended Loan Agreement requires the Partnership to make various
representations to the Lender and to comply with various covenants and agreements, including, without
limitation, maintaining at least $30 million in eligible notes, maintaining an adjusted tangible net worth of
no less than $250 million, maintaining its current line of business, operating its business in accordance
with applicable laws, providing the Lender with information, financial statements and reports, and not
permitting a change of control to occur.

After June 21,2012, the Partnership may not borrow any additional advances under the Second
Amended Loan Agreement. The Partnership shall repay the principal amount of the loan in equal
installments of $1,250,000 on the 21st day of each March, June, September and December beginning on
September 21, 2012. The Partnership obtained a waiver from the Lender of the December 2012 principal
payment and will resume making the quarterly principal payments in accordance with the terms of the
Second Amended Loan Agreement in March 2013. On June 21, 2014, the Partnership shall pay the
aggregate unpaid principal amount of all advances outstanding, all accrued but unpaid interest thereon, all
fees and expenses owing to the Lender and all other non-contingent obligations.

If a default occurs under the Brockhoeft Credit Facility, the Lender may declare the Brockhoeft
Credit Facility to be due and payable immediately. A default may occur under the Brockhoeft Credit
Facility in various circumstances including, without limitation, if (i) the Partnership fails to pay amounts
due to the Lender when due under the Second Amended Loan Agreement; (i) the Partnership fails to
comply with its covenants and agreements with the Lender; (iii) the Partnership defaults under obligations
for money borrowed in excess of $500,000; (iv) the Lender deems itself insecure or determines that a
material adverse effect with respect to the Brockhoeft Credit Facility, the Partnership, or the Brockhoeft
Credit Facility collateral has occurred; (v) a criminal action is filed against the Partnership under a federal
or state racketeering statute; (vi) a bankruptcy action is filed with respect to the Partnership; (vii) the
Partnership conceals, removes, or permits to be concealed or removed, any of its assets with the intent to
hinder, delay or defraud the Lender or its other creditors; or (viii) the Second Amended Loan Agreement
or other loan documents are terminated, become void or unenforceable, or any security interest issued in
connection with the Brockhoeft Credit Facility ceases to be a valid and perfected first priority security
interest in any portion of the Brockhoeft Credit Facility collateral. In such event, the Lender may exercise
any rights or remedies it may have, including, without limitation, increasing the interest rate to 12% per
annum, prohibiting distributions to be made to the Partnership’s partners, and foreclosure of the
Partnership’s assets. Any such event may materially impair the Partnership’s ability to conduct its
business.

The Partnership intends to utilize the Brockhoeft Credit Facility as transitory indebtedness to
provide liquidity and to reduce and avoid the need for large idle cash reserves, including usage to fund
identified investments pending receipt of proceeds from the partial or full repayment of loans. This
allows the Partnership to keep funds invested in loans, instead of holding such loan repayment proceeds
idle until new investments are identified. The Partnership intends to use the Brockhoeft Credit Facility as
a Partnership portfolio administration tool and not to provide long-term or permanent leverage on
Partnership investments. Proceeds from the operations of the Partnership will be used to repay the
Brockhoeft Credit Facility. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, approximately $13.8 million and $15
million in principal was outstanding under the Brockhoeft Credit Facility, respectively. Interest expense
associated with the Brockhoeft Credit Facility was approximately $1.5 million for each of the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010.

Borrowing Policies

The Partnership Agreement authorizes us to borrow funds up to an amount equal to 70% of the
aggregate fair market value of all of our mortgage notes receivable. We are permitted by our Partnership
Agreement to borrow money to:
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acquire or make mortgage loans;
e prevent defaults under senior loans or discharge‘them entirely if that becomes necessary
to protect our interests; or -
‘e agsist in the development or sale of any real property that we have taken over as a result
. of default.

If our general partner determines it is advantageous to us, we may borrow money only if such
borrowings do not constitute “acquisition indebtedness” as such term is defined in Section 514 of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Internal Revenue Code™), and the Treasury Regulations
and rulings thereunder. Our use of leverage increases our risk of loss, however, because defaults on
indebtedness secured by our assets may result in lenders initiating foreclosure of our assets.

Investment Limitations

We have not invested as a general or limited partner in other limited partnerships, even though we are
permitted to do so under limited circumstances, as provided by our Partnership Agreement and the North
American Securities Administrators Association (“NASAA”) Mortgage Program Guidelines. :

We do not underwrite securities of other issuers or invest in securities of other issuers for the purpose
of exercising control. Notwithstanding the foregoing, we may invest in joint ventures or partnerships and
in corporations in which real estate is the principal asset, provided that such acquisition can best be
effected by the acquisition of the securities of such corporation, subject to the limitations set forth below.

We will not engage in the following activities:

e acquire assets in exchange for units of limited partnership interest;

¢ issue units of limited partnership interest after the termination of the Offering, except for
units offered pursuant to our Secondary DRIP; or

* make loans to our general partner or its affiliates except as permitted by our Partnership
Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines. Such loans are permitted
under our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines if an
independent advisor issues an opinion to the effect that the proposed loan is fair and at
least as favorable to us as a loan to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances.

Our general partner periodically reviews our investment activity to attempt to ensure that we do
not come within the application of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “Investment
Company Act”). Among other things, our general partner monitors the proportion of our portfolio that is
placed in various investments and changes in law with the intent to structure the portfolio so that we do
not come within the definition of an “investment company” under the Investment Company Act. See
“Item 1A, Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Business in General — Limited partners’ returns will be
reduced if we are required to register as an investment company under the Investment Company Act.”

Conflicts of Interest

We do not have any officers, employees or directors, and we depend entirely on our general
partner and its affiliates to manage our operations. As a result, we are subject to various conflicts of
interest arising out of our relationship with our general partner and its affiliates, including conflicts
related to the arrangements pursuant to which our general partner and its affiliates will be compensated by
us. All of our agreements and arrangements with our general partner and its affiliates, including those
relating to compensation, are not the result of arm’s Iength negotiations. However, we believe that all of
our agreements and arrangements with our general partner and its affiliates, including those relating to
compensation, are consistent with the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines regarding conflicts of
interest. In addition, our legal counsel, Morris, Manning & Martin, LLP, and our independent registered
public accounting firm, Whitley Penn LLP, are independent entities who were selected by our general
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partner to provide services to us, our general partner and other entities affiliated with our general partner.
If the interests of the various parties become adverse, they may face conflicts of interest and may be
precluded from representing any one or all of such parties.

Our general partner, who makes all of our investment decisions, is responsible for managing our
affairs on a day-to-day basis and for identifying and making loans on our behalf. UMT Holdings holds
99.9% of the limited partnership interests in our general partner. UMT Services owns the remaining 0.1%
of the limited partnership interests in our general partner and serves as its general partner. Theodore
“Todd” F. Etter, Jr. and Hollis M. Greenlaw, who are directors of UMT Services, own 100% of the equity
interests in UMT Services. UMT Services is the general partner and owns 0.1% of the limited partnership
interests in UMT Holdings. The remaining 99.9% of the limited partnership interests in UMT Holdings
are held as follows as of December 31, 2012: Todd F. Etter (30.00%), Hollis M. Greenlaw (30.00%),
Craig A. Pettit (5.00%), Christine A. Griffin (1.95%), Timothy J. Kopacka (4.84%), William E. Lowe
(1.06%), Michael K. Wilson (7.41%), Ben L. Wissink (10.09%), Cara D. Obert (4.82%) and Melissa H.
Youngblood (4.83%). For more information regarding the relationships of our key personnel to our
general partner and its affiliates, see the diagram below and “Item 10, Directors, Executive Officers and
Corporate Governance — Key Personnel.”

Our general partner was organized in March 2003 and serves as the asset manager for UDF I and
UDF 11, each a Delaware limited partnership and a related party. An affiliate of our general partner
serves as the advisor to United Mortgage Trust (“UMT”) and UDF IV, each of which is a Maryland real
estate investment trust. Our general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF IV. Our general partner
manages and is also the general partner of UDF LOF, a Delaware limited partnership and a related party.
UDF 1, UDF II, UDF LOF and UDF IV are real estate finance companies that engage in the business in
which we engage and in which we intend to engage. The chart below indicates the relationships between
our general partner and its affiliates.
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(1) Todd F. Etter and Hollis M. Greenlaw each own one-half of the equity interests in UMT
Services. Messrs. Etter and Greenlaw and Michael K. Wilson serve as directors of UMT
‘Services. UMT Services serves as general partner of UMTH General Services, L.P. (“General
Services™), an affiliate of our general partner, Land Development. o '

(2) UMT Services serves as the general partner and owns 0.1% of the limited partnership interests
in UMT Holdings. The remaining 99.9% of the limited partnership interests in UMT Holdings
are held as follows as of December 31, 2012: - Todd F. Etter (30.00%), Hollis M. Greenlaw
(30.00%), Craig A. Pettit-(5.00%), Christine A. Griffin (1.95%), Timothy J. Kopacka (4.84%),
William E. Lowe (1.06%), Michael K. Wilson (7.41%), Ben L. Wissink (10.09%), Cara D.
Obert (4.82%) and Melissa H. Youngblood (4.83%) ‘ o

(3) UMT Services serves as the general partner and owns 0.1% of the limited parhaefShip interests
 in each of General Services and Land Development. UMT Holdings owns the remaining
99.9% of the limited partnership interests in each of General Services and Land Development,

our general partner. Land Development also serves as the asset manager for UDF I, UDF I,
UDF IV and UDF LOF. S L

(4) United Development Funding, Inc. is owned 33.75% by each of Messrs. .Greenlaw and Etter,
22.5% by Mr. Kopacka, and 10% by Ms. Griffin. ’ :

(5) United Development Fundiﬁg II, Inc. is owned 50% by each of Messrs. Etter and Greenlaw.

(6) Land .Dévelopme‘nt owns 100% of the general partnérship and limited partnership interests in
UDF Land GenPar, L.P.

(7) General Services serves as the advisor for UMT.

15



(8) United Development Funding, Inc. serves as general partner for UDF I and owns a 0.02%
general partnership interest, Land Development owns a 49.99% subordinated profits interest,
and unaffiliated limited partners own the remaining 49.99% of the interests in UDF L

(9) United Development Funding II, Inc. serves as general partner for UDF I and owns a 0.1%
general partnership interest, Land Development owns a 49.95% subordinated profits interest,
and unaffiliated limited partners own the remaining 49.95% of the interests in UDF IL

(10) Land Development serves as our general partner and holds a 0.01% general partner interest.
Approximately 9,000 limited partners, as of December 31, 2012, own 99.99% of our limited
partnership units. :

(11) UDF Land GenPar, L.P. serves as the general partner for UDF LOF and holds a 0.01%
general partnership interest. UDF Land GenPar, L.P. also holds a subordinated profit
participation interest in UDF LOF. The investors who purchase units in the private offering by
UDF LOF will own 99.9% of the limited partnership interests. As of December 31, 2012,
approximately 610 limited partners held interests in UDF LOF.

(12) General Services serves as the advisor to UDF IV. Land Development serves as the asset
manager to UDF IV. UMT Holdings owns 10,000 of UDF IV’s shares of beneficial interest as
of December31, 2012. )

Because we were organized and are operated by our general partner, conflicts of interest will not
be resolved through arm’s length negotiations but through the exercise of our general partner’s judgment
consistent with its equal fiduciary responsibility to its limited partners and each of the other partnerships
for which our general partner serves as general partner and our investment objectives and policies. Our
general partner uses its best efforts to assure that we are treated at least as favorably as any other affiliated
program. Furthermore, our Partnership Agreement provides that our general partner will have no liability,
and that we will indemnify our general partner for any obligations, losses, damages, costs or other
liabilities, arising out of any action or failure to act that the general partner in good faith determines was
in our best interest, provided its action or failure to act did not constitute negligence or misconduct. See
“Jtem 13, Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence — Policies and
Procedures for Transactions with Related Persons,” for a discussion of our policies and procedures for
resolving potential conflicts of interest.

Housing Industry

The U.S. housing market suffered declines over the past five years, particularly in geographic
areas that had previously experienced rapid growth, steep increases in property values and speculation. In
2009, the homebuilding industry was focused on further reducing supply and inventory overhang of new
single-family homes. In 2010, national and regional homebuilders increased the number of homes
constructed from the number constructed in 2009. In 2011, the number of new homes constructed fell
slightly from 2010 as homebuilders adjusted to the expiration of the federal homebuyer tax credit, which
we believe pulled demand forward at the expense of the following sales season. We believe that while
demand for new homes was affected across the country by the general decline of the housing industry, the
housing markets in the geographic areas in which we have invested and intend to invest have not been
impacted as greatly. Further, we believe that, as a result of the inventory reductions and corresponding
lack of development over the past few years, the supply of new homes and finished lots has generally
aligned with market demand in most real estate markets. Home starts iricreased in 2012 from the levels
experienced in 2009, 2010 and 2011, and we expect that more homes will be. started in 2013 than in 2012
as homebuilders meet increasing demand. We also believe that we will see continued demand for our
products in 2013. ‘ : :
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Competition

Real estate financing is a very competitive. industry. Our principal competitors are mortgage
banks and other lenders. We compete with many other entities engaged in real estate investment
activities, including individuals, corporations, bank and insurance company investment .accounts, real
estate investment trusts, other real estate limited partnerships and other entities engaged in real estate
investment activities, many of which have greater resources than we do. Banks and larger real estate
programs may enjoy significant competitive advantages that result from, among other things, a lower cost
of capital and enhanced operating efficiencies. In addition, the proliferation of the Internet as a tool for
loan origination has made it very inexpensive for new competitors to participate in the real estate finance
industry. We believe that the demand for development loans is increasing, which may cause more lenders
and equity participants to enter this market. Our ability to make or purchase a sufficient number of loans
and investments to meet our objectives will depend on the extent to which we can compete successfully
against these other lenders, including lenders that may have greater financial or marketing resources,
greater name recognition or larger customer bases than we have. Our competitors may be able to
undertake more effective marketing campaigns or adopt more aggressive pricing policies than we can,
which may make it more difficult for us to attract customers. Increased competition could result in lower
revenues and higher expenses, which would reduce our profitability.

Regulations

All real property and the operations conducted on real property are subject to federal, state and
local laws, ordinances and regulations relating to environmental protection and human health and safety.
These laws and regulations generally govern wastewater discharges, air emissions, the operation and
removal of underground and above-ground storage tanks, the use, storage, treatment, transportation and
disposal of solid and hazardous materials, and the remediation of contamination associated with disposals.
Under limited circumstances, a secured lender, in addition to the owner of real estate, may be liable for
clean-up costs or have the obligation to take remedial actions under environmental laws, including, but
not limited to, the Federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of
1980, as amended. Some of these laws and regulations may impose joint and several liability for the costs
of investigation or remediation of contaminated properties, regardless of fault or the legality of the
original disposal. In addition, the presence of these substances, or the failure to properly remediate these
substances, may adversely affect our ability to sell such property or to use the property as collateral for
future borrowing.

In addition, as a non-bank lender of commercial loans, we are subject to various state and federal
regulations regarding usury laws. State and federal usury laws limit the interest that lenders are entitled to
receive on a mortgage loan. In determining whether a given transaction is usurious, courts may include
charges in the form of “points” and “fees” as “interest,” but may exclude payments in the form of
“reimbursement of foreclosure expenses” or other charges found to be distinct from “interest.” While we
contract for interest at a rate that is less than or equal to the applicable maximum amount of non-usurious
interest and our loan documents and Texas law provide us with an opportunity to cure usurious charges, if
the amount charged for the use of the money loaned is found to exceed a statutorily established maximum
rate (under Texas law, the current maximum amount of non-usurious interest is 18% per annum) and we
fail to cure, the form employed and the degree of overcharge are both immaterial to the determination that
the loan is usurious. Statutes differ in their provision as to the consequences of a usurious loan. One group
of statutes requires the lender to forfeit the interest above the applicable limit or imposes a specified
penalty. Under this statutory scheme, the borrower may have the recorded mortgage or deed of trust
cancelled upon paying its debt with lawful interest, or the lender may foreclose, but only for the debt plus
lawful interest. Under a second, more severe type of statute, a violation of the usury law results in the
invalidation of the transaction, thereby permitting the borrower to have the recorded mortgage or deed of
trust cancelled without any payment (thus prohibiting the lender from foreclosing).
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Employees .

.

, We have no employees; however, our general partner and an affiliate of our general partner have
a staff of employees who perform a range of services for us, including originations, acquisitions, asset
management, accounting, legal and investor relations.

Financial Information About Industry Segnfénts

Our current business consists only of originating, acquiring, servicing and managing mortgage
loans on real property, acquiring participation interests in third-party mortgage loans on real property and
issuing or acquiring an interest in credit enhancements to borrowers. We internally evaluate our activities
as one industry segment, and, accordingly, we do not report segment information.

Available Information

We electronically file an annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current
reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports. with the SEC. Copies of our filings with the
SEC may be obtained from the web site maintained by our sponsor at http://www.udfonline.com or at the
SEC’s website, at http://www.sec.gov. Access to these filings is free of charge. We are not incorporating
our sponsor’s website or any information from the website into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

The factors described below represent our principal risks. Other factors may exist that we do not
consider to be significant based on information that is currently available or that we are not currently able
to anticipate.

Risks Related to an Investment in UDF III

There is no publib trading market for our units; therefore, it will be difficult for limited
partners to sell their units.

There is no public trading market for our units of limited partnership interest, and we do not
expect one to ‘ever develop. Our Partnership Agreement restricts our ability to participate in a public
trading market or anything substantially equivalent to a public trading market by providing that any
transfer that'may cause us to be classified as a publicly traded partnership as defined in Section 7704 of
the Internal Reventue Code shall be deemed void and shall not be recognized by us. Because our
classification as a publicly traded partnership may significantly decrease the value of limited partners’
units, our general partner intends to use its authority to the maximum extent possible to prohibit transfers
of units that could cause us to be classified as a publicly traded partnership. As a result, it will be difficult
for limited partners to sell their units.

Our units have limited transferability and lack liquidity.

Except for certain intra-family transfers, limited partners are limited in their ability to transfer
their units. Our Partnership Agreement and certain state regulatory agencies have imposed restrictions
relating to the number of units limited partners may transfer. In addition, the suitability standards imposed
on our investors also apply to potential subsequent purchasers of our units. If limited partners are able to
find a buyer for their units, they may not sell their units to such buyer unless the buyer meets the
suitability standards applicable to him or her. Accordingly, it will be difficult for a limited partner to sell
their units promptly or at all. Limited partners may not be able to.sell their units in the event of an
emergency, and if they are able to sell their units, they may have to sell them at a substantial discount. It
is also likely that the units would not be accepted as the primary collateral for a loan.
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Limited partners will not have the opportunity to evaluate our future loans prior to- their
origination or purchase. '

We invest substantially all of the Offering and Secondary DRIP proceeds available for
investments, after the payment of fees and expenses, in the financing of raw or partially developed land
for residential use, although we are not limited to such investments. Loans that we originate and/or
purchase must meet our underwriting criteria. We rely entirely on our general partner with respect to the
acquisition of our investments, and limited partners are not able to evaluate such investments. We cannot
be sure that we will be successful in obtaining suitable investments.. If we are unable to identify loans that
satisfy our underwriting criteria or we are unable to invest in loans that satisfy our underwriting criteria in
a timely fashion, our business strategy and operations may be adversely affected. :

If we, through our general partner, are unable to find suitable investments, then we may not be
able to achieve our investment objectives or pay distributions. :

Our ability to achieve our investment objectives and to pay distributions is dependent upon the
performance of our general partner in the identification of real estate loans and the determination of any
financing arrangements. Investors must rely entirely on the management ability of our general partners.
We cannot be sure that our general partner will be successful in obtaining suitable investments on
financially attractive terms or at all, or that, if it makes investments on our behalf, our objectives will be
achieved. If we, through our general partner, are unable to find suitable investments, it will be solely at
the discretion of our general partner what action, if any, will be taken. In such an event, our ability to
achieve our investment objectives and pay distributions to our limited partners would be adversely
affected.

Competition with third parties in financing properties may reduce our profitability and the
return on our limited partners’ investments. C

Real estate financing is a very competitive industry. Our principal competitors are mortgage
banks and other lenders. We also compete with many other entities engaged in real estate investment
activities, including individuals, corporations, bank and insurance company investment accounts, real
estate investment trusts, other real estate limited partnerships and other entities engaged in real estate
investment activities, many of which have greater resources than we do. Banks and larger real estate
programs may enjoy significant competitive advantages that result from, among other things, a lower cost
of capital and enhanced operating efficiencies. In addition, the proliferation of the Internet as a tool for
loan origination has made it very inexpensive for new competitors to participate in the real estate finance
industry. Our ability to make or purchase a sufficient number of loans and investments to meet our
objectives will depend on the extent to which we can compete successfully against these other lenders,
including lenders that may have greater financial or marketing resources, greater name recognition or
larger customer bases than we have. Qur competitors may be able to undertake more effective marketing
campaigns or adopt more aggressive pricing policies than we can, which may make it more difficult for us
to attract customers. Increased competition could result in lower revenues and higher expenses, which
would reduce our profitability. .

The homebuilding industry has undergone a significant downturn. Further deterioration in
industry or economic conditions or in the broader economic conditions of the markets where we
operate could further decrease demand and pricing for new homes and residential home lots and have

additional adverse effects on our operations and financial results.

Developers to whom we make loans and with whom we enter into subordinate debt positions use
the proceeds of our loans and investments to develop raw real estate into residential home lots. The
developers obtain the money to repay our development loans by reselling the residential home lots to
homebuilders or individuals who build single-family residences on the lots. The developer’s ability to
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~ repay our loans is based primarily on the amount of money generated by the developer’s sale of its
inventory of single-family residential lots.

The homebuilding industry is cyclical and is significantly affected by changes in industry
conditions, as well as in general and local economic conditions, such as:

employment levels and job growth;

demographic trends, including population increases and decreases and household formation;
availability of financing for homebuyers; '

interest rates; '

affordability of homes;

consumer confidence; ‘

levels of new and existing homes for sale, including foreclosed homes; and

housing demand.

These may occur on a national scale or may affect some of the regions or markets in which we
operate more than others. An oversupply of alternatives to new homes, such as existing homes, including
homes held for sale by investors and speculators, foreclosed homes, and rental properties, can also reduce
the homebuilder’s ability to sell new homes, depress new home prices, and reduce homebuilder margins
on the sales of new homes, which likely would reduce the amount and price of the resideritial home lots
sold by the developers to which we have loaned money and/or increase the absorption period in which
such home lots are purchased. :

Also, historically, the homebuilding industry uses expectations for future volume growth as the
basis for determining the optimum amount of land and lots to own. In light of the much weaker market
conditions encountered in 2006, which further deteriorated in 2007 and 2008 before bottoming in 2009,
we believe that expectations have changed and that the homebuilding industry significantly slowed its
purchases of land and lots as part of its strategy to reduce inventory to reflect the reduced rate of
production.

We believe that the difficult conditions within the homebuilding industry reached a bottom in
early 2009 and demand is beginning to slowly return although it remains challenged in many markets.
According to a joint release from the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development and the
Census Bureau, the sale of new single-family homes in December 2012 was estimated to be at a
seasonally-adjusted rate of 369,000, approximately 8.8% above the December 2011 estimate. The
median sales price of new homes sold in December 2012 was $248,900; the average sales price was
$304,000. The seasonally-adjusted estimate of new houses for sale at the end of December 2012 was
151,000, representing a supply of 4.9 months at the December 2012 sales rate.

In such a business climate, developers to which we have loaned money may be unable to generate
sufficient income from the sale of single-family residential lots to repay our loans. Accordingly,
continued or further deterioration of homebuilding conditions or in the broader economic conditions of
the markets where we operate could cause the number of homebuyers to decrease, which would increase
the likelihood of defaults on our development loans and, consequently, reduce our ability to pay
distributions to our limited partners.

We believe that housing market conditions remain challenging, and we cannot predict the
duration or ultimate severity of such conditions. However, it is our intention to invest in stable markets
demonstrating strong housing fundamentals and correcting markets with strong housing fundamentals.
Our operations could be negatively ffected to the extent that the housing industry downturn is prolonged
or becomes more severe. , '
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- The reduction in availability of mortgage financing and the volatility and reduction in liquidity
in the financial markets have adversely affected our business, and the duration and ultimate severity of
the effects are uncertain.

Since 2007, the mortgage lending industry has experienced significant instability due to, among
other things, defaults on subprime loans and a resulting decline in the market value of such loans. In light
of these developments, lenders, investors, regulators and other third parties questioned the adequacy of
lending standards and other credit requirements for several loan programs made available to borrowers in
recent years. This led to reduced investor demand for mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities,
tightened credit requirements, reduced liquidity and increased credit risk premiums. Deterioration in
credit quality among subprime and other nonconforming loans has caused many lenders.to eliminate
subprime mortgages and most other loan products that are not conforming loans, FHA/VA-eligible loans
or jumbo loans (which meet conforming underwriting guidelines other than loan size). Fewer loan
products and tighter loan qualifications and any other limitations or restrictions on the availability of
those types of financings in turn make it more dlfﬁcult for some borrowers to finance the purchase of new
homes and for some buyers of existing homes from move-up new home buyers to finance the purchase of
the move-up new home buyer’s existing home. These factors have served to reduce the affordability of
homes and the pool of qualified homebuyers and made it more dlfﬁcult to sell to first time and first time
move-up buyers which have long made up a substantial part of the affordable housing market. Such
reductions in demand may increase the likelihood of defaults on our development loans and,
consequently, may reduce our ability to pay distributions to our limited partners.

We also believe that the liquidity provided by Fannie Mae (Federal National Mortgage
Association) and Freddie Mac (Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation) (“Government Sponsored
Enterprises” or “GSEs”) to the mortgage industry is very important to the housing market. These entities
have reported severe losses as a result of challenging housing and credit market conditions. These losses
have reduced their equity and limited their ability to acquire mortgages. The director of the Federal
Housing Finance Agency (“FHFA”), James B. Lockhart III, on September 7, 2008 announced his
decision to place Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac into a conservatorship run by FHFA. That plan contained
three measures: an increase in the line of credit available to the GSEs from the U.S. Treasury, so as to
provide liquidity; the right of the U.S. Treasury to purchase equity in the GSEs, so as to provide capital;
and a consultative role for the Federal Reserve in a reformed GSE regulatory system: The U.S. Treasury
later announced a further increase in the line of credit available to the GSEs, providing guaranteed
backing for all losses that they suffer. The U.S. Treasury’s support of the two GSEs while under
conservatorship of the FHFA was intended to promote stability in the secondary mortgage market and
lower the cost of funding. The GSEs modestly increased their mortgage-backed securities portfolios
through the end of 2009. Then, to address systemic risk, their portfolios began to be gradually reduced,
largely through natural run off, and will eventually stabilize at a lower, less risky size. To further support
the availability of mortgage financing for millions of Americans, the U.S. Treasury initiated a temporary
program to purchase GSE mortgage-backed securities, which expired with the U.S. Treasury’s temporary
authorities in December 2009. Coinciding with the Treasury purchase program was the Federal Reserve,
which purchased $1.25 trillion worth of mortgage-backed securities through the end of March 2010. This
program ended on March 31, 2010, as scheduled by the Federal Reserve. On September 21, 2011, the
Federal Reserve announced that it would begin reinvesting the principal payments from its mortgage-
backed securities holdings into additional purchases of agency mortgage-backed securities to help further
support conditions in mortgage markets. On September 13, 2012, the Federal Reserve announced that it
would again increase monetary policy accommodation by purchasing additional agency mortgage-backed
securities at a pace of $40 billion per month, would continue, through the end of 2012, its program of
extending the average maturity of its holdings of securities, and would maintain its existing policy of
reinvesting principal payments from its holdings of agency debt and agency mortgage-backed securities
in more agency mortgage-backed securities. On December 12, 2012, the Federal Reserve announced that
it would further increase monetary policy accommodation by purchasing additional U.S. Treasury
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securities at an initial pace of $45 billion per month in-addition to the $40 billion per month purchases of
‘agency mortgage backed securities that the Federal Reserve announced on September 13, 2012. The
Federal Reserve stated in that same announcement that these actions should put downward pressure on
longer-term interest rates, support mortgage markets, and help to make broader financial conditions more
accommodative. Any limitations or restrictions on the availability of financing or on the liquidity
provided by the GSEs could adversely affect interest rates and mortgage availability and could cause the
number of homebuyers to decrease, which would increase the likelihood of defaults on our loans and,
consequently, reduce our ability to pay distributions to our limited partners.

The homebuilding industry’s strategies in response to the adverse conditions in the industry
have had limited success, and the continued implementation of these and other strategies may not be
successful.. - C

‘ Since the downturn began, ‘most homebuilders have been focused on generating positive
operating cash flow, resizing and reshaping their product for a more price-conscious consumer and
adjusting finished new home inventories to meet demand, and did so in many cases by significantly
'réducing the new home pricés and increasing the level of sales incentives. Since reaching a peak of
approximately 1,283,000 new home salés in 2005, new home sales declined each year, year-over-year, to
a low of approximately 306,000 new home sales in 2011. We believe that the decline in new home sales
was largely due to a décrease in consumer confidence, due principally to home price declines, elevated
unemployment, slow Wage growth, as well as the negative national housing, financial industry, and
economic news. A more restrictive mortgage lending environment, unemployment and the inability of
‘some buyers to sell their existing homes have' also impacted new home sales. Many of the factors that
affect new home sales are beyond the control of the homebuilding industry. However, we believe that the
housing market has bottomed and begun to recover. Home sales in 2012 rose to approximately 369,000.

" Adecrease in the number of new homes sold may increase the likelihood of defaults on our loans
and, consequently, may reduce our ability to pay distributions to our limited partners. It is uncertain how
long the reduction in sales and the increased level of cancellations will continue.

. Increases in interest rates, reductions in mortgage availability or increases in other costs of
owning a home could prevent potential customers from buying new homes and adversely affect our
business or our financial results. .-

; Demand for new homes is sensifive to “changes in housing affordability. Most new home
purchasers finance their homé purchases through lenders providing mortgage financing. Since 2008, the
mortgage lending industry has experienced significant instability. As a result of increased default rates
and governmental initiatives to improve capital ratios, many mortgage lenders have tightened credit
requirements and have reduced the amount of their’lending with regard to residential mortgage loans.
Fe;Wer loan products, stricter loan qualification standards, and higher down payment requirements have
made it more difficult for many potential homebuyers to finance the purchase of homes. Increases in
~ interest rates may make houses more difficult to afford. Lack of availability of mortgage financing at
acceptable rates reduces demand for homes. ‘ '

Even if potential customers do not need financing, changes in interest rates and the availability of
mortgage financing products may make it harder for them to sell their current homes to potential buyers
who need financing. :

A reduction in the demand for new homes may reduce the amount and price of the residential
home lots sold by the developers to which we have loaned money and/or increase the absorption period in
which such home lots are purchased and, consequently, increase the likelihood of defaults on our
development loans. A ’

22



We may suffer from delays in locating suitable investments, particularly as a result of the
current economic environment and capital constraints, which could adversely affect the return on
limited partners’ investments.

We could suffer from delays in locating suitable 1nvestments partlcularly as a result of the
current economic environment, capital constraints and our reliance on our general partner. Capital
constraints at the heart of the current credit crisis have reduced the number of real estate lenders able or
willing to finance development, construction and the purchase of homes, thus reducing the number of
homebuilders and developers that are able to receive such financing. In the event that homebuilders and
developers fail or reduce the number of their development and homebuilding pI‘O_]eCtS resulting in a
reduction of new loan applicants, the availability of 1nvestments for us would also decrease. Such
decreases in the demand for secured loans could leave us with excess cash. In such instances, we plan to
make short-term, interim investments with proceeds available from sales of units and hold these interim
investments, pending investment in suitable loans. Interest returns on these interim investments are
usually lower than on secured loans, which may reduce our ability to pay dlstrlbutlons to our limited
partners, depending on how long these interim investments are held.

When we invest in short-term, interim investments using proceeds from the sale of umts, those
limited partners will nevertheless participate pro rata in our distributions of income with holders of units
whose sale proceeds have been invested in secured loans. This will favor, for a time, holders of units
whose purchase monies were invested in interim investments, to the detriment of holders of units whose
purchase monies are invested in normally hlgher-yleldlng secured loans

Increases in interest rates could increase the risk of default under our development loans

Developers to whom we make loans and with whom we enter into subordinate debt positions will
use the proceeds of our loans and investments to develop raw real estate into residential home lots. The
developers obtain the money to repay our development loans by reselling the residential home lots to
home builders or individuals who build a single-family residence on the lot. The developer’s ability to
repay our loans is based primarily on the amount of money generated by the developer’s sale of its
inventory of single-family residential ‘lots. If interest rates increase, the demand for single-family
residences is likely to decrease. In a climate of higher interest rates, developers to which we have loaned
money may be unable to generate sufficient income from the resale of single-family residential lots to
repay our loans. Accordingly, increases in single-family mortgage interest rates could cause the number
of homebuyers to decrease, which would increase the likelihood .of defaults on our development loans
and, consequently, reduce our ability to pay distributions to our limited partners. -

Adverse market and economic conditions will negdiively affect our returns and profitability.

Our results are sensitive to changes in market and. economic conditions. such as:the level of
employment, consumer confidence, consumer income, the availability of consumer and commercial
financing, interest rate levels, supply of new and existing homes, supply of finished lots and the costs
associated with constructing new homes and developing land. We may be affected by market and
economic challenges, including the following, any of which may result from a continued or exacerbated
general economic slowdown experienced by the nation as a whole or by the local economies where
properties subject to our mortgage loans may be located: o

* poor economic conditions may result in a slowing of new home sales and corresponding lot
purchases by builders resulting in defaults by borrowers under our mortgage loans;
job transfers and layoffs may cause new home sales to decrease;
lack of liquidity in the secondary mortgage market;
tighter credit standards for home buyers;
general unavailability of commercial credit; and
illiquidity of financial institutions.
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The length and severity of any economic downturn cannot be predicted. Our operations could be
negatively affected to the-extent that an economic.downturn is prolonged or becomes more severe.

The loans we make will have a higher risk than conventional real estate loans on residential
properties. - ‘ ’

We originate and purchase loans in respect of affiliated and unaffiliated third parties which are
used by the borrowers to develop vacant parcels. Improvements made by such borrowers may, but will
not necessarily, increase the value of the subject parcels. The loans are represented by notes that are
secured by either a subordinated lien on the parcel if the developer has a development loan senior to our
loan, or a first lien if we are the senior lender. In some instances where the subject parcel is encumbered
by a lien in favor of a third party, we may, at our option, become the senior lender in order to protect the
priority of our lien on the parcels. Our 1oaﬁ§ may also be secured by other assets of the developer. While
we seek to obtain an unconditional guarantee of the developer and/or its parent companies to further
secure the developer’s obligations to us, we cannot assure limited partners that we will obtain such an
unconditional guarantee in all cases. If a default occurs under one or more of our loans, payments to us
could be reduced or postponed. Further, in the event of a default, we may be left with a security or an
ownership interest in an undeveloped or partially developed parcel of real estate, which may have less
value than a developed parcel. The guarantee of the developer and/or its parent companies and other
pledged assets, if any, may be insufficient to compensate us for any difference in the amounts due to us
under a development loan and the value of our interest in the subject parcel.

Decreases in the value of the property underlying our loans may decrease the value of our
assets. :

All of the loans we have made and, we expect, all of the loans we will make, are or will be
secured by (1) an underlying lien on the real property to be developed, (2) a pledge of some or all of the
equity interests in the developer entity, (3) personal guarantees of the principals of the developer entity,
and/or (4) by a pledge of other assets owned by the developer or of ownership interests in the developer
entity. To the extent that the value of the property that serves as security for these loans or investments is
lower than we expect, the value of our assets, and consequently our ability to pay distributions to our
limited partners, will be adversely affected.

We are subject to the general market risks associated with real estate development.

Our financial pérformance depends on the successful development and sale of the real estate
parcels that serve as security for the loans we make to developers. As a result, we are subject to the
general market risks of real estate development, including weather conditions, the price and availability of
materials used in the development of the lots, environmental liabilities and zoning laws, and numerous
other factors that may materially and adversely affect the success of the development projects. In the
event the market softens, the developer may require additional funding and such funding may not be
available. In addition, if the market softens, the amount of capital required to be advanced and the
required marketing time for such development may both increase, and the developer’s incentive to
complete: a particular real estate development may decrease. Such circumstances may reduce our
profitability and the return on the limited partners’ investments..

, The prior performance of real estate investment programs sponsored by affiliates of our
general partner may not be an indication of our future results. ‘

We were formed in June 2005 and our general partner was formed in March 2003. Although key
personnel of our general partner are experienced in operating businesses similar to our business, investors
should not rely on the past performance of any other businesses of our key personnel, general partner, or
affiliates to predict our future results. To be successful in this market, we must, among other things:

o identify and acquire investments that further our investment strategy;
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¢ increase awareness of the United Development Funding name within the investment
products market;
establish and maintain our network of licensed securities brokers and other agents;
attract, integrate, motivate and retain qualified personnel to manage our day-to-day
operations;

e respond to competition both for investment opportunities and potentlal mvestors in us;
and

e continue to build and expand our operatlons structure to support our busmess

We cannot guarantee that we will succeed in ach1evmg these goals, and our failure to»do so could
cause limited partners to lose all or a portion of their 1nvestment

If we lose or are unable to obtam key personnel our ablltty to tmplement our investment
strategy could be delayed or hindered. : v .

Our success depends on the diligence, experience and skill of certain executive officers and other
key personnel of our general partner, including Todd F. Etter, Hollis M. Greenlaw, Michael K. Wilson,
Ben L. Wissink, Melissa H. Youngblood and Cara D. Obert. Although our general partner or its affiliates
have employment contracts with key personnel, these agreements are terminable at will, and we cannot
guarantee that such persons will remain affiliated with our general partner or its affiliates. Our general
partner, or affiliates of our general partner, have obtained key person life insurance policies on Mr. ‘Hollis
M. Greenlaw and Mr. Ben L. Wissink. We have not obtained life insurance policies on any other key
personnel involved in our operations and, therefore, have no insulation against extraneous events that may
adversely affect their ability to implement our investment strategies. We believe that our future success
depends, in large part, upon our general partner’s ability to hire and retain highly skilled managerial,
operational and marketing personnel. ‘Competition for highly skilled managerial, operational and
marketing personnel is intense, and we cannot assure limited partners that we will be successful in
attracting and retaining such personnel. The loss of any. key.person could harm our business, financial
condition, cash flow and results. of operations. If we lose or are unable to obtain the services of key
personnel, our ability to implement our investment strategy could be delayed or hindered.

In addition, many of the executive officers and other key personnel of our general partner are
bound by non-competition agreements, and there are remedies under certain state laws if such officers or
key personnel conduct activities that compete with us either during or after their employment. However,
our ability to prohibit former employees from competing with us may be limited in many respects, and we
cannot assure you that one or more of those persons may not choose to compete with us, or that we could
limit their ability to do so or recover anything in such an event. Competition by these officers or key
employees may harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our rights and the rights of our limited partners to recover clatms against our general partner
are limited.

Our Partnership Agreement provides that our general partner will have no liability, and that we
will indemnify our general partner for any obligations, losses, damages, costs or other liabilities, arising
- out of any action or failure to act that the general partner in good faith determines was in our best interest,
provided its action or failure to act did not constitute negligence or misconduct. As a result, we and our
limited partners may have more limited rights against our general partner than might otherwise exist
under common law: In addition, we may be obhgated to fund the defense costs incurred by our general
partner in some cases.
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Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest

We will be subject to conflicts of interest arising out of our relationships with our general partner
and its affiliates, including the material conflicts discussed below. When conflicts arise between us and
our general partner and its affiliates, they may not be resolved in our favor, which could cause our
operating results to suffer.

Our general partner has equity interests and/or profit participations in developments we
finance and may have a greater incentive to make loans with respect to such development, which may
or may not be subordinate to our mortgage loans, to preserve and/or enhance its economic interests in
such development. ' -

We have made loans and provided credit enhancement transactions and may continue to make
loans and provide credit enhancement transactions to affiliates of ‘our general partner. Any mortgage loan
or any credit enhancement to any affiliate or our general partner must meet certain requirements,
including receipt.of a fairness opinion from an independent advisor as to the fairness of such mortgage
loan or credit enhancement. Our general partner may choose to deploy and allocate funds for mortgage
loans or credit enhancement transactions to affiliates of our general partner rather than to loans or credit
enhancement transactions to unaffiliated third parties that may offer less risk of loss. If an affiliate of our
general partner has an equity interest or participation interest in a development that requires a loan or
credit enhancement, then our general partner may have a greater incentive to make a loan with respect to
such development to preserve and/or enhance its economic interest in such development. Moreover, so
long as it determines that it is advisable to do so in the exercise of its fiduciary duties to us, the general
partner may cause us to make a loan or provide a credit enhancement to one of its affiliates in connection
with a development in which such affiliates of our general partner hold an interest instead of another
development in which affiliates of the general partner do not hold an interest.

Our general partner is the general partner for UDF LOF. An affiliate of our general partner
is the advisor to UMT and UDF IV. Our general partner is an affiliate of the general partner of UDF
I and UDF II and provides asset management services to UDF 1, UDF II, UDF IV and UDF LOF.
Our general partner may not always be able to allocate investment opportunities on a pro rata basis
among us, UDF I, UDF II, UDF 1V and UDF LOF. ,

Our general partner seeks to equitably apportion among us and the other United Development
Funding programs all suitable investment opportunities of which it becomes aware. We entered into a
participation agreement with UDF I, UDF 1I, UDF LOF and UDF IV pursuant to which we invest in the
same loans and transactions as UDF I, UDF II, UDF LOF and UDF IV on a pro rata basis based on the
amount of capital held by each entity that is available for investmient. However, circumstances may arise,
due to availability of capital or other reasons, wher it is not possible for us to make an investment on such
a pro rata basis. Our general partner may determine not to invest in otherwise suitable investments in
which other United Development Funding programs will participate in order for us to avoid unrelated
business taxable income, or “UBTL” which is generally defined as income derived from any unrelated
trade or business carried on by a tax-exempt entity or by a partnership of which it is a member, and which
is generally subject to taxation. We cannot assure limited partners that we will be able to invest in all
investment opportunities of which our general partner becomes aware that may be suitable for us on a pro
rata basis or otherwise. ‘ ' ' |

Our founders may form other companies that will engage in the same business as us, and we
may not always be able to participate in investment opportunities on a pro rata basis between us and
such other companies.

Our general partner and its affiliates may engage in additional real estate-related activities in the
future, including the activities in which we engage, and may form new entities to engage in these
activities. If new companies are formed for the purpose of engaging in the businesses in which we
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engage, our founders intend to allocate investment opportunities among us, UDF I, UDF-II, UDF IV,
UDF LOF and the new entities equitably. However, we cannot assure limited partners that we will be able
to participate in all or any investment opportumtles in which such other compames participate, on an
equitable basis or otherwise.

Certain of the principals of our general partner will face conflicts of interest relating to the
extension and purchase of loans, and such conflicts may not be resolved in our favor.

Certain of the principals of our general partner, including Mr. Etter, Mr. Greenlaw, Michael K.
Wilson, Ben L. Wissink, Melissa H. Youngblood and Cara D. Obert, are also principals, directors,
employees, officers and equity holders of other entities, including UDF 1, UDF II, UDF IV, UDF LOF,
UMT Holdings and UMT Services, and they may also in the future hold positions with, and interests in,
other entities engaged in real estate activities. These multiple: responsibilities may create conflicts of
interest for these individuals if they are presented with opportunities that may benefit us and their other
affiliates. These individuals may be incentivized to allocate opportunities to other entities rather than to us
if they are more highly compensated based on investments made by other entities. In determining which
opportunities to allocate to us and to their other affiliates, these individuals will consider the investment
strategy and guidelines of each entrty Because we cannot predlct the precise circumstances under which
future potential conflicts may arise, we intend to address potential conflicts on a case-by-case basis. There
is a risk that our general partner will choose an investment for us that provides lower returns to us than a
loan made by one of our affiliates. Our Partnership Agreement provides that it shall be deemed not to be a
breach of any obligation our - general partner has to us or our limited partners for the general partner or its
affiliates to engage in other business activities in preference to or to the exclusion of us. The Partnership
Agreement also expressly states that the general partner has no oblrgatlon to present business
opportunities to us.

We will face risks relatmg to joint ventures with our affiliates and thtrd partles that are not
present with other methods of investing in mortgage loans.

We may enter into joint ventures with certain of our affiliates, as well as third parties, for the
funding of loans. We may also purchase loans in joint ventures or in partnerships or other co-ownership
arrangements. with our affiliates, the sellers of the loans, affiliates of the sellers, developers or other
persons. Such investments may involve risks not otherwise present with other methods of investment in
mortgages, including, for example:

e the possibility that our co-venturer or partner in an investment might become bankrupt, in
which case our investment might become subject to the rights of the co-venturer or
partner’s creditors and we may be forced to liquidate our investment before we otherwrse
would choose to do so;

e that such co-venturer or partner may at any time have economic or business interests -or
goals that are or that become inconsistent with ‘our business interests or goals, which may
cause us to disagree with our co-venturer or partner as to the best course of action with
respect to the investment and wh1ch disagreements may not be resolved to our
satisfaction;

e that such co-venturer or partner may be in a position to take action contrary to our
instructions or requests or contrary to our policies or objectives, which may cause us not
to realize the return anticipated from our investment; or

e that it may be difficult for us to sell our 1nterest in any such co- venture or partnership.

Moreover, in the event we determine to foreclose on the collateral underlying a non-performing
loan, we may be required to obtain the cooperation of our co-venturer or partner to do so. We anticipate
that we will co-invest with our affiliates in certain loans, in which.case we expect to enter into an inter-
creditor agreement that will define our rights and priority with respect to the underlying collateral. Our
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inability to foreclose on a property acting alone may cause significant delay in the foreclosure process, in
which time the value of the property may decline.

As of December 31, 2012, we have not entered into any joint ventures. As of December 31,
2012, we have co-invested in one loan originated by an affiliate, UMT, with an outstanding balance of
approximately $74.7 million. .In addition, as of December 31, 2012, one affiliate, UDF IV, has
participated in six loans we have originated for approximately $14.9 million, and another affiliate, UDF
LOF, has participated in three loans we have originated for approximately $13.0 million. See “Item 13,
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence — Transactlons with Related
Persons” for further discussion of these investments.

Our general partner will face additional conflicts of interest relating to loan participations with
affiliated entities and may make deczswns that dtsproportwnately benefit one or inore of our affiliated
entities instead of us.

Affiliates of our general partner have sponsored private and public placement offerings on behalf
of UDF 1, UDF II, UDF IV and UDF LOF, all of which are unspecified, or “blind pool,” programs.
Because our general partner or its affiliates will have advisory and management arrangements with these
other United Development Funding programs, it is likely that they will encounter opportunities to invest
in or acquire interests in mortgage loans, mezzanine loans, participations and/or properties to the benefit
of one of the United Development Funding programs, but not others. Our general partner or its affiliates
may make decisions to finance certain properties, which decisions might disproportionately benefit a
United Development Funding program other than us. In such event, our results of operations and ability
to pay distributions to our unit holders could be adversely affected.

Because our general partner and its affiliates control us, UDF I, UDF II, UDF IV and UDF LOF,
agreements and transactions among certain of the parties with respect to any loan participation among two
or more of such parties will not have the benefit of an arm’s length negotiation of the type normally
conducted between unrelated co-venturers. Under these loan participation arrangements, we may not have
a first priority position with respect to the underlying collateral. In the event that a co-venturer has a right
of first refusal to buy out the other co-venturer, it may be unable to finance such buy-out at that time. In
addition, to the extent that our co-venturer is an affiliate of our general partner, certain conflicts of interest
will exist.

Employees of our general partner will face conflicts of interest relating to the allocation of
their time and other resources among the various entities that they serve or have interests in, and such
conflicts may not be resolved in our favor.

Certain of the employees of our general partner will face competing demands relating to their
time and resources because they are also affiliated with entities with investment programs similar to ours,
and they may have other business interests as well, including business interests that currently exist and
business interests they develop in the future. Because these persons have competing interests for their
time and resources, they may have conflicts of interest.in allocating their time between our business and
these_ other activities. As a result, they may devote less time and resources to our business than is
necessary. If this occurs, our business, financial condition and results of operations may suffer.

There is no separate counsel for certain of our affiliates and us, which could result in conflicts
of interest.

Morris, Manning & Martin, LLP acts as legal counsel to us, our general partner and certain of its
affiliates. If the interests of the various parties become adverse, under the Code of Professional
Responsibility of the legal profession, Morris, Manning & Martin, LLP may be precluded from
representing any one or all of such parties. If any situation arises in which our interests appear to be in
conflict with those of the general partner or its affiliates, additional counsel may be retained by one or
more of the parties to assure that their interests are adequately protected.
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Risks Related to Our Business in General

The Delaware Revised Uniform Limited Partnership Act does not grant limited partners any
voting rights, and limited partners’ rights are limited under our Partnership Agreement.

A vote of a majority of the units of limited partnership interest is sufficient to take the following
actions:

to amend our Partnership Agreement;

to dissolve and terminate UDF I1I;

to remove our general partner; and

to authorize a merger or a consolidation of UDF IIL

These are the only significant voting rights granted to our limited partners under our Partnership
Agreement. In addition, Delaware law does not grant limited partners any specific voting rights.

Our Partnership Agreement provides that limited partners may vote on only a few operational
matters, including the removal of our general partner. However, limited partners will be bound by the
majority vote on matters requiring approval of a majority of the units of limited partnership interest even
if limited partners do not vote with the majority on any such matter. Therefore, limited partners will have
little to no control over our day-to-day operatlons

Our general partner will make all decisions with respect to our management and determine all of
our major pohcles including our financing, growth, investment strategies and distributions. Our general
partner may revise these and other policies without a vote of our limited partners. Therefore, limited
partners will be relymg almost entirely on our general partner for our management and the operatlon of
our business. Our general partner may only be removed under certain conditions, as set forth in our
Partnership Agreement. If our general partner is removed, it will receive payment equal to the fair market
value of its interests in UDF III as agreed upon by our general partner and us, or by arbitration if we are
unable to agree. .

Limited partners’ returns will be reduced if we are required to register as an investment
company under the Investment Company Act.

We are not registered as an investment company under the Investment Company Act. If we were
“obligated to register as an investment company, we would have to comply with a variety of substantive
requirements under the Investment Company Act imposing, among other things:

limitations on capital structure;

restrictions on specified investments;

prohibitions on transactions with affiliates; and

compliance with reporting, record keeping, voting, proxy disclosure and other rules and
regulations that would significantly change our operations.

. We intend to conduct our operations so as not to become regulated as an investment company
under the Investment Company Act. We intend to qualify for an exclusion from registration under Section
3(c)(5)(C) of the Investment Company Act, which generally means that at least 55% of our portfolio must
be comprised of qualifying real estate assets and at least another 25% of our portfolio must be comprised
of additional quahfymg real estate assets and real estate-related assets. Although we monitor our portfolio
periodically and prior to each acquisition, we may not be able to maintain this exclusion from registration.
How we determine to classify our assets for purposes of the Investment Company Act will be based in
large measure upon no-action positions taken by the SEC in the past. We believe that we have conducted
our operations to comply with these no-action positions. However, these no-action positions were issued
in accordance with factual situations that may be substantially different from the factual situations we may
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face, and a number of these no-action positions were issued more than ten years ago. No assurance can be
given that the SEC will concur with our classification of our assets. Future revisions to the Investment
Company Act or further guidance from the SEC may cause us to lose our exclusion from registration or
force us to re-evaluate our portfolio and our investment strategy. Such changes may prevent us from
operating our business successfully.

Limited partners are limited in their ability to sell their units pursuant to our redemption
program.

Any investor requesting repurchase of their units pursuant to our unit redemption program will be
required to certify to us that such investor acquired the units by either (1) a purchase directly from us or
(2) a transfer from the original subscriber by way of a bona fide gift not for value to, or for the benefit of,
a member of the subscriber’s immediate or extended family or through a transfer to a custodian, trustee or
other fiduciary for the account of the subscriber or his/her immediate or extended family in connection
with an estate planning transaction, including by-bequest or-inheritance upon death or by operation of law.
Limited partners should also be fully aware that our unit redemption program contains certain restrictions
and limitations. Units will be redeemed on.a quarterly basis to the extent our general partner determines
there are sufficient excess funds from operations to redeem units, and in the near-term will be limited
primarily to those redemptions requested as a result of death and exigent circumstances, to the extent
there are sufficient funds to redeem units. We will not redeem in excess of 5% of the weighted average
number of units outstanding during the 12-month period immediately prior to the date of redemption. In
addition; the cash available for redemption generally will be limited to 1% of the operating cash flow
from the previous fiscal year, plus any net proceeds from our distribution reinvestment plan. Further, our
general partner reserves -the right to terminate, suspend, or amend the unit redemption program at any
time. Effective June 30, 2009, in order to conserve cash and in response to increasing requests for
redemptions, we have limited our redemptions primarily to those requested as a result of death, disability
and exigent circumstances, to the extent our general partner determines there are sufficient funds to
redeem units. No units were redeemed from May 2010 through March 2012, and no units have been
redeemed since July 2012. Therefore, limited partners should not assume that they will be able to sell any
of their units back to us pursuant.to our redemption program. :

If limited partners are able to resell their units to us pursuant to our redemption program, they
will likely receive substantially less than the fair market value for such units.

Except as described below for redemptions upon the death of a limited partner, the purchase price
for the redeemed units, for the period beginning after a limited partner has held the units for a period of
one year, is equal to: (i) 92% of the Estimated Unit Value (as defined below) for any units held less than
two years, (ii) 94% of the Estimated Unit Value for any units held for at least two years but less than three
years, (iii) 96% of the Estimated Unit Value for any units held at least three years but less than four years,
(iv) 98% of the Estimated Unit Value for any units held at least four years but less than five years; and (v)
100% of the Estimated Unit Value for any units held at least five years. The price the Partnership will pay
for redeemed units will be offset by any net proceeds from capital transactions previously distributed to
the redeeming limited partner in respect of such units as a return of his ‘or her capital contributions. In
addition, the purchase price for units redeemed upon the death of a limited partner is equal to 100% of the

“Estimated Unit Value, with the aggregate annual number of units redeemed for all deceased limited
partners not to exceed 1% of units outstanding in the preceding twelve-month period. The price the
Partnership will pay for units redeemed upon the death of a limited partner will be offset by any net
proceeds from capital transactions previously distributed to the deceased limited partner, or his or her
estate, in respect of such units as a return of capital contributions. For purposes of establishing the
redemption price per unit, “Estimated Unit Value” shall mean the most recently disclosed reasonable
estimated value of the Partnership’s units of limited partnership interest as determined by our general
partner. On March 6, 2012, our general partner determined the Estimated Unit Value to be $20.00 per
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unit, which will be used as the Estimated Unit Value until such time as our general partner provides a new
estimated value of the Partnership’s units of limited partnership interest.

Our llmzted partners’ interest in us may be diluted if the price we pay in respect of umts
redeemed under our unit redemption program exceeds the net asset value of our units.

The prices we may pay for units redeemed under our unit redemptlon program may exceed the
net asset value of such units at the time of redemption. If this were to be the case, investors who do not
elect or are unable to have some or all of their units redeemed under our unit redemption program would
suffer dilution in the value of their units as a result of redemptions. We have created a reserve from our
net interest income and net proceeds from capital transactions to recover some of the organization and
offering expenses, including selling commissions and marketing support fees, we incurred in connection
with the Offering in order to cause the net asset value of the Partnership to be on parity with or greater
than the amount we may pay for units under our unit redemption program. However, it is likely that non-
redeeming unit holders will experience dilution as a result of redemptions which occur at a time when the
net asset value has decreased, regardless of the reserve.

The general partner’s profits interest may create an incentive Jor the general partner to make
speculative investments.

Because our general partner’s participation in cash available for distribution is largely subordinate
to the payment of cumulative distributions to our limited partners, our general partner’s interest is not
wholly. aligned with those of our limited partners. The subordinated nature of our general partner’s
interest means that our general partner is less likely to receive distributions if our investments result only
in minimal returns. Our general partner’s subordinated profits interest in us may create an incentive for
the general partner to cause us to make investments that have a higher potential return but are riskier or
more speculative than would be the case in the absence of this profits interest.

Payment of fees to our general partner and its affiliates will reduce cash available for
investment and distribution.

Our general partner and its affiliates perform services for us in connection with the selection and
acquisition of our investments and the administration of our investments. Our general partner and its
affiliates are paid fees for such services, which reduces the amount of cash avallable for investment in
properties or distribution to limited partners. :

We are under no obligation to pay cash distributions. Distributions may be paid from capital
and there can be no assurance that we will be able to pay or maintain cash distributions, or that
distributions will increase over time.

‘There are many factors, including factors beyond our control, that can affect the availability and
timing of cash distributions to limited partners. Distributions will be based principally on cash available
from our loans, real estate securities and other investments. The amount of cash available for distributions
will be affected by our ability to invest in mortgage loans, mezzanine loans or participations in loans as
funds are available, the yields on the mortgage loans in which we invest, amounts:set aside to create a
retained earnings reserve (currently at 9.5% of our net income) and our operating expense levels, as well
as many other variables. Actual cash available for distributions may vary substantially from estimates. We
are under no obligation to pay cash distributions and we can provide no assurance that we will be able to
pay or maintain distributions or that distributions will increase over time. We also cannot give any
assurance that income from the loans we make or acquire, or in which we participate, will increase or that
future investments will increase our cash available for distributions to limited partners. Our actual results
may differ significantly from the assumptlons used by our general partner in establishing the distribution
rate to limited partners.
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There are no limitations on our general partner’s ability to declare distributions in excess of
available cash. We may fund our distributions from borrowings or the net proceeds of the Secondary
DRIP. Accordingly, the amount of distributions paid at any time may not reflect current cash flow from
our investments. To the extent distributions are paid from the proceeds of the Secondary DRIP or from
borrowings, we will have less capital available to invest in mortgage loans, which may negatively impact
our ability to make investments and substantially reduce current returns to our limited partners. We
cannot assure limited partners that sufficient cash will be available to pay distributions to limited partners.

The failure of any bank in which we deposit our funds could reduce the amount of cash we
have available to pay distributions and make additional investments.

We intend to diversify our cash and cash equivalents among several banking institutions in an
attempt to minimize exposure to any one of these entities. We expect that we will have cash and cash
equivalents and restricted cash deposited in certain financial institutions in excess of federally insured
levels. If any of the banking institutions in which we have deposited funds ultimately fails, we may lose
our deposits over any federally insured amount. The loss of our deposits could reduce the amount of cash
we have available to distribute or invest and could result in a decline in the value of our limited partners’
investments. ‘ ’

Risks Related to the Mortgage Lending Business
Defaults on our mortgage loans will reduce our income and limited partner distributions.

Because most of our assets are mortgage loans, failure of a borrower to pay interest or repay a
loan will have adverse consequences on our income. For example,

o failure by a borrower to repay loans or interest on loans will reduce our income and
consequentially, distributions to our limited partners;
we are required to pay loan servicing fees to our general partner on delinquent loans;

e we may not be able to resolve the default prior to foreclosure of the property securing the
loan;

e we may be required to expend substantial funds for an extended period to develop
foreclosed properties;

e the subsequent income and sale proceeds we receive from the foreclosed properties may

be less than competing investments; and

e the proceeds from sales of foreclosed properties may be less than our investments in the

properties. '

Investments in land development loans present additional risks compared to loans secured by
operating properties. ’

We may invest up to 25% of the gross offering proceeds in loans to purchase unimproved land,
and as of December 31, 2012, we have invested 1% of the gross offering proceeds in such loans. For
purposes of this limitation, “unimproved real property” is defined as real property which has the
following three characteristics: (a) an equity interest in real property which was not acquired for the
purpose of producing rental or other income; (b) has no development or construction in process on such
land; and (c) no development or construction on such land is planned in good faith to commence within
one year. Land development mortgage loans may be riskier than loans secured by improved properties,
because: ' : : » :

e the application of the loan proceeds to the development project must be assured;

o during development, the property does not generate income for the borrower to make
loan payments;
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e the completion of the planned development may require additional development
financing by the borrower and may not be available;

e depending on the sale of lots to homebuilders, demand for lots may decrease, causing the

- price of the lots to decrease; ~

e there is no“assurance that we will be able to sell ummproved land promptly if we are

“forced to foreclose- ‘upon it; and

e lot sale contracts are generally not “specific performance” contracts, and the developer

may have no recourse if a homebuilder elects not to purchase lots.

Investments in secoml ‘mezzanine and wraparound mortgage loans present additional risks
compared to loans secured by first deeds of trust.

We expect that we will be the junior lender with respect to many of our loans. We may invest in
(a) second mortgage loans (some of which are also secured by pledges), which investments represent 5%
of the gross offering proceeds as of December 31, 2012; (b) co-investment loans (which are secured by
pledges and collateral-sharing arrangements permitting us to share in the proceeds of second liens held by
affiliates), which investments represent 52% of the gross offering proceeds as of December 31, 2012; (c)
mezzanine loans (which are secured by pledges), which investments represent 28% of the gross offering
proceeds as of December 31, 2012; and (d) wraparound mortgage loans, which investments represent 0%
of the gross offering proceeds as of December 31, 2012. A wraparound, or all-inclusive, mortgage loan is
a loan in which the lender combines the remainder of an old loan with a new loan at an interest rate that
blends the rate charged on the old loan with the current market rate. In a second mortgage loan and in a
mezzanine loan, our rights as a lender, including our rights to receive payment on foreclosure, will be
subject to the rights of the prior mortgage lender. In a wraparound mortgage loan, our rights will be
similarly subject to the rights of any pr10r mortgage lender, but the aggregate indebtedness evidenced by
our loan documentation will be the prior mortgage loans in addition to the new funds we invest. Under a
wraparound mortgage loan, we would receive all payments from the borrower and forward to any senior
lender its portion of the payments we receive. Because all of these types of loans are sub]ect to the prior
mortgage lender’s right to payment on foreclosure, we incur a greater risk when we invest in each of these
types of loans. :

-Substantially all of our loans will require balloon payments or reductions to principal tied to
net cash, which are riskier than loans with fully amortized payments.

We anticipate that substantially all of our loans will have balloon payments or reductions to
principal tied to net cash from the sale of developed lots and the release formula created by the senior
lender (i.e., the conditions under which principal is repaid to the senior lender, if any), and as of
December 31, 2012, 100% of our loans have balloon payments or reductions to principal tied to net cash.
A balloon ‘payment is a large principal balance that is payable after a period of time during which the
borrower has repaid none or ‘only a small portion of the principal balance. Loans with balloon payments
are riskier than loans with even payments of principal over an extended time period, such as 15 or 30
years, because the-borrower’s repayment often depends .on its ability to refinance the loan or sell the
developed lots profitably when the loan comes due. There are no specific criteria used in evaluating the
credit quality of borrowers for mortgage loans requiring balloon payments. Furthermore, a substantial
period of time may elapse between the review of the financial statements of the borrower and the date
when the balloon payment is due. As a result, there is no assurance that a borrower will have sufﬁc1ent
resources to make a balloon payment when due ‘

The mterest—only loans we make or acqulre may be sub]ect to a greater risk of default and
there may not be sufficient funds or assets remaining to satisfy our loans, which may result in losses to
us.’ g r .
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- We have made and will continue to-make and acquire interest-only loans or loans requiring
reductions to accrued interest tied to net cash, and as of December 31, 2012, 100% of the loans we have
made and acquired are interest-only loans or loans requiring reductions to accrued interest tied to net
cash. Interest-only loans typically cost the borrower less in monthly loan payments than fully-amortizing
loans, which require a payment on pr incipal as well as interest. This lower cost may enable a borrower to
acquire a more expensive property than if the borrower was enterlng into a fully-amortizing mortgage
loan, Borrowers utilizing interest-only loans are dependent on the appreciation of the value of the
underlying property, and the sale or refinancing of such property, to pay down the interest-only loan since
none of the principal balance is being paid down with the borrower’s monthly payments. If the value of
the underlying property declinies due to market or other factors, it is likely that the borrower would hold a
property that is worth less than the mortgage balance on the property. Thus, there may be greater risk of
default by borrowers who.enter into interest-only loans. In addition, interest-only loans include an interest
reserve in the loan amount. If such reserve is required to be funded due to a borrower’s non-payment, the
loan-to-value ratio for that loan will increase, possibly above generally acceptable levels. In the event of a
defaulted. interest-only loan, we. would acquire the underlying collateral which may have declined in
value. In addition, there are significant costs and delays associated. with the foreclosure process. Any of
these factors may result in losses to us.

‘Larger loans result in less dzverszty and may increase nsk

We intend to invest in loans that 1nd1v1dually constitute an average amount equal to the lesser of
(a) 1% to 5% of, the total amount raised in the Offering, or (b) $2.5 million to $12.5 million. However, we
may invest in Iarger loans dependrng on such factors as our performance and the value of the collateral.
These. larger loans are riskier because they may reduce our ab111ty to diversify our loan portfolio. Our
investments in loans to or from any one borrower will not exceed an amount greater than 20% of the total
capltal contrlbutrons ralsed in the Offering, and as of December 31, 2012, our largest investment in a loan
to or from any one, borrower is equal to 15% of the total capital contrrbutlons raised in the offering. Our
investments in loans to or. from any one borrower are calculated based on the aggregate amount of capital
contributions ralsed in the Offering actually used to make or invest in loans with such borrower.

The concentration of loans with a common borrower may increase our risks.

We may invest'in ‘multiple mortgagé loans that share a common borrower or loans to related
borrowers. As of December 31, 2012, we have:invested 45% of our offering proceeds in 12 loans to our
largest group of related borrowers The bankruptcy, insolvency or other inability of any borrower that is
the. subject of multiple loans to pay. interest or repay . pr1n01pa1 on its loans would have adverse
consequences on our income and reduce the amount of funds available for distribution to investors.. In
addition, we expect to be dependent on a limited number of borrowers for a large portion of qur business.
The more concentrated our portfolio is with one or a few borrowers, the greater credit risk we face. The
loss of any one of these borrowers would have a materral adverse effect on our financial condition and
results of operations.

Incorrect or changed property values’ could result in losses and decreased distributions to
ltmzted partners. = ‘ - .

We depend prrmarrly upon our real estate securrty to protect us on the loans that we make. We
depend partly upon the skill of 1ndependent appralsers to value the security underlying our loans and partly
upon our general partner’s internal underwriting and appraisal process ‘However, notwithstanding the
experience of the appraisers selected by our general partner, they or the general partner may make
mistakes, or regardless of decisions made at the time of funding, loan market conditions may deteriorate
for various reasons; causinga decteasé to thé value of the security for our-loans. As a result, there'may be
less security than anticipated at the time the loan was originally made. If there is less security and a default
occurs, we may not recover the full amount of our loan, thus reducing the amount of funds available to
distribute to limited partners.
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Changes in market interest rates may reduce our income and limited partner distributions.

A substantial portion of all of our loans will be fixed-interest rate loans. Market interest rates on
investments comparable to the units could materially increase above the general level of our fixed-rate
loans. Our distributions could then be less than the yield limited partners may obtain from these other
investments. We may also make loans with variable interest rates, which would cause variations in the
yield to us from these loans. All of our variable rate loans contain a floor rate not lower than the original
interest rate. We may make loans with interest rate guarantee provisions in them, requiring a minimum
period of months or years of earned interest even if the loan is paid off during the guarantee period. The
duration of the guarantee is subject to negotiation and will likely vary from loan to loan. Other than these
provisions, the majority of our loans will not include prepayment penalties for a borrower paying off a loan
prior to maturity. The absence of a prepayment penalty in our loans may lead borrowers to refinance higher
interest rate loans in a market of falling interest rates. This would then require us to reinvest the
prepayment proceeds in loans or alternative short-term investments with lower interest rates and a
corresponding lower yield to limited partners. All of these risks increase as the length of maturity of a loan
increases and the amount of cash available for new higher interest loans decreases. A material increase in
market interest rates could result in a decrease in the supply of suitable mortgage loans to us, as there will
likely be fewer attractive transactions for borrowers and less activity in the marketplace.

Some losses that borrowers might incur may not be insured and may result in defaults that
would increase our limited partners’ risks.

Our loans require that borrowers carry adequate hazard insurance for our benefit. Some events are,
however, either uninsurable or insurance coverage is economically not practicable. Losses from
earthquakes, floods or mudslides, for example, may be uninsured and cause losses to us on entire loans. If
a borrower allows insurance to lapse, an event of loss could occur before we become aware of the lapse
and have time to obtain insurance ourselves. Insurance coverage may be inadequate to cover property
losses, even though our general partner imposes insurance requirements on borrowers that it believes are
adequate.

Foreclosures create additional ownership risks to us of unexpected increased costs or
decreased income. : ' o

o When we acquire 'pfopérly by.foreclésuie, we have economic and liability risks as the owner,
including: ' ‘

 less income and reduced cash flows on foreclosed properties than could be earned and
received on mortgage loans; ‘

selling the lots to homebuilders; - .

controlling development and holding expenses;

coping with general and local market conditions;

complying with changes in laws and regulations pertaining to taxes, use, zoning and
environmental protections; and o o : o

* possible liability for injury to persons and property.

If any of these risks were to materialize, then the::re"tu‘m on the particular investment could be
reduced, and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

If we were found to have violated applicable usury laws, we would be subject to penalties-and
other possible risks. o . .

Usury laws. generally regulate the amount of interest that may lawfully be charged on
indebtedness. Each state has its own distinct usury laws. We believe that our loans will not violate
applicable usury laws (as of December 31, 2012, ‘the highest interest rate we have charged on an
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annualized basis is 18%). There is a risk, however, that a court could determine that our loans do violate
applicable usury laws. If we were found to have violated applicable usury laws, we could be subject to
penalties, including fines equal to three times the amount of usurious interest collected and restitution to
the borrower. Additionally, usury laws often provide that a loan that violates usury laws is unenforceable.
If we are subject to penalties or restitution or if our loan agreements are adjudged unenforceable by a
court, it would have a material, adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations and we would have difficulty making distributions to our limited partners.

We have borrowed money to provide transitory indebtedness, which may increase our limited
partners’ risks if a default occurs.

We have utilized, and may continue to utilize, credit facilities as transitory indebtedness to
provide liquidity and to reduce and avoid the need for large idle cash reserves, such as utilizing
borrowings under the credit facilities to fund identified investments pending receipt of proceeds from the
partial or full repayment of loans. ’

We and our limited partners will face increased risk as a result of any future borrowings. If the
interest rates we are able to charge on our mortgage loans decrease below the interest rates we must pay
on our borrowings, payments of interest due on our borrowings will decrease our income otherwise
available for distribution to limited partners. In addition, if one of our mortgage loans goes into default
and we are unable to obtain repayment of the principal amount of the loan through foreclosure or
otherwise, payments of principal required on our borrowings will decrease the amount of cash we have
available and could reduce the amounts we otherwise would have available for repurchases of units from
limited partners.

General Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate

Our operating results may be negatively affected by potential development and construction
delays and resultant increased costs and risks.

We may provide financing for borrowers that will develop and construct improvements to land at
a fixed contract price. We will be subject to risks relating to uncertainties associated with re-zoning for
development and environmental concerns of governmental entities and/or community groups and our
developers’ ability to control land development costs or to build infrastructure in conformity with plans,
specifications and timetables deemed necessary by builders. A developer’s failure to perform may
necessitate legal action by us to compel performance. Performance may also be affected or delayed by
conditions beyond such developer’s control. Delays in completion of construction could also give
builders the right to terminate preconstruction lot purchase contracts. These and other similar factors can
result in increased costs to the borrower that may make it difficult for the borrower to make payments to
us. Furthermore, we must rely upon projections of lot take downs, expenses and estimates of the fair
market value of property when evaluating whether to make development loans. If our projections are
inaccurate, and we are forced to foreclose on a property, our return on our investment could suffer.

The costs of compliance with environmental laws and other governmental laws and regulations
may adversely affect our income and the cash available for any distributions.

All real property and the operations conducted on real property are subject to federal, state and
local laws, ordinances and regulations relating to environmental protection and human health and safety.
These laws and regulations generally govern wastewater discharges, air emissions, the operation and
removal of underground and above-ground storage tanks, the use, storage, treatment, transportation and
disposal of solid and hazardous materials, and the remediation of contamination associated with disposals.
Under limited circumstances, a secured lender, in addition to the owner of real estate, may be liable for
clean-up costs or have the obligation to take remedial actions under environmental laws, including, but
not limited to, the Federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of
1980, as amended. Some of these laws and regulations may impose joint and several liability for the costs
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of investigation or remediation of contaminated properties, regardless of fault or the legality of the
original disposal. In addition, the presence of these substances, or the failure to properly remediate these
substances, may adversely affect our ab111ty to sell such property or to use the property as collateral. for
future borrowing. ‘ .

If we foreclose on a defaulted loan to recover our investment, we may become subject to
environmental liabilities associated with that property if we participate in the management of that
property or do not divest ourselves of the property at the earliest practicable time on commercially
reasonable terms. Environmental laws may impose restrictions on the manner in which property may be
used or businesses may be operated, and these restrictions may require substantial expenditures. It is
possible that property on which we foreclose may contain hazardous substances, wastes, contaminants or
pollutants that we may be required to remove or remediate in order to clean up the property. If we
foreclose on a contaminated property, we may also incur liability to tenants or other users of neighboring
properties. We cannot assure limited partners that we will not incur full recourse liability for the entire
cost of removal and cleanup, that the cost of such removal and cleanup will not exceed the value of the
property, or that we will recover any of these costs from any other party. It may be difficult or impossible
to sell a property following discovery of hazardous substances or wastes on the property. The cost of
defending against claims of liability, of compliance with environmental regulatory requirements, of
remediating any contaminated property, or of paying personal injury claims could materially adversely
affect our business, assets or results of operations and, consequently, amounts available for distribution to
hmlted partners.

Terrorist attacks or other acts of vwlence or war may affect the industry in which we operate,
our operations, and our profitability.

Terrorist attacks may harm our results of operations and limited partners’ investments. We cannot
assure limited partners that there will not be further terrorist attacks against the United States or
U.S. businesses. These attacks or armed conflicts may directly or indirectly impact the value of the
property underlying our loans. Losses resulting from these types of events are generally uninsurable.
Moreover, any of these events could cause consumer confidence and spending to decrease or result in
creased Volatlllty in the United States and worldwide financial markets and economy. They could also
result in economic uncertainty in the United States or abroad. Adverse economic conditions resulting
from terrorist activities could negatively impact borrowers’ ability to repay loans we make to them or
harm the value of the property underlying our loans, both of which would impair the value of our
investments and decrease our ability to make distributions to limited partners.

We are subject to risks related to the geographtc concentration of the properties securtng the
loans and equity investments we make. :

‘While we intend to enter into loans and agreements with respect to propertles throughout the
United States, we have thus far funded loans relating to properties located in Texas, Colorado, Arizona
and New Mexico. We may enter into transactions with respect to properties located in Florida when
homes and land inventories are aligned and prices correct in these markets. If the residential real estate
market or general economic conditions in these geographic areas decline, the developers’ ability to sell
completed project parcels located in these areas may be impaired, we may experience a greater rate of
default on the loans we make with respect to properties in these areas and the value of the parcels that
secure our loans in these areas could decline. Any of these events could materially adversely affect our
business, financial condition or results of operations more so than if our 1nvestments were more
geograph1ca11y diversified.

We cannot at the present time predict the unintended consequences and market dtstorttons that
may stem from far-ranging governmental intervention in the economic and fi inancial system or from
regulatory reform of the oversight of financial markets.
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The U.S. government, the Federal Reserve, the U.S. Treasury, the SEC and other governmental
and regulatory bodies have taken or are taking various -actions to address the financial crisis. The far-
ranging government intervention in the economic and financial system may carry unintended
consequences and cause market distortions. We are unable to predict at this time the extent and nature of
such unintended consequences and market distortions, if any. In addition, the United States Congress
and/or various state and local legislatures may enact legislation or regulatory action designed to address
the recent economic crisis or for other purposes that could have a material and adverse effect on our
ability to execute our business strategies. We cannot predict whether or when such actions may occur, and

such actions could have a dramatic impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Federal Income Tax Risks

The Internal Revenue Serwce may challenge our charactertzatton of material tax aspects of
limited partners’ investments in our units.

An 1nvestme;nt in units involves material income tax risks. Limited partners are urged to consult
with their own tax advisor with respect to the federal, state and foreign tax considerations of an
investment in our units. We will not seek any rulings from the Internal Revenue Service or any other
taxing authority regarding any tax issues.

Investors may realize taxable income without cash dtstnbutwns, and limited partners may have
to use funds from other sources to pay their tax liabilities.

Limited partners will be required to report their allocable share of our taxable income on their
individual income tax return regardless - of whether they have received any cash distributions from us. It is
possible that limited partners’ units will be allocated taxable income in excess of their cash distributions.
We have established reserves for working capital, our unit redemption program and to recover some of
the organization and offering expenses incurred in connection with the Offering. The establishment and
maintenance of these reserves reduces the amount of cash otherwise distributable to limited partners and
could result in limited partners belng distributed less cash than the taxable income allocated to them.
Further, if limited partners participate in our Secondary DRIP, they will be allocated their share of our net
income, including net income allocable to units acquired pursuant to our Secondary DRIP, even though
they will receive no cash distributions from us. We cannot assure limited partners that cash flow will be
available for distribution in any year. As a result, limited partners may have to use funds from other
sources to-pay their tax liability.

We could be characterized as a publicly traded partnership, which would have an adverse tax
effect on limited partners.

If the Internal Revenue Serv1ce were to cla331fy usas a pubhcly traded partnership, we could be
taxable as a corporation, and distributions made to limited partners could be treated as portfolio income to
limited partners rather than passive income. We cannot assure limited partners that the Internal Revenue
Service will not challenge our conclusion that we are not a publicly traded partnership or that we will not
be treated as a pubhcly traded partnership at some time in the future due to the following factors:

o the complex nature of the Internal Revenue Code safe harbors;
e the lack of interpretive guidance with respect to such provisions; and
o the speculative nature of the facts underlying any determination in this regard.

The deductzbtltty of losses wzll be subject 0 passzve loss ltmttattons, and therefore their
deductibility will be limited.

Limited partnership units will be allocated their pro rata share of our tax losses. Section 469 of
the Internal Revenue Code limits deductions for losses attributable to passive activities, which are defined
generally as activities in which the taxpayer does not materially participate. Any of our tax losses
allocated to investors will be characterized as passive losses, and accordingly, the deductibility of such
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losses will be subject to Section 469 limitations. Losses from passive activities are generally deductible
only to the extent of a taxpayer’s income or gains from passive activities and will-not be allowed as an
offset against other income, including salary or other compensation for personal services, active business
income or “portfolio income,” which includes non-business income derived from-dividends, -interest,
royalties, annuities and gains from the sale of property held for investment. Accordingly, limited partners
may receive no current benefit from their share of our tax losses unless they are currently being allocated
passive income from other sources.

The Internal Revenue Service may challenge our allocatwns of profit and loss, and any
reallocation of items of income, gain, deduction and credit could reduce anttctpated tax benefits.

The Internal Revenue Service may successfully challenge the allocations in the Partnersh1p
Agreement and treallocate items of income, gain, loss, deduction and credit in a manner that reduces
anticipated tax benefits. The tax rules applicable to allocation of items of taxable income and loss are
complex. The ultimate determination of whether allocations adopted by us will be respected by the
Internal Revenue Service will depend upon facts that will occur in the future and that cannot be predicted
with certainty or completely controlled by us. If the allocations we use are not respected, limited partners
could be required to report greater taxable income or less taxable loss with respect to an investment in us
and, as a result, pay more tax and assoaated interest and penaltles Our limited partners might also be
required to incur the costs of amendmg their individual income tax returns.

We may be audited, which could result in the imposition of additional tax, interest and
penalties.

+Our federal income tax returns may be audited by the Internal Revenue Serv1ce Wthh could
result in an audit of limited partners’ tax returns that may require adjustments of items unrelated to their
investment in us, in addition to -adjustments to various Partnership items.~In the event of any such
adjustments, limited partners might incur attorneys’ fees, court costs and other expenses contesting
deficiencies asserted by the Internal Revenue Service. Limited. partners may also be liable for interest on
any underpayment and penalties from the date their taxes were due originally. The tax treatment of all
Partnership items generally will be determined at the partnership level in a single proceeding rather than
in separate proceedings with each partner, and our general partner is primarily responsible for contesting
federal income tax adjustments proposed by the Internal Revenue Service. In this connection, our general
partner may extend the statute of limitations as to-all partners and, in certain circumstances, may bind the
partners to-a settlement with the Internal. Revenue Service. Further, our general partner may cause us to
elect to be treated as an electing large partnership. If it does, we-could take advantage of simplified flow-
through . reporting of Partnership items. Adjustments to . Partnership items would continue to be
determined at the partnership level, however, and any such adjustments would be accounted for in the
year they take effect, ratherthan in the year to which such adjustments relate. Our general partner will
have the discretion in such circumstances either to pass along any such adjustments to the partners or to
bear such adjustments at the partnership level. . ' -

State and local taxes and a requirement to withhold state taxes-may apply, and if so, the
amount of net cash from operations payable to limited partners would be'reducetl

The state in which a limited partner resides may impose an 1ncome tax upon such limited
partner’s share of our taxable income. Further, states in which we own propertles acquired through
foreclosure may impose income taxes upon a llmlted partner’s share of our taxable income allocable to
any Partnership property located in that stite. Many states have also 1mplemented or are implementing
programs to require partnerships to withhold and pay state incomie taxes owed by non-resident partners
relating to income-producing properties located in their states, and we may be required to withhold state
taxes from cash distributions otherwise payable to limited partners. Limited partners may also be required
to file income tax returns‘in some states and report their share of income attributable to ownership and
operation by the Partnership of properties in those states. In the event we are required to withhold state
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taxes from limited partners’ cash distributions, the amount of the net cash from operations otherwise
payable to limited partners would be reduced. In addition, such collection and filing requirements at the
state level may result in increases in our administrative expenses that would have the effect of reducing
cash available for distribution to limited partners. Limited partners are urged to consult with their own tax
advisors with respect to the impact of applicable state and local taxes and state tax withholding
requirements on an investment in our units.

Legislative or regulatory action could adversely affect limited partners.

In recent years, numerous legislative, judicial and administrative changes have been made in the
provisions of the federal income tax laws applicable to investments similar to an investment in our units.
Additional changes to the tax laws are likely to continue to occur, and we cannot assure limited partners
that any such changes will not adversely affect their taxation, the investment in our units or the market
value or the resale potential of our properties. Limited partners are urged to consult with their own tax
advisor with respect to the impact of recent legislation on their investment in units and the status of
legislative, regulatory or:administrative developments and proposals and their potential effect on an
investment in our units.

If limited partners fail to meet the fiduciary and other standards under the Employee
Retirements Income Securities Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”), or the Internal Revenue Code as
a result of an investment in our units, they could be subject to civil (and ctiminal, if their failure is
willful) penalties. -

There are special considerations that apply to tax-qualified pension, stock bonus or profit-sharing
plans, employee benefit plans-described in Section 3(3) of ERISA and other retirement plans or accounts
subject to Section 4975 of ‘the Internal Revenue Code (such as IRAs or annuities described in
Sections. 408 or 408A of the Internal Revenue Code, annuities described in Sections 403(a) or (b) of the
Internal Revenue Code, Archer Medical Savings Accounts described in Section 220(d) of the Internal
Revenue Code, health savings.accounts described in Section 223(d) of the Internal Revenue Code, and
Coverdell education savings accounts' described in Section 530 of the Internal Revenue Code) that are
investing in our units. - If investors are investing the assets of a plan or IRA in our units, they should
satlsfy themselves that, among other things:

o their investment is consistent with their fiduciary obligations under ERISA and the
Internal Revenue Code applicable to their plan or IRA, and other applicable provisions of
ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code applicable to their plan or IRA;

e their investment is made in accordance with the documents and instruments governing
their plan or IRA (including their plan’s investment policy, if applicable);

"~ o their investment satisfies the prudence and diversification requirements of
Sections 404(a)(1)(B) and 404(a)(1)(C) of ERISA and all other applicable provisions of
ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code that may apply to their plan or IRA;

o their investment will not impair the liquidity needs of the plan or IRA, including liquidity
needs to satisfy minimum and other distribution requirements and tax withholding
requirements that may be applicable;
their investment will not produce UBTI for the plan or IRA;
they will be able to value the assets of the plan or IRA annually or more frequently in

~ accordance with ERISA and Internal Revenue Code requirements and any applicable
provisions of the plan or IRA;

o their investment will not constitute a prohlblted transactlon under Section 406 of ERISA
or Sectlon 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code; and

e our assets will not be treated as “plan assets” of their plan or IRA..
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Failure to satisfy the fiduciary standards of conduct and other applicable requirements of ERISA
and the Internal Revenue Code may result in the imposition of civil (and, if willful, criminal) penalties
and could subject the responsible fiduciaries to liability and equitable remedies. In addition, if an
investment in our units constitutes a prohibited' transaction under ERISA or the Internal Revenue Code,
the “party-in-interest” or “‘disqualified person” who engaged in the prohibited transaction may be subject
to the imposition of excise taxes with respect to the amount involved, and for IRAs the tax-exempt status
of the IRA may be lost. / : :

We may terminate the Secondary DRIP or dissolve UDF III if ouir assets are deemed to be
“plan assets” or if we engage in prohibited transactions. :

If our assets were deemed to be the assets of qualified plans investing as limited partners (“plan
assets™), our general partner would be considered to be a plan fiduciary and certain contemplated
transactions between our general partner or its affiliates and us may be deemed to be prohibited
‘transactions subject to excise taxation under Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code. Additionally, if
our assets were deemed to be plan assets, ERISA’s fiduciary standards would extend to the general
partner as a plan fiduciary with respect to our investments. We have not requested an opinion of our
counsel regarding whether or not our assets would constitute plan assets under ERISA, nor have we
sought any rulings from the U.S.Department of Labor (the “Department of Labor”) regarding
classification of our assets. .

Department of Labor regulations defining plan assets for purposes of ERISA contain exemptions
that, if satisfied, would preclude assets of a limited partnership such as ours from being treated as plan
assets. However, we cannot assure limited partners that our Partnership Agreement and the Offering and
Secondary DRIP have been structured so that the exemptions in such regulations would apply to us, and
although our general partner intends that an investment by a qualified plan in our units will not be deemed
an investment in our assets, we can make no representations or warranties of any kind regarding the
consequences of such an investment. Plan fiduciaries are urged to consult with and rely upon their own
advisors with respect to this and other ERISA issues that, if decided adversely to us, could result in.
prohibited transactions, which would cause the imposition of excise taxation and the imposition of co-
fiduciary liability under Section 405 of ERISA in the event actions undertaken by us are deemed to be
non-prudent investments or prohibited transactions.

In the event our assets are deemed to constitute plan assets, or if certain transactions undertaken
by us are deemed to constitute prohibited transactions under ERISA or the Internal Revenue Code and no
exemption for such transactions applies or is obtainable by us, our general partner has the right, but not
the obligation, upon notice to all limited partners, but without the consent of any limited partner to:

terminate the Secondary DRIP;

e compel a termination and dissolution of UDF III; or
restructure our activities to the extent necessary to comply with any exemption in the
Department of Labor regulations or any prohibited transaction exemption granted by the
Department of Labor or any condition that the Department of Labor might impose as a
condition to granting a prohibited transaction exemption.

Adverse tax considerations may result because of minimum distribution requirements.

If limited partners intend to purchase units through their IRA, or if limited partners act as trustees
of an IRA or other fiduciary of a retirement plan considering an investment in units, they must consider
the limited liquidity of an investment in our units as it relates to applicable minimum distribution
requirements under the Internal Revenue Code. If units are held and our investments have not generated
sufficient income at such time as mandatory distributions are required to begin to an IRA beneficiary or
qualified plan participant, Sections 408(a)(6) and 401(a)(9) of the Internal Revenue Code likely will
require that a distribution-in-kind of the units be made to the IRA beneficiary or qualified plan
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participant. Any such distribution-in-kind of units must be included in the taxable income of the IRA
beneficiary or qualified plan participant for the year in which the units are received at the fair market
value of the units without any corresponding cash distributions with which to pay the income tax liability
attributable to'any such distribution. Also, fiduciaries of a retirement plan should consider that, for
. distributions subject to mandatory income tax withholding under Section 3405 of the Internal Revenue
Code, the fiduciary may have an obligation, even in situations involving in-kind distributions of units, to
liquidate a portion of the in-kind units distributed in order to satisfy such withholding obligations. There
may also be similar state and/or local tax withholding or other obligations that should be considered.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None."
Item 2. Propertles

We do not maintain any physical propemes Our operations are conducted at the offices of our
general partner at 1301 Mun1c1pal Way, Grapevme Texas. ,

Item 3. Legal Proceedmgs ’
 None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Dlsclosures
o Not apphcable
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Part 18

Item 5. Market for Reglstrant’s Common Equlty, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securmes. : ‘

Market Information

There is no estabhshed tradmg market for our 11mlted partnersh1p umts and we do not expect that
one will develop. This illiquidity creates a risk that a limited partner may not be able to sell units at a
time or price acceptable to the limited partner. In February 2009, the F1nanc1al Industry Regulatory
Authority (“FINRA”) 1ssued a notice to broker-dealers that sell units of non-traded real estate direct
partrc1pat1on progranis, such as the Partnershrp s. This notice informed broker-dealers that they may not
report in a customer account statement an estimated unit value that is developed from data more than
18 months old, which in effect requires non-traded direct part1c1pat1on programs to provide broker—dealers
with an estimated value per unit of 11m1ted partnership interest within 18 months of the completlon of
their offering stage. We completed our offering stage in April 2009. Accordingly, to meet FINRA
guidelines, on each of October 22, 2010 and March 6, 2012, Land Development, our general partner,
approved an estimated value of our units of limited partnership interest equal to $20.00 per unit. In
making a determination of the estimated value of our units, Land Development assessed our assets, less
liabilities, per unit and the execution of our business model set forth in the prospectus regarding our initial
public offering of limited partnership interests. Land Development also engaged .an independent firm
specializing in the valuation of businesses, partnerships and intellectual property, which derived a range
of estimated values per unit using various valuation analyses. The estimated value per unit determined by
Land Development 1S Wlthln the range of values der1ved by the 1ndependent firm.

As with any valuatlon methodology, the general partner’s methodology is based upon a number
of estimates and assumptions that may not be accurate or complete. Different parties with different
assumptions and estimates could derive a different estimated value per unit. Accordmgly, with respect to
the estimated value per unit, the Partnership can give no assurance that:

¢ . alimited partner would be able to resell his or her units at this estimated value;

e a limited partner would ultimately realize distributions per unit equal to the Partnership’s
estimated value per unit upon liquidation of the Partnership’s assets and settlement of its
liabilities or a sale of the Partnership;

e the Partnership’s limited partnersh1p units would trade at the estimated value per unit on a
national securities exchange;

e an independent third-party appraiser or other thlrd—party valuation firm would agree w1th the
Partnership’s estimated value per unit; or

¢ the methodology used to estimate the Partnership’s value per unit would be acceptable to FINRA

' or for comphance with ERISA reportmg requlrements ‘

The value of the Partnership’s units will fluctuate over time in response to developments related
to individual assets in the portfolio and the management of those assets and in response to the real estate
and finance markets. The Partnership will update the estimated unit value from time to time, and our
general partner may engage an independent valuation firm to assist in this valuation. The Partnership
currently expects to update its estimated unit value within 12 to 18 months of March 6, 2012.

Unit Redemption Program

Limited partners who have held their units for at least one year may request that the Partnership
repurchase their units, subject to the pricing and significant terms and conditions described in Note H to
the Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report. <A limited partner wishing to have
units repurchased must mail or deliver in wntlng a request to the Partnership indicating such desire.
However, -effective June 30, 2009, in order to conserve cash and in response to increasing requests for
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redemptions, we limited our redemptions primarily to those requested as a result of death, disability and
exigent circumstances, to the extent our general partner determines there are sufficient funds to redeem
units. In any event, we will not redeem in excess of 5%. of the weighted average number of units
outstanding during the 12-month period immediately prior to the date of redemption. In addition, .the
cash available for redemption will generally be limited to 1% of the operating cash flow from the
previous fiscal year, plus any net proceeds from our distribution reinvestment plan.

No units were redeemed from May 2010 through March 2012. In April and July 2012, our
general partner determined that the Partnership had sufficient excess cash from operations to repurchase
some units as a result of the deaths of limited partners. However, no units have been redeemed since July
2012. Therefore, for year ended December 31, 2012, our general partner approved and the Partnership
redeemed a fotal of approximately 17,450 units as a result of the deaths of limited partners for an
aggregate of $349,000 (an average repurchase price of approximately $20.00 per unit). However, as
stated below, our general partner will determine from time to time whether the Partnership has sufficient
excess cash from operations to repurchase units. No units have been repurchased since July 2012 and
there is no guarantee that the Partnership will repurchase any additional units in the future.

At such time, if any, when sufficient funds become available, pending requests will be honored
among_all requesting limited partners as follows: first, pro rata as to redemptions upon the death or
disability of a limited partner; next, pro rata as to limited partners who demonstrate, in the discretion of
our general partner, another involuntary exigent circumstance, such as bankruptcy; and, finally, pro rata
as to all other redemption requests, if any, until all other requests for redemption have been met.

The Partnership complies with the Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity topic of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”), which requires,
among other things, that financial instruments that represent a mandatory obligation of the Partnership to
repurchase limited partner units be.classified as liabilities and reported at settlement value. We believe
that limited partner units tendered for redemption by the unit holder under the Partnership’s unit
redemption program do not represent a mandatory obligation until such redemptions are approved at the
discretion of our general partner. At such time, we will reclassify such obligations from equity to an
accrued liability based upon their respective settlement values. As of December 31, 2012, we did not
have any approved redemption requests included in our liabilities. :

Holders

As of March 15,2013, we had 18,913,17’.2 limited partnership units outstanding that were held by
a total of approximately 9,000 limited partners.

Distribution Reinvestment Plan

We have adopted a distribution reinvestment plan pursuant to which investors may elect to have a
portion of the full amount of their distributions from us reinvested in additional units. As of December 31,
2012, we were offering 5,000,000 units for sale pursuant to our Secondary DRIP at $20 per unit, which
will be available until we sell all $100,000,000 worth of units being offered pursuant to the Secondary
DRIP; provided, however, that our general partner may terminate the offering of units pursuant to the
Secondary DRIP at any earlier time. :

Distributions

Cash available for distributions represents the cash funds received by us from operations (other
than net proceeds from a capital transaction) that produce proceeds from (i) the repayment of principal or
prepayment of a mortgage to the extent classified as a return of capital for federal income tax purposes,
(i) the foreclosure, sale, exchange, condemnation, eminent domain taking or other disposition of a
mortgage loan or of a property subject to a mortgage, or (iii) insurance or a guarantee with respect to a
mortgage, including, without limitation, interest, points, revenue participations in property appreciation
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and interest or dividends from interim investments or proceeds from borrowings, if appropriate, less all
cash used to pay Partnership expenses and debt payments and amounts set aside to create a retained
earnings reserve (currently at 9.5% of our net income; the retained earnings reserve is intended to recover
some of the organization and offering expenses incurred in connection with the Offering). Our general
partner receives a monthly distribution for promotional and carried interest from the cash available for
distributions, in addition to the payments made: to our general partner and related parties that are
described in “Item 13, Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.”

A “carried interest” is an equity interest in us to participate in all distributions, other than
distributions attributable to our general partner’s promotional interest, of cash available for distribution
and net proceeds from a capital transaction that are distributable under the distribution priority for net
proceeds from a capital transaction described below. If our general partner enters into commitments to
investments in mortgages in excess of 82% of the gross proceeds of the Offering, our general partner will
be entitled to a carried interest equal to (a) 1% for the first 2.5% of commitments to investments in
mortgages above 82% of the gross proceeds of the Offering (or if commitments to investments in
mortgages are above 82% but no more than 84.5%, 1% multiplied by the fractional amount of
commitments to investments in mortgages above 82%), (b) 1% for the next 2% of additional
commitments to investments in mortgages above 84.5% of the gross proceeds of the Offering (or if
commitments to investments in mortgages are above 84.5% but no more than 86.5%, 1% multiplied by
the fractional amount of commitments to investments in mortgages above 84.5%) and (c) 1% for each
additional 1% of additional commitments to investments in mortgages above 86.5% of the gross proceeds
of the Offering (or a fractional percentage equal to the fractional amount of any 1% of additional
commitments to investments in mortgages) By way of illustration, if 85.5% of the gross proceeds of the
Offering are committed to investments in mortgages, then our general partner would be entitled to a
carried interest of 1.5% (1% for the first 2.5% of commitments to investments in mortgages above 82% of
the gross proceeds of the Offering and 0.5% for the next 1% of additional commitments to investments in
mortgages above 84.5% of the gross proceeds of the Offering) of any amount otherwise distributable to
the limited partners after deduction of any promotional interest payable to our general partner.

In order for proceeds to be considered “committed” for purposes of calculation and payment of a
carried interest, we must be obligated by contract or other binding agreement to invest such proceeds in
mortgages, to the exclusion of any other use for such proceeds or no use at all.

“Investments in mortgages” are the aggregate amount of capital contributions from investors used
by us to make or invest in mortgage loans or the amount actually paid or allocated to the purchase of
mortgages, working capital reserves (but excluding working capital reserves in excess of 3% of the
aggregate capital contributions) and other cash payments such as interest and taxes but excluding our
organization and offering expenses, selling commissions, wholesaling fees, marketmg support fees, due
diligence fees, acquisition and origination fees, and any other front-end fees.

Our general partner’s “promotional interest” is our general partner’s right to receive:

e prior to the return to the limited partners of all of their capital contributions plus an
8% per annum, non-compounding, cumulative return on their unreturned capital
contributions, 10% of all cash available for distribution;

o following the return to the limited partners of all of their capital contributions plus an
8% per annum, non-compounding, cumulative return on their unre‘rurned capital
contributions, 15% of all cash available for distribution; and

45



o following the return to the limited partners of all of their capital contributions plus an
8% per annum, non-compounding, cumulative return on their unreturned capital
-contributions, 15% of all net proceeds from a capital transaction.

Monthly distributions, which commenced in ‘September 2006, are currently paid to our limited
partners at a 9.75% annualized return, assuming a purchase price of $20.00 per unit, on a pro rata basis
based on'the number of days in the Partnership. Retained earnings would contain a surplus if the cash
available for distributions less the 9.5% reserve exceeded the monthly distribution to the general and
limited partners. Retained earnings would contain a deficit if cash available for distributions less the
9.5% reserve is less than the monthly distribution to general and limited partners. It is the intent of
management to monitor and distribute such surplus, if any, on an annual basis.

The chart below summarizes the aggregate amount of distributions to our general partner and
limited partners and the retained earnings deﬁc1t as of December 31, 2012 and 2011:

_As of December 31,
2012 - : 2011

)
(3)
(11,211,000) (8,801,000)

0
Limited Partners 160, 674 000 124,457,000

Retained E;mngs Deficit o
(1) approximately $19.8 million paid in cash.
(2) approximately $13.7 million paid in cash and $1.6 million has been declared,'but not paid.

(3) approximately $107.4 million paid in cash and. approximately $53.3 million reinvested in -
2,663,191 units of limited partnership interest under our DRIP and Secondary DRIP.

4) appr0x1mately $81.6 ‘million paid in cash and approximately $42.9 million reinvested in
2,144,754 units of limited partnership interest under our DRIP and Secondary DRIP.

The chart below summarizes the payment of related party fees and reimbursements associated with
the Offering and origination and management of assets, including the distributions to our general partner
described above, and the general and administrative — related parties expenses for the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011. ‘We believe that these fees and reimbursements are reasonable and
customary for comparable mortgagez programs. :

For the Years Ended December 31 .
2012 . 2011

£t
Total General and Administrative Expenses
to General Partner and Related Parties . 8 2,758,000 $ 2,698,000

" For the year ended December 31, 2012, we have made the following distributions to our limited
partners:

Period Ended - Date Paid Distribution Amount

January 31, 2012 February 24, 2012 3,036,865
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March 31, 2012 " April 24, 2012

November 30, 2012 December 24, 2012 B 3,005,276

’ $”” ‘ 36217790

. For the year ended December 31, 2012 we pard d1str1but10ns of $36 217 790 ($25 849,039 in
cash and $10 368 751 in 11m1ted partnershrp units pursuant to our Secondary DRIP) as compared to cash
flows from operations of $48 600,354. For the year ended December 31, 2011, we paid distributions of
$35,098,089 (824,225,933 in cash and $10,872,156 in limited partnershlp units pursuant to our Secondary
DRIP), as compared to cash ﬂows from operations of $45 401,226. For the period from our inception
through December 31, 2012, we paid distributions of approx1mately $160.7 million (approximately
$107.4 ‘million. in cash and approx1mately $53 3 million in limited partnersh1p units pursuant to our DRIP
and Secondary DRIP), as compared to cumulative cash flows from operations of approx1mate1y $199 8
m1111on and cumulative net income of approxrmately $190.4 mrlhon '

The distributions to our limited partners pa1d dur1ng the years ended December 31 2012 and
2011, along with the amount of distributions relnvested pursuant to our Secondary DRIP and the sources
of our dlstrlbutrons were as follows: ' SRR e

For the Years Ended December 31

2012 2011

Distributions reinvested Do . ) 10,368,751 . . o . .10,872,156

Source of distributions

' 35,098,089 100%

Total sources .. 8 36217790 100% 3

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
- None.
Use of Proceeds from Reglstered Securltles ’

On May. 15, 2006, our Registration -Statement ‘on Form S- 11 (Reglstratron No. 333- 127891)
covering a public offering of 17,500,000 of our units. of limited partnership interest, was declared
effective under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The:aggregate offering price for the units under
the Offering was $350 million. At the time of effectiveness, the Registration Statement covered up to
12,500,000 units of limited partnership interest at a price of $20.00 per unit pursuant to the Primary
Offering and up to 5,000,000 units of limited partnership interest to be issued pursuant to our DRIP at a
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price of $20.00 per unit. We had the right to reallocate the units of limited partnership interest we were
offering between the Primary Offering and our DRIP and, pursuant to Supplement No. 8 to our
prospectus regarding the Offering, which was filed with the SEC on September 4, 2008, we reallocated
- the units being offered such that 16,250,000 units were offered pursuant to the Primary Offering and
1,250,000 units were offered pursuant to the DRIP. Pursuant to Supplement No. 11 to our prospectus
regarding the Offering, which was filed with the SEC on March 6, 2009, we further reallocated the units
being offered such that 16,500,000 units were offered pursuant to the Primary Offering and 1,000,000
units were offered pursuant to the DRIP. The Primary Offering was terminated on April 23, 2009. We
extended the offering of our units of limited partnership interest pursuant to our DRIP until the earlier of
the sale of all units of limited partnership interest being offered pursuant to our DRIP or May 15, 2010;
provided, however, that our general partner was permitted to terminate the offering of units pursuant to
our DRIP at any earlier time.

On June 9,'2009, we held a special meeting of our limited partners as of April 13, 2009, at which
our limited partners approved three proposals to amend certain provisions of our Partnership Agreement
for the purpose of making available additional units of limited partnership interest for sale pursuant to the
Secondary DRIP. On June 12, 2009 we registered 5,000, 000 additional units to be offered pursuant to
our Secondary DRIP for $20.00 per unit in a Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-159939),
which became effective immediately upon filing with the SEC. As such, we ceased offering units under
the DRIP as of July 21, 2009 and concurrently commenced our current offering of units pursuant to the
Secondary DRIP. The aggregate offering price for the units being offered pursuant to the Secondary
DRIP is $100,000,000. The Secondary DRIP will be available until we sell all $100,000,000 worth of
units being offered; prov1ded however, that our general partner may terminate the offering of units
pursuant to the Secondary DRIP at any earher tlme

Our limited partnership units are not currently listed on a national exchange, and we do not
expect any public market for the units to develop

On July 3, 2006, we accepted our initial publlc subscribers as limited partners Since such time,
we admitted new investors at least monthly until the Primary Offering was terminated on April 23, 2009.
As of December 31, 2012, we had issued an aggregate of 18,827,498 units of limited partnership interest
in the Primary Offering, the DRIP and the Secondary DRIP, consisting of 16,499,994 units that have been
issued to our limited partners pursuant to the Primary Offering in exchange for gross proceeds of
approximately $330.3 million (approximately $290.7 million, net of costs associated with the Primary
Offering), 716,260 units of limited partnership interest issued to limited partners in accordance with our
DRIP in exchange -for gross proceeds of approximately $14.3 million, and 1,946,931 units of limited
partnership interest issued to limited partners in accordance with our Secondary DRIP in exchange for
gross proceeds of approximately $39.0 million, minus 335,687 units of limited partnership interest that
have been repurchased pursuant to our unit redemption program for approximately $6.7 million. Of the
offering costs paid as of December 31, 2012, approximately $11.2 million was paid to our general partner
or its affiliates for organizational and offering expenses, and approximately $28.4 million was paid to
non-affiliates for commissions and dealer fees. :

As of December 31, 2012, we had used the proceeds from the Primary Offerlng, the DRIP and the
Secondary DRIP to originate 60 loans, including 33 loans that have been repaid in full by the respective
borrower, totaling approximately $572.3 million. We have approximately $36.6 million of commitments
to be funded, including approximately $15.1 million of commitments for mortgage notes receivable —
related parties and $7.3 million for participation interest — related party. As of December 31, 2012, we
have paid our general partner approximately $10.3 million: for acquisition and orlgmatlon fee expenses
associated with the mortgage notes receivable:
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

We present below selected financial information. We encourage investors to read the financial
statements and the notes accompanying the financial statements included in this Annual Report. This
information is not intended to be a replacement for the financial statements.

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
OPERATING DATA :
Revenues $ 53,159,213 $ 51,426,947 $ 49,023,295 $ 43,995,547 $ 25,806,038
Expenses 10,858,480 9,252,394 8,930,822 7,274,965 4,217,748
Net Income $ 42,300,733 $ 42,174,553 $ 40,092,473 $ 36,720,582 $ 21,588,290
Earpings per limited partnership unit, basic and $ 204 $ 2.09 $ 2.05 $ 1.96 $ 1.94

diluted 3
As of December 31,

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

BALANCE SHEET DATA

Mortgage notes receivable, net

$ 226,908,530

$ 224,471,362

$220,804,130 °

$202,437,145

$ 169,825,653

Mortgage notes receivable — related parties, net 49,021,242 ‘ 52,027,407 54,622,666 51,973,747 43,311,599
Participation interest — related party, net 75,188,457 66,150,523 57,851,492 54,726,000 39,259,006
Deferred offering costs - - - - 612,292

13,332,871 10,722,984 18,140,258 19,712,862

Other assets

Total assets

12,210,643

’ $ 363,328,872

$ 355,982,163

$ 344,001,272

$.327,277,150

$272,721,412

Line-of-credit $ 13,750,000 $ 15,000,000 '$ 15,000,000 $ 15,000,000 $ -
Accrued liabilities - related parties 2,054,804 3,507,212 3,678,858 3,003,890 3,346,306
Distributions payable - '1,552,450 2,983,217 - -
Other liabilities 322,760 398,759 340,720 230,552 934,151
Total Habilities 16,127,654 20,458,421 22,002,795 18,234,442 4,280,457
Partners' capital 347,201,218 335,523,742 321,998,477 309,042,708 268,440,955

$ 363,328,872 $ 344,001,272 $327,277,150 $272,721,412

Total liabilities and partners' capital

Item 7. _Managemeiit’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

$ 355,982,163

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our accompanying
financial statements and the notes thereto:

Overview

On May 15, 2006, our Registration Statement on Form S-11, cdvering a public offering of our

units of limited partnership interest, was declared effective under the Securltles Act of 1933, as amended.
The aggregate offering price for the units under the Offering was $350 million. At the time of
effectiveness, the Registration Statement covered up to 12,500,000 units of limited partnership interest at
a price of $20.00 per unit pursuant to the Primary Offering and up to 5,000,000 units of limited
partnership interest to be issued pursuant to our DRIP for $20.00 per unit. On July 3, 2006, we accepted
our initial public subscribers as limited partners. We had the right to reallocate the units of limited
partnership interest we were offering between the Primary Offering and our DRIP, and pursuant to
Supplement No. 8 to our prospectus regarding the Offering, which was filed with the SEC on September
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4, 2008, we reallocated the units being offered such that 16,250,000 units were offered pursuant to the
Primary Offering and 1,250,000 units were offered pursuant to the DRIP. Pursuant to Supplement No. 11
to our prospectus regarding the Offering, which was filed with the SEC on March 6, 2009, we further
reallocated the units being offered such that 16,500,000 units were offered pursuant to the Primary
Offering and 1,000,000 units were offered pursuant to the DRIP. The Primary Offering was términated
on April 23, 2009. We extended the offering of our units of limited partnership interest pursuant to our
DRIP until the earlier of the sale of all units of limited partnership interest being offered pursuant to our
DRIP or May 15, 2010; provided, however, that our general partner was permitted to terminate the
offering of units pursuant to our DRIP at any earlier time.

On June 9, 2009, we held a special meeting of our limited partners as of April 13, 2009, at which
our limited partners approved three proposals to amend certain provisions of our Partnership Agreement
for the purpose of making available additional units of limited partnership interest for sale pursuant to the
‘Secondary DRIP. On June 12, 2009, we registered 5,000,000 additional units to be offered pursuant to
our Secondary DRIP for $20.00 per unit in a Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-159939).
As such, we ceased offering units under the DRIP as of July 21, 2009 and concurrently commenced our
current offering of units pursuant to the Secondary DRIP. The aggregate offering price for the units being
offered pursuant to the Secondary DRIP is $100,000,000. The Secondary DRIP will be available until we
-sell all $100,000,000 worth of units being offered; provided, however, that our general partner may
terminate the offering of units pursuant to the Secondary DRIP at any earlier time.

Our loan portfolio, consisting of mortgage notes receivable, mortgage notes receivable — related
parties and participation interest — related party grew from approximately $333 million as of December
31, 2010, to approximately $343 million as of December 31, 2011, to approximately $351 million as of
December 31, 2012. With the increase in our-loan portfolio, our revenues, the majority of which is from
recognizing interest income associated with our loan portfolio, also increased. Our expenses related to the
portfolio also increased, including the loan loss expense, which was approximately $3.5 million, $4.0
million and $5.6 million for the years-ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively. The
increase in loan loss reserve expense primarily related to increased reserves associated with growth in our
loan portfolio as well as additional reserves recorded due to general market conditions.

In September 2009, we entered into the Brockhoeft Credit Facility, of which $15 million, $15
" million and $13.8 million as of December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively, was included in notes
payable. Our intent is to utilize the Brockhoeft Credit Facility as transitory indebtedness to provide
liquidity and to reduce and avoid the need for large idle cash reserves. As a result of the Brockhoeft
Credit Facility-and our desire to avoid the need for large idle cash reserves, our cash balances were
approximately $815,000, $2.7 million and $3.9 million as of December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012,
respectively. Our interest expense associated with the Brockhoeft Credit Fa(:lhty was approximately $1.5
million for each of the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012.

'Net income was approx1mately $40.1 million, $42.2 million and $42.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012 respectively, and earnings per limited partnership unit, basic and
diluted, were $2.05, $2.09 and $2.04, respectively, for the same periods. Our earnings per limited
partnership unit, basic and diluted, are calculated based on earnings allocated to the limited partners
divided by the weighted average limited partnershlp units outstandmg Such earnings per limited
partnership unit, basic and diluted, have fluctuated since the Offering began with the raise of gross
proceeds and the deployment of funds avallable

As of December 31, 2012, we had originated 60 loans, including 33 loans that have been repaid
in full by the respective borrower, totahng approximately $572.3 million. Of the 27 loans outstanding as
of December-31, 2012, seven of the loans totaling approximately $48.8 million and one loan totaling
approximately $74.7 ‘million are included in mortgage notes receivable — related parties and  participation
interest — related party, respectively, on our balance sheet. See “Item 13, Certain Relationships and
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Related Transactions, and Director Independence — Transactions ‘with Related Persons” for further
discussion. :

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based
upon our financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles of the United States of America (“GAAP”). GAAP consists of a set of standards
issued by the FASB and other authoritative bodies in the form of FASB Statements, Interpretations,
FASB Staff Positions, Emerging Issues Task Force consensuses and American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants Statements of Position, among others. The FASB recognized the complexity of its
standard-setting process and embarked on a revised process in.2004 that culminated in the release on July
1, 2009 of the FASB ASC. The FASB ASC does not change how the Partnership accounts for its
transactions or the nature of related disclosures made. Rather, the FASB ASC results in changes to how
the Partnership references accounting standards within its reports. This change was made effective by the
FASB for periods ending on or after September 15, 2009. The Partnership has updated references to
GAAP in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to reflect the guidance in the FASB ASC. The preparation of
these financial statements requires our management to. make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities. On a regular basis, we evaluate these estimates, including investment impairment. These
estimates are based on management’s historical industry experience and on various other assumptions that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these
estimates. We have identified our most critical accounting policies to be the following;

- Revenue Recognition

Interest income on mortgage notes receivable, mortgage notes receivable — related parties and
participation interest — related party is recogmzed over the life of the loan and recorded on the accrual
basis. Income recognition is suspended for loans at the date at which; in the opinion of management, a
full recovery of income and principal becomes more likely than not, but is no longer probable, based upon
our review of economic conditions, the estimated value of the  underlying collateral, the guarantor,
adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay or the value of the collateral and other
relevant factors. Income recognition is resumed when the loan becomes contractually current and
performance is demonstrated to be resumed. Any payments received on loans classified as non-accrual
status are typically applied first to outstanding loan amounts and then to the recovery of lost interest. As
of both December 31, 2012 and 2011, we were suspending income recognition on two mortgage notes
. receivable with an aggregate unpaid principal balance of approximately $2.2 million.

We generate mortgage and transactlon serv1ce revenues and mortgage and transaction service
revenues — related parties by orlglnatmg and acquiring mortgage notes receivable and other loans. In
accordance with FASB ASC 310-20, we defer recognition of income from nonrefundable commitment
fees paid by the borrowers and recognize such amount on a straight-line basis over the expected life of
such notes. In addition, credit enhancement fee income is generated by fees charged to parties for credit
enhancements provided to lenders by the Partnership on behalf of the parties. Income related to credit
enhancements is earned as fees are paid, based on the terms of the credit enhancement agreement. As of
December 31, 2012, the Partnership was providing 8 credit enhancements to related parties. See “Off-
Balance Sheet Arrangements” below for further discussion.

The Partnership also expenses acquisition and origination fees (“Placement Fees”) paid to the
general partner to provide for processing and origination costs (including, but not limited to, legal fees
and expenses, travel and communications expenses, costs of appraisals, accounting fees and expenses,
and title insurance funded by us) associated with mortgage notes receivable or participation interest held
by the Partnership on a straight-line basis. ' As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, approximately $2.5
million and $3.3  million, respectively, of such net deferred fees are included in mortgage notes
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receivable. Approximately $698,000 and $779,000 of net deferred fees are included in mortgage notes
receivable — related parties as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. As of December 31, 2012
and 2011, approximately $489,000 and $647,000, respectively, of deferred fees are included in
participation interest — related party. '

Determination of the Allowance for Loan Losses

The allowance for loan losses is our estimate of incurred losses in our portfolio of mortgage notes
receivable, mortgage notes receivable — related parties and participation interest — related party. We
periodically perform a detailed review of our portfolio of mortgage notes and other loans to determine if
impairment has occurred and to assess the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses. Our review consists
of evaluating economic conditions, the estimated value of the underlying collateral, the guarantor, adverse
situations- that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay or the value of the collateral, and other relevant
factors. This review is inherently subjective as it requires estimates that are susceptible to significant
revision as more information becomes available.

In reviewing our portfolio, we use cash flow estimates from the disposition of finished lots, paper
lots (residential lots shown on a plat that has been accepted by the city or county, but which is currently
undeveloped or under development) and undeveloped land as well as cash flow received from the
issuance of bonds from municipal reimbursement districts. These estimates are based on current market
metrics, including, without limitation, the supply of finished lots, paper lots and undeveloped land, the
supply of homes and the rate and price at which land and homes are sold, historic levels and trends,
executed purchase contracts, appraisals and discussions with third party market analysts and participants,
including homebuilders. We base our valuations on current and historic market trends on our analysis of
market events and conditions, including activity within our portfolio, as well as the analysis of third-party
services such as Metrostudy and Residential Strategies, Inc. Cash flow forecasts also are based on
executed purchase contracts which provide base prices, escalation rates, and absorption rates on an
individual project basis. For projects deemed to have an extended time horizon for disposition, we
consider third-party appraisals to provide a valuation in accordance with guidelines set forth in the
Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice. In addition to cash flows from the disposition of
property, cost analysis is performed based on estimates of development and senior financing expenditures
provided by developers and independent professionals on a project-by-project basis. These amounts are
reconciled with our best estimates to establish the net realizable value of the portfolio.

We charge additions to the allowance for loan losses to current period earnings through a
provision for loan losses. Amounts determined to be uncollectible are charged off, while amounts
recovered on previously charged off accounts increase the allowance. In January 2011, we charged off
approximately $276,000 against the loan loss reserve on a loan with an unrelated party. As of December
31, 2012 and 2011, approximately $16.6 million and $11.1 million, respectively, of allowance for loan
losses had been offset against mortgage notes receivable.

Mortgage Notes Receivable and Mortgage Notes Receivable — Related Parties

Mortgage notes receivable and mortgage notes receivable — related parties are recorded at the
lower of cost ot estimated net realizable value. The mortgage investments are collateralized by land and
related improvements to residential property owned by the borrowers and/or the ownership interests of the
borrower. Currently, the mortgage investments have terms ranging from one to 36 months. None of such
mortgages are insured or guaranteed by a federally owned or guaranteed mortgage agency. We originate
and/or acquire all mortgage notes receivable and intend to hold the mortgage notes receivable for the life
of the notes.

Participation Interest — Related Party

Participation interest — related party is recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value.
Participation interest — related party represents an Economic Interest Participation Agreement with UMT,
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pursuant to which we purchased (i) an economic interest in an $82 million revolving credit facility from
UMT to UDF I and (ii) a purchase option to acquire a full ownership participation interest in the credit
facility. = See “Item 13, Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence —
Transactions with Related Persons” below for further discussion.

Cash Flow Distributions

Cash available for distributions represents the funds received by us from operations (other than
proceeds from a capital transaction or a liquidating distribution), less cash used by us to pay our expenses,
debt payments, and amounts set aside to create a retained earnings reserve (currently at 9.5% of our net
income; the retained earnings reserve is intended to recover some of the organization and offering
expenses incurred in connection with the Offering). Our general partner receives a monthly distribution
for promotional and carried interest from the cash available for distributions, in addition to the payments
made to our general partner and related parties that are described in “Item 13, Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions, and Director Independence.” For more information regarding the distributions
paid, see “Item 5, Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities — Distributions.” :

Results of Operations
Year ended December 31, 2012 compared to year ended December 31, 2011
Revenues

Interest income (including related party interest income) for the years ended December 31, 2012
and 2011 was approximately $52.1 million and $49.3 million, respectively. The increase in interest
income for the year ended December 31, 2012 was primarily the result of our increased mortgage notes
receivable (including related party transactions) and participation interest — related party portfolios of
approximately $351 million as of December 31, 2012, compared to $343 million as of December 31,
2011.

Mortgage and transaction service revenues (including related party mortgage and transaction
service revenues) for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 were approximately $1.0 million and
$2.1 million, respectively. The Partnership generates mortgage and transaction service revenues by
originating and acquiring mortgage notes receivable and other loans. In accordance with FASB ASC
310-20, we defer recognition of income from nonrefundable commitment fees and recognize such income
on a straight-line basis over the expected life of such notes. The decrease was primarily the result of
decreased commitment fee income on mortgage notes receivable.

We expect revenues to increase commensurate with the additional proceeds raised from the
offering of units pursuant to the Secondary DRIP, our continued deployment of funds available to the
borrowers and markets in which we have experience and as markets dictate in accordance with economic
factors conducive for a stable residential market, and our reinvestment of proceeds from loans that are
repaid.

Expenses

Interest expense for each of the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 was approximately
$1.5 million. Interest expense represents interest associated with the Brockhoeft Credit Facility. The
Brockhoeft Credit Facility, which was entered into in September 2009 during the credit crisis in which
financial institutions severely reduced the number of loans made to entities involved in residential real
estate, has been used as transitory indebtedness to provide liquidity and to reduce and avoid the need for
large idle cash reserves, including usage to fund identified investments pending receipt of proceeds from
the partial or full repayment of loans. This allows us to keep funds invested in loans, instead of holding
such loan repayment proceeds idle until new investments are identified. The Brockhoeft Credit Facility
has been used as a portfolio administration tool and not to provide long-term or permanent leverage on
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our investments. The Brockhoeft Credit Facility is secured by a first priority lien on our existing and
future assets, and carries an interest rate equal to 10% per annum.

Loan loss reserve expense increased to approximately $5.6 million for the year ended December
31, 2012 from approximately $4.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. The increase in loan
loss reserve expense primarily related to increased reserves associated with growth in our loan portfolio.

General and administrative expense was approximately $1.1 million and $1.0 million for the
years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The increase in general and administrative
expense was primarily the result of an increase in investor relations and printing expenses, offset by a
reduction in legal and debt financing costs.

General and adiinistrative — related parties expense was approximately $2.8 million and $2.7
million for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively The increase in general and
administrative — related parties expense was primarily the result of an increase in mortgage servicing fees
payable to our general partner.

We expect interest expense, general and administrative expense and general and administrative
expense — related parties to increase commensurate with the growth of our portfolio as we continue to
deploy funds available to the borrowers and markets in which we have experience and as markets dictate
in accordance with economic factors conducive for a stable residential market.

Year ended December 31, 2011 compared to year ended December 31, 2010
Revenues

Interest income (including related party interest income) for the years ended December 31, 2011
and 2010 was approximately $49.3 million and $46.8 million, respectively. The increase in interest
income for the year ended December 31, 2011 was pnmanly the result of our increased mortgage notes
receivable (including related party transactlons) and participation interest — related party portfolios of
approximately $343 million as of December 31, 2011, compared to $333 million as of December 31,
2010. :

Mortgage ‘and transaction service revenues (1nclud1ng related party mortgage and transaction
service revenues) for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 were approximately $2.1 million and
$2.2 million, respectively. The Partnership generates mortgage and transaction service revenues by
originating and acquiring mortgage notes receivable and other loans. In accordance with FASB ASC
310-20, we defer recognition of income from nonrefundable commitment fees and recognize such income
on a straight-line basis over the expected life of such notes. The decrease was primarily the result of
decreased commitment fee income on mortgage notes receivable.

‘Expenses

- Interest expense for: each of the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 was approximately
$1.5 million. Interest expense represents interest associated with the Brockhoeft Credit Facility. The
Brockhoeft Credit Facility, which was entered into in September 2009 during the credit crisis in which
financial institutions severely reduced the number of loans made to entities involved in residential real
estate, has been used as transitory indebtedness to provide liquidity and to reduce and avoid the need for
large idle cash reserves, including usage to fund identified investments pending receipt of proceeds from
the partial or full repayment of loans. This allows us to keep funds invested in loans, instead of holding
such loan repayment proceeds idle until new investments are identified. The Brockhoeft Credit Facility
has been used as a portfolio administration tool and not to provide long-term or permanent leverage on
our investments. The Brockhoeft Credit Facility is secured by a first priority lien on our existing and
future assets, and carries an interest rate equal to 10% per annum.
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Loan loss reserve expense increased slightly to approximately $4.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2011 from approximately $3.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. The
increase in loan loss reserve expense primarily related to increased reserves associated with growth in our
loan portfolio. :

. General and administrative expense was approximately $1.0 million and $1.2 million for the
years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively The decrease in general and administrative
expense was primarily the result of a reduct1on in investor relations expenses and a reductlon in debt
financing costs. ‘ : :

General and administrative — related parties expense was approximately $2.7 million and $2.8
million for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The decrease in general and
administrative — related parties expense was primarily the result of a reduction in investor relations
expenses offset by an increase in mortgage servicing fees payable to our general partner. -

Comparison charts

The chart below summarizes the payment of related party fees and reimbursements associated
with the Offering and origination and management of assets for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011
and 2010. We believe that these fees and reimbursements are reasonable and customary for comparable
mortgage programs. :

For the Years Ended
: . . ) December 31,
Payee __ Purpose . 2012 . . 2011 2010

Land Development

Total payments ‘ v _ ‘ $ 8,960,000 100% $ 7,486,000 100% $ 2,014,000 100%

The chart below summarizes general and administrative — related parties expense for the years
ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010. We believe that these expenses are reasonable and customary
for comparable mortgage programs.

For the Years Ended
December 31, :
General and administrative expense — related parties ‘ 2012 4 2011 : 2010
Amortization of Placement Fees $ 1222000 44% $ 1,221,000 45% $ 1,217,000 44%

Total general and administrative expense—reléted parties $ 2,758,000 100% $ 2,698,000 100% $ 2,786,:()00‘ 100%

Cash Flow Analysis '

Cash flows provided by operating activities for the year ended -December 31, 2012 were
approximately $48.6 million and were comprised primarily of net income adjusted for the provision for
loan losses and accrued interest receivable, offset by accrued interest recelvable — related. parties, accounts
receivable - related parties, other assets, and accrued liabilities — related parties. Cash flows provided by
operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2011 were approximately $45.4 million and were
comprised primarily of net income adjusted for the provision for loan losses, offset by accrued interest
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receivable and accrued interest receivable — related parties. Cash flows provided by operating activities
for the year ended December 31, 2010 were approximately $46.3 million and were comprised primarily
of net income adjusted for the provision for loan losses, accrued interest receivable, accrued liabilities,
and accrued liabilities — related parties.

Cash flows used in investing activities for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
were approximately $14.1 million,.$13.4 million and $26.9 million, respectively, resulting primarily from
origination of mortgage notes receivable (including related party) and participation interest — related
party, offset by receipts from mortgage notes receivable (including related party) and participation interest
— related party.

Cash flows used in financing activities for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
were approximately $33.4 million, $30.1 million and $24.2 million, respectively, and were primarily the
result of distributions to partners as well as payments on the Brockhoeft Credit Facility.

Our cash and cash equivalents were approximately $3.9 million, $2.7 million and $815,000 as of
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Liquidity and Capital Resources -

Our liquidity requirements will be affected by (1) outstanding loan funding obligations, (2) our
administrative expenses, (3) debt service on senior indebtedness required to preserve our collateral
position, (4) distributions and redemptions to unit holders, and (5) utilization of the Brockhoeft Credit
Facility. We expect that our liquidity will be provided by (1) loan interest, transaction fees and credit
enhancement fee payments, (2) loan principal payments, (3) sale of loan pools through securitization and
direct sale of loans, (4) proceeds from our Secondary DRIP, and (5) credit lines available to us.

In most cases, loan interest payments will be accrued under an interest reserve. Interest reserve
accounts are accrued as loan proceeds and are intended to provide cash for monthly interest payments
until such time that revenue from the sale of land or developed lots is sufficient to meet the debt service
obligations. In the event that interest reserves are exhausted prior to realization of sufficient cash from
land or lot sales, a loan default may occur. If the loan agreement does not include interest reserve
provisions, interest payments are due and payable monthly. Payment defaults and decreasing land and lot
sales may result in less liquidity and affect our ability to meet our obligations and make distributions.
Limited credit facilities may impact our ability to meet our obligations or expand our loan portfolio when
other sources of cash are not sufficient.

Increased liquidity needs could result in the liquidation of loans to raise cash, thereby reducing
the number and amount of loans outstanding and the resultant earnings realized. We have secured the
Brockhoeft Credit Facility that is utilized as transitory indebtedness to provide liquidity and to reduce the
need for large idle cash reserves.

We expect our liquidity and capital resources to increase commensurate with the additional
proceeds raised from the offering of units pursuant to the Secondary DRIP. We will continue to deploy
funds available to the borrowers and markets in which we have experience and as markets dictate in
accordance with economic factors conducive for a stable residential market.

We will experience a relative decrease in liquidity as available funds are expended in connection
with the funding and acquisition of mortgage loans and as amounts that may be drawn under the
Brockhoeft Credit Facility are repaid.

We believe that the resources stated above will be sufficient to satisfy our operating requirements
for the foreseeable fiiture, and we do not anticipate a need to raise funds from other than the sources
described above within the next 12 months.
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Material Trends Affecting Our Business

We believe that the housing market reached a bottom and continues to recover and strengthen.
This recovery will continue to be regional in its early stages, led by those housing markets with balanced
supply, affordable and stable home prices, lower levels of foreclosures, strong economies, and strong
demand fundamentals. Nationally, the housing recovery has strengthened as excess inventories of new
and existing homes have been absorbed and consumer demand continues to return. We expect the housing
recovery will continue to slowly strengthen as household balance sheets are restored in each market. The
Federal Reserve has indicated that it intends to keep reserve interest rates at historic lows until the
national unemployment rate returns to 6.5%, so long as inflation between one and two years ahead is
projected to be no more than 2.5%, and longer-term inflation expectations continue to be well anchored.
The Federal Reserve has also committed to -an open-ended purchase program targeting agency-backed
residential mortgage-backed securities and U.S. Treasury Securities. Further, the Federal Reserve has
stated that it expects that a highly accommodative stance of monetary policy will remain appropriate for a
considerable time after the economic recovery strengthens. Easing policies of the Federal Reserve,
coupled with extensive price correction over the past several years, have restored housing affordability
across the country. We believe that continued strengthening of the recovery depends on the continued
recovery of consumer health and consumer confidence. The national consumer confidence index, which
fell to record lows during the economic downturn, continues to recover slowly, but remains below levels
historically associated with normalized conditions. Nationally, we believe consumers continue to remain
cautious due to uncertainty present in many economic sectors, particularly with regards to the European
debt crisis, elevated unemployment, low wage growth, and events associated with federal fiscal policy,
including tax rates and spending, which are expected to take place in the first half of 2013. Additionally,
continued economic weakness and fiscal tightening on the state and local levels associated with particular
states most severely affected by the collapse of the housing bubble will likely drag on consumer health
and confidence in those markets. We expect the housing markets that participated most heavily in the
housing bubble will continue to lag the overall recovery, as consumers in those markets have generally
suffered greater losses of household wealth from the declines in home prices and equlty and continue to
experience higher levels of unemployment relative to the nation as a whole.

Unemployment remains elevated and access to conventional real estate and commercial financing
remains challenging in many parts of the country. These factors continue to pose obstacles to a robust
recovery on a national scale, which, we believe, is contingent upon the reengagement of the consumer and
the return of final demand. However, as inventory levels continue to decline and housing prices stabilize,
we expect the housing recovery to gain strength. We continue to believe that the recovery will be stronger
in markets such as Texas, where consumer confidence averaged more than 20 points higher than the
national index from December 2011 to December 2012; where the job growth rate over the past 12
months was approximately 110 basis points higher than the national rate; and where approximately 15.3%
of all single-family homebuilding permits in the country were issued in 2012. Further, according to the
Bureau of Labor Statistics, approximately 17.7% of the total net new jobs created in the United States
since the official end of the national recession were created in Texas (from June 2009 to December 2012).
Currently, 95% of our portfolio relates to property located in the state of Texas, and we intend to invest in
markets that demonstrate similarly sound economic and demand fundamentals — fundamentals that we
believe will be the drivers of the recovery — and balanced supplies of homes and finished lots. We believe
the fact that new single-family home permits, starts and sales have all risen significantly from their
respective lows reflects a continued return of real demand for new homes. However, we anticipate the
former bubble market states — principally California, Arizona, Nevada and Florida — will be slower to
recover, as those markets have seen overbuilding and extensive price correction and are experiencing
weakened economies and continued foreclosures. We believe these conditions have caused significant
weakness among consumers in these markets, and losses of property tax revenue, sales and use tax
revenue, and budget imbalances have, in many cases, led to significant fiscal difficulties at the state and
municipal levels associated with these former bubble markets.
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From a national perspective, ongoing credit constriction, a less robust economic recovery,
continued high unemployment, and housing price instability have made potential new home purchasers
and real estate lenders cautious. As a result of these factors, the national housing market experienced a
protracted decline, and the time necessary to correct the market hkely means a corresponding slower
recovery for the housmg industry relative to historical trends. However, improving fundamentals such as
the return of price stability and price inflation, high home affordability, and continued inventory
absorption indicate to us that the recovery will continue to gain strength in the coming quarters.

Nationally, capital constraints at the heart of the credit crisis have reduced the number of real
estate lenders able or willing to finance development, construction or the purchase of homes and have
increased the number of undercapitalized or failed builders and developers. In correlation, the number of
finished lots developed has decreased and remains near historic lows, even as home starts have begun to
increase, which has begun to result in a shortage of developed lots in select markets-and submarkets and
may result in a wider shortage of new homes and developed lots in select real estate markets in 2013 and
2014. We believe this shortage will be most prominent in markets that did not participate in the housing
bubble, avoiding overbuilding and maintaining balanced supplies and affordable and stable home prices.
With lenders.imposing stricter underwriting standards, mortgages to purchase homes have become more
difficult to obtain in some markets. In order to support the availability of mortgage financing for millions
of Americans, the U.S. Treasury initiated a temporary program to purchase GSE mortgage-backed
securities, which expired: with the U.S. Treasury’s temporary authorities in December 2009. Coinciding
with the Treasury purchase program was the Federal Reserve, which purchased $1.25 trillion worth of
mortgage-backed securities through the end of March 2010. This program ended on March 31, 2010, as
scheduled by the Federal Reserve. On September 21,.2011, the Federal Reserve announced that it would
begin ‘reinvesting the principal payments from-its mortgage-backed securities holdings into additional
purchases of agency mortgage-backed securities to help further support conditions in mortgage markets.
On September 13, 2012, the Federal Reserve announced that it would again increase monetary policy
accommodation by purchasing additional agency mortgage-backed securities at a pace of $40 billion per
month, would continue, through the end of 2012, its program of extending the average maturity of its
holdings of securities, and would maintain its existing policy of reinvesting principal payments from its
holdings of agency debt and agency mortgage-backed securities in more agency mortgage-backed
securities. On December 12, 2012, the Federal. Reserve announced that it would further increase
monetary policy accommodation by purchasing addltlonal U.S. Treasury securities at an initial pace of
$45 billion per month in addition to the $40 billion per month purchases of agency mortgage backed
securitjes that the Federal Reserve announced on September 13, 2012. The Federal Reserve stated in that
same announcement that these actions should put downward pressure on longer-term interest rates,
support mortgage markets, and help to make broader financial conditions more accommodative.

Nationally, the pace of new home sales rose slightly during the fourth quarter of 2012 from the
pace of sales in the third quarter of 2012, although the December 2012 sales pace was lower than the
September 2012 sales pace. National fundamentals that drive home sales continue to improve in most
markets and home affordability remains near record-highs, so we expect the pace of home sales will
continue to increase in 2013. The U.S. Census Bureau reports that the sales of new single-family
residential homes in December 2012 were at a seasonally adjusted annual rate of 369,000 units. This
number is down approximately 2.6% from the revised September 2012 figure of 379,000, but it is up
approximately 8.8% year-over-year from the December 2011 estimate of 339,000.

The national raw number of new single-family home inventory increased slightly in the fourth
quarter of 2012 for the first time since the second quarter of 2007. Through much of the downturn,
homebuilders reduced their starts and focused on selling their existing new home inventory. The national
figure for new single-family home inventory had fallen in each sequential quarter from the third quarter of
2007 to the first quarter of 2012. Inventory remained stable from March 2012 to September 2012 before
incréasing in the fourth quarter of 2012. We believe that, with such reductions and subsequent
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stabilization, the new home market has been restored to equilibrium in.most markets, even at lower levels
of demand. The subsequent increase in new home inventory suggests to us that the homebuilding industry
now anticipates greater demand for new homes in coming months relative to the demand evident at the
bottom of the new homebuilding cycle. Further, the new home market is experiencing shortages in certain
markets that did not participate in the housing bubble. The seasonally adjusted estimate of new homes for
sale at the end of December 2012 was 151,000, which.is lower than any time since the U.S. Census
Bureau began keeping records, excluding. the third quarter of 2012. This number represents a generally
short supply of 4.9 months at the December 2012 sales rate. We believe that what is necessary now to
regain prosperity in housing markets is the return of healthy levels of demand. :

According to the U.S. Census Bureau, new single- famlly residential home permits and starts fell
nationally from 2006 through early 2009, as a result and in anticipation of an elevated supply of and
decreased demand for new smgle famlly residential homes in that period. Since bottoming in early 2009,
however, single-family permits and starts have improved significantly. Single- family homes authorized
by bulldmg permits in December 2012 were at a seasonally adjusted annual rate of 578,000 units. This
was an increase year-over-year of approximately 27.3% from the rate of 454,000 in December 2011, and
is approximately 71.5% higher than the low of 337,000 set in January 2009. Single-family home starts for
December 2012 stood at a seasonally adjusted annual rate of 616,000 units. This pace is up approximately
18.5% from the December 2011 estimate of 520,000 units. Further, the December 2012 pace of home
starts is 74.5% higher than the low of 353,000 set in March 2009. Such increases suggest to us that the
homebuilding industry now anticipates greater demand for new homes in coming months relative to the
demand evident at the bottom of the new homebuilding cycle. - :

The primary factors affecting new home sales are home price stability, home affordability, and
housing demand. Housing supply may affect both new home prices and the demand for new homes.
When the supply of new homes exceeds new home demand, new home prices may generally be expected
to decline. Also, home foreclosures cause the inventory of ex1st1ng homes to increase, which may add
additional downward price pressure on home prices. Declining new home prices may result in diminished
new home demand as people postpone a new home purchase until such time as they are comfortable that
stable price levels have been reached. The converse pomt is also true and equally important. When new
home demand exceeds new home supply, new home prices may generally be expected to increase; and
rising new home prices, particularly at or near the bottom of the housing cycle, may result in increased
new home demand as people become confident in home prices and accelerate their timing of a new home
purchase We believe this bottom has been reached and expect the housmg recovery to slowly accelerate
over the coming quarters, led by those markets that did not part1c1pate in the housing bubble and which
demonstrate stronger demand fundarentals. We intend to concentrate our investments in housing markets
with affordable and stable home prices, balanced supply, lower incidences of foreclosures, and strong
demand fundamentals. These demand fundamentals are generally job growth, the relative strength of the
economy and consumer confidence, household formations, and population growth — both immigration
and in-migration.

The U.S. Census Bureau forecasts that California, Florida and Texas will account for nearly one-
half of the total U.S. population growth between 2000 and 2030 and that the total population of Arizona
and Nevada will double during that period. The U.S. Census Bureau projects that between 2000 and 2030
the total populations of Arizona and Nevada will grow from approximately 5 million to more than 10.7
million and from approximately 2 million to nearly 4.3 million, respectively; Florida’s population will
grow nearly 80% between 2000 and 2030, from nearly 16 million to nearly 28.7 million; Texas’
population will increase 60% between 2000 and 2030, from nearly 21 million to approximately 33.3
million; and California’s population will grow 37% between 2000 and 2030, from approximately 34
million to nearly 46.5 million.

In 2009, the Harvard Joint Center for Housing Studies forecasted that an average of between
approximately 1.25 million and 1.48 million new households will be formed per year over the next ten'
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years. Likewise, the Homeownership Alliance, a joint project undertaken by the chief economists of
Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, the Independent Community Bankers of America, the National Association of
Home Builders, and the National Association of Realtors, has projected that 1.3 million new households
will be formed per year over the next decade and approximately 1.8 million housing units per year should
be started to meet such new demand, including approximately 1.3 million new single-family homes per
year based on the estimation of the Homeownership Alliance that 72% of all housing units built will be
single-family residences. According to the U.S. Census Bureau, the United States averaged approximately
1.5 million new households formed annually between 1997 and 2007. During the downturn, household
formation fell to approximately 772,000 households formed in 2008, approximately 398,000 households
formed in 2009, and 357,000 households formed in 2010. In 2012, the U.S. Census Bureau estimated that
approximately 2.4 million new households were formed in 2011, a figure that was upwardly revised by
more than a million households from the 2011 Census Bureau release. The Census Bureau also estimates
that approximately 1.2 million new households were formed in 2012. We believe that the return of
household formation and significant increases in household formation are significant contributors to the
corresponding increases in new home starts and sales.

While housing woes beleaguered the national economy, Texas housing markets held up as some
of the healthiest in the country. Furthermore, as recovery in the housing sector continues to strengthen
across the country, we believe that Texas housing markets have continued to lead the recovery. Texas is
the largest homebuilding market in the country based on the U.S. Census Bureau’s measurements of
housing permits. We have concentrated our investment portfolio in Texas as we believe Texas markets,
though weakened from their starts and sales peaks in 2007 and 2008, have remained fairly healthy due to
strong demographics, economies and job growth, balanced housing inventories, stable home prices and
high housing affordability ratios. Texas did not experience the dramatic price appreciation (and
subsequent depreciation) that states such as California, Florida, Arizona, and Nevada experienced. The
following graph, created with data from the third quarter 2012 Federal Housing Finance Agency’s
(“FHFA”) Purchase Price Only Index, illustrates the rises and declines in home prices nationally, as well
as in California, Florida, Arizona, and Nevada over the past few years. Further, the graph illustrates how
Texas inamtamed relative home price stability throughout the downturn. The Purchase Price Only
Index indicates that Texas had a home price appreciation of 5.58% between the third quarter of 2011 and
the third quarter of 2012. Home prices in Texas continue to outperform the national average apprec1at10n
of 4.04%, which was the third consecutive quarter of year-over-year home price appreciation since the
fourth quarter of 2007. Further, the index also reports that over the past five years, Texas home prlces
have demonstrated significantly more home price stability than the national average, as home prices in
Texas appreciated 4.32% compared to a national depreciation of -15.37% over the same time period. The
chart also illustrates the return of home price inflation nationally as well as in the former bubble states of
California, Arizona, Nevada, and Florida. Significantly, the Texas home price index stands at an all-time
high, in contrast to the national and former bubble state indices which remain well below their peaks.
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FHFA’s Purchase Price Only Index tracks average house price changes in repeat sales on the
same single-family properties. The Purchase Price Only Index is based on more than 6 million repeat
sales transactions and is based on data obtained from Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac for mortgages
originated over the past 38 years. FHFA analyzes the combined mortgage records of Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac, which form the nation’s largest database of conventional, conforming mortgage
transactions. The conforming loan limit for mortgages purchased since the beginning of 2006 has been
$417,000. Loan limits for mortgages originated in the latter half of 2007 through December 31, 2008
were raised to as much as $729,750 in high-cost areas in the contiguous United States. Legislation
generally extended those limits for 2009-originated mortgages. An appropriations act (PL111-88) further
extended those limits for 2010 originations in places where the limits were higher than those that would
have been calculated under pre-existing rules.

Median new home prices in the four major Texas markets have begun to rise. According to
Metrostudy, a leading provider of primary and secondary market information, the median new home
prices for the fourth quarter of 2012 in the metropolitan areas of Austin, Houston, Dallas-Fort Worth, and
San Antonio were $228,322, $227,161, $248,910 and $211,256, respectively.

Using the Department of Housing and Urban Development’s estimated 2013 median family
income for the respective metropolitan areas of Austin, Houston, Dallas and San Antonio, the median
income earner in those areas has 1.54 times, 1.40 times, 1.31 times, and 1.40 times the income required to
qualify for a mortgage to purchase the median priced new home in the respective metropolitan area.
These numbers illustrate the affordability of Texas homes, as each of these markets has higher
affordability than the national average. Our measurement of housing affordability, as referenced above, is
determined as the ratio of median family income to the income required to qualify for a 90 percent, 30-
year fixed-rate mortgage to purchase the median-priced new home, based on the average interest rate over
the fourth quarter of 2012 and assuming an annual mortgage insurance premium of 70 basis points for
private mortgage insurance, plus a cost that includes estimated property taxes and insurance for the home.
Using the Department of Housing and Urban Development’s 2013 income data to project an estimated
median income for the United States of $64,400 and the December 2012 national median sales prices of
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new homes sold of $248,900, we conclude that the national median income earner has 1.25 times the
income required to qualify for a mortgage loan to purchase the median-priced new home in the United
States. This estimation reflects the increase in home affordability in housing markets outside of Texas
over the past 69 months, as new home prices in housing markets outside of Texas generally have fallen.
Recently, however, such home prices have begun to stabilize. We believe that such price stabilization
indicates that new home affordability has been restored to the national housing market.

Since the national recession’s official end, Texas employment markets have experienced strong
job growth. According to the United States Department of Labor, Texas added approximately 260,800
jobs in the 12 months ended December 2012. Texas’ employment levels have now exceeded pre-
recession levels by approximately 264,300 jobs. Furthermore, substantially all of those jobs created over
the trailing twelve months have been in the private sector (258,500), which was the second largest private
sector job increase of any state over that time period and is a growth rate of 2.9%. Since the national
recession’s end in June 2009, Texas has added 622,600 net new jobs, which is about 17.7% of all net jobs
added nationwide over that 42 month period. Further, Texas has added approximately 1.5 million new
jobs over the past 10 years and nearly 1.4 million in the private sector, comparing well to national
employment growth that added just over 3.8 million total jobs over that ten-year period and 3.5 million
private sector jobs in those ten years. From December 2011 to December 2012, Austin added 32,800 jobs
year-over-year. Dallas-Fort Worth added 73,900 jobs over that same time period. Houston added 82,000
jobs over that period and San Antonio added 23,000 jobs in that time. -

The unemployment rate in Texas fell year-over-year from 7.4% in December 2011 to 6.1% in
December 2012. The decrease in the state unemployment rate occurred in spite of significant growth in
Texas’ labor force. According to the Bureau of Labor Statistics, Texas has added approximately 119,229
workers to its labor force oveér the past 12 months. Furthermore, the labor force participation rate in Texas
is 65.0% as of December 2012, which is 140 basis points higher than the national labor force participation
rate of 63.6%. The national unemployment rate fell year-over-year from December 2011 (8.5%) to
December 2012 (7.8%). The national unemployment rate was unchanged between the end of the third
quarter of 2012 and the fourth quarter of 2012. In addition, all four major Texas labor markets have
unemployment rates s1gn1ﬁcantly below the national unemployment rate.

We believe that Texas cities will continue to be among the first in the country to recover based on
employment figures, consumer :confidence, gross metropolitan product, and new home demand.
According to the Texas Workforce Commission, Texas tends to enter into recessions after the national
economy has entered a recession and usually leads among states in the economic recovery. The National
Bureau of Economic Research has concluded that the U.S. economy entered into a recession in December
2007, ending an economic expansion that began in November 2001. We believe, based on transitions in
the Texas Leadlng Index as prepared monthly by the Federal Reserve Bank of Dallas, that Texas entered
into recession in late Fall 2008, trailing the national recession by nearly a year, and emerged from the
recession in the late spring of 2009. We believe the Texas economy continues to lead the national
economic recovery. The Texas Leading Index, which combines eight measures that tend to anticipate
changes in the Texas business cycle by approximately three to nine months, has risen significantly since
reaching a low of 100.5 in March 2009 and, as of November 2012 (the most recent reading), was 123.0.
The Index’s six-month moving average now stands at its highest reading since September 2008.

Further, we believe Texas consumers are beginning to return to their normal consumptlon habits.
The aggregate value of state sales tax receipts in Texas increased 9.4% year-over-year in December 2012
from December 2011 — the 33rd consecutive month in which Texas has experienced year-over-year
improvement in sales tax receipts. .

The U.S. Census Bureau reported in its 2012 Estimate of Population Change for the period from
July 1, 2011 to July 1, 2012 that Texas led the country in population growth during that period. The
estimate concluded that Texas’ population grew by 1.7%, or 427,425 people, a number that was 1.2 times
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greater than the next closest state in‘terms of raw population growth, California, and nearly twice as great
as the second closest state in terms of raw population growth, Florida. Over the last decade, July 1, 2000
to July 1, 2010, Texas grew by nearly 4.3 million residents, averaging nearly 427,000 new residents per
year. This population growth was 1.17 times greater in terms of raw population growth than the next
closest state, California, and 2.63 times greater than the second closest state, Florida. The U.S. Census
Bureau also‘reported that among the 100 largest counties in the country, six of the top 20 counties for raw
population growth:between July 1, 2010 and July 1, 2011 were in Texas: Harris (Houston), Tarrant (Fort
Worth), Bexar (San.Antonio), Collin (North Dallas), Dallas (Dallas) and Travis (Austin). The 2011
Census release on county and metropolitan population growth remains the most recent as of this filing. In
April 2012, the U.S. Census Bureau reported that Texas’ four major metro areas — Austin, Houston, San
Antonio, and Dallas-Fort Worth — were among the top 15 in the nation for population growth from 2010
to 2011. Dallas-Fort Worth-Arlington led the nation in numerical population growth with a combmed
estimated population increase of 126,037. Houston-Sugarland-Baytown was :second in the nation with a
population increase of 110,068 from July 1, 2010 to July 1, 2011. Austin-Round Rock had an estimated
population growth of 55,272 and San Antonio had an estimated population growth of 41,036 over the
same period. The percentage increase in population for each of these major Texas cities ranged from 1. 8%
to 3.2%. :

The national foreclosure tracking service, RealtyTrac, estimates that the Texas foreclosure rate
continues to be significantly healthier than the national average. We do not expect the four major Texas
housing markets will be materially.-adversely affected by foreclosures and anticipate that home
foreclosures will continue to be mostly concentrated in the bubble market states of California, Florida,
Arizona and Nevada. The mortgage'analytic company, CoreLogic, reports that, through the third quarter
of 2012, approximately 42.3% of all homes with negative equity were located in one of those four states
compared to approximately just 2.8% of all the negative equity homes in the country that were focated in
the state of Texas. We believe that Texas’ housing sector is healthier, .the: cost of living and doing
business is lower, and its economy is more dynamic and diverse than the national average.

In contrast to the conditions of many homebuﬂdmg markets in the country, new home siles were
consistently greater than new home starts in Texas markets over the downturn, which indicates that
homebuilders in Texas were focused on preserving a balance between new home demand and new home
supply. We believe that homebuilders and developers in Texas remained disciplined on new home
construction and project development Inventories of finished new homes and total new housing (ﬁmshed
vacant, under construction, and model homes) remain at generally healthy and balanced levels in all
major Texas markets: Austin, Dallas-Fort Worth, Houston, and San Antonio. Each major Texas market
experienced a rise in the number of months of finished lot inventories as homebuilders began reducmg the
number of new home starts in 2008, causing each major Texas market to reach elevated levels. However,
the number of finished lots available in each market has fallen significantly and the months’ supply has
generally returned to balanced levels Furthermore, finished lot shortages are beginning to emeérge in
many desirable submarkets in the major Texas markets. Over the fourth quarter, homebuilders in all four
major Texas markets started more homes than they sold as they continued to address constriction in home
inventory levels. We believe this trend will continue in 2013 and that these increased start levels will
likely result in greater shortages of finished lots in these markets, partlcularly in the most desirable
submarkets. The lack of commercial financing for development has constrained finished lot development
over the past five years even as new home demand and sales continued. We believe that such demand and
sales will increase and these finished lot shortages will become more pronounced in coming quarters. As
of December 2012, Houston has an estimated inventory of finished lots of approximately 22.0 months and
Austin has an estimated inventory of finished lots of approximately 21.5 months, both of which represent
slightly constrained levels. San Antonio has an estimated inventory of finished lots of approx1mately 25.7
months and Dallas-Fort Worth has an estimated inventory of finished lots of approximately 34.7 months.
A 24-28 month supply is considered equilibrium for finished lot supplies.

63



We expect to see the months’ supply of lot inventory continue to decrease as the homebuilders
increase their pace of home starts since the prior elevation in months’ supply of finished lot inventory in
Texas markets was principally the result of the decrease in the pace of annual starts rather than an
increase in the raw number of developed lots. Indeed, the raw number of finished lots available in each
Texas market has been significantly reduced from their peaks. Since peaking in the first quarter of 2008,
Houston’s finished lot supply is down 41.1% from 73,047 to 43,011 in the fourth quarter of 2012. San
Antonio’s finished lot inventory fell 40.3% to 16,692 in the third quarter of 2012 from its peak at 27,937
in the second quarter of 2008. San Antonio’s finished lot inventory subsequently experienced an increase
in the fourth quarter of 2012. Austin’s finished lot inventory peaked in the first quarter of 2009 at 27,176,
and is down 42.0% to 15,767. The finished lot inventory for Dallas-Fort Worth peaked in the first quarter
of 2008 at 91,787 lots and has fallen 43.8% to 51,593 lots. Such inventory reduction continued in the
fourth quarter of 2012 in three of these four markets as the number of finished lots dropped by more than
800 in Austin during the fourth quarter, more than 1,800 in Dallas-Fort Worth, and approximately 1,500
in Houston. San Antonio’s finished lot supply increased by just over 600 lots in the fourth quarter. Even
with the increase in finished lot inventory, San Antonio’s month supply based on the home start rate was
unchanged from the third quarter of 2012 to the fourth quarter and remains within levels associated with
equilibrium. Annual starts in each of the Austin, San Antonio, Houston and Dallas-Fort Worth markets
are outpacing lot deliveries, and we expect to see increased finished lot sales in 2013 as homebuilders
replemsh their inventory.

Texas markets contlnue to be some of the strongest homebuilding markets in the country. Though
the pace of homebuilding in Texas fell between 2007 and 2011 as a result of the national economic
downturn and reduced availability of construction financing, homebuilding began to increase in 2012.
Still, the availability of construction and development finance remains challenging for private
homebuilders and developers to obtain. According to the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, Texas
banks reduced their outstanding loan portfolio of construction and development loans by approximately
1.4% from the second quarter of 2012 to the third quarter of 2012 as they have done each quarter since
the second quarter of 2008. Construction and development loans held by Texas banks declined year over
year by approximately 9.2% from approximately $16.7 billion as of September 30, 2011 to approximately
$15.3 billion as of September 30, 2012. While the previous decline in housing starts through the downturn
caused the month supply of vacant lot inventory to become elevated from its previously balanced
position, it also preserved a balance in housing inventory. Annual new home starts in Austin outpaced
sales 8,810 versus 7,838, with annual new home sales rising year-over-year by approximately 17.8%.
Finished housing inventory stands at a level of 2.8 months, while total new housing inventory (finished
vacant, under construction and model homes) rose to a supply of 7.7 months. The generally accepted
equilibrium levels for finished housing inventory and total new housing inventory are a 2.0-to-2.5 month
supply and a 6.0-t0-6.5 month supply, respectively. While the present month supply in Austin would
typically indicate an elevated inventory level, we believe that this increase in supply coupled with the
incidence of new home starts exceeding new home sales indicates that homebuilders in this market
anticipate greater demand for homes in coming months. As a result, we believe this increase in supply
reflects an expanding sales pipeline rather than an imbalance of supply. Annual new home starts in San
Antonio outpaced sales 8,078 versus 7,436, with annual new home sales increasing year-over-year by
approximately 5.5%. Finished housing inventory rose to a healthy 2.2 month supply. Total new housing
inventory fell to a 6.7 month supply. Houston’s annual new home starts outpaced sales 23,481 versus
21,713, with annual new home sales increasing year-over-year by approx1mately 17.0%. Finished housing
inventory fell to a slightly short 1.9 month supply while total new housing inventory fell to a healthy 6.4
month supply. Annual new home starts in Dallas-Fort Worth outpaced sales 17,845 versus 16,282, with
annual new home sales increasing year-over-year by approximately 11.4%. Finished housing inventory
fell to a healthy 2.1 month supply, while total new housing inventory rose to a slightly elevated 7.3 month
supply, which again indicates to us that homebuilders anticipate a strengthening housing market and
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growing demand for new homes. All numbers are as released by Metrostudy, a leading prov1der of
primary and secondary market information.

According to the Real Estate Center at Texas A&M University, existing housing inventory levels
are constrained. As of December 2012, the number of months of home inventory for sale in Austin,
Houston, Dallas, Fort Worth, Lubbock and San Antonio was 2.7 months, 3.8 months, 3.0 months, 4.0
months, 4.5 months and 5.2 months, respectlvely Like new home inventory, a 6-month supply of
inventory is considered a balanced market with more than 6 months of inventory generally being
considered a buyer’s market and less than 6 months of inventory generally being considered a seller’s
market. Through December 2012, the number of existing homes sold to date in (a) Austin was 25,466, up
20% year-over-year; (b) San Antonio was 20,473, up 11% year-over-year; (c) Houston was 68,491 up
16% year-over-year; (d) Dallas was 50,043, up 17% year-over-year; () Fort Worth was 9,003, up 11%
year-over-year; and (f) Lubbock was 3,331, up 20% year-over-year. :

In rnanagmg and understandlng the markets and submarkets in which we make loans we monitor
the fundamentals of supply and demand. We monitor the economic fundamentals in each of the respective
markets in which we make loans by analyzing demographics, household formation, population growth,
]Ob growth, migration, 1mm1grat10n and housing affordability. We ‘also monitor movements in home
prices and the presence of market disruption activity, such as investor or speculator activity that can
create false demand and an oversupply of homes in a market. Further, we study new home starts, new
home closings, finished home inventories, finished lot inventories, existing home sales, existing home
prices, foreclosures, absorption, prices with respect to new and existing home sales, finished lots and land
and the presence of sales 1ncent1ves dlscounts or both, in a market

We face a risk of loss resultmg from deterloratwn in the value of the land purchased by the
developer with the proceeds. of loans from us, a diminution of the site improvement and similar
reimbursements used to repay loans made by us, and a decrease in the sales price of the single-family
residential lots developed with the proceeds of loans from us. Deterioration in the value of the land, a
diminution of the site improvement and similar reimbursements and a decrease in the sales price of the
residential lots can occur in cases where the developer pays too much for the land to be developed, the
developer is unable or unwilling to develop the land in accordance with the assumptions required to
generate sufficient income to repay the loans made by us, or is unable to sell the residential lots to home
builders at a price that allows the developer to generate sufficient income to repay the loans made by us.

Our general partner actively monitors_the markets and submarkets in which we make loans
including mortgage rharkets, homebuilding economies, the supply and demand for homes, finished lots
and land and housing affordablhty to mitigate such risks. Our general partner also actively manages our
loan portfolio in the context of events occumng with fespect to the loan and in the market and submarket
in which we made the loan. We anticipate that theré may be defaults on development loans made by us
and that we will take action with respect to such defaults at any such time that we determine it prudent to
do.so, including such time as we determine it prudent to maintain and protect the value of the collateral
securing a loan by originating-another development loan to another developer with respect to the same
project to maintain and protect the value of the collateral securing our initial loan. :

We face a risk of loss resulting from adverse changes. in interest rates. Changes in interest rates
may affect both demand for our real estate finance products and the rate of interest on the loans we make.
In most instances, the loans we make will be j junior in the rrght of repayment to senior lenders, who will
provide loans representing 70% to 80% of total project costs. As senior lender interest rates available to
our borrowers increase, demand for our ‘mortgage } loans may decrease, and vice versa.

Developers to whom we make mortgage loans use the proceeds of such loans to develop raw real
estate into residential home lots.. The developers obtain the money to repay these development loans by
selling the residential home lots to home builders or individuals who will build single-family residences
on the lots, receiving qualifying site improvement reimbursements, and by obtaining replacement
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financing from other lenders. If interest rates increase, the demand for single-family residences may
decrease. Also, if mortgage financing underwriting criteria become stricter, demand for single-family
residences may decrease. In such an interest rate and/or mortgage financing climate, developers may be
unable to generate sufficient income from the resale of smgle family residential lots to repay loans from
us, and developers’ costs of funds obtained from lenders in addition to us may increase as well. If credit
markets deteriorate, developers may not be able to obtain replacement financing from other lenders.
Accordingly, increases in single- family mortgage interest rates, decreases in the avallablhty of mortgage
financing, or decreases in the avallablllty of replacement financing could increase the number of defaults
on development loans made by us.

* Our general partner is not aware of any material trends or uncertamtres favorable or unfavorable,
other than national economic conditions affecting real estate and: interest rates generally, that it reasonably
anticipates to have a material impact on either the income to be derived from our investments in mortgage
loans or entities that make mortgage loans, other than those referred to in this Annual Report on Form 10-
K. The d1srupt10n of mortgage markets, in comblnatron ‘with a significant amount of negative national
press discussing constriction in mortgage markets and the declirie of the national housing industry over
the last five years rncludlng decllnlng home prices, have made potential new home purchasers and real
estate lenders very cautious. The economic downturn, the failure of highly respected financial institutions,
s1gmﬁcant volatility in _equity markets around the world, unprecedented administrative and legislative
actions in the United States, and actions taken by central banks around the globe to stabilize the economy
have further caused many prospectlve home purchasers to postpone their purchases. In summary, we
believe there is a general lack ‘of urgency to purchase homes in these times of economic uncertainty. We
believe that this has slowed the sales of new homies and finished lots developed in certain markets;
however, we do not anticipate the prices of those lots changing materially. We also expect that the
decrease in the availability of replacement financing may increase the number of defaults on real estate
loans made by us or extend the time period anticipated for the repayment of our loans. Our future results
could be negatively impacted by prolonged weakness in' the economy, high levels of unemployment, a
srgnlﬁcant increase in mortgage interest rates or further t1ghten1ng of mortgage lendlng standards.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements '

From time to time, we enter into guarantees of debtors or affiliates’ borrowmgs and provide credit
enhancements for the: benefit” of senior lenders in connection with our debtors and affiliates and
investments in partnerships (collectively referred to as guarantees "), and account for such guarantees in
accordance with FASB ASC 460-10, Guamntees Guarantees ‘generally have fixed expiration dates or
other termination. clauses and may require payment of a fee by the debtor or affiliate. A guarantee
involves, to varying degrees elements of credit risk in excess of the amount recognized in the balance
sheets. Our exposure to credit loss in the event of non-performance by the other party to the mstrument is
represented by the contractual notlonal amount of the guarantee.

-+ In Augrst 2009, we entered into-a guaranty :(the “TCB Guaranty™) with Texas Capital Bank,
National Association (“Texas Capital”), by which we guaranteed the repayment of up to $5 million owed
to Texas Capital with respect to that certain promissory note between UMT Home Finance, L.P.,, a
Delaware limited partnership (“UMT Home Finance”), and Texas Capital. UMT Home Finance is a
wholly—owned subsidiary of UMT. An affiliate of our general partner serves as the advisor to UMT. In
connection theréwith, as requlred by our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program
Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that this
credit enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to ‘an
unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. In connéction with the TCB Guaranty, we entered into a
letter agreement with UMT Home Finance, which provides for UMT Home Finance to pay us annually,
in advance, an amount equal to 1% of our maximum exposure under the TCB Guaranty (i.e., $50,000 per
annum). through August 2012. Effective August 28, 2012, the letter agreement was modified and UMT
Home Finance agreed to pay us a monthly fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal
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balance of the Texas Capital loan. In conjunction with this agreement, approximately $15,000, $50,000
and $50,000, respectively, is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties
income for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010. Approximately $3,000 related to these
fees is included in accounts receivable — related parties as of December 31, 2012. No amount is included in
accounts receivable — related parties as of December 31, 2011 related to these fees.

. In March 2010, we entered into a guaranty (the “Resort Island Guaranty”) for the benefit of the
Bank of Las Colinas (“BOLC”), pursuant to which we guaranteed the repayment of up to $925,000 owed
to BOLC with respect to a loan between UDFLOF Resort Island, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership
(“UDFLOF Resort Island”), and BOLC. UDFLOF Resort Island: is:a wholly owned subsidiary of UDF
LOF. The general partner of UDF LOF is a wholly-owned subsidiary of our general partner, and our
general. partner serves as the asset manager for UDF LOF. In connection therewith, as required by our
Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from
Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at least as
reasonable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. In
connection with the Resort Island Guaranty, we entered into a letter agreement with UDFLOF Resort
Island pursuant to which UDFLOF Resort Island paid us a guaranty fee equal to 1% of our maximum
exposure (i.e., $9,250) under the-guaranty. UDFLOF Resort Island paid off the loan to BOLC in December
2010, thus extinguishing the guaranty. In conjunction with this agreement, no amount is included in
mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income for the years ended December 31, 2012
and 2011. Approximately $9,000 is included in mortgage and transactlon service revenues — related parties
income for the year ended December 31, 2010.

In Apnl 2010, we entered into a guaranty (the “UDF IV HF Guaranty™) for the beneﬁt of
Community Trust Bank of Texas (“CTB”), pursuant to which we guaranteed the repayment of up to $6
million owed to CTB with respect to a revolving line of credit 1oan between UDF IV Home Finance, L.P.,
a Delaware limited partnership (“UDF IV Home Finance”), and CTB.- UDF IV Home Finance is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of UDF IV. Our general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF IV, and an affiliate
of our general partner serves as the advisor for UDF IV. In connection therewith, as required by our
Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from
Jackson Clabomn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at least as
reasonable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to an-unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. In
connection with the UDF IV-HF Guaranty, we entered into a letter agreement with UDF IV Home Finance,
which provides for UDF IV Home Finance to pay us'an annual credit-enhancement fee equal to 1% of the
maximum' loan amount (i.e., $60,000 per annum), to be paid in 12 equal monthly installments. In
conjunction with this agreement, $60,000, $60,000 and $45,000, respectively, is included in mortgage and
transaction service revenues — related parties income for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010.

In April 2010, we entered into a guaranty (the “UMT 15th Street Guaranty”) for the beneﬁt of
CTB, pursuant to which we guaranteed the repayment of up to $1.6 million owed to CTB with respect to a
loan between. UMT 15th Street, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (“UMT 15th Street”), and CTB.
UMT 15th Street is a wholly owned subsidiary of UMT. An affiliate of our general partner serves as the
advisor to UMT. In connection therewith, as required by our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA
Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from .Jacksen Claborn, Inc., an independent
advisor, stating that: this credit enhancement is.fair and at least as reasonable to us as:-a loan..or credit
enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar: circumstances. In connection with the UMT 15th
Street Guaranty, we entered into a letter agreement with UMT 15th Street which provides for UMT 15th
Street to pay us a monthly: credit enhancement fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal
balance on the loan at the end of the month. This fee of approximately $11,000, $11,000 and $10,000,
respectively, is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income for.the years
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ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010. Approximately $1,000 and $8,000 related to these fees is
included in accounts receivable — related parties as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

In June 2010, UDF I obtained the $15 million UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan from the Lender, as agent
for a group of lenders. As security for the UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan, we provided the Lender with a
guaranty of repayment on the UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan, which was secured by a lien on all of our existing
and future assets. Our general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF 1. In connection therewith, as
required by our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an
opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent-advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and
at least as reasonable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar
circumstances. In consideration of our secured guaranty, commencing July 31, 2010, UDF I agreed to pay
us a monthly fee equal to 3% per annum of the outstanding balance of the UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan.
Effective June 21, 2012, the agreement was modified and UDF I agreed to pay us a monthly fee equal to
one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal balance of the UDF I - Brockhoeft Loan. UDF I paid off the
UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan in December 2012, thus extinguishing the guaranty. This fee of approximately
$198,000, $450,000 and $225,000, respectively, is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues —
related parties income for the years ended December 31,2012, 2011 and 2010. Approximately $273,000
and $113,000 related to these fees is included in accounts receivable — related parties as of December 31,
2012 and 2011, respectively.

In August 2010, we entered into a guaranty (the “UDF IV Acquisitions Guaranty™) for the benefit
of CTB, pursuant to which we guaranteed the repayment of up to $8 million owed to CTB with respect to a
revolving line of credit loan between UDF IV Acquisitions, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (“UDF IV
Acquisitions™), and CTB. UDF IV Acquisitions is a wholly owned subsidiary of UDF IV. Our general
partner serves as the-asset manager for UDF IV, and an affiliate of our general partner serves as the advisor
for UDF IV. In connection therewith, as required by our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA
Mortgage - Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent
advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan or credit
enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circomstances. In connection with the UDF IV
Acquisitions Guaranty, we entered into a letter agreement with UDF IV Acquisitions which provides for
UDF IV Acquisitions to pay us-a monthly credit enhancement fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the
outstanding principal balance on the revolving line of credit at the end of the month. This fee of
approximately $59,000, $43,000 and $20,000, respectively, is included in mortgage and transaction service
revenues — related parties income for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010. Approximately
$7,000 and $5,000 related to these fees is included in accounts receivable — related parties as of December
31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. ,

In December 2010, we entered into a guaranty (the “UDF IV Finance II Guaranty”) for the benefit
of The F&M Bank and Trust Company (“F&M”), pursuant to which we guaranteed the repayment of up to
$10 million owed to F&M with respect to a loan between UDF IV Finance II, L.P., a Delaware limited
partnership (“UDF IV Finance II”), and F&M. UDF IV Finance II is a wholly owned subsidiary of UDF
IV. Our general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF IV and an affiliate of our general partner
serves as the advisor for UDF IV. In connection therewith, as required by our Partnership Agreement and
the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an
independent advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan or
credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. In connection with the UDF IV
Finance II Guaranty, we entered into a letter agreement with UDF IV Finance TI which provides for UDF
IV Finance II to pay us a monthly credit enhancement fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding
principal balance on the loan at the end of the month. This fee of approximately $58,000 and $52,000,
respectively, is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income for the years
ended December 31, 2012 and 2011. No amount is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues
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— related parties income for the year ended December 31, 2010. Approximately $5,000 related to these
fees is included in accounts receivable — related parties as of each of December 31, 2012 and 2011.

" In May 2011, we entered into a guaranty (the “UMT HF 11 Guaranty”) for the benefit of Veritex
Community Bank, Nat10na1 Association (“Veritex”), pursuant to which we guaranteed the repayment of up
to $4.3 million owed to Veritex with respect to a loan between UMT Home Finance III, L.P., a Delaware
limited partnership (“UMT HF III”"), and Veritex. UMT HF HI is a wholly owned subsidiary of UMT. An
affiliate of our general partner serves as the advisor to UMT... In connection therewith, as required by our
Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program:Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from
Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent:advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at least as
reasonable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstarces. In
connection with the UMT HF III Guaranty, we entered into a letter agreement with UMT HF IIT which
provides for UMT HF III to pay us a monthly credit enhancement fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the
outstanding principal balance on the loan at the end of the month. This fee of approximately $29, 000 and
$8,000, respectively, is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related partles income for
the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011. No amount is included in mortgage and transaction service
revenues — related parties income for the year ended December 31, 2010. Approximately $3,000 and
$7,000 related to these fees is included in accounts recewable — related parties as of December 31, 2012
and 2011, respectwely

In August 2011, we entered into a guaranty (the’ “UMT HF IL Guaranty”) for the benefit of First
Financial Bank, N.A. (“FFB”) pursuant to which we guaranteed the repayment of up to $250,000 owed to
FFB with respect to a loan between UMT Home Finance II, L'P., a Delaware limited partnership (“UMT
HF II”), and FFB. UMT HF 1l is a wholly owned subsidiary of UMT. An affiliate of our general partner
serves as the advisor to UMT. In connection therewith, as requlred by our Partnership Agreement and the
NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc.,
independent advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan or
credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. In connection with the UMT HF
11 Guaranty, we entered into a letter agreement with UMT HF II which provides for UMT HF 1II to pay us a
monthly credit enhancement fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal balance on the
loan at the end of the month. The FFB loan was repaid in full by UMT HF II in May 2012 and thus the
UMT HF 1I Guaranty was extinguished. The credit enhancement fee of approximately $500 and $400,
respectively, is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income for the years
ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.. No amount is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues
— related parties income for the year ended December 31, 2010. - Approximately $400 related to these fees
is included in accounts receivable — related parties as of December 31, 2011.

In October 2011; we entered into a guaranty (the “UMT HF II Green Bank Guaranty”) for the
benefit of Green Bank, N A. (“Green Bank”), pursuant to which we guaranteed the repayment of up to $5
million owed to Green Bank with respect to a loan between UMT HF II and Green Bank. UMT HF Il is a
wholly owned subsidiary of UMT. An affiliate of our general partner serves as the advisor to UMT. In
connection therewith,. as requlred by our Partnership. Agreement. and the NASAA, Mortgage. Program
Guidelines, we, obtamed an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an 1ndependent advisor, stating that this
credit enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to.an unafﬁhated
borrower in similar circumstances. In connection with the UMT HF II Green Bank Guaranty, we entered
into a letter agreement with UMT HF II which provides for UMT HF II to pay us a monthly credit
enhancement fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal balance on the loan at the end of
the month. This fee of approximately. $1,200 and $300, respectively, is included in mortgage and
transaction service revenues — related parties income for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011. No
amount is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related partles income for the year
ended December 31, 2010.. Approxxmately $200 and $300.related to. these fees is included: in accounts
receivable — related parties as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectlvely ,
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As of December 31, 2012, we had 11 outstanding guarantees, including: (1) 10 limited repayment
guarantees with total credit risk to us of approximately $50.6 million, of which approximately $37.6
million has been borrowed against by the debtor and (2) one letter of credit issued on behalf of a borrower
with total credit risk to us of approximately $18,000, of which no amount had been borrowed against by
the debtor. -

. As of December 31, 2011, we had 14 outstanding guarantees, including: (1) 13 limited repayment
guarantees with total credit risk to us of approximately $65.4 million, of which approximately $47.8
million has been borrowed against by the debtor and (2) one letter of credit issued on behalf of a borrower
with total credit risk to us- of approx1mately $400 000, of which no amount has been borrowed against by
the debtor. :

To date we have not incurred losses from guarantees entered into, and the debt that is guaranteed
is also collateralized by real estate. The value of such real estate may or may not be sufficient to settle
such obligations if liquidated.

Contractual Obligatiohs

As of December 31, 2012, we had originated 60 loans, including 33 loans that have been repaid in
full by the respective borrower, totaling approximately $572.3 million. We have approximately $36.6
million of commitments to be funded, including approximately $15.1 million of commitments for
mortgage notes receivable — related parties and $7.3 million for participation interest — related party. For
the year ended December 31, 2012, we did not originate or purchase any loans, sold 1 loan participation,
and did not acquire any additional participation interests.

' As of December 31, 2011, we had originated 60 loans, including 31 loans that have been repaid in
full by the respective borrower, totaling approximately $537.3 million. We have approximately $35.1
million of commitments to be funded, including approximately $12.3 million of commitments for
mortgage notes receivable — related parties and $9.5 million for participation interest — related party. For
the year ended December 31, 2011, we orlgmated 2 loans, sold 3 loan participations, and did not purchase
‘any loans or acqulre any additional partlclpatlon 1nterests

In addltlon we have entered into a credlt fa01l1ty as discussed in Notes E, I and K to the
accompanying financial statements.. The following table reflects approximate amounts due associated
with this credit facility based on its maturity date as of December 31, 2012:

Payments due by period

Less than 1 ' i More than
year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years Total

Total . $ 5000000 $ 8,750,000 $ -8 - $ 13,750,000

' The Partnership has no other outstanding debt or contingent payment obligations, other than
approximately $50.6 million of certain loan guarantees or letters of credit discussed above in “— Off-
Balance Sheet Anangements” that we may be obhgated to make to or for the beneﬁt of third-party
lenders.

Item 7A. Qu_antitative and Qualitative Disclosut_fes About Marketo Risk.

Market risk is the exposure to loss resulting from adverse changes in market prices, interest rates,
foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices and equity prices. A significant market risk to which
we are exposed is interest rate risk, which is sensitive to many factors, including governmental monetary
and tax policies, domestic and- mternatlonal economic and political considerations, and other factors
beyond our control. Changes in interest rates may impact both demand for our real estate finance
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products and the rate of interest on the loans we make. 'Another significant market risk is the market price
of finished lots. The market price of finished lots is driven by the demand for new single-family homes
and the supply of unsold homes and finished lots in a market. The change in one or both of these factors
can have a material impact on the cash realized by our borrowers and resulting collectablhty of our loans
and interest.

Demand for our mortgage loans and the amount of interest we collect with respect to such loans
depends on the ability of borrowers of real estate development loans to sell single-family lots acqulred
w1th the proceeds of the loans to homebuilders. : :

‘The single-family lot and residential homebuilding market is highly sensitive to changes in
interest rate levels. As interest rates available to borrowers increase, demand for mortgage loans
decreases, and vice versa. Housing demand is also adversely affected by increases in housing prices and
unemployment and by decreases in the availability of mortgage financing. In addition, from time to time,
there are various proposals for changes in the federal income tax laws, some of which would remove or
limit the deduction for home mortgage interest. If effective mortgage interest rates increase and/or the
ability or willingness of prospective buyers to purchase new homes is adversely affected, the demand for
new homes may also be negatively affected. As a consequence, demand for and the performance of our
real estate finance products may also be adversely 1mpacted

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, our mortgage notes recelvable of approx1mately $226.9
million and $224.5 million, respectlvely, mortgage notes receivable — related parties. of approximately
$49.0 million and $52.0 million, respectively, and participation interest — related party of approximately
$75.2 million and $66.2 million, respectively, were all at fixed interest rates, and thus, such assets are not
subject to change in future earnings, fair values or cash flows..

We seek to mitigate our single-family lot and residential homebuilding market risk by closely
monitoring economic, project market, and homebuilding fundamentals. We review a variety of data and
forecast sources, including public reports of homebuilders, mortgage originators and real estate finance
companies; financial statements of developers; project appraisals; proprietary reports on primary and
secondary housing market data, including land, finished lot, and new home inventory and prices and
concessions, if any; and information provided by government agencies, the Federal Reserve Bank, the
National Association of Home Builders, the National Association of Realters, public and private
universities, corporate debt rating agencies, and institutional investment banks regarding the
homebuilding industry and the prices of and supply and demand for single-family residential homes.

In addition, we further seek to mitigate our single-family lot and residential homebuilding market
risk by assigning an asset manager to each mortgage note. This asset manager is responsible for
monitoring the progress and performance of the developer and the project as well as assessing the status
of the marketplace and value of our collateral securing repayment of our mortgage loan.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The information required by this Item 8 is hereby incorporated by reference to our Financial
Statements beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedure

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed in our reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in
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the rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to us, including our
chief executive officer and chief financial officer of Land Development, our general partner, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding requlred disclosure.

As required by Rule 13a-15(b) and Rule 15d-15(b) under the Exchange Act, the management of
our general partner, including its principal executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated, as
of December 31, 2012, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange
Act Rule 13a-15(e) and Rule 15d-15(¢). Based on.that evaluation, the principal executive officer and the
principal financial officer of our general partner concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures, as
of December 31, 2012, were effective for the purpose of ensuring that information required to be
disclosed by us in this report is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified by the rules and forms of the Exchange Act and is accumulated and communicated to
management, including the principal executive officer and the principal financial officer of our general
partner, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

.. Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

* The management of Land Developmenf is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)). The
management of Land Development, including its principal executive officer and principal financial
officer, evaluated as of December 31, 2012 the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting using the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations .of the Treadway-Commission. Based on that evaluation, the principal
executive officer and principal financial officer of Land Development concluded that our internal
controls, as of December 31, 2012, were effective in providing reasonable assurance regarding reliability
of financial reporting.

. Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal coritrols over financial reporting that occurred during
the quarter ended December 31,2012 that have matenally affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over ﬁnanc1al reporting.

Item 9B Other Information.”

None
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Part m
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance,
Our General Partner

We operate under the direction of our general partner, Land Development, a Delaware limited
partnership formed in March 2003 that is responsible for the management and control of our affairs. The
executive offices of our general partner are located at 1301 Municipal Way, Suite 100, Grapevine, Texas
76051. UMT Holdings holds 99.9% of the limited partnership interests in our general partner. UMT
Services serves as the general partner of our general partner. Todd F. Etter and Hollis M. Greenlaw
together own 100% of UMT Services. Our general partner is assisted by the employees of General
Services, an affiliate of our general partner. We do not émploy our own management personnel. Instead,
we pay fees to our general partner for its services to us. See the chart in “Item 1, Business — Conlflicts of
Interest” for a further discussion of the relationships between our key personnel, our general partner and
its affiliates.

Our general partrier is responsible for our direction and- management, including identifying
prospective loans, evaluating, underwriting and negotiating the acquisition and disposal of loans and
overseeing the performance of our loans.

A change in our management may be accomplished by removal of our general partner or the
designation of a successor or additional general partner, in each case in accordance with the provisions of
our Partnership Agreement. Our Partnership Agreement provides that a general partner may be removed
and a new general partner elected upon the written consent or affirmative vote of limited partners owning
more than 50% of the limited partnership interests. Our Partnership Agreement further provides that a
general partner may designate a successor or additional general partner with the consent of the general
partner and limited partners holding more than 50% of the limited partnership interests. Generally, except
in connection with such a designation, the general partner shall not have the right to retire or withdraw
voluntarily from us or to sell, transfer or assign its interest without the consent of the limited partners
holding more than 50% of the limited partnership interests.

Key Personnel

“We are ménaged by the key personncl of our general partner, Land Development. The following
key personnel hold the positions noted below with our general partner and its affiliates:

Name Age* Position with Our General Partner
Todd F. Etter 62 Executive Vice President of our general partner and Director and
v Chairman of UMT Services, its general partner

Hollis M. Greenlaw . 48 - . Chief Executive Officer of our general partner and President, Chief
Executive Officer and Director of UMT Services, its general partner

Michael K. Wilson 50  Director of UMT Services, 1ts general partner

Ben Wissink 31 President .

Cara D. Obert 43 Chief Financial Officer

Melissa H. Youngblood 45  Chief Operating Officer
* As ofJanuary 31,2013

Mr. Etter and Mr. Greenlaw are directors, officers and shareholders of UMT Services and UMT
Holdings. Mr. Etter, Mr. Greenlaw, Mr. Wilson, Mr. Wissink, Ms. Obert and Ms. Youngblood are
partners of UMT Holdings. Mr. Wilson is a director of UMT Services. Mr. Etter and Mr. Greenlaw are
shareholders of the general partner of UDF I and are also shareholders and officers of the general partner
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of UDF II. Mr. Wissink, Ms. Obert and Ms. Youngblood are officers of the general partner of UDF I,
officers of the general partner of UDF II and officers of UMT Services. Mr. Etter, Mr. Greenlaw, Mr.
Wilson, Mr. Wissink and Ms. Obert are limited partners of UDF I. Mr. Greenlaw is Chief Executive
Officer and Chairman of the Board of Trustees for UDF IV. Ms. Obert is Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer of UDF IV. Land Development owns a 100% interest in the general partner of the general
partner for UDF LOF. Land Development also owns all of the limited partnership interests in the general
partner of UDF LOF. See the chart in “Item 1, Business — Conflicts of Interest” for a further discussion of
the relationships between our key personnel, our general partner and its affiliates. :

Theodore “Todd” F. Etter, Jr. Mr. Etter has served as the Executive Vice President of Land
Development and has served as a director, partner and Chairman of UMT Services, the general partner of
UMT Holdmgs and Land Development, since March 2003. UMT Holdings originates, purchases, sells
and services interim loans for the purchase and renovation of single-family homes and land development
loans through its subsidiaries UMTH Lendmg Company, L.P. (“UMTH Lending”) and Land
Development, and it provides real estate-related corporate finance services through its subsidiaries.
General Services, a subsidiary of UMT Holdings, has served as the advisor to UMT since August 1, 2006.
Mr. Etter serves as Chairman of the general partner of UDF I and UDF II, each of which are limited
partnerships formed to originate, purchase, sell and service land development loans and/or equity
participations. Since 2000, Mr. Etter has been the Chairman of UMT Advisors, Inc., which served as the
advisor to UMT from 2000 through July 31, 2006, and since 1996, he has been Chalrman of Mortgage
Trust Advisors, Inc., which served as the advisor to UMT from 1996 to 2000. Subsequent to the
completion of the terms of their advisory agreements with UMT, neither UMT Advisors, Inc. nor
Mortgage Trust Advisors, Inc. has been engaged in providing advisory services. Mr. Etter has overseen
the growth of UMT from its inception in 1997 to over $150 million in capital. Since 1998, Mr. Etter has
been a 50% owner of and has served as a director of Capital Reserve Corp. Since 2002, he has served as
an owner and dlrector of Ready America Funding Corp. Both Capital Reserve Corp. and Ready America
Fundmg Corp. are Texas corporations that originate, sell and service mortgage loans for the purchase,
renovation and. construction of single-family homes. In 1992, Mr. Etter formed, and since that date has
served as President of, South Central Mortgage, Inc. (“SCMI”), a Dallas, Texas-based mortgage banking
firm. In July 2003, Mr. Etter consolidated his business interests in Capital Reserve Corp., Ready America
Funding Corp. and SCMI into UMT Holdings. From 1980 through 1987, Mr. Etter served as a Principal
of South Central Securities, an NASD member firm. In 1985, he formed South Central Financial Group,
Inc., a Dallas, Texas-based investment banking firm, and he continues to serve as its President; however,
since 1992, South Central Financial Group, Inc. has not actively engaged in investment banking activities.
From 1974 through 1981, he was Vice President of Crawford, Etter and Associates, a residential
development, marketing, finance and construction company. Mr. Etter received a Bachelor of Arts degree
from Michigan State University in 1972.

Hollis M. Greenlaw. Mr. Greenlaw has- served as ‘Chief Executive Officer of our general partner
since March 2003. Mr. Greenlaw previously served as President of our general partner from March 2003
until June 2011. He also has served as a partner, Vice-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of UMT
Holdings, and as President, Chief Executive Officer and a director of UMT Services since March 2003.
Mr. Greenlaw also serves as Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Trustees for UDF IV.
- From March 2003 through December 2009, Mr. Greenlaw directed the funding of over approximately
$385 million in loans and land banking transactions and over $60 million of equity investments for UDF
I, UDF I and UDF LOF. During that same period, UDF I, UDF II and UDF LOF received over
approximately $253 million in loan repayments and over $22 million in equity investment distributions.
Since May 1997, Mr. Greenlaw has been a partner of The Hartnett Group, Ltd., a closely-held private
investment company managing over $40 million in assets. The Hartnett Group, Ltd. and its affiliated
companies engage in securities and futures trading; acquire, develop, and sell real estate, including single-
family housing developments, commercial office buildings, retail buildings and apartment homes; own
several restaurant concepts throughout the United States; and make venture capital investments. From
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March 1997 until June 2003, Mr. Greenlaw served as Chairman, President and CEO of a multi-family real
estate development and management company owned primarily by The Hartnett Group, Ltd. and
developed seven multi-family communities in Arizona, Texas and Louisiana with a portfolio value
exceeding $80 million. Prior to joining The Hartnett Group, Ltd., from. 1992 until 1997, Mr. Greenlaw
was an attorney with the Washington, D.C. law firm of erhams & Connolly, where he practlced
business and tax law. Mr. Greenlaw received a Bachelor of Arts degree from Bowdoin College in 1986,
where he was a James Bowdoin Scholar and elected to Phi Beta Kappa, and received a Juris Doctorate
from the Columbia University School of Law in 1990 Mr. Greenlaw i is a member of the Malne District
of Columbia and Texas bars.

Michael K. Wilson. Mr Wilson has served as President of UMT Holdrngs since June 2009 as
Executive Vice President and Director of UMT Services since August 2005 and has been a. partner of
UMT Holdings since January 2007. He previously served as President for UMTH Funding Services, L.P.
(“UMTH Funding”).- Mr. Wilson is currently responsible for Sales, Marketing and Investor Relations for
UMT Holdings and from August. 2005 -through April 2009 directed the capital raise of approximately
$330 million in securities through independent FINRA-member broker-dealers. From January 2004
through July 2005, Mr. Wilson served as Senior Vice President of Marketing for UMT Holdings. From
January 2003 through January 2004, Mr. Wilson served as Senior Vice. President of Operations' of
Interelate, Inc., a marketing services business process -outsourcing -firm: From September 2001 to
December 2002, Mr. Wilson was the sole principal of Applied Focus, LLC; an independent management
consulting company that provided management consulting services to executives of private technology
companies. Mr. Wilson continues to serve as a consultant for' Applied Focus, LLC. From April 1998 to
September 2001, Mr. Wilson served as Senior Director and Vice President of Matchlogic, the online
database marketmg division of Ex01te@Home ‘where he dlrected outsourced ad management and
database marketing services for Global 500 clients 1nclud1ng General Motors and Procter & Gamble.
From July 1985 to April 1998, Mr. Wilson ‘was employed with Electronic’ Data Systems in Detroit,
Michigan where he led several multi-million dollar IT services engagements in the automotive 1ndustry,
including GM OnStar. Mr. Wilson graduated from Oakland University in 1985 with a Bachelor of
Science degree in Management Information Systems and earned a Master of Busitiess Administration
degree from Wayne State Un1vers1ty in 1992

Ben L. Wzssmk Mr Wissink, a partner of UMT: Holdmgs has served as Pre31dent of our general
partner since June 2011 and previously served:as Chief Operating Officer of our general partner from
March 2007 until June 2011. Mr. Wissink originally joined our general partner as an Asset Manager in
September 2005. Mr. Wissink is also the Chief Operating Officer of UMT Services. .Mr. Wissink-directs
the management of over approximately $1.21 billion in loans and investments for,UDF I, UDF II and
UDF LOF. ‘' From June 2003 through August 2005, Mr. Wissink served as the Controller for the
Dallas/Fort Worth land division for the national homebuilding company Lennar Corporation. -During that
time, Mr. Wissink also served as an analyst for the Texas region. While at Lennar, Mr. Wissink assisted
in the underwriting, execution and management of off-balance sheet transactions, . including two
acquisition and development funds between Lennar Corporation and UDF I. Mr. Wissink graduated from
the University of Iowa in 2003 witha Bachelor of Business Administration degree in Flnance

Cara D. Obert. Ms. Obert is a partner of UMT Holdings. Ms. Obert a Certlﬁed Pubhc
Accountant, served as the Chief Financial Officer for UMT Holdings from March 2004 until August 2006
and served as Controller for UMT Holdings from October 2003 through. March 2004. She has served as
the Chief Financial Officer of our general partner since August 2006 and serves as Chlef Financial Officer
and Treasurer of UDF IV. From 1996 to 2003, she was a self-employed consultant, assisting clients,
including Fortune 500 companies, in creating and maintaining financial accounting, systems. She served
as Controller for Value-Added Communications, Inc., a Nasdag-listed telecommunications company that
provided .communications systems -for the hotel and prison industries. From 1990 to.. 1993, she was
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employed with Arthur Andersen LLP; an international accounting and consulting firm. She graduated
from Texas Tech University in 1990 with a Bachelor of Business Administration degree in accounting.

Melissa H. Youngblood. Mrs. Youngblood, a partner of UMT Holdings, joined our general
partner as Chief Operating Officer in July 2011. Mrs. Youngblood has 19 years’ experience as a
practicing attorney. Prior to joining our general partner, Mrs. Youngblood was a partner at Hallett &
Perrin, P.C. in the ﬁrm s corporate and securities section, with a concentration in real estate and lending
transactions. Mrs.” Youngblood has represented both publicly and privately owned business entities,
including public and private finance, mergers and acquisitions, general contracting and commercial real
estate transactions. Mrs. Youngblood’s legal career has focused on representation of borrowers and
lenders in private and. commercial lending transactions, and real estate syndicators and financiers in
connection with real estate-based lending, documentation of loans, and real estate financing. She has also
represented businesses in various aspects of securities laws; with an emphasis on federal securities
reporting and compliance. Her experience includes corporate reorganizations, mergers, asset acquisitions
and sales, shareholder, partnership and joint venture agreements, sales of equity and debt. interests, and
representation of issuers in connection with private placements of equity and secondary public offerings
of debt and equity. Mrs. Youngblood received her Juris Doctorate from the University of Texas at Austin
law school in 1992, and became a member of the State Bar of Texas upon taking the bar exam in
1993. ‘She graduated with honors from the Un1vers1ty of Texas at Arlington in 1990 with a Bachelors of
Business Admlmstratron degree

No Audit Committee; No “Audlt Committee Financial Expert”

We do not have a board of directors and, as such, have no board committees such as an audit
committee. Because we do not havé an audit comm1ttee we do not have an “audit committee financial
expert.” Our general partner is, respon51b1e for ‘managing the relatlonshrp with our Independent
Reglstered Public Accountmg Flrm

Section 16(a) Beneﬁcial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires each director, officer, and individual beneficially
owning more than 10% of a registered security of the Partnership to file with the SEC, within specified
time frames, initial statements of beneficial ownership (Form 3) and statements of changes in beneficial
ownership (Forms 4 and 5) of limited partnership units of the Partnership. These specified time frames
require the reporting of changes in ownership within two business days of the transaction giving rise to
the reporting obligation. Reporting persons are required to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a)
forms filed with the SEC. To the best of our knowledge, we are not aware of any required Section 16(a)
filings that were not timely: or correctly made during the year ended December 31, 2012.

Code. of Conduct

Land Development our general partner has adopted a Code of Business Conduct that is
applicable to all of its officers, key personnel and employees. We have posted the text of our Code of
Business Conduct on our website at http://www.udfonline.com. ~ Investors may: obtain a copy of this
document, free of charge, by mailing a:written request to: United Development Fundmg 1L, L.P.,
Investor Relations, 1301 Municipal- Way, Sulte 100 Grapevine, Texas 76051.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

We operate under the direction of our general partner, which is responsible for the management
and control of our affairs. The employees of General Services, an affiliated entity, assist our ‘general
partner. The employees of General Services do not devote all of their time to managing us, and they do
not receive any direct compensation from us for their services. Accordingly, we do not have, and our
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general partner has not considered, a compensation policy or program for itself, its affiliates, any
employees of our general partner or any employees of affiliates of our-general partner, and we have not
included a Compensation Discussion and Analysis in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. ‘We pay fees to
our general partner and its other affiliates. See “Item 5, Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related
Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities — Use of Proceeds from Registered
Securities” and “Item 13, Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence” for
a description of the fees payable and expenses reimbursed to our affiliates.

Item 12. Security Ownershlp of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters.

There are no limited partners known by us who beneficially owned more than 5% of our limited
partnershlp umts as of January 31, 2013

We do not have any ofﬁcers or dlrectors Our general partner owns all of the general partnership
interest in the Partnershlp We do not maintain any equity compensation plans, and no arrangements exist
that would, upon operation, result in a change in control for us.

The following table sets forth information as of December 31, 2012 regarding the beneficial
ownetship of our limited partnership interest and general partnership interest by each person known by us
to own 5% or more of the outstanding class of partnership interest, each director of our general partner,
each executive officer of our general partner, and the directors and executive officers of our general
partner and our general partner, as a group. The percentage of beneficial ownership is calculated based
on 18,827,498 limited partnership units 1ssUed and outstanding and contrlbutlons from our general
partner. : .

Limited

Partnership
Units Percent
' : , , C Beneficially of
Title of Class. .. -Beneficial Owner Owned Class
Limited partner interest _ Todd F. Etter (1) (2) (4) 10,995.27 *
Limited partner interest . Hollis M. Greenlaw. (1) (2) (5) ‘ _ 12,750.48. *
Limited partner interest o Michael K. Wilson (1) (3) : 2,494.26 *
Limited partner interest ~ BenL. Wissink (1) (2) (3) ( -k
Limited partner interest ' Cara D. Obert (1) (2) S - ¥
Limited partner interest ' ‘Melissa H. Youngblood (1) (2) - DR ’ - *
General partner interest - " UMTH Land Development, L.P.(6) 2 - 100% -
P

All directors, executive - ©26,240.01 -
officers and the general. -~ - ' e - :
partner as a group: .

(6 persons)

* Denotes less than 1%

(1) The address of Messrs Etter Greenlaw, Wllson and Wlssmk Ms Obert and Ms. Youngblood is 1301
Municipal Way, Suite 100, Grapevine, Texas 76051. '

(2) Executive officers of UMTH Land Development, L.P., our general partner..

(3) Executive officers-and/or directors of UMT Services, Inc general partner of UMTH Land Development, .
L.P. '

@) Includes 336. 01 units held by KLA, Ltd. and 7, 083 85 units. held by Etter Amalgamated Inc. Mr. Etter

_ shares voting and investment power over the units held by KLA, Ltd. and has sole voting and investment

power over the units held by Etter Amalgamated, Inc. The address for KLA, Ltd. and Etter Amalgamated
Inc. is 1301 Municipal Way, Suite 100, Grapevine, Texas 76051.
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(5) Includes 2,904.95 units held by Mojo Investments, L.P and 9,560 units held by WAB, Ltd. Mr. Greenlaw
has sole voting and investment power over the units held by Mojo Investments, L.P. and is a limited partner
for the units held by WAB, Ltd. The address for Mojo Investments, L.P. and WAB, Ltd. is 1301 Municipal
Way, Suite 100, Grapevine, Texas 76051.

(6) The address of UMTH Land Development, L.P.is 1301 Mun101pa1 Way, Suite 100 Grapevme Texas
76051. UMTH Land Development, L.P. had an initial $100 capital contribution, but has not purchased
limited partnership units.

None of the above units has been pledged as security.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.
Transactions with Related Persons

As of December 31, 2012, we have approximately $49.0 million of mortgage notes receivable —
related parties, consisting of 7 related party loans and one participation interest — related party totaling
approximately ‘$75.2 million. = Mortgage notes receivable — related parties and participation interest —
related party represent approximately 34% of our total assets. - As of December 31, 2012, we have
approximately $2.7 million of accrued interest receivable — related parties, and we have paid our general
partner approximately $10.3 million for acquisition and origination fee expenses. associated with the
mortgage notes receivable, mortgage notes receivable — related parties and participation interest — related
party. For the year ended December 31, 2012, we recognized approx1mately $16.4 million and $622,000
for interest income — related partles and mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties,
respectively. We also recognized approximately $2.8 million of general and administrative expenses —
related parties for the year ended December 31, 2012. As of December 31, 2012, we had seven
outstanding limited repayment guarantees benefitting related parties with total credit risk to us of
approximately $39. 9 million, of which approximately $27.8 million has been borrowed against by the
debtor.

As of December 31, 2011, we had approximately $52.0 million of mortgage notes receivable —
related parties, consisting of 7 related party loans and one participation interest — related party totaling
approximately $66.2 million. = Mortgage notes receivable — related parties and participation interest —
related party represent approximately 33% of our total assets. As of December 31, 2011, we had
approximately $2.6 million of accrued interest receivable — related parties, and we had paid our general
partner approx1mately $10.0 million for acquisition and onglnatlon fee expenses associated with the
mortgage notes receivable, mortgage notes receivable — related parties and participation interest — related
party. For the year ended December 31, 2011, we recognized approximately $15.2 million and $1.0
million for interest income — related parties and mortgage and transaction service revenues —.related
parties, respectively. We also recognized approximately $2.7 million of general and administrative
expenses — related parties for the year ended December 31, 2011. As of December 31, 2011, we had nine
outstanding limited repayment guarantees benefitting related parties with total credit risk to us of
approximately $52.7 million, of which approximately $37.1 million had been borrowed against by the
debtor.

Our general partner and certain of its affiliates are paid compensation and fees for services
relating to the Offering and the investment and management of our assets.

Effective January 1, 2010, we began reimbursing General Services for operating expenses
incurred by General Services in ‘assisting Land Development in our management. General Services and
our general partner are each owned 99.9% by UMT Holdings and 0.1% by UMT Services, which serves
as the general partner for both General Services and our general partner.” For the years ended December
31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, General Services was relmbursed approximately $1. 3 million, $115,000 and
$408,000, respectively, for such expenses. -
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Our general partner also is paid 3% of the net amount available for. investment in mortgages for
fees and expenses associated with the selection and origination of mortgages, including, but not limited
to, legal fees and expenses, travel and communications expenses, costs of appraisals, accounting fees and
expenses, and title insurance funded by us. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, Land
Development was paid approximately $447,000, $472,000 and $131,000, respectively, for acquisition and
origination expenses.

Our general partner currently receives a promotional interest equal to 10% of cash available for
distribution prior to the return to-the limited partners of all of their capital contributions plus an 8% annual
cumulative (non-compounded) return on their net capital contributions. For the years ended December

.31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, our general partner was paid approximately $5.3 million, $5.1 million and $1.0
million, respectively, for its ursubordinated promotional interest. ~After the limited partners receive a
return-of their net capital contributions and an 8% annual cumulative (non-compounded) return on their
net capital contributions, the general partner will receive a subordinated promotional interest of 15% of
remaining cash available for dlstnbutlon (including net proceeds from a capital transaction .or pro rata
portion thereof).

Our general partner receives a camed interest, which is an equlty interest in us to part1c1pate in all
distributions, other than distributions attributable to our general partner’s promotional interest of cash
available for distribution and net proceeds from a capital transaction. If our general partner enters into
commitments to investments in mortgages in excess of 82% of the gross offering proceeds, our general
partner will be entitled to a carried interest equal to (a) 1% for the first 2.5% of commitments to
investments in mortgages above 82% of the gross offering proceeds (or if commitments to investments in
mortgages are above 82% but no more than 84.5%, 1% multiplied by the fractional amount of
commltments to investments in mortgages above 82%), (b) 1% for the next 2% of additional
commitments to investments in mortgages above 84.5% of the gross offering proceeds (or if
commitments to investments in mortgages are above 84.5% but no more than 86.5%, 1% multiplied by
the fractional amount of commitments to investments in mortgages above 84.5%) and (c) 1% for each
additional 1% of additional commitments to investments in mortgages above 86.5% of the gross offering
proceeds (or a fractional percentage equal to the fractional amount of any 1% of additional commitments
to investments in mortgages). For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, our general
partner was paid approximately $726,000, $755,000 and $143,000, respectively, for its carried interest.

For services rendered in connection with the servicing of our loans, we pay a monthly mortgage
servicing fee to our general partner equal to one-twelfth of 0.25% of our aggregate outstanding
development mortgage notes receivable balance as of the last day of the month. For the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, Land Development recognized approximately. $969,000, $892,000
and $816, 000 respec’uvely, in mortgage servicing fees, whlch is included in general and admmlstratlve -
related: pames expense.

We are dependent on our general partner and certaln of its affiliates for certain services that are
essential to us, including identifying prospective loans, evaluating, underwrltmg and negotiating the
acquisition and disposal of loans and overseeing the performance of our loans. In the event that these
compames were unable to provide the respective services to us, we would be required to obtam such
services from other sources.

On September 21, 2009, the Partnershlp entered into the $15 m11110n Brockhoeft Credit Facﬂlty
In conjunction with the Brockhoeft Credit Facility, the Partnership paid UMTH Funding a debt placement
fee equal to 1% ($150,000) of the Brockhoeft Credit Facility, which was amortized over the initial term of
the Brockhoeft Credit Facility through June 2012. The unamortized portion of this debt placement fee
was approximately $11,000 as of December 31,201 1 :
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An affiliate of Land Development serves as the advisor to UMT and UDF IV. The general partner
of UDF LOF is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Land Development. Land Development serves as the asset
manager of UDF I, UDF IV and UDF LOF. :

Mortgage Notes Receivable - Related Parties
UDF PM Note

In September 2007, we originated a secured promissory note to UDF PM, LLC, a Texas limited
liability company and wholly-owned subsidiary of UDF I (“UDF PM”), in the principal amount of
approximately $6.4 million (the “UDF PM Note”), and in connection therewith, as required by our
Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from
Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that the UDF PM Note is fair and at least as
reasonable to us as a transaction with an unaffiliated party in similar circumstances. Our general partner
serves as the asset manager for UDF 1. The UDF PM Note, which bears an interest rate of 15% per
annum, is initially collateralized by a second lien deed of trust on approximately 335 finished lots and 15
acres of land located in Texas and, per the Second Amendment to Secured Promissory Note, matures on
September 4, 2013. In determining whether to modify the UDF PM Note, we evaluated the economic
conditions, the estimated value and performance of the underlying collateral, the guarantor, adverse
situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay or the value of the collateral and other relevant
factors. In connection with the UDF PM Note, UDF PM agreed to pay us commitment fees equal t0 3%
of each advance on the note, or $187,500. ' We did not recognize any commitment fee income in
connection with the UDF PM Note for years ended December 31, 2012 or 2011. For the year ended
December 31, 2010, approximately $44,000 in commitment fee income is included in mortgage and
transaction service revenues — related parties. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010,
we recognized approximately $308,000, $1.0 million and $1.2 million, respectively, of interest income —
related parties related to the UDF PM Note, of which approx1mately $5,000 and $17,000, respectively, is
included in accrued interest receivable — related parties as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.
Approximately $280,000 and $4.2 million is included i in mortgage notes receivable — related parties as of
December 31,2012 and 2011, respectively.

UDF X Note

In November 2007, we originated a secured promissory note to UDF X, a Delaware limited
partnership and wholly-owned subsidiary of our general partner, in the principal amount of approximately
$70 million (the “UDF X Note™), and in connection therewith, as required by our Partnership Agreement
and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an
independent advisor, stating that the UDF X Note is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a transaction
with an unaffiliated party in similar circumstances. In August 2008, we amended the UDF X Note to
reduce the commitment amount to $25 million. In November 2012, we amended the UDF X Note to
increase the commitment amount to $26 million. In determining whether to modify this loan, we
evaluated the economic conditions, the estimated value and performance of the underlying collateral, the
guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay or the value of the collateral and
other relevant factors. The UDF X Note, which bears an interest rate of 15% per annum, is collateralized
by a pledge of 100% of the ownership interests in UDF X and is payable on November 11, 2014, as
amended. In connection with the UDF X Note, UDF X agreed to pay us commitment fees equal to 3% of
each advance on the note, or approximately $751,000. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010, approximately $145,000, $165,000 and $165,000, respectively, in commitment fee income is
included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties. For the years ended December
31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, we recognized approximately $3.5 million, $3.2 million and $3.5 million,
respectively, of interest income — related parties related to the UDF X Note, of which approximately
$27,000 and $288,000, respectively, is included in accrued interest receivable — related parties as of
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December 31, 2012 and 2011. Approximately $21.7 million and $22.7 million is included in mortgage
notes receivable — related pames as of December 31 2012 and 2011, respectively.

UDF NP Note _

In December 2007, we originated. a secured promissory note.to UDF Northpointe, LLC, a Texas
limited liability company which was a wholly-owned subsidiary of UDF I at the time of the note’s
origination (“Northpointe LLC”), in the principal amount of approximately $6 million (the “UDF NP
Loan”), and in connection therewith, -as. required by our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA
Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent
advisor, stating that the loan is fair and at-least as reasonable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to an
unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. Our general partner serves.as the asset manager for UDF
I. In December 2008, Northpointe LL.C was purchased by an unrelated third party, who thus assumed the
UDF NP Loan. In May 2009, Northpointe LLC assigned its obligations associated with the. UDF NP
Loan and its interests in the collateral by special warranty deed to UDF Northpointe II, L.P. (“Northpointe
I1”’), a-subsidiary of UDF 1. Concurrent with this assignment, Northpointe LLC entered into a contract for
deed with Northpointe II whereby Northpointe LLC agreed to make payments to Northpointe II for all
debt service payments in consideration for Northpointe II transferring ownership and possession of the
collateral back to Northpointe LLC. The secured promissory note, which bears an interest rate of 12%
per annum, is initially-collateralized by a second lien deed of trust on 251 finished lots and 110 acres of
land in Texas and was payable ‘on December 28, 2010. The maturity date was extended to December 28,
2013 pursuant to-a modification agreement effecﬁve as of June 30, 2011 which also increased the UDF
NP Loan to a maximum of $15 million, pursuant to a second secured promissory note in the principal
amount of $9 million. In determining whether to modify-this loan, we evaluated the economic conditions,
the estimated value and performance of the underlying collateral, the guarantor, adverse situations that
may affect the borrower’s ability to pay.or-the value of the collateral and other relevant factors. The
second secured promissory note bears. the same interest rate and is secured by the same collateral as the
original promissory note. - For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, we recognized
approximately $1.5 million, $1.3 million and $1.1 million, respectively, of interest income — related
parties related to the UDF NP Loan. There was no balance in accrued interest receivable — related parties
associated with the UDF NP Loan as of December 31, 2012 or 2011. Approximately $13.4 million and
$11.6 million is included in mortgage notes receivable — related parties associated with the UDF NP Loan
as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. : : :

UDF LOF Note

In August 2008, we originated a secured revolving line of credit to UDF LOF in the principal
amount of up to $25 million, pursuant t0 a Secured Line of Credit Promissory Note (the “UDF LOF
Note™). The general partner of UDF LOF is a wholly-owned subsidiary of our general partner, and our
general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF LOF. The UDF LOF Note, which bears interest at a
base rate equal to 15% per annum, is secured by a lien of all of UDF LOF’s existing and future acquired
assets. In connection. therewith, as required by our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage
Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent.advisor, stating
that the UDF LOF Note is fair-and at least as reasonable to us as a transaction with an unaffiliated party in
similar circumstances. In. August 2011, we amended the UDF LOF-Note to reduce the commitment
amount to $10 million and extend the maturity date from August 20, 2011 to August 20, 2013.. In
determining whether to modify this loan, we evaluated the economic conditions, the estimated value and
performance of the underlying collateral, the-guarantor, adverse situations that'may: affect.the borrower’s
ability to pay. or the value of the collateral and other relevant factors. In January 2010, the balance of the
UDF LOF Note was paid in full, although UDF LOF still has the ability to draw on the UDF LOF Note
until it matures. In connection with this note, UDF LOF agreed to pay us.commitment fees equal to 3%
of each advance on the note, or approximately $587,000. We.did not,recognize any commitment fee
income related to- the UDF LOF Note for the year ended December 31,.2012. . For the years ended
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December 31, 2011 and 2010, approximately $138,000-and $216,000, respectively, -in commitment fee
income is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties. We did not recognize
any interest income — related parties related to the UDF LOF Note for the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010. There was no balance in mortgage notes receivable — related parties or accrued
interest receivable - related parties associated with the UDF LOF Note as of December 31, 2012 or 2011.

BCH Note

In August 2008, we originated a secured promissory note with Buffington Capital Homes, Ltd., a
Texas limited ‘partnership (“Buffington Capital”), in the principal amount of $2.5 million (the “BCH
Note”). Our general partner had a minority partner interest in Buffington Capital. In connection
therewith, as required by our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we
obtained an opinion: from Jackson Claborn; Inc., an independent advisor, stating that the BCH Note is fair
and at least as reasonable to us as a transaction with an unaffiliated party in similar circumstances. The
secured note, which bore interest at 14% per annum, was secured by a first lien on finished lot inventory
that was owned and controlled by Buffington Capital. Pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger
dated November 30, 2009, Buffington Capital merged into Buffington Signature Homes, LLC
(“Buffington Signature”), which is ultimately owned and controlled by Buffington Homebuilding Group,
LTD, a Texas limited partnership (“BHG”). Our general partner has a minority limited partnership
interest in BHG. As a result of the merger and pursuant to the Agreement and First Amendment to Loan
Agreement dated December 8, 2009, Buffington Signature succeeded to all the rights, responsibilities and
obligations -of Buffington Capital under the BCH Note. In determining whether to modify this loan, we
evaluated the economic conditions, the estimated value and performance of the underlying collateral, the
guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay or the value of the collateral and
other relevarit factors. Buffington Signature’s payment and performance of the BCH Note was
guaranteed by Buffington Land, Ltd., a Texas limited partnership, and, pursuant to the Extension
Agreement and Second Amendment to Loan Agreement dated August 12, 2010, matured on August 12,
2011 with no balance outstanding on the note. The BCH Note was repaid in full in April 2010, although
Buffington Signature still had the ability to draw on the BCH Note until it matured. We did not recognize
any-interest ‘income — related parties related to the BCH Note:for the years ended December 31, 2012 or
2011. For the year ended December 31, 2010, we recognized approximately $16,000 of interest income ~
related parties related to the ‘BCH Note. There was no balance in mortgage notes receivable — related
parties or accrued interest receivable — related parties associated with the BCH Note as of December 31,
2012 or 2011.

BTC Note

In August 2008;we originated a secured promissory note with Buffington Texas Classic Homes,
Ltd., a Texas limited partnership (“Buffington Classic™), in the principal amount of $2 million (the “BTC
- Note”). Our general partner had a minority partner interest in Buffington Classic. In connection
therewith, as required by our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we
obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that the BTC Note is fair
and at least as reasonable to us as a transaction with ‘an unaffiliated party in similar circumstances. The
secured note, which beais interest at 14% per annum, is secured by:a first lien on finished lot inventory
that is owned and controlled by Buffington Classic. Pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger dated
November 30, 2009, Buffington Capital merged into Buffington Texas Classic Homes, LLC (“BTC
LLC”), which is -ultimately owned and controlled by BHG. Our general partner has a minority limited
partnership interest ‘in ' BHG. As a result of the  merger and pursuant to the Agreement and First
Amendment to Loan Agreement dated Deécember 8, 2009, BTC LLC succeeded to all the rights,
responsibilities and obligations of Buffington Classic under the BTC Note. In determining whether to
modify this loan, we evaluated the economic conditions, the estimated value and performance of the
underlying collateral, the guarantor; adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay or the
value of the collateral and other relevant factors. BTC LLC’s payment and performance of the BTC Note
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is guaranteed by Buffington Land, Ltd., a Texas limited partnership, and, pursuant to the Extension
Agreement and Fourth Amendment to Loan Agreement dated August 21, 2012, is payable on August 21,
2013. We did not recognize any interest income — related parties related to the BTC Note for years ended
December 31, 2012 or 2011. For the year ended December 31, 2010, we recognized approximately
$10,000 of interest income — related parties related to the BTC 'Note There was no balance in mortgage
notes receivable — related partres or accrued interest receivable — related partles associated with the BTC
Note as of December 31, 2012 or 2011.

HTC Loan

Effective December 2008, we modified a secured promissory note evidencing a loan (the “HTC
Loan”) in the principal amount of approx1mately $8.1 million to UDF [ that we originated in December
2006 in the principal amount of approximately $6. 9 million. Our general partner serves as the asset
manager for UDF'L. In connection with the ong1nat1on of such promissory note, and as required by our
Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from
Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating the HTC Loan is fair and at least as reasonable to
us as a transaction with an unaffiliated party in similar circumstances. UDF I’s obligations under the
HTC Loan are initially secured by a first lien deed of trust filed on 190 entitled single-family home lots
located in Thornton, Colorado. The HTC Loan bears interest at a base rate equal to 12% per annum and
interest payments are due monthly. Effective June 30, 2011, the HTC Loan was increased to a maximum
of $12.8 million, pursuant to a second secured’ promissory note in the principal amount of $4.7 million.
The second secured promissory note bears the same interest rate and is secured by the same collateral as
the original promissory note. “The HTC Loan had an initial maturity date of December 31, 2011, but was
extended to June 30, 2012 pursuant to a fourth amendment to secured promissory note effectlve as of June
30, 2011. Effectlve June 30, 2012, the prmcrpal amount available under the HTC Loan was increased to a
maximum of $15.5 mllllon and the maturity date was extended to June 30, 2015, pursuant to a fifth
amendment to secured promissory note. In determining whether to ‘modify this loan, we evaluated the
economic conditions, the estimated value and performance of the underlying collateral, the guarantor,
adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay or the value of the collateral and other
relevant factors. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, we recognized $1.5 million,
$1.4 million and $1.2 million, respectively, of interest income — related parties related to the HTC Loan.
There was no balance in accrued interest receivable — related parties assoc1ated with this note as’ of
December 31, 2012 or 2011. Approx1rnately $12.9 m11110n and $12.6 million is included in mortgage
notes receivable — related partles as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, related to the HTC
Loan.

OU Land Note

In July 2009, we originated a ‘secured promissory note to OU Land Acquisitions, L.P., a Texas
limited partnership and wholly-owned subsidiary of UDF I (“OU Land”), in the principal amount of
approximately $2.0 million (the “OU Land Note”), and in connection therewith, as required by our
Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from
Jackson Claborn, Inc., an mdependent advisor, stating that the OU Land Note is fair and at least as
reasonable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances.
Our general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF 1. The OU Land Note, which bore an interest
rate of 15% per annum, was collateralized by a first lien on 56 acres of land located in Houston, Texas
and was payable on June 14, 2010, but remained outstanding as of December 31, 2010. In January 2011,
the OU Land Note was paid off upon a sale of the underlying collateral. ‘We did not recognize any
interest income — related parties related to the OU Land Note for the year ended December 31, 2012. For
the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, we recognized approximately $22,000 and $375,000,
respectively, of interest income — related parties related to the OU Land Note. There was no balance in
mortgage notes receivable — related parties or accrued interest rece1vable - related partles assoc1ated Wlth
the OU Land Note as of December 31, 2012 or 2011.
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UDF TX One Note

In November 2010, we assumed a secured promissory note to UDF TX One, L.P., a Texas limited
partnership and wholly owned subsidiary of UDF I (“UDF TX One”), in the principal amount of $8.0
million (the “UDF TX One Note”). Our general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF I. In
connection with the origination of the UDF TX One Note, and as required by our Partnership Agreement
and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an
independent advisor, stating that the UDF TX One Note is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan or
credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. The UDF TX One Note, which
bore an interest rate of 9.55% per annum, was collateralized by finished lots in Douglas County, Colorado
and was payable on January 31, 2011. The UDF TX One Note was paid in full in January 2011. We did
not recognize any interest income — related parties related to the UDF TX One Note for the year ended
December 31, 2012. For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, we recognized approximately
$200 and $3, 000 respectively, of interest income — related parties related to the UDF TX One Note.
There was no balance in mortgage notes receivable — related parties or accrued interest receivable —
related parties as5001ated with the UDF TX One Note as of December 31, 2012 or 2011.

Ash Creek Note

In April 2011, we originated a promissory note to UDF Ash Creek L.P. (the “Ash Creek Note™),
a Delaware limited partnership and wholly-owned subsidiary of UDF 1, in the principal amount of
$50,000, and in connection therewith as required by our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA
Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent
advisor, stating that the Ash Creek Note is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan or credit
enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. Our general partner serves as the asset
manager for UDF I. The Ash Creek Note, which bears interest at a base rate equal to 15% per annum,
was originally payable on December 5, 2011. Effective December 5, 2011, we entered into an extension
agreement with the borrower pursuant to which the maturity date of the Ash Creek Note was extended to
December 21, 2012. In December 2012, we amended the Ash Creek Note to increase the commitment
amount to $65 000 and extend the maturity date from December 21, 2012 to December 21, 2013. The
Ash Creek Note is secured by a second lien deed of trust. In determining whether to modify thls loan, we
evaluated the economic conditions, the estimated value and performance of the underlying collateral, the
guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay or the value of the collateral and
other relevant factors. For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, we recognized approximately
$8,300 and $5,600, respectively, of interest income — related parties related to the Ash Creek Note, of
which approximately $5,800 and $5,600 was included in accrued interest receivable — related parties as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Approximately $58,000 and $50,000, respectively, is
included in mortgage notes receivable — related parties associated with the Ash Creek Note as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Partzctpatton Interest — Related Party

. In September 2008 we entered into an Econormc Interest Part101pat10n Agreement with UMT
pursuant to which we purchased (i) an economic interest in a $45 million revolving credit facility (the
“UMT Loan”) from UMT to UDF I and (ii) a purchase option to acquire a full ownership participation
interest in the UMT Loan.(the “Option”). Our general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF 1. An
affiliate of our general partner serves as the advisor to UMT. In connection therewith, as requ1red by our
Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from
Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that the Economic Interest Participation Agreement
is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a transaction with an unaffiliated party in similar circumstances.
As of December 31, 2010, the UMT Loan was a $60 million revolving line of credit facility evidenced by
a Third Amended and Restated Secured Line of Credit Promissory Note dated as of August 17, 2009, as
extended to December 31, 2010 by an amendment effective December 31, 2009. Effective December 31,
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2010, the UMT Loan was subsequently increased to $75 million and the maturity date was extended to
December 31, 2011 as evidenced by a Second Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Secured Line
of Credit Promissory Note dated as of December 31, 2010. Effective December 31, 2011, the UMT Loan
was amended and the maturity date was extended to December 31, 2012 as ev1denced by a Third
Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Secured Line of Credit Promissory Note dated as of
December 31,.2011. Effective December 31, 2012, the UMT Loan was subsequently increased to $82
million and the maturity date was extended to December 31, 2013 as evidenced by a Fourth Amendment
and Joinder Agreement to Third Amended and Restated Secured Line of Credit Promissory Note dated as
of December 31, 2012 (as amended, the “UMT Note”). In determining whether to modify this loan, we
evaluated the economic conditions, the estimated value and performance of the underlying collateral, the
guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s.ability to pay or the value of the collateral and
other relevant factors. The UMT Loan is secured by a security interest in the assets of UDF I including
UDF I's land development loans and equity investments pursuant to the First Amended and Restated
Security Agreement dated as of September 30, 2004, executed by UDF I in favor of UMT (the “Security
Agreement”).

Pursuant to the Economlc Interest Participation Agreement, each time UDF I requests an advance
of principal under the UMT Note, we will fund the required amount to UMT for application to its funding
obligation to UDF I under the UMT Loan, and our economic interest in the UMT Loan will increase
proportionately. Our economic interest in the UMT Loan gives us the right to receive payment from
UMT of principal and accrued interest relating to amounts funded by us to UMT which are “applied
towards UMT’s funding obligations to UDF I under the UMT Loan. We may abate our funding
obligations under the Economic Interest Participation Agreement at any time for a perlod of up to twelve
months by giving UMT notice of the abatement.

The Option gives us the right to convert our economic interest into a full ownership participation
interest in the UMT Loan at any time by giving written notice to UMT and paying an exercise price of
$100. The participation interest includes all rights incidental to ownership of the UMT Note and the
Security Agreement, including participation in the management and control of the UMT Loan. UMT will
continue to manage and control the UMT Loan while we own an economic interest in the UMT Loan. If
we exercise our Option and acquire a participation interest in the UMT Loan, UMT will serve as the loan
administrator but both UMT and we will participate in the control and management of the UMT Loan.
The purpose of the UMT Loan is to finance UDF I's investments in real estate development projects. The
UMT Loan interest rate is the lower of 14% per annum or the highest rate allowed by law. UDF I may
use the UMT Loan proceeds to finance indebtedness associated with the acquisition of any assets and to
seek income that qualifies under the Real Estate Investment Trust provisions of the Intérnal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended, to the extent such indebtedness, 1nclud1ng indebtedness financed by funds
advanced under the UMT Loan and indebtedness financed by funds advanced from any other source,
including senior debt, is no less than 68% of the appraised value of all subordinate loans and equity
interests for land development and/or land acquisition owned by UDF I and 75% for first lien secured
loans for land development and/or acquisitions owned by UDF 1. For the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010, we recognized approximately $9.5 million, $8.3 million and $7.3 million,
respectively, of interest income — related parties related to the Economic Interest Participation Agreement,
of which approximately $2.6 million and $2.3 million is included in accrued mterest recelvable — related
parties for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

- The UMT Loan was subordmate to the UDF I — Brockhoeft loan. As of Décember 31, 2012 and
2011, approximately $74.7 million and $65.5 million related to the Economic Interest Partlclpatlon
Agreement is included in participation interest — related party, respectlvely

85



Loan Participations Sold to Related Parties

From inception through December 31, 2012, we have entered into 9 loan participation agreements
with . related parties whereby a related party has purchased a participation interest in a mortgage
investment that we have originated. As of December 31, 2012, 5 of these agreements remain outstanding.

Our related parties participate in these mortgage investments by funding our lending obligations
up to a maximum amount for each participation. Such participations entitle our related parties to receive
payments of principal up to the amounts they have funded and interest from our borrower on the amounts
they have funded and to share in the proceeds of the collateral for the loan, including the land and related
improvements to residential property owned by the borrowers and/or the ownership interests of the
borrower that secure the original mortgage investment. The income earned by our related parties and the
amounts our borrowers owe to our related parties for principal and interest earned with respect to these
participation agreements are not reflected in our financial statements..

Buffington Bear Creek Note

In September 2008, we originated an $8.8 million secured promissory note (the “Buffington Bear
Creek Note”) with Buffington Land, Ltd., an unaffiliated Texas limited partnership, and Len-Buf Land
Acquisitions of Texas, L.P., an unaffiliated Texas limited partnership, as co-borrowers (collectively,
“Buffington”). The Buffington Bear Creek Note was initially evidenced and secured by a first lien deed
of trust recorded against approximately 67 finished residential lots in the Bridges at Bear Creek
residential subdivision in Austin, Texas. The interest rate under the Buffington Bear Creek Note was the
lower of 14% or the highest rate allowed by law. Buffington was required to pay interest monthly and to
repay a portion of principal upon the sale of residential lots covered by the deed of trust. Pursuant to the
Third Note and Loan Modification Agreement, the Buffington Bear Creek Note was scheduled to mature
on June 30, 2011, although it was fully repaid in October 2010. In determining whether to modify this
loan, we evaluated the economic conditions, the estimated value and performance of the underlying
collateral, the guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay or the value of
the collateral-and other relevant factors. :

Effective December 2008, we entered into a loan participation agreement with UMT, pursuant to
which UMT purchased a participation in the Buffington Bear Creek Note (the “UMT Bear Creek
Participation”). An affiliate of our general partner serves as the advisor to UMT. Effective January 2010,
we entered into a lo_an participation agreement with UDF IV, pursuant to which UDF IV also purchased a
participation interest in the Buffington Bear Creek Note (the “UDF IV Bear Creek Participation”). Our
general partner serves as the asset manager of UDF IV. We obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn,
Inc., an independent advisor, stating that the loan participation agreement is fair and at least as reasonable
to us as a loan participation agreement with an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. The UMT
Bear Creek Participation and the UDF IV Bear Creek Participation gave UMT and UDF IV the right to
receive payment from s of prmcrpal and accrued interest relating to amounts they funded under their
participation agreements ‘

On April 9, 2010 we entered into an Agent — Participant Agreement with UDF IV (the “Agent
Agreement”). : In accordance with the Agent Agreement, we continued to manage and control the
Buffington Bear Creek:Note and UDF IV appointed us as its agent to act on its behalf with respect to all
aspects of the Buffington Bear Creek Note, provided that, pursuant to the Agent Agreement, UDF IV
retained approval rights in connection with any material decisions pertaining to the administration and
services of the loan and, with respect to any material modification to the loan and in the event that the
loan became non-performing, UDF IV had effective control over the remedies relating to the enforcement
of the loan, including ultimate ‘control of the foreclosure process.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we did not have an outstanding balance in mortgage notes
receivable or accrued interest receivable associated with the Buffington Bear Creek Note. As the
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Buffington Bear Creek Note was fully repaid in October 2010, neither UMT nor UDF IV had any
outstanding participation interest as of December 31, 2012 or 2011. For the year ended December 31,
2010, we recognized approx1mately $15,000 of interest income on the Buffington Bear Creek Note. We
did not recognize any interest income assomated with the Bear Creek Note for the years ended December
31,2012 or 2011.

BCHNote and BTC Note

" In August 2008 we originated the $2 5 million BCH Note and the $2.0 m1111on BTC Note with
Buffington Capital and Buffington Class1c respectlvely (collectively, “Buff Homes™). ’

Effectlve March 2010, we entered into- two Participation Agreements (collectively, the “BCH and
BTC Participation Agreements”) with UDF IV pursuant to which UDF IV purchased a participation
interest in the: BCH Note-and the BTC Note (collectively, the “Lot Inventory Loans”). Our general
partner serves. as the asset manager of UDF IV. We obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an-
independent advisor, stating that the loan participation agreement is fair and at least as reasonable to us:as
a loan participation agreement with an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. Pursuant to the
BCH and BTC Participation Agreements, UDF IV will participate in the Lot Inventory Loans by funding
our lending obligations under the Lot Inventory Loans. The BCH and BTC Participation- Agreements
give UDF IV the right to receive repayment of all principal and accrued interest relating to amounts
funded by them under the BCH and BTC Participation Agreements. UDF IV’s participation interest is
repaid as Buff Homes repays the Lot Inventory Loans. For each loan originated, Buff Homes is required
to pay interest monthly and to repay the principal advanced no later than 12 months following the
origination of the loan. The BCH Note matured in August 2011, was paid in full and was not renewed,
and the BTC Note, as amended, matures in August 2013. In determining whether to modify this loan, we
evaluated the economic conditions, the estimated value and performarice of the underlying collateral, the
guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay or the value of the collateral and
other relevant factors

We are requn‘ed to purchase back from UDF v the participation 1nterest in the Lot.Inventory
Loans (i) upon a foreclosure of our assets by our lenders, (ii) upon the maturity of the Lot Inventory
Loans, or (iii) at any time upon 30 days prior written notice from UDF IV. In such event, the purchase
price paid to UDF IV will be equal to the outstanding principal amount of the Lot Inventory Loans on the
date of termination, together with all accrued interest due thereon, plus any other amounts due to UDF v
under the BCH and BTC Part101pat10n Agreements.

On April 9, 2010, we entered into the Agent Agreement In accordance with the Agent
Agreement, we will continue to manage and control the Lot Inventory Loans-and UDF IV has appointed
us as its agent to act on its behalf:with respect to all aspects of the Lot Inventory Loans, provided that,
pursuant to the Agent Agreement, UDF IV retains approval rights in connection with any material
decisions pertaining to the administration and services of the loans and, with respect to any material
modification to the loans and in the event that the loans become non-performing, UDF IV shall have
effective control over the remedres relating to-the enforcement of the loans; 1nclud1ng ultimate control of
the foreclosure process.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we did not have an outstanding balance in mortgage notes
receivable — related parties or accrued interest receivable — related parties associated with the BCH Note
or the BTC Note. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, UDF IV had a participation interest associated with
the BCH and BTC Partlclpatlon Agreements of approximately $499,000 and $246,000, respectively. The
UDF IV participation interest is not included on our balance sheet. For the year ended December 31,
2010, we recognized approxrmately $26,000 of interest income associated with the BCH Note and the
BTC Note We did not recognize any interest income associated with the BCH Note or the BTC Note for
the years ended December 31, 2012 or 2011 '
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TR II Finished Lot Note

In August 2009, we originated a $3.4 million secured promissory note (the “TR II Finished Lot
Note™) with CTMGT Travis Ranch II, LLC, an unaffiliated Texas limited liability company. The TR 11
Finished Lot Note is secured by a subordinate, second lien deed of trust recorded against finished
residential lots in the Travis Ranch residential subdivision located in Kaufman County, Texas. The TR II
Finished Lot Note is guaranteed by the limited liability company owners of the borrower and by the
principal of the borrower. The interest rate under the TR II Finished Lot Note is 15%. The borrower has
obtained a senior loan secured by a first lien deed of trust on the finished lots. For so long as the senior
loan is outstanding, proceeds from the sale of the residential lots securing the TR II Finished Lot Note
will be paid to the senior lender and will be applied to reduce the outstanding balance of the senior loan.
After the senior lien is paid in full, the proceeds from the sale of the residential lots securing the TR II
Finished Lot Note are required to be used to repay the TR II Finished Lot Note. The TR II Finished Lot
Note was due and payable in full on August 28, 2012. Pursuant to a loan modification agreement
effective August 28, 2012, the maturity date on the TR II Finished Lot Note was extended to January 28,
2013. The TR I Finished Lot Note was increased to $3.8 million pursuant to a Borrower’s Confirmation
Certificate effective as- of December 31, 2012. Pursuant to a second loan modification agreement
effective January 28, 2013, the maturity date on the TR II Finished Lot Note was extended to January 28,
2014. In determining whether to medify this loan, we evaluated the economic conditions, the estimated
value and performance of the underlying collateral, the guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the
borrower’s ability to pay or the value of the collateral and other relevant factors.

Effective June 2010, we entered into a loan participation agreement with UDF IV pursuant to
which UDF IV purchased a participation interest (the “TR II Finished Lot Participation”) in the TR II
Finished Lot Note. Our general partner serves as the asset manager of UDF IV. We obtained an op1n10n
from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that the loan participation agreement is fair
and at least as reasonable to us as a loan participation agreement with an unaffiliated borrower in similar
circumstances. Pursuant to the TR II Finished Lot Participation, UDF IV is entitled to receive repayment
of its participation in the outstanding principal amount of the TR II Finished Lot Note, plus accrued
initerest thereon, over time as the borrower repays the loan. :

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we did not have an outstanding balance in mortgage notes
receivable or accrued interest receivable assoc1ated with the TR I Finished Lot Note. As of December
31, 2012 and 2011, UDF IV had a participation interest associated with the TR II Finished Lot
Part1c1pat1on of approximately $3.6 million and $2.7 million, respectively. The UDF IV participation
interest is not included on our balance sheet. For the year ended December 31, 2010, we recognized
approximately $140,000 of interest income associated with the TR II Finished Lot Note. We did not
recognize any interest income associated with the TR 1I Finished Lot Note for the years ended December
31, 2012 or 2011.

TR Paper Lot Note

In September 2009, we ongmated an $8.1 million secured promissory note (the “TR Paper Lot
Note”) with CTMGT Travis Ranch, LLC, an unaffiliated Texas limited liability company. The borrower
owns paper lots in the Travis Ranch residential subdivision of Kaufman County, Texas. A “paper” lot is
a residential lot shown on a plat that has been accepted by the city or county, but which is currently
undeveloped or under development. The TR Paper Lot Note was initially secured by a pledge of the
equity interests in the borrower instead of a real property lien, effectwely subordinating the TR Paper Lot
Note to all real property liens. The TR Paper Lot Note is guaranteed by the limited liability company
owners of the borrower and by the principal of the borrower. The interest rate under the TR Paper Lot
Note is 15%. The borrower has obtained a senior loan secured by a first lien deed of trust on the paper
lots. For so long as the senior loan is outstanding, proceeds from the sale of the paper lots will be paid to
the senior lender and will be applied to reduce the outstanding balance of the senior loan. After the senior
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lien is paid in full, the proceeds from the sale of the paper lots are required to be used to repay the TR
Paper Lot Note.. The TR Paper Lot Note was due and payable in full on September 24, 2012. Pursuant to
a loan modification agreement effective September 24, 2012, the maturity date on the TR Paper Lot Note
was extended to January 28, 2013. The TR Paper Lot Note was increased to $11.0 million pursuant to a
Borrower’s Confirmation Certificate effective as of December 31, 2012. Pursuant to a second loan
modification agreement effective January 28, 2013, the maturity date on the TR Paper Lot Note was
extended to January 28, 2014. In determining whether to modify this loan, we evaluated the economic
conditions, the estimated value and performance of the underlying collateral, the guarantor, adverse
situations that' may affect the borrower’s ability to pay or the value of the collateral and other relevant
factors. :

Effective June 2010, we entered into a loan participation agreement with UDF IV pursuant to
which UDF IV purchased a participation interest (the “TR Paper Lot Participation™) in the TR Paper Lot
Note. Our general partner serves as the asset manager of UDF IV. We obtained an oplnlon from Jackson
Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that the loan participation agreement is fair and at least as
reasonable to us as a loan participation agreement with an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances.
Pursuant to the TR Paper Lot Participation, UDF IV is entitled to receive repayment of its participation in
the outstanding principal amount of the TR Paper Lot Note, plus its proportionate share of accrued
interest thereon, over time as the borrower repays the TR Paper Lot Note.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we did not have an outstanding balance in mortgage notes
receivable or accrued interest receivable associated with the TR Paper Lot Note. As of December 31,
2012 and 2011, UDF IV had a participation interest associated with the TR Paper Lot Part1c1pat10n of
approx1mately $10.6 million and $9.2 million, respectively. The UDF IV participation interest is not
included on our balance sheet. For the year ended December 31, 2010, we recognlzed approximately
$240,000 of interest income associated with the TR Paper Lot Note. We did not recognize any interest
income ass0c1ated with the TR Paper Lot Note for the years ended December 31, 2012 or 2011.

Luckey Ranch Note

‘In November 2008, we purchased a $1.7 million secured promissory note (the “Luckey Ranch
Note™) from San Antonio Holding Company, Ltd., an unaffiliated Texas limited partnership (“SAHC”).
SAHC originated the loan in October 2006 with Luckey Ranch Global Associates, an unaffiliated Texas
general partnership (“Luckey Ranch”). The Luckey Ranch Note was initially secured by a second lien on
approximately 610 acres of land located in Bexar County, Texas. The interest rate on the Luckey Ranch
Note is 12% and the Luckey Ranch Note matured on September 30, 2012, in accordance with the Tenth
Modification Agreement entered into in September 2011.. In determining whether to modify this loan, we
evaluated the economic conditions, the estimated value and performance of the underlying collateral, the
guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay or the value of the collateral and
other relevant factors.

Effective May 2011, we entered into a loan participation agreement with UDF LOF pursuant to
which UDF LOF purchased a participation interest (the “Luckey Ranch Participation”) in the Luckey
Ranch Note. The general partner of UDF LOF is a wholly-owned subsidiary of our general partner, and
our general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF LOF. We obtained an opinion from Jackson
Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that the loan participation agreement is fair and at least as
reasonable to us as a loan participation agreement with an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances.
Pursuant to the Luckey Ranch Participation, UDF LOF is entitled to receive repayment of its participation
in the outstanding pr1nc1pa1 amount of the Luckey Ranch Note, plus its proportionate share of accrued
interest thereon, over time as the borrower repays the Luckey Ranch Note. The Luckey Ranch Note and
Luckey Ranch Participation were subsequently paid in full in October 2012. '

As of December 31, 2012, we did not have an outstanding balance in mortgage notes receivab.le
or accrued interest receivable associated with the Luckey Ranch Note. As of December 31, 2011, we had
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an outstanding balance in mortgage notes receivable and accrued interest receivable of approximately
$99,000 and $13,000, respectively, associated with the Luckey Ranch Note. As of December 31, 2011,
UDF LOF had a participation interest associated with the Luckey Ranch Participation of approximately
$824,000. The UDF LOF participation interest is not included on our balance sheet. For the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, we recognized approximately $51,000, $108,000 and $162,000,
respectively, of interest income associated with the Luckey Ranch Note.

Buffington Brushy Creek Note

In May 2008, we originated a $4 7 million secured ‘promissory note (the: “Bufﬁngton Brushy
Creek Note”) with Buffington Brushy Creek, Ltd., an unaffiliated Texas limited liability company, and
Buff Star Ventures, Ltd., an unaffiliated Texas limited liability company, as co-borrowers (collectively,
“Buff Star”). The Buffington Brushy Creek Note is secured by a pledge of ownership interests in Buff
Star. Buff Star owns partnership interests in a limited partnership that owns finished lots and entitled land
in a residential subdivision in Travis County, Texas. The interest rate under the Buffihgton Brushy Creek
Note is 16%. Pursuant to the Second Amendment to Secured Promissory Note entered into in May 2011,
the maturity date of the Buffington Brushy Creek Note is May 19, 2013. In determining whether to
modify this loan, we evaluated the economic conditions, the estimated value and performance of the
underlying collateral, the guarantor, adverse situations.that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay or the
value of the collateral and other relevant factors.

Effective May 2()11 we entered into a loan participation agreement with UDF LOF pursuant to
which UDF LOF purchased a participation interest (the “Brushy Creek Participation™) in the Buffington
Brushy Creek Note. The general partner of UDF LOF is a wholly-owned subsidiary of our general
partner and our general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF LOF. We obtained an op1n10n from
Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that the loan participation agreement is fair and at
least as reasonable to us as a loan part1c1pat10n agreement with an unaffiliated borrower in similar
circumstances. Pursuant to the Brushy Creek Participation, UDF LOF is entitled to receive repayment of
its participation in the outstanding principal amount of the Buffington Brushy Creek Note, plus its
proportionate share of accrued interest thereon, over time as the borrower repays the note. The
Buffington Brushy Creek Note and Brushy Creek Participation were paid in full in May 2012.

As of December’ 31, 2012.and 2011, we did not have anoutstanding balance in mortgage notes
receivable or accrued interest receivable associated with the Buffington Brushy Creek Note. As of
December 31, 2011, UDF LOF had a participation interest associated with the Brushy Creek Participation
of approximately $619,000. The UDF LOF participation interest is not included on our balance sheet. For
the years ended December 31, 2011 and:2010, we recognized approximately $167,000 and $579,000,
respectively, of interest income associated with the Buffington Brushy Creek Note. We did not recognize
any interest income associated with the Buffington Brushy Creek Note for the year ended December 31,
2012.

CTMGT Note

In December 2007, we orlgmated a $25 million secured promissory note (the “CTMGT Note™)
with CTMGT, LLC, an unaffiliated Texas limited liability company and its subsidiaries, who are co-
borrowers of the CTMGT Note. The CTMGT Note was subsequently amended to $50 million pursuant
to an amendment entered into in July 2008 and to $64.5 million pursuant to an amendment entered into in
November 2011. The CTMGT Note is a co-investment loan secured by multiple investments. These
investments are cross- -collateralized and are secured by collateral-sharing arrangements in second liens
covering finished lots and entitled land, pledges of the ownership interests in the borrowing entities, and
guaranties. The collateral-sharing arrangements with our affiliates and our borrowers allocate the
proceeds of the co-investment collateral between us and our affiliates. - Under these collateral-sharing
arrangements for the CTMGT Note, we are entitled to receive 75% of collateral proceeds. In the event of
a borrower’s bankruptcy, we are entitled to receive 100% of the collateral proceeds after payment of the
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senior lenders, ahead of payment to our affiliates. The CTMGT collateral is located in multiple counties
in the greater Dallas-Fort Worth area and surrounding counties. The interest rate on.the CTMGT Note is
16.25%. Pursuant to the amendment entered into in November 2011, the maturity date of the CTMGT
Note was July 1, 2012. Pursuant to a second amendment entered into in July 2012, the maturity date of
the CTMGT Note was extended to July 1, 2013. In determining whether to modify this loan, we
evaluated the economic conditions, the estimated value and performance of the underlying collateral, the
guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay or the value of the collateral and
other relevant factors.

- Effective July 2011, we entered into a loan part1c1pat10n agreement with UDF LOF pursuant to
which UDF LOF purchased a partlclpatlon interest (the “CTMGT Participation™) in the CTMGT Note.
The general partner of UDF LOF is a wholly-owned subsidiary of our general partner and our general
partner serves as the asset manager for UDF LOF. We obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc.,
an independent advisor, stating that the loan participation agreement is fair and at least as reasonable to us
as a loan participation agreement with an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. Pursuant to the
CTMGT Participation, UDF LOF is entitled to receive repayment of its participation in the outstanding
principal amount of the CTMGT Note, plus its proportionate share of accrued interest thereon, over time
as the borrower repays the note.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had an outstanding balance in mortgage notes receivable
of approximately $42.1 million and $40.7 million, respectively, associated with the CTMGT Note. As of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, we did not have -an outstanding balance in accrued interest receivable
associated with the CTMGT Note.. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, UDF LOF had a participation
interest associated with the CTMGT Participation of approximately $13.0 million and $16.6 million,
respectively. The UDF LOF participation interest is not included on our balance sheet. For the years
ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, we recognized approximately $6.7 million, $7 6 million and
$7.6 million, respectlvely, of 1nterest income associated with the CTMGT Note..

Northpointe LLC Note

In December 2008, we originated a $4 2 million secured promlssory note (the “Northpomte LLC
Note”) with Northpointe LL.C. The Northpointe LLC Note is initially collateralized by a first lien deed of
trust on 303 finished lots in Texas and assignments of distributions from Northpointe LLC. The interest
rate under the Northpointe LLC Note is 12%. Pursuant to the Second Loan Modification: Agreement
entered into in April 2012, the maturity date on-the Northpointe LLC Note was December .4, 2012.
Pursuant to a Third Loan Modification Agreement entered into in December 2012, the maturity date of
the Northpointe LLC Note was extended to June 4, 2013. In determining whether to modify the
Northpointe LLC Note, we evaluated the economic conditions, the estimated value and performance of
the underlying collateral, the guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the borrower ] abﬂrty to pay or
the value of the collateral and other relevant factors.

Effective June 2012, we entered into a loan ;participation agreement with UDF I_V pursuant to
which UDF IV purchased a participation interest (the “Northpointe LLC Participation™). in. the
Northpointe LLC Note. -Our general partner serves as the asset manager of UDF IV. We obtained an
opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc.,-an independent advisor, stating that the loan participation agreement
is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan participation agreement with an unaffiliated borrower in
similar circumstances. Pursuant to. the Northpointe LLC Participation, UDF IV is entitled to receive
repayment of its participation in the outstanding principal amount of the Northpointe LLC Note, plus its
proportionate. share of accrued interest thereon, over tlme as the borrower repays the UDF Northpomte
Note. :

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had an voutstanding‘balance in mortgage notes receivable
of approximately $1.4 million and $3.3 million, respectively, associated with the Northpointe LLC Note.
As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we did not have an outstanding balance in accrued interest receivable
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associated with the Northpointe LL.C Note. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, we
recognized approximately $260,000, $307,000 and $293,000, respectively, of interest income associated
with the Northpointe LLC Note. As of December 31, 2012, UDF IV had a participation interest
associated with the Northpointe LLC Participation of approximately $212,000. The UDF IV participation
interest is not included on our balance sheet.

Credit Enhahcement Fees — Related Parties

In February 2009, the Partnership deposited $1.5 million into a money market account (the
“Deposit Account”) with LegacyTexas Bank (“LegacyTexas”) for the purpose of providing collateral to
LegacyTexas for the benefit of UMTH Lending, a Delaware limited partnership. UMTH Lending and the
Partnership’s general partner are each owned 99.9% by UMT Holdings and 0.1% by UMT Services,
which serves as the general partner for both UMTH Lending and the Partnership’s general partner. The
Partnership provided LegacyTexas a security interest in the Deposit Account as further collateral for a
loan (the “UMTH Lending Loan”) obtained by UMTH Lending from LegacyTexas. In connection
therewith, as required by the Paﬂ:nership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, the
Partnership obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that this
credit enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to the Partnershlp as a loan or credit enhancement to
an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. In November 2010, UMTH Lending refinanced the
UMTH Lending Loan with United Texas Bank (“UTB”). In conjunction with this refinance, the
Partnership deposited $1.5 million into a deposit account (the “UTB Deposit Account™) with UTB for the
purpose of providing collateral to UTB for the benefit of UMTH Lending. The UTB Deposit Account
replaced the Deposit Account previously established with LegacyTexas. The Partnership provided the
UTB Deposit Account as further collateral for a loan obtained by UMTH Lending from UTB (the “UTB-
UMTH Lending Loan”). In consideration for providing the Deposit Account and UTB Deposit Account
(collectively, the “UMTH Lending Deposit Accounts™) as collateral for the UMTH Lending Loan and the
UTB-UMTH Lending Loan (collectively, the “UMTH Lending Loans”), UMTH Lending agreed to pay
the Partnership a fee equal to 3% per annum of the amount outstanding in the UMTH Lending Deposit
Accounts, paid in 12 monthly installments for each year that the UMTH Lending Deposit Accounts
secure the UMTH Lending Loans. The UTB Deposit Account is included as restricted cash on the
Partnership’s balance sheet. This fee of approximately $45,000 is included in mortgage and transaction
service revenues: — related parties income for each of the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010.
Approximately $8,000 and $23,000 related to these fees is included in accounts receivable — related
parties as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

~ In August 2009, we entered into the TCB Guaranty for the benefit of UMT Home Finance, or its
permitted successors and assigns, by which we guaranteed the repayment of up to $5 million owed to
Texas Capital with respect to that certain promissory note between UMT Home Finance and Texas
Capital. UMT Home Finance is a wholly-owned subsidiary of UMT. An affiliate of our general partner
serves as the advisor to UMT. In connection therewith, as required by our Partnership Agreement and the
NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an
independent advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan
or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. In connection with the TCB
Guaranty, we entered into a letter agreement with UMT Home Finance which provides for UMT Home
Finance to pay us annually, in advance, an amount equal to 1% of our maximum exposure under the TCB
Guaranty- (i.e., $50,000 per annum) through August 2012. Effective August 28, 2012, the letter
agreement was modified and UMT Home Finance agreed to pay us a monthly fee equal to one-twelfth of
1% of the outstanding principal balance of the Texas Capital loan. - In conjunction with this agreement,
approximately $15,000, $50,000 and $50,000, respectively, is included in mortgage and transaction
service revenues — related parties income for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010.
Approximately $3,000 related to these fees is included in accounts receivable — related parties as of
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December 31, 2012. No amount is included in accounts receivable — related parties as of December 31,
2011 related to these fees. :

In March 2010, in consideration of us entering into the Resort Island Guaranty, we entered into a
letter agreement with UDFLOF Resort Island, which provides for UDFLOF Resort Island to pay us a
guaranty fee equal to 1% of our maximum exposure (i.e., $9,250) under the guaranty, which was paid to
us upon the execution of the guaranty. UDFLOF Resort Island is a wholly owned subsidiary of UDF
LOF. The general partner of UDF LOF is a wholly-owned subsidiary of our general partner, and our
general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF LOF. In connection therewith, as required by our
Partnership Agreement and:the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from
Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at least as
reasonable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances.
UDFLOF Resort Island paid off the loan to BOLC in December 2010, thus extinguishing the guaranty. In
conjunction with this agreement, no amount is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues —
related parties income for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011. Approximately $9,000 is
included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income for the year ended
December 31, 2010.

In April 2010, in consideration of us entermg into the UDF IV HF Guaranty, we entered nto a
letter agreement with UDF IV Home Finance which prov1des for UDF IV Home Finance to pay us an
annual credit enhancement fee equal to 1% of the maximum loan amount (i.e., $60,000 per annum). UDF
IV Home Finance is a wholly-owned subsidiary of UDF IV. Our general partner serves as the asset
manager for UDF IV, and an affiliate of our general partner serves as the advisor for UDF IV. In
connection therewith, as required by our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program
Guidelines, we obtained an opinien from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that this
credit enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to an
unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. In conjunction with this agreement, $60,000, $60,000 and
$45,000, respectively, is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income
for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010. :

In April 2010, in consideration of us entering into the UMT 15th Street Guaranty, we entered into
a letter agreement with UMT 15th Street which provides for UMT 15th Street to pay us a monthly credit
enhancement fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal balance on the loan at the end of
the month. UMT 15th Street is a wholly-owned subsidiary of UMT. An affiliate of our general partner
serves as the advisor to UMT. In connection therewith, as required by our Partnership Agreement and the
NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an
independent advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan
or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. This fee of approximately
$11,000, $11,000 and $10,000, respectively, is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues —
related parties income for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010. Approximately $1,000
and $8,000 related to these fees is included in accounts receivable — related parties as of December 31,
2012 and 2011, respectively. : oy

In June 2010, UDF I obtained the $15 million UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan from the Lender, as
agent for a group of lenders. As security for the UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan, we provided the Lender with
a guaranty of repayment on the UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan, ‘which was secured by a lien on all of our
existing and future assets. Our general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF 1. In connection
therewith, as requ1red by our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we
obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that this credit
enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated
borrower in similar circumstances. In consideration of our secured guaranty, commencing July 31, 2010,
UDF 1 agreed to pay us a monthly fee equal to 3% per annum of the outstanding balance of the UDF I —
Brockhoeft Loan. Effective June 21, 2012, the agreement was modified and UDF I agreed to pay us a
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monthly fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal balance of the UDF 1 — Brockhoeft
Loan. UDF I paid off the UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan in December 2012, thus extinguishing the guaranty.
This fee of approximately $198,000, $450,000 and $225,000, respectively, is included in mortgage and
transaction service revenues — related parties income for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010. Approximately $273,000 and $113,000 related to these fees is included in accounts receivable —
related parties as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

In August 2010, in consideration of us entering into the UDF IV Acquisitions Guaranty, we
- entered into a letter agreement with UDF IV Acquisitions which provides for UDF IV Acquisitions to pay
us a monthly credit enhancement fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal balance on
the revolving line of credit at the end of the month. UDF IV Acquisitions is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of UDF IV. Our general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF IV, and an affiliate of our general
partner serves as the advisor for UDF IV. In connection therewith, as required by our Partnership
Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we have requested an opinion from Jackson
Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at least as
reasonable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances.
This fee of approximately $59,000, $43,000 and $20,000, respectively, is included in mortgage and
transaction service revenues — related parties income for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010. Approximately $7,000 and $5,000 related to these fees is included in accounts receivable — related
parties as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

In December 2010, in consideration of us entering into the UDF IV Finance II Guaranty, we
entered into a letter agreement with UDF IV Finance Il which provides for UDF IV Finance II to pay us a
monthly credit enhancement fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal balance on a $10
million loan between UDF IV Finance II and F&M at the end of the month. UDF IV Finance II is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of UDF IV. Our general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF IV, and
an affiliate of our general partner serves as the advisor for UDF IV. In connection therewith, as required
by our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion
from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at
least as reasonable to us. as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar
circumstances. This fee of approximately $58,000 and $52,000, respectively, is included in mortgage and
transaction service revenues — related parties income for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.
No amount is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income for the year
ended December 31, 2010. Approximately $5,000 related to these fees is included in accounts receivable
— related parties as of each of December 31, 2012 and 2011.

In May 2011, in consideration of us entering into the UMT HF III Guaranty, we entered into a
letter agreement with UMT HF III which provides for UMT HF III to pay us a monthly credit
enhancement fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal balance on a $4.3 million loan
between UMT HF III and Veritex at the end of the month. UMT HF III is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
UMT. " An affiliate of our general partner serves as the advisor to UMT. In connection therewith, as
required by our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an
opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair
and at least as reasonable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar
circumstances. ‘This fee of approximately $29,000 and $8, 000 respectively, is included in mortgage and
transaction service revenues — related parties income for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.
No amount is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income for the year
ended December 31, 2010. Approximately $3,000 and $7,000 related to these fees is included in accounts
recelvablc related pames as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

“In August 2011, in consideration of us entering into the UMT HF II Guaranty, we entered into a
letter agreement with UMT HF IT which provides for UMT HF II to pay us a monthly credit enhancement
fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal balance on the $250,000 loan between UMT
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HFII and FFB at the end of the-month. UMT HF II is a wholly-owned subsidiary of UMT. An affiliate
of our general partner serves as the advisor to UMT. In connection therewith, as required by our
Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from
Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at least as
reasonable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances.
The FFB loan was repaid in full by UMT HF II in May 2012 and thus the UMT HF II,Guaranty was
extinguished. This fee of approximately $500 and $400, respectively, is included in mortgage and
transaction service revenues — related parties income for the years-ended December 31, 2012 and 2011,
No amount is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income for the year
ended December 31, 2010. Approximately $400 related to these fees is included in accounts receivable —
related parties as of December 31, 2011.

In October 2011 in consrderatlon of us entermg into, the UMT HF II Green Bank Guaranty, we
entered into a letter agreement with UMT HF II which provides for UMT HF II to pay us a monthly credit
enhancement fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal balance on a $5 million loan
between UMT HF II and Green Bank at the end of the month.” UMT HF II is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of UMT. An affiliate of our general partner serves as the adyisor to UMT. In connection therewith, as
required by our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an
opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair
and at least as reasonable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar
circumstances. This fee of approximately $1,200 and $300, respectively, is included in mortgage and
transaction service revenues — related parties income for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.
No amount is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income for the year
ended December 31, 2010. Approximately $200 and $300 related to these fees is included in accounts
receivable — related parties as of December 31 2012 and 2011 respectlvely

Policies and Procedures for Transactmns w1th Related Persons

~ The agreements and arrangements among us, our general partner and its affiliates have been
established by our general partner, and our general partner believes the amounts to be paid thereunder to
be reasonable and ‘customary under the circumstances. As a limited partnership, we do not have any
independent personnel that approve or ratify these agreements and arrangements. Therefore, in an effort
to establish standards for minimizing and resolving these potential conflicts, our general partner has
agreed to the guidelines and limitations set forth in our Partnership Agreement, including the guidelines
and limitations imposed by the NASAA Mortgage Program Guldehnes Among other things, these
provisions:

e set forth the specific conditions under which we may own mortgages jointly or in a
partnership with an affiliate of the general partner (specifically, we may not own mortgage
loans or other properties jointly or in a partnership or joint venture with an affiliate of our
general partner unless such property is owned. by a joint venture or general partnership
with a publicly registered affiliate, and unless (i) such affiliate has substantially identical
investment objectives as us with respect to such property; (ii) we, as a result of such joint
ownership or partnership ownership of a property, are not charged dlrectly or indirectly,
more than once for the same services; (iii) the compensation payable to our general partner
and its affiliates is substantially identical in each program; (iv) we will have a right of first
refusal to buy the property held by such joint venture in the event that such affiliate elects
to sell its interest in the joint venture; and (v) the investment by us and such affiliate are on
substantially the same terms and condltlons)

e prohibit us from purchasing mortgages or leasing investment properues from our general
partner or its affiliates except under certain limited circumstances in which (i) our general
partner or its affiliates temporanly enter into contracts relating to investment properties to be
assigned to us prior to closing or purchase property in their own names (and assume loans in
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connection therewith) and temporarily hold title thereto for the purpose of facilitating the
acquisition of such property for us or the borrowing of money or obtaining of financing for
us; or (ii) the purchase is made pursuant to a right of first refusal for such property, provided
that the purchase price for such property pursuant to the right of first refusal is not greater
than the fair market value as determined by the appraisal of an independent advisor;

prohibit the commingling of partnership funds (except in the case of making capital
contributions to joint ventures and to the limited extent permissible under the NASAA
Mortgage Program Guidelines); and

require us to obtain an 1ndependent appraisal of the property securing each mortgage loan that
we purchase.

Loans or credit enhancements will be made or provided to affiliates of our general partner (or
entities which affiliates of our general partner hold an interest) only if:

the loan or credit enhancement includes each of the following terms:

e the loan or credit enhancement is secured by a first or junior lien on residential real
estate;

e the loan or credit enhancement amount, inclusive of first and junior indebtedness
provided by us, shall not exceed 80% of the appraised value of the property securing
the indebtedness;
the affiliate may not own more than 50% of the borrowing entity;

e the borrowing entity must provide a minimum equity contribution of not less than
20% of the property acquisition price or acquisition price and development costs;

e the loan or credit enhancement rate of interest shall not be less than the highest rate
charged by us to unaffiliated borrowers; and

e the loan or credit enhancement provides recourse to the borrower not less than 100%
of the loan or credit enhancement amount; or

an independent advisor selected by our general partner issues an opinion to the effect that the
proposed loan or credit enhancement to an affiliate of our general partner is fair and at least
as favorable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar
circumstances. In addition, our general partner is required to obtain a letter of opinion
from the independent -advisor in connection with any disposition, renegotiation, or other
subsequent transaction involving loans or credit enhancements made to our general partner or
an affiliate of our general partner. The independent advisor’s compensation must be paid by
our general partner and not be reimbursable by us.

An “independent advisor” is someone who meets all of the following criteria:

The advisor must be a long-established, nationally recognized investment banking firm,
accounting firm, mortgage banking firm, real estate financial consulting firm or advisory
firm;

The advisor must have a staff of real estate professionals; ~

The compensation of the advisor must be determined and embodled in a written contract
before an opinion from such-advisor is rendered;

If the advisor is not the advisor previously engaged by us to render a fairness opinion for the

_same transaction or a preceding transaction involving us, our general partner must inform our

limited partners (by no later than our next annual report) of the date when such advisor was
engaged, and whether there were any disagreements with the former advisor on any matters
of valuation, assumptions, methodology, accounting principles and practice, or disclosure,
which disagreements, if not resolved to the satisfaction of the former advisor, would have
caused him to make reference, in connection with the fairness opinion, to the subject matter
of the disagreement or decline to give an opinion; and
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e The advisor, directly or indirectly, may not have an interest in, nor any material business or
professional relationship with, us, our general partner, the borrower, or any affiliates of us,
our general partner or the borrower. Independence will be considered to be impaired if, for
example, during the period of the advisor’s engagement, or at any time of expressing its
opinion, the advisor or the advisor’s firm: (1) has, or was committed to acquire any direct or
indirect ownership interest in us, our general partner, borrower, or affiliates of us, our general
partner or the borrower; (2) had any joint closely-held business investment with us, our
general partner, the borrower, or affiliates of us, our general partner or the borrower, which
was material in relation to the advisor’s net worth; or (3) had any loan to or from us, our
general partner, the borrower, or affiliates of us, our general partner or the borrower. For
purposes of determining whether a business or professional relationship or joint investment is
material, the gross revenue derived by the advisor from us, our general partner, the borrower,
or affiliates of us, our general partner or the borrower shall be deemed material if it exceeds
5% of the annual gross revenue derived by the advisor from all sources, or exceeds 5%
of the individual’s or advisory firm’s net worth (on an estimated fair market value basis).

As of December 31, 2012, the independent advisor from whom we have requested fairness
opinions, which was selected by our general partner, is Jackson Claborn, Inc. Established in 1993,
Jackson Claborn, Inc. is a full-service real estate appraisal and consulting firm which has been involved in
the analysis of all types of commercial and residential property including, but not limited to, single-family
subdivisions, single-family residences, golf courses, mixed-use developments, special-use projects and
vacant land. Principals and professionals associated with Jackson Claborn, Inc. hold State of Texas
Certified General Appraiser licenses and are members or designated members of the Appraisal Institute.

As of December 31, 2012, we have entered into nine loan participation agreements with related
parties whereby a related party has purchased a participation interest in a mortgage investment that we
have originated for which we have obtained fairness opinions from Jackson Claborn, Inc. Our general
partner believes that these purchased participation interests and credit enhancements are similar to our
past practices and that they are fair and at least as favorable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to an
unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances.

In addition, our general partner has a fiduciary obligation to act in the best interests of both our
limited partners and the investors in other affiliated programs and will use its best efforts to assure that we
will be treated at least as favorably as any other affiliated program.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

Because we do not have a board of directors or any board committees, including an audit
committee, our general partner pre-approves all auditing and permissible non-auditing services (including
the fees and terms thereof) provided by our independent registered public accounting firm. The
independent public accountants may not be retained to perform the non-auditing services specified in
Section 10A(g) of the Exchange Act.

All services rendered by Whitley Penn LLP were pre-approved in accordance with the policies
and procedures described above.

Fees Paid to Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The following table presents fees for professional audit services rendered by Whitley Penn LLP
for the audit of our annual financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 and fees
billed for other services rendered by our independent public registered accounting firm during that period:
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Audit-Related Fees (2)

Audit fees consisted of professional services performed in connection with the audit of our financial
statements and review of our financial statements included in our Forms 10-Q and our Form 10-K.

Fees related to consultations concerning financial accounting and reporting standards.
Tax fees consisted principally of assistance with matters relating to tax preparation and tax advice.

All other fees relate to fees for other permissible work performed that does not meet the above-
described categories. '
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PartIV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedu-les.
(a) Lisf of Documents Filed. |
1. Financial Statements.

-The list of the financial statements filed as part of this Annual Report on
Form 10 K is set forth on page F-1 herein.

2. Financial Statement Schedules.
None.
3. Exhibits.
The list of exhibits filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is
submitted in the Exhibit Index following the financial statements in
response to Item 601 of Regulation S-K.
(b) Exhibits.

The exhibits filed in response to Item 601 of Regulation S-K are listed in the
Exhibit Index attached hereto.

(©) Financial Statement Schedules.

- None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly
authorized.

United Development Funding 111, L.P.

April 1, 2013 ' By: /s/ Hollis M. Greenlaw
Hollis M. Greenlaw

President and Chief Executive Officer of
UMTH Land Development, L.P., sole
general partner of the Registrant and
President and Chief Executive Officer of
UMT Services, Inc., sole general partner
of UMTH Land Development, L.P.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates
indicated.

April 1, 2013 - By: /s/ Hollis M. Greenlaw
Hollis M. Greenlaw

President and Chief Executive Officer of
UMTH Land Development, L.P., sole
general partner of the Registrant and
President and Chief Executive Officer of
UMT Services, Inc., sole general partner
of UMTH Land Development, L.P.

(Principal Executive Officer)
April 1, 2013 By: /s/ Cara D. Obert
Cara D. Obert

Chief Financial Officer of UMTH Land
Development, L.P., sole general partner
of the Registrant

(Principal ~ Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)

April 1, 2013 By: /s/ Theodore F. Etter
Theodore F. Etter

Chairman of the Board of UMT
Services, Inc., sole general partner of
UMTH Land Development, L.P., sole
general partner of the Registrant
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

" To the Partners of
United Development Funding III, L.P.

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of United Development Funding III, L.P. (the
“Partnership™) as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related statements of operations, changes in
partners’ capital and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Partnership’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. :

- We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Partnership is not
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting.
An audit includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express
no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of United Development Funding III, L.P. as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ Whitley Penn LLP

Dallas, Texas
April 1, 2013
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UNITED DEVELOPMENT FUNDING III, L.P.
BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2012 2011

Assets : o
Cash and cash equivalents : . ‘ $ 3,854,711 $ 2,734,378

Accrued interest receivable 6,212,708 )

e ke

$ 355,982,163

AR

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



UNITED DEVELOPMENT FUNDING 111, L.P.
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010

Interest income $ 35,779,392 $ 34 101, 550 $ 32,137,590

Mortgage and transaction service revenues 395,256 ' 1,062,225 1,392,356

e
622,179 1,022,105 829,018

. e .
37 796 687 35,930,734

“units outstanding ' 18,566,233 18,046,187 17,494,694

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



UNITED DEVELOPMENT FUNDING IIL, L.P.
STATEMENTS OF CHAN GES IN PARTNERS' CAPITAL

For the Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010

General ~ Limited Limited Total
Partner's Partners’ ' ‘Partners’ * Partners'
Capital Units . Capital Capital

8701905

ST

T

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



UNITED DEVELOPMENT FUNDING III, L.P.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

i TR Years: Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010

Operating Activities

Adjustment to reconcile net income to net.cash

Provision for loan losses -

= - i
Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Accrued interest re;elvable — related parties (50,964) (414,266) ('73,63”9)

Other assets (169,317)

- (1,246)

i

Net cash provided by operating activities

Investments in mortgage notes receivable — related
giﬁles

(13,401,985)

0,872,156

* General partner distributions (5,854,122) (1,146,048)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
4 e

Supplemental Cash Flow Informatlon _ 7
Cash paid for interest : o 8 T 1,479,452 $ 1,500,000 $ 1,500,000

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

F-6



UNITED DEVELOPMENT FUNDING III, L.P.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
]’)ec.embeiv*vsl,‘ 2612 anil 2011 -
A. Nature of Business

United Development Fundmg III, L.P. (which may be referred to as the “Partnership,” “we,” “us,” “our” or “UDF
III”) was organized on June 13, 2005 as a Delaware limited partnership. Our pr1nc1pa1 business purpose is to
originate, acquire, service, and otherwise manage, either alone or in association with- others, a portfolio of
mortgage loans that are secured by real property or equity interests that hold real property already subject to other
mortgages (including mortgage loans that are not first in priority and participation interests in mortgage loans)
and to issue or acquire an interest in credit enhancements for the benefit of borrowers, such as guarantees or
letters of credit. Our offices are located in Grapevme Texas. CL : :

Our general partner is UMTH Land Development, L.P. (“Land Development”), a Delaware limited partnership
that is responsible for our overall management, conduct, and operation. Our general partner has authority to act
on our behalf in all matters respecting us, our business and our property.. Our limited partners take no part in the
management of our business or transact any business for us and have no, power to sign for or bind us; provided,
however, that our limited partners, by a majority vote and without the concurrence of our general partner, have the
right to: (a) amend the Second Amended and Restated Agreement of- Limited Partnership governing the
Partnership, as amended (the “Partnership Agreement”), (b) dissolve the Partnership, (c) remove our general
partner or any successor general partner, (d) elect a new general partner, and (e) approve or disapprove a
transaction entailing the sale of all or substantially all of the real properties acquired by the Partnership.

UMT Holdings, L.P. (“UMT Holdings”), a Delaware limited partnership, holds 99.9% of the limited partnership
interests in our general partner. UMT Services, Inc. (“UMT Services”), a Delaware corporation, owns the
remaining 0.1% of the limited partnership interests in our general partner and serves as its general partner. Land
Development has been engaged to. provide asset management services for four investment partnerships (United
Development Funding, L.P. and its subsidiaries. (“UDF I”), United Development Funding II, L.P., United
Development Funding Land Opportunity Fund, L.P. (“UDF LOF”), all Delaware limited partnerships, and UDF
Texas Two, L.P., a Texas limited partnership), and a Maryland real estate investment trust (United Development
Funding IV (“UDF IV”)). Land Development also holds a 99.9% partnership interest in UMTHLD FLF I, L.P.
and UMTHLD FLF II, L.P., both Texas limited partnerships, and United Development Funding X, L.P., a
Delaware limited partnership, with the remaining 0.1% interest owned by UMT Services. In addition, Land
Development owns 100% of the interests in UDF Land GP, LLC, which serves as the general partner of the
general partner of UDF LOF. See Note K for discussion of related party transactions.

B. Summary of Significémt Accounting Policies

A summary of our 51gmﬁcant accountlng pohcles cons1stently applied-in the preparatlon of the accompanying
financial statements follows: :

Basis of Accounting
The accounts are maintained and the financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of

accounting in accordance with accounting prmc1ples generally accepted in the United States of America
(“GAAP”). : :



Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with aceounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts in
the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from these estimates and
assumptions.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash
equivalents. At December 31,2012 and 2011, there were no such amounts included in cash and cash equivalents.

Restricted Cash
Restricted cash includes deposits associated with certain guarantees.
Mortgage Notes Receivable and Mortgage Notes receivable — related parties

Mortgage notes receivable and mortgage notes receivable — related parties are recorded at the lower of cost or
estimated net realizable value. The mortgage investments are collateralized by land and related improvements to
residential property owned by the borrowers and/or the ownership interests of the borrower. Currently, the
mortgage investments have terms ranging from one to 36 months. None of such mortgages are insured or
guaranteed by a federally owned or guaranteed mortgage agency. We originate and/or acquire all mortgage notes
receivable and intend to hold the mortgage notes receivable for the life of the notes.

Participation Interest — Related Party

Participation interest — related party represents an Economic Interest Participation Agreement with United
Mortgage Trust, a real estate investment trust organized under the laws of the state of Maryland (“UMT™),
pursuant to which we purchased (i) an economic interest in an $82 million revolving credit facility (the “UMT
Loan”) from UMT to UDF I and'(ii) a purchase option to acquire a full ownership participation interest in the
UMT Loan. See Note K, “Related Party Transactions™ for further details. Our general partner serves as the asset
manager for UDF 1.. An affiliate of our general partner serves as the advisor to UMT.

Allowance for Loan Losses

The allowance for loan losses. is our .estimate of incurred losses in our portfolio of mortgage notes receivable,
mortgage notes receivable — related parties and participation interest — related party. We periodically perform a
detailed review of our portfolio of mortgage notes and other loans to determine if impairment has occurred and to
assess the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses. Our review consists of evaluating economic conditions, the
estimated value of the underlying collateral, the guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s
ability to pay or the value of the collateral, and other relevant factors. This review is inherently subjective as it
requires estimates that are susceptible to significant revision as more information becomes available.

In reviewing our portfolio, we use cash flow estimates from the disposition of finished lots, paper lots (residential
lots shown on a plat that has been accepted by the city or county, but which is currently undeveloped or under
development) and undeveloped land as well as cash flow received from the issuance of bonds from municipal
reimbursement districts. These estimates are based on current market metrics, including, without limitation, the
supply of finished lots, paper lots and undeveloped land, the supply of homes and the rate and price at which land
and homes are sold, historic levels and trends, executed purchase contracts, appraisals and discussions with third
party market analysts and participants, including homebuilders. We base our valuations on current and historic
market trends on our analysis of market events and conditions, including activity within our portfolio, as well as
the analysis of third-party services such as Metrostudy and Residential Strategies, Inc. Cash flow forecasts also
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are based on executed purchase contracts which provide base prices, escalation rates, and absorption rates on an
individual project basis. For projects deemed to have an extended time horizon for disposition, we consider third-
party appraisals to provide a valuation in accordance with guidelines set forth in the Uniform Standards of
Professional Appraisal Practice. In addition to cash flows from the disposition of property, cost analysis is
performed based on estimates of development and senior financing expenditures provided by developers and
independent professionals on a project-by-project basis. These amounts are reconciled with our best estimates to
establish the net realizable value of the portfolio. L

We charge additions to the allowance for loan losses to current period earnings through a provision for loan
losses. Amounts determined to be uncollectible are charged directly against, or “charged off,” and decrease the
allowance for loan losses, while amounts recovered on previously charged off accounts increase the allowance.

Revenue Recognition

Interest income on mortgage notes receivable, mortgage notes receivable — related parties and participation
interest — related party is recognized over the life of the lpan and is recorded on the accrual basis. Income
recognition is suspended for loans at the date at which, in the opinion of management, a full recovery of income
and principal becomes more likely than not, but is no longer probable, based upon our review of economic
conditions, the estimated value of the underlying collateral, the guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the
borrower’s ability to pay or the value of the collateral and other relevant factors. Income recognition is resumed
when the loan becomes contractually current and performance is demonstrated to be resumed. Any payments
received on loans classified as non-accrual status are typically applied first to outstanding loan amounts and then
to the recovery of lost interest. -As of both December 31, 2012 and 2011, we were suspending income recognition
on two mortgage notes receivable with an aggregate unpaid principal balance of approximately $2.2 million.

We generate mortgage and transaction service revenues and mortgage and transaction service revenues — related
parties by. originating and acquiring mortgage notes receivable and other loans. In accordance with Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 310-20, Receivables-
Nonrefundable Fees and Other Costs (“ASC 310-20”), we defer recognition of income from nonrefundable
commitment fees paid by the borrowers and recognize such amount on a straight-line basis over the expected life
of such notes. In addition, credit-enhancement fee income is generated by fees charged to parties for credit
enhancements provided to lenders by the Partnership on behalf of the parties. Income related to credit
enhancements is earned as fees are paid, based on the terms of the credit enhancement agreement. As of
December 31, 2012, the Partnership was providing 8 credit enhancements to related parties (see Note K for
further discussion). '

The Partnership also expenses acquisition and origination fees (“Placement Fees”) paid to the general partner to
provide for processing and origination costs. (including, but not limited to, legal fees and expenses, travel and
communications expenses, costs of appraisals, accounting fees and expenses, and title insurance funded by us)
associated with mortgage notes receivable or participation interest held by the Partnership on a straight-line basis.
As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, approximately $2.5 million and $3.3 million, respectively, of such net
deferred fees are included in mortgage notes receivable. Approximately $698,000 and $779,000 of net deferred
fees are included in mortgage notes receivable — related parties as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, approximately $489,000 and $647,000, respectively, of deferred fees are
included in participation interest — related party. See Note K, “Related Party Transactions” for further details.

Cash Flow Distributions

Cash available for distributions represents the cash funds received by us from operations (other than net proceeds
from a capital transaction) that produces proceeds from (i) the repayment of principal or prepayment of a
mortgage to the extent classified as a return of capital for federal income tax purposes, (ii) the foreclosure, sale,
exchange, condemnation, eminent domain taking or other disposition of a mortgage loan or of a property subject
to a mortgage, or (iii) insurance or a guarantee with respect to a mortgage, including, without limitation, interest,
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points, revenue participations in property appreciation and interest or dividends from interim investments or
proceeds from borrowings, if appropriate, less all cash used to pay Partnership expenses and debt payments and
amounts set aside to create a retained earnings reserve (currently at 9.5% of our net income; the retained earnings
reserve is intended to recover some of the organization and offering expenses incurred in connection with our
public offering of our units of limited partnership interest). Our general partner receives a monthly distribution
for promotional and carried interest from the cash available for distributions, in addition to the payments made to
our general partner and related parties. See Note K for further discussion of related party transactions.

A “carried interest” is an equity interest in us'to participate in all distributions, other than distributions attributable
to our general partner’s promotional interest, of cash available for distribution and - net proceeds from a capital
transaction that are distributable under the distribution priority for net proceeds from a capital transaction
described below. If our general partner enters into commitments to investments in mortgages in excess of 82% of
the gross proceeds of our public offering of our units of limited partnership interest, our general partner will be
entitled to a carried interest equal to (a) 1% for the first 2.5% of commitments to investments in mortgages above
82% of the gross proceeds of our initial public offering, as declared effective on May 15, 2006 pursuant to a
Registration Statement on Form. S-11 (File No. 333-127891) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Offering”) (or if commitments to investments in mortgages are above 82% but no more than 84.5%, 1%
multiplied by the fractional amount of commitments to investments in mortgages above 82%), (b) 1% for the next
2% of additional commitments to investments in mortgages above 84.5% of the gross proceeds of the Offering (or
if commitments to investments in mortgages are above 84.5% but no more than 86.5%, 1% multiplied by the
fractional amount of commitments to investments in mortgages above 84.5%) and (c) 1% for each additional 1%
of additional commitments to investments in mortgages above 86.5% of the gross proceeds of the Offering (or a
fractional percentage equal to the fractional amount of any 1% of additional commitments to investments in
mortgages). By way of illustration, if 85.5% of the gross proceeds of the Offering are committed to investments in
mortgages, then our general partner would be entitled to a carried interest of 1.5% (1% for the first 2.5% of
commitments to investments in mortgages above 82% of the gross proceeds of the Offering and 0.5% for the next
1% of additional commitments to investments in mortgages above 84.5% of the gross proceeds of the Offering) of
any amount otherwise distributable to the limited partners after deduction of any promotional interest payable to
our general partner.

In order for proceeds to be considered “committed” for purposes of calculation and payment of a carried interest,
we must be obligated by contract or other binding agreement to invest such proceeds in mortgages, to the
exclusion of any other use for such proceeds or no use at all.

“Investments in mortgages” are the aggregate amount of capital contributions from investors used by us to make
or invest in mortgage loans or the amount actually paid or allocated to the purchase of mortgages, working capital
reserves (but excluding working capital reserves in excess of 3% of the aggregate capital contributions) and other
cash payments such as interest and taxes but excluding our organization and offering expenses, selling
commissions, wholesallng fees, marketmg support fees due diligence fees, acquisition and origination fees, and
any other front-end fees.

Our general partner’s “promotional interest” is our general partner’s right to receive:

* prior to the return to the limited partners of all of their capital contributions plus an 8% per annum, non-
compounding, cumulative return on their unreturned capital contributions, 10% of all cash available for
distribution; '

o following the return to the limited partners of all of their capital contributions plus an 8% per annum, non-

compounding, cumulative return on their unreturned capital contributions, 15% of all cash available for
distribution; and

e following the return to the limited partners of all of their capital contributions plus an 8% per annum, non-
compounding, cumulative return on their unreturned capltal contrlbutlons 15% of all net proceeds from a
capital transaction.



Monthly distributions are currently paid to our limited partners at a 9.75% annualized return, assuming a purchase
price of $20.00 per unit, on a pro rata basis based on the number of days in the Partnership. Retained earnings
would contain a surplus if the cash available for distributions less the 9.5% reserve exceeded the monthly
distribution to the general and limited partners. Retained earnings would contain a deficit if cash.available for
distributions less the 9.5% reserve is less than the monthly distribution to general and limited partners. It is the
intent of management to monitor and distribute such surplus, if any, on an annual basis.

The chart below summarizes the aggregate amount of distributions to our general partner and limited- partners and
the retained earmngs deficit as of December 31 2012 and 2011: . :

As of December 31,‘

2012 2011

Limited Partners 160,674,000 (3) 124,457,000 )

Retained Earnmgg Deficit - (11,211,000) (8,801,000)

(D) approx1mately $19.8 million paid in cash.
(2) approximately $13.7 million paid in cash and $1. 6 million has been declared but not pald

(3) approximately $107.4 million paid in cash and appr0x1mate1y $53.3 million reinvested in 2 ,663,191 units
of limited partnership mterest under our DRIP and Secondary DRIP each as defined in Note C below.

(4) approximately $81.6 mrlhon paid in cash and approxrmately $42.9. million reinvested in 2,144,754 un_lts
of limited partnership interest under our DRIP and Secondary DRIP, each as defined in Note C below.

The chart below summarizes the payment of related party fees and reimbursements associated with the Offering
and origination and management of assets, including the distributions to our general partner described above, and
the general and-administrative — related parties expenses for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011. We
believe that these fees and reimbursements are reasonable and customary for comparable mortgage programs. -

For the Years Ended December'31,’
2012 2011

to General Partner and Related Parties 8 « 2,758,000 $ 2,698,000

Income Taxes

The Partnership- is organized as a limited partnership for federal income tax purposes. -As a result, income or
losses are taxable or deductible to the partners rather than at the partnership level; accordingly, no provision has
been made for federal income taxes in the accompanying financial statements. The chart below provides a
reconciliation of our GAAP net income to our taxable income for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011:

2012 : 2011
GAAP Net Income $ .. 42,300,733 - 8 . 42,174,553
Temporary differences ' 5,486,569 (1)(2) 3,647,679 (1)
Taxable income $ 47,787,302 (2) $ 45,822,232

(1) Consists primarily of revenues amortized for GAAP urposes but recognized immediately for tax

. p p

' purposes as well as loan loss reserves recorded for GAAP purposes but not recogmzed for tax
purposes untrl losses actually incurred. -

(2) Amounts represent estimates as 2012 taxable income has not 'yet been determmed
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FASB ASC 740 prescribes a comprehensive model for the financial statement recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of uncertain tax positions ‘taken or expected to be taken in income tax returns. In
accordance with FASB ASC 740, the Partnership must determine whether it is more likely than not that a tax
position will be sustained upon examination based on the technical merits of the position. The Partnership
believes it has no such uncertain positions. :

The Partnership files income tax returns in the United States federal jurisdiction. At December 31, 2012, tax
returns related to fiscal years ended December 31, 2009 through December 31, 2011 remain open to possible
examination by the tax authorities. No tax returns are currently under examination by any tax authorities. The
Partnership did not incur any penalties or interest during the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

In accordance with the reporting requirements of FASB ASC 825-10, Financial Instruments-Fair Value, we
calculate the fair value of our assets and liabilities that qualify as financial instruments under this statement and
include this additional information in the notes to the financial statements when the fair value is different than the
carrying value of those financial instruments. The estimated fair value of restricted cash, accrued interest
receivable, accrued interest receivable — related parties, accounts receivable — related parties, accounts payable,
accrued liabilities, accrued liabilities — related parties, and distributions payable approximates the carrying
amounts due to the relatively short maturity of these instruments. The estimated fair value of mortgage notes
receivable, mortgage notes receivable — related parties, participation interest — related party, and line-of-credit
approximates the carrymg amount since they bear interest at the market rate.

Impact of Recently Issued Accountmg Standards

In July 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2010-20, Disclosures about the Credit
Quality of Financing Receivables and the Allowance for Credit Losses. ASU 2010-20 requires enhanced
disclosures regarding the nature of credit risk inherent in an entity’s portfolio of financing receivables, how that
risk is analyzed, and the changes and reasons for those changes in the allowance for credit losses. It requires an
entity to provide a greater level of disaggregated information about the credit quality of its financing receivables
and its allowance for credit losses. ASU 2010-20 will only impact disclosures. Disclosures related to information
as of the end of a reporting period are effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning on or after
December 15, 2010. The Partnership’s adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on its financial
statements or accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Guarantees
The Partnership from time to time enters into guarantees of debtors’ or affiliates’ borrowings and provides credit
enhancements for the benefit of senior lenders in connection with the Partnership’s debtors and investments in

partnerships (collectively referred to as “guarantees”), and accounts for such guarantees in accordance with FASB
ASC 460-10, Guarantees. ' i » ,

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation.

C. Registration Statement

On May 15, 2006, the Offering w'as“ declared effective under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The
Offering, at the time of such effectiveness, covered up to 12,500,000 units of limited partnership interest at a price

of $20.00 per unit (the “Primary Offering”) and up to 5,000,000 units of limited partnership interest to be issued
pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan (the “DRIP”) at a price of $20.00 per unit. ‘We had the right to
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reallocate the units of limited partnership interest we were offering between the Primary Offering and our DRIP,
and pursuant to Supplement No. 8 to our prospectus regarding the Offering, which was filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on September 4, 2008, we reallocated the units being offered such that 16,250,000
units were offered pursuant to the Primary Offering and 1,250,000 units were offered pursuant to the DRIP.
Pursuant to Supplement No. 11 to our prospectus regarding the Offering, which was filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on March 6, 2009, we further reallocated the units being offered such that 16,500,000
units were offered pursuant to the Primary Offering and 1,000,000 units were offered pursuant to the DRIP. The
Primary Offering was terminated on April 23, 2009. We extended the offering of our units of limited partnership
interest pursuant to our DRIP until the earlier of the sale of all units of limited partnership interest being offered
pursuant to our DRIP or May 15, 2010; provided, however, that our general pal“tner was permitted to terminate the
offering of units pursuant to our DRIP at any earher time.

On June 12, 2009, we reglstered 5,0()0,000 addmonal units to be offered pursuant to an Amended and Restated
Distribution Reinvestment Plan in a Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-159939) (“Secondary
DRIP”). As such, we ceased offering units under the DRIP as of July 21, 2009 and concurrently commenced our
offering of units pursuant to the Secondary DRIP, which is currently ongoing.

D. Loans and AlloWance for Loan Losses

Our loan portfolio is comprised of mortgage notes recelvables net, mortgage notes receivables — related parties,
net and participation interest — related party, net, and is recorded at the lower of cost or estimated net realizable
value.

As of December 31,

. 2012 - 2011
Mortgage notes receivable, net $ 226,909,000 o $ . 224,471,000
Mortgage notes receivable - related parties, net 49,021,000 52,027,000
Participation interest - related party, net 75,188,000 66,151,000
Total ' $ 351,118,000 $ 342,649,000
Our loans are classified as follows:-
As of December 31,
, } 2012 2011
Real Estate: - ' '
Acquisition and land development $ 364,101,000 -+ - $ 348,974,000
Allowance for loan losses ’ ‘ (16,644,000) ‘ (11,075,000)
Unamortized commitment fees and ‘ ‘ : .
placement fees ‘ , o - 3,661,000 4,750,000

Total $ 351,118,000 $ 342,649,000

As of December 31, 2012, we had originated or purchased 60 loans, including 33 loans that have been repaid in
full by the respective borrower. For the year ended December 31, 2012, we did not originate or purchase any
~loans, sold 1 loan participation, and did not acquire any additional participation interests. Of the 27 loans
outstanding as of December 31, 2012, the scheduled maturity dates were as follows as of December 31, 2012
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Related Non-Related . Total

Maturity ‘ % of - % of - ; % of

Date . Amount’ = - Loans Total - Amount Loans ‘- Total Amount Loans Total
Matured $ - - - $ 111,749,000 9 46% . $ 111,749,000 9 31%
2013 88,482,000 6 2% 123,243,000 9 S51% 211,725,000 15 58%
2014 21,684,000 1 18% ) o - Lo - 21,684,000 1 6%
2015 12,856,000 1 10% .+ 6,087,000 1 3% 18,943,000 2 5%
Total $ 123,022,000 8 100% $ 241,079,000 <19 100% $ 364,101,000 27 100%

As of December 31, 2011, we had originated or purchased 60 loans, including 31 loans that have been repaid in
full by the respective borrower. For the year ended December 31, 2011, we originated 2 loans, sold 3 loan
participations, and did not purchase any loans or acquire any additional participation interests. Of the 29 loans
outstanding as of December 31, 2011, the scheduled maturity dates were as follows as of December 31, 2011:

‘Related : E Non-Related ' Total
Maturity “ %of ‘  %of % of
Date Amount Loans Total Amount Loans Total Amount Loans Total
Matured $ - - - $ 56,748,000 12 25% - $ 56,748,000 12 16%
2012 105,120,000 6 90% 172,386,000 6 74% 277,506,000 12 80%
2013 v 11,633,000 2 10% 3,087,000 3 1% 14,720,000 5 4%

Total $ 116,753,000 8 100% $ 232,221,000 21 100% $ 348,974,000 29 - 100%

The following table represents the maturity dates of loans that were matured as of December 31, 2012 and had not
been repaid or extended as of December 31, 2012:

Related A Non-Related Total

Maturity - AN © %of % of % of
Date ¢ .+ Amount Loans «Total - Amount Loans  Total Amount Loans Total
2009 8 - - e $ 15,173,000 6 - 13% $ 15,173,000 6 13%
2010 - - oo 19,577,000 2 18% 19,577,000 2 18%
2011 ' : ' - - T - - - - - -
2012 s - - T 76,999,000 1 69% 76,999,000 1 69%
Total $ - - - $ 111,749,000 9  100% $111,749,000 9 100%

Of these 9 loans, as of December 31, 2012, full collectability is considered probable for 7 loans with an aggregate
unpaid principal balance of approximately $109.5 million and full collectability is considered more likely than
not, but not probable; for 2 loans with an aggregate unpaid principal balance of approximately $2.2 million. In
March 2013, we amended one of the loans to a non-affiliated third party that had matured as of December 31, 2012
for which full collectability was considered. probable as of December 31, 2012. The amendment increased the
commitment amount from approximately $77 million to $84.5 million and extended the maturity date of the note to
March 31, 2014. In determining whether to modify this loan, we evaluated the economic conditions, the estimated
value and performance of the underlying collateral, the guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s
ability to pay or the value of the collateral and other relevant factors.

The following table represents the maturity dates of loans that were matured as of December 31, 2011 and had not
been repaid or extended as of December 31, 2011:

‘ Related = . Non-Related » Total
Maturity ’ . % of . )  %of % of
Date’ _Amount ~ Toans Total ~ Amount Loans Total " Amount Loans Total
2009 $ - - - $21,926,000 .7 39% $21,926,000 7 39%
2010 : - - - 28,990,000 3 51% 28,990,000 3 51%
2011 - - - 5,832,000 2 10% 5,832,000 2 10%
Total $ - - - $56,748,000 12 100% $56,748,000 12 100%




Of these 12 loans, as of December 31, 2011, full collectability was considered probable for 10 loans with an
aggregate unpaid principal balance of approximately $54.5 million and full collectability was considered more
likely than not, but not probable, for 2 loans with an aggregate unpaid principal balance of approximately $2.2
million.

The following table describes. the loans that were matured as of December 31, 2011, the activity with respect to
such loans during the year ended December 31, 2012 and the loans that matured during the year ended December
31, 2012 and remained matured as of December 31, 2012:

Matured Loan ~ Net Activity

Extensions During the
During the Year Ended
Year Ended December 31, Loans
December 31, 2012 on . Matured
2012 on Loaris Loans During the
: Matured as of  Matured as of  Year Ended .
Maturity % of ‘December 31, December 31,. : December 31, ) % of
Date Amount Loans Total 2011 (1) 2011 (2) 2012 (3) Amount Loans Total
Non-Related
Matured as of December 31,2011 2012 Activity (4) Matured as of December 31, 2012
2009 . $ 21,926,000 7 39% $. (8,388,000) $ 1,635000 § - 3 15,173,000 6 13%
2010 28,990,000 3 51% (12,296,000) 2,883,000 - 19,577,000 2 18%
2011 5,832,000 2 10% (5,832,000) - - - - -
2012 - - - L - - 76,999,000 76,999,000 1 69%
Total $ 56,748,000 12 100% $ (26,516,000) $ 4,518,000 $76,999,000 § 111,749,000 9 100%

(1) Amounts represent aggregate unpaid principal balance as of December 31, 2011 of matured loans as of December 31, 201 1 that
were extended during the year ended December 31, 2012.

(2) For loans matured.-as of December 31, 2011, net loan act1v1ty represents all act1v1ty on the loans during the year ended December
31, 2012, including accrued interest, payment of fees and expenses, charge-offs and/or repayments

(3) Amounts represent aggregate unpa1d principal balance as of December 31, 2012 of loans. that matured during the year ended
December 31, 2012 and remained matured as of December 31, 2012. In March 2013, we amended this loan that matured on
December 31, 2012 to increase the commitment amount to $84.5 million and to extend the maturity date of the note to March 31,
2014. In determining whether to modify this loan, we evaluated the economic conditions, the estimated value and performance of
the underlying collateral, the guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay or the value of the collateral
and other relevant factors.

(4) The table does not reflect activity ‘for loans that matured or were due to mature during the year ended December 31, 2012, but
were extended prior to December 31,2012. ;

A loan is placed on non-accrual status and income recognition is suspended at the date at which, in the opinion of
management, a full recovery of income and principal becomes more likely than not, but is no longer probable,
based upon our review of economic conditions, the estimated value of the underlying collateral, the guarantor,
adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay or the value of the collateral and other relevant
factors. Income recognition is resumed when the loan becomes contractually current and performance is
demonstrated to be resumed. Any payments received on loans classified as non-accrual status are typically applied
first to outstanding loan amounts and then to the recovery of lost interest. As of both December 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2011, we were suspending income recognition on two mortgage notes receivable with an aggregate
unpaid principal balance of approximately $2.2 million,

Loans are considered impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that we will be
unable to collect all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms of the loan agreement, including
scheduled principal and interest payments. Impairment is generally evaluated on an individual loan basis for each
loan in the portfolio. If an individual loan is considered impaired, a specific valuation allowance may be allocated,
if necessary, so that the individual loan is reported net, at the present value of estimated future.cash flows using
the loan’s existing rate or at the fair value of collateral if repayment is expected solely from collateral. Loans that
are not individually considered impaired are collectively and qualitatively measured as a portfolio for general
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valuation allowance. In reviewing our portfolio for this valuation analysis, we use cash flow estimates from the
disposition of finished lots, paper lots (residential lots shown on a plat that has been accepted by the city or
county, but which is currently undeveloped or under development) and undeveloped land as well as cash flow
received from the issuance of bonds from municipal reimbursement districts. These estimates are based on current
market metrics, including, without limitation, the supply of finished lots, paper lots and undeveloped land, the
supply of homes and the rate and price at which land and homes are sold, historic levels and trends, executed
purchase contracts, appraisals and discussions with third party market analysts and participants, including
homebuilders. We base our valuations on current and historic market trends on our analysis of market events and
conditions, including activity within our portfolio, as well as the analysis of third-party services such as
Metrostudy and Residential Strategies, Inc. Cash flow forecasts also are based on executed purchase contracts
which provide base prices, escalation rates, and absorption rates on an individual project basis. For projects
deemed to have an extended time horizon for disposition, we consider third-party appraisals to provide a valuation
in accordance with guidelines set forth in the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice. In addition to
cash flows from the disposition of property, cost analysis is performed based on estimates of development and
senior financing expenditures provided by developers and independent professionals on a project-by-project basis.
These amounts are reconciled with our best estimates to establish the net realizable value of the portfolio.

Interest is recognized on an accrual basis for impaired loans in which the collectability of the unpaid principal
amount is deemed probable. Any payments received on such loans are first applied to outstanding accrued interest
receivable and then to outstanding unpaid principal balance. Unpaid principal balance is materially the same as
recorded investments. Any payments received on impaired loans in which the collectability of the unpaid
principal amount is less than probable are typically applied to outstanding unpaid principal and then to the
recovery of lost interest on a cash basis. Impaired loans, or portions thereof, are charged off when deemed
uncollectible.

As of December 31, 2012, we had 9 mortgage notes receivable with an aggregate unpaid principal balance of
approximately $111.8 million. Of these loans, 8 loans, with an aggregate unpaid principal balance of
approximately $34.8 million, were considered impaired due to the loans remaining outstanding beyond the
contractual term of the loan agreement, and one loan, with an unpaid principal balance of approximately $77
million, was not considered impaired as the note was amended during March 2013 to extend the maturity date to
March 31, 2014. Of these 9 loans, full collectability is considered probable for seven loans with an aggregate
unpaid principal balance of approximately $109.6 million and full collectability is considered more likely than
not, but not probable, for two loans with an aggregate unpaid principal balance of approximately $2.2 million. As
of December 31, 2011, we had 12 mortgage notes receivable with an aggregate unpaid principal balance of
approximately $56.7 million that were considered impaired due to the loans remaining outstanding beyond the
contractual term of the loan agreement. Of these 12 loans, full collectability was considered probable for ten loans
with an aggregate unpaid principal balance of approximately $54.5 million and full collectability was considered
more likely than not, but not probable, for two loans with an aggregate unpaid principal balance of approximately
$2.2 million. " For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, the average outstanding aggregate unpaid
principal balance for impaired loans was approximately $36.2' million and $49.6 million, respectively. For the
years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, we recognized approximately $5.4 million, $7.1 million and
$5.7 million of interest income, respectively, related to impaired loans. For the years ended December 31, 2012,
2011 and 2010, 'we did not recognize any cash basis interest income related to impaired loans. Although no
specific allowance was allocated on impaired loans as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we did charge-off
approximately $276,000 against the allowance for loan losses associated with repayment of one impaired loan
during 2011.

As part of the ongoing monitoring of the credit quality of the loan portfolio, we periodically, no less than

quarterly, perform a detailed review of our portfolio of mortgage notes and other loans. The following is a general
description of the credlt levels used:
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Level 1 — Full collectability of loans in this category is considered probable.

Level 2 — Full collectability of loans in th_is category is deemed more likely than not, but not probable,
based upon our review of economic conditions, the estimated value of the underlying collateral, the
guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay or the value of the collateral and
other relevant factors. Interest income is suspended on Level 2 loans.

Level 3 — For loans in this category, it is probable that we will be unable to collect all amounts due.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, our loans were classified as follows:

2012 2011

Level 1 $ 361,923,000 $ 346,808,000
Level 2 . 2,178,000 - 2,166,000
Level 3 g - ) -
Total $ 364,101,000 $ 348,974,000

The allowance for loan losses is our estimate of incurred losses in our portfolio of mortgage notes receivable,
mortgage notes receivable — related parties and participation interest — related party. We periodically perform a
detailed review of our portfolio of mortgage notes and other loans to determine if impairment has occurred and to
assess the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses. We charge additions to the allowance for loan losses to
current period earnings through a provision for loan losses. Amounts determined to be uncollectible are charged
directly against (and decrease) the allowance for loan losses (“charged off”), while amounts recovered on
previously charged off amounts increase the allowance for loan losses. The following table summarizes the
change in the reserve for loan losses during the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, which is offset against
mortgage notes receivable:

For the Years Ended Decembef 31,

2012 ‘ 2011 »
Balance, beginning of year $ 11,075,000 $ . 7,336,000
Provision for loan losses 5,569,000 .. . .4,015,000
Charge-offs _ - (276,000)
Balance, end of period $ 16,644,000 '$ 11,075,000

We have adopted the provisions of ASU No. 2011 02, 4 Credztor s Determination of W?zether a Restructurmg Is
a Troubled Debt Restructuring. In accordance with ASU 2011-02, the restructuring of a loan is considered a
“troubled debt restructunng” if both (i) the borrower is experiencing financial difficulties and (ii) the creditor has
granted a concession. Concessions may include interest rate reductions or.below market interest rates, principal
forgiveness, restructuring amortization schedules and other actions intended to minimize potential losses. As of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, we have no loan modifications that are classified as troubled debt restructurings.

E. Line-of-Credit

On September 21, 2009, during the credit crisis in which financial institutions severely reduced the number of
loans made to entities involved in real estate, the Partnership entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the
“Loan Agreement”) with Wesley J. Brockhoeft, an unaffiliated individual (the “Lender”), pursuant to which the
Lender provided the Partnership with a revolving credit facility in the maximum principal amount of $15 million
(the “Brockhoeft Credit Facility”). The interest rate on the Brockhoeft Credit Facility is equal to 10% per annum.

Accrued interest on the outstanding prmc1pa1 amount of the Brockhoeft Credit Facility is payable monthly. . The
Brockhoeft Credit Facility is secured by a first priority lien on all of the Partnership’s. existing and future assets.

In consideration of the Lender originating the Brockhoeft Credit Facility, the Partnership paid the Lender an
origination fee in the amount of $300,000. On‘June 21, 2010, the Partnership entered into the First Amendment to
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Loan and Security Agreement (the “Amended Loan Agreement”), pursuant to which the maturity date on the
Brockhoeft Credit Facility was extended from September 20, 2010 to June 21, 2012. In consideration for
amending the Brockhoeft Credit Facility, the Partnership paid the Lender an amendment fee in the amount of
$150,000, which was amortized over the life of the Amended Loan Agreement. The Amended Loan Agreement
also permitted the Partnership’s existing and future assets to secure our guaranty of a $15 million loan (the “UDF
I — Brockhoeft Loan”) from the Lender, as agent for a group of lenders, to UDF I. In connection with the
guaranty, we received from UDF I a monthly fee equal to 3% per annum of the outstanding balance of the UDF I
— Brockhoeft Loan. The Amended Loan Agreement also provides for cross-default of the Brockhoeft Credit
Facility with the UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan. On June 21, 2012, the Partnership entered into the Second
Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement (the “Second Amended Loan Agreement”), pursuant to which the
maturity date on the Brockhoeft Credit Facility was extended from June 21, 2012 to June 21, 2014. Our guaranty
of the UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan was also modified effective June 21, 2012, pursuant to which UDF I agreed to
pay us a monthly fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal balance of the UDF I — Brockhoeft
Loan. In consideration for entering into the Second Amended Loan Agreement, the Partnership paid the Lender
an additional amendment fee in the amount of $150,000, which is being amortized over the life of the Second
Amended Loan Agreement. UDF I paid off the UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan in December 2012, thus extinguishing
the Partnership’s guaranty of the UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan and extinguishing the cross-default of the Brockhoeft
Credit Facility with the UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan. We believe that the interest rate and terms of the Brockhoeft

~ Credit Facility, the Amended Loan ‘Agreement and the Second Amended Loan Agreement were consistent with
those offered by financial institutions.

The Partnership’s eligibility to borrow up to $15 million under the Brockhoeft Credit Facility is determined
pursuant to a borrowing base. The borrowing base is equal to (a) the lesser of (i) up to 50% of the aggregate
principal amount outstanding under the Partnership’s eligible notes, (ii) up to 50% of the face amount of the
Partnership’s eligible notes, or (iiiy 40% of the appraised value of the real property subject to the liens securing
the Partnership’s eligible notes, minus (b)any reserves required by the Lender. ‘ Eligible notes are those
promissory notes which are secured by first liens, meet certain other criteria established by the Lender, and are
otherwise approved by the Lender for inclusion in the borrowing base. The Second Amended Loan Agreement
requires the Partnership to make various representations to the Lender and to comply with various covenants and
agreements, including, without limitation, maintaining at least $30 million in eligible notes, maintaining an
adjusted tangible net worth of no less than $250 million, maintaining its current line of business, operating its
business in accordance with applicable laws, providing the Lender with information, financial statements and
reports, and not permitting a change of control to occur.

After June 21, 2012, the Partnership may not borrow any additional advances under the Second Amended Loan
Agreement. The Partnership shall repay the prmc1pa1 amount of the loan in equal installments of $1,250,000 on
the 21st day of each of March, June, September and December beginning on September 21, 2012. - The
Partnei'ship obta}med&a waiver from the Lender of the December 2012 principal payment and will resume making
the quarterly principal payments in accordance with the terms of the Second Amended Loan Agreement in March
2013. On June 21, 2014, the Partnership shall pay the aggregate unpaid principal amount of all advances
outstanding, all accrued but unpaid interest thereon, all fees and expenses owing to the lender and all other non-
contingent obligations. '

If a default occurs under the Brockhoeft Credit Facility, the Lender may declare the Brockhoeft Credit Facility to
be due and payable immediately. A default may occur under the Brockhoeft Credit Facility in various
circumstances including, without limitation, if (i) the Partnership fails to pay amounts due to the Lender when due
under the Second Amended Loan Agreement, (ii) the Partnership fails to comply with its covenants and
agreements with the Lender, (iii) the Partnership defaults under obligations for money borrowed in excess of
$500,000, (iv) the Lender deems itself insecure or determines that a material adverse effect with respect to the
Brockhoeft Credit Facility, the Partnership, or the Brockhoeft Credit Facility collateral has occurred, (v) a
criminal action is filed against the Partnership under a federal or state racketeering statute, (vi) a bankruptcy
action is filed with respect to the Partnership, (vii) the Partnership conceals, removes, or permits to be concealed
or removed, any of its assets with the intent to hinder, delay or defraud the Lender or its other creditors, or (viii)
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the Second Amended Loan Agreement or other loan documents are terminated, become void or unenforceable, or
any security interest issued in connection with the Brockhoeft Credit Facility ceases to be a valid and perfected
first priority security interest in any portion of the Brockhoeft Credit Facility collateral. In such event, the Lender
may exercise any rights or remedies it may have, including, without limitation, increasing the interest rate to 12%
per annum, prohibiting distributions to be made to the Partnership’s partners, and foreclosure of the Partnership’s
assets. Any such event may materially impair the Partnershlp s ability to conduct its busrness

The Partnershrp intends to utilize the Brockhoeft Credit Facility as transitory 1ndebtedness to pr0V1de liquidity and
to reduce and avoid the need for large idle cash reserves, including usage to fund identified investments pending
recelpt of proceeds from the partial or full repayment of loans. This allows the Partnership to keep funds invested
in loans, instead of holdrng such loan repaymerit proceeds idle until new investments are identified: The
Partnershlp intends to use the Brockhoeft Credit F acility as a Partnership portfolio administration tool and not to
provrde long—term or permanent leverage on Partnership investments. Proceeds from the operations of the
Partniership will be used to repay the Brockhoeft Credit Facility. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011,°$13.8
million and $15 million in pr1n01pal was outstanding under the Brockhoeft Credit Facility, respectively. Interest
expense associated with the Brockhoeft Credit Facility was approxrmately $1 5 mrlhon for each of the years
ended December 31, 2012 2011 and 2010

F. Partners’ Capital

As of December 31, 2012 we had issued an aggregate of 18,827 ,498 units of limited partnership interest 1n the
Primary ‘Offering, DRIP and Secondary DRIP, consisting of 16,499,994 units issued to our limited partners
pursuant to the Primary Offering in exchange for gross proceeds of approximately $330.3 million (approximately
$290.7 million, net of costs associated with the Primary Offering), 716,260 units of limited partnership interest
issued to our limited partners pursuant to our DRIP in exchange for gross proceeds of approximately $14.3
million, and 1,946,931 units of limited partnership -interest issued to our limited partners pursuant to our
Secondary DRIP in exchange for gross proceeds of approxiniately $39.0 million, less 335,687 units of limited
partnership interest that we had repurchased pursuant to our unit redemptron program for approximately $6.7
million.

As of December 31, 2011, we had issued an aggregate of 18,326,511 units of limited partnership interest in the
Primary Offering, DRIP and Secondary DRIP, consisting of 16,499,994 units issued to our limited partners
pursuant to the Primary Offering in exchange for gross proceeds of approximately $330.3 million (approximately
$290.7 million, net of costs‘associated with the Prlmary Offering), 716,260 units of limited partnership interest
issued to our limited partners pursuant to our DRIP in exchange for gross proceeds of approximately $14.3
million, and 1,428,494 units of limited partnership interest issued to our limited partners pursuant to our
Secondary DRIP in exchange for gross proceeds of approximately $28.6 million, less 318,237 units of limited
partnership-interest that we had repurchased pursuant to our unit redemptlon program for approxrmately $6 4
m11110n : :

For the year ended December 31 2012 we have made the followrng drstrrbutlons to our 11m1ted partners )

April 24, 2012 °

May 31,2012 o June 22,2012 0 : 13,063,606
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September 30, 2012 October 24, 2012

November 30, 2012 December 24, 2012 3,005,276

$ 36,217,790

5

For the year ended December 31, 2012, we paid distributions of $36,217,790 ($25,849,039 in cash and
$10,368,751 in limited partnership units pursuant to our Secondary DRIP), as compared to cash flows from
operations of $48,600,354. For the year ended December 31, 2011, we paid distributions of $35,098,089
($24,225,933 in cash and $10,872,156 in limited partnership units pursuant to our Secondary DRIP), as compared
to cash flows from operations of $45,401,226. For the period from our inception through December 31, 2012, we
paid distributions’ of approximately $160.7 million (approximately $107.4 million in cash and approximately
$53.3 million in limited partnership units pursuant to our DRIP and Secondary DRIP) as compared to cumulative
cash flows from operations of approximately $199.8 million and cumulative net income of approximately $190.4
million.

The distributions to our limited partners paid during the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, along with the
amount of distributions reinvested pursuant to our Secondary DRIP and the sources of our dlstnbutlons were as
follows:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2012 ’ 2011

10,368,751 | 10,872,156

Total sources- $ 36,217,790 100% $ 35,098,089 . 100%

G. Operational Compensation

The general partner receives Placement Fees of 3% of the net amount available for investment in mortgages for
fees and expenses associated with the selection and origination of mortgages, including, but not limited to, legal
fees and expenses, travel and communications expenses, costs of appraisals, accounting fees and expenses, and
title insurance funded by the Partnership. The general partner also receives mortgage servicing fees of 0.25% of
the aggregate outstanding loan balance held by the Partnership (the “Mortgage Servicing Fee”) for services
rendered in connection with the servicing of Partnership loans.

The general partner also receives a “carried interest,” which is an equity interest in us to participate in all
distributions, other than distributions attributable to our general partner’s promotional interest, of cash available
for distribution (as described below) and net proceeds from a capital transaction that are distributable under the
distribution priority for net proceeds from a capital transaction described below. If our general partner enters into
commitments to investments in mortgages in excess of 82% of the gross proceeds of our public offering of our
units of limited partnership interest, our general partner will be entitled to a carried interest equal to (a) 1% for the
first 2.5% of commitments to investments in mortgages above 82% of the gross proceeds of the Offering (or if
commitments to investments in mortgages are above 82% but no more than 84.5%, 1% multiplied by the
fractional amount of commitments to investments in mortgages-above 82%), (b) 1% for the next 2% of additional
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commitments t0 investments in mortgages above 84.5% of the gross proceeds of the Offering (or if commitments
to investments in mortgages are above 84.5% but no more than 86.5%, 1% multiplied by the fractional amount of
commitments to investments in mortgages above 84.5%) and (c) 1% for each additional 1% of additional
commitments to investments in mortgages above 86.5% of the gross proceeds of the Offering (or a fractional
percentage equal to the fractional amount of any 1% of additional commitments to investments in mortgages) By
way of illustration, if 85.5% of the gross proceeds of the Offering are committed to investments in mortgages,
then our general partner would be entitled to a carried interest of 1.5% (1% for the first 2.5% of commitments to
investments in mortgages above 82% of the gross proceeds of the Offering and 0.5% for the next 1% of" additional
commitments to investments in mortgages above 84.5% of the gross proceeds of the Offering) of any amount
otherwise distributable to the limited partners after deduction of any promotional interest payable to our general
partner.

Cash available for distribution represents the cash funds received by the Partnership from operations (other than
net proceeds from a capital transaction) that produces proceeds from (i) the repayment of principal or prepayment

of a mortgage to the extent classified as a return of capital for federal income tax purposes, (ii) the foreclosure,

sale, exchange, condemnation, eminent domain taking or other disposition of a mortgage loan or of a property

subject to a mortgage, or (iii) insurance or a guarantee with respect to a mortgage, including, without limitation,

interest, points, revenue participations in property appreciation and interest or dividends from interim investments

or proceeds from borrowings, if appropriate, less all cash used to pay Partnership expenses and debt payments and

amounts set aside to create a retained earnings reserve (currently at 9.5% of our net income; the retained earnings

reserve is intended to recover some of the organization and offering expenses incurred in connection with our

public offering of our units of limited partnership interest).

In order for proceeds to be considered “committed” for purposes of calculation and payment of a carried interest,
we must be obligated by contract or other binding agreement to invest such proceeds in mortgages to the
exclusion of any other use for such proceeds or no use at all.

“Investments in mortgages” are the aggregate amount of capital contributions from investors used by us to make
or invest in mortgage loans or the amount actually paid or allocated to the purchase of mortgages, working capital
reserves (but excluding working capital reserves in excess of 3% of the aggregate capital contributions) and other
cash payments such as interest and taxes but excluding our organization and offering expenses, selling
commissions, wholesaling fees, marketing support fees, due diligence fees, acquisition and origination fees, and
any other front-end fees.

Our general partner’s “promotional interest” is our general partner’s right to receive:

e prior to the return to the limited partners of all of ‘their capital contributions plus an 8% per annum,
non-compounding, cumulative return on their unreturned capital contributions, 10% of all cash
available for distribution;

o following the return to the limited partners of all of their capital contributions plus an 8% per annum,
non-compounding, cumulative return on their unreturned capital contributions, 15% of all  cash
available for distribution; and

e following the return to the limited partners of all of their capital contributions plus an 8% per annum,
non-compounding, cumulative return on their unreturned capital contributions, 15% of all net
proceeds from a capital transaction.

H. Unit Redemption Program
Limited partners who have held their units for at least one year may request that the Partnershlp repurchase their
units. A limited partner wishing to have units repurchased must mail or deliver in writing a request to the

Partnershlp indicating such desire. However, effective June 30, 2009, in order to conserve cash and in response to
increasing requests for redemptions, we limited our redemptions primarily to those requested as a result of death,

F-21



disability and exigent: circumstances, to the extent our general partner determines there are sufficient funds to
redeem units. No units were redeemed from May 2010 through March 2012. In April and July 2012;-our general
partner determined that the Partnership had sufficient excess cash from operations to repurchase some units as a
result of the deaths of limited partners. However, no units have been redeemed since July 2012. Therefore, for
the year ended December 31, 2012, our general partner approved and the Partnership redeemed a total of
approximately 17,450 units as a result of the deaths of limited partners for $349,000 (an average repurchase price
of approximately $20.00 per unit). However, as stated below, our general partner will determine from time to
time whether the Partnership has sufficient excess cash from operations to repurchase units. No units have been
repurchased since July 2012 and there is no guarantee that the Partnership will repurchase any addltlonal units in
the future.

Prior to October 15, 2010, the purchase price of repurchased units, except as described below for redemptions
upon the death of a limited partner, was equal to (i) 92% of the purchase price actually paid for any units held less
than two years, (ii) 94% of the purchase price actually paid for any units held for at least two years but less than
three years, (iii) 96% of the purchase price actually paid for any units held for at least three years but less than
four years, (iv) 98% of the purchase price actually paid for any units held for at least four years but less than five
years, and (v) the lesser of the purchase price actually paid for any units held at least five years or the then-currént
fair market value of the units, as determined by the most recent annual valuation of units. The purchase price for
units redeemed upon the death of'a limited partner was the lesser of (i) the price such limited partner actually paid
for the units or (ii) $20.00 per unit; provided, however, that the aggregate annual redemptions for all deceased
limited partners was not to exceed 1% of units outstanding in the preceding 12-month period.

As a result of the requirement to determine an estimated value per unit of limited partnership interest, the method
for determining the purchase price for current and future redeemed units has been revised as of October 15, 2010.
Except as' described below for redemptions upon the death of a limited partner, the purchase price for the
redeemed units, for the period beginning after a limited partner has held the units for a period of one year, will be
(1) 92% of the Estimated Unit Value (as defined below) for any units held less than two years, (ii) 94% of the
Estimated: Unit Value for any units held for at least two years but less than three years, (iii) 96% of the Estimated
Unit Value for any units held at least three years but less than four years, (iv) 98% of the Estimated Unit Value for
any units held at least four years but less than five years; and (v) 100% of the Estimated Unit Value for any units
held at least five years. The price the:Partnership will pay for redeemed units will be offset by any net proceeds
from capital transactions previously distributed to the redeeming limited partner in respect of such units as a
return of his or her capital contributions. In addition, the purchase price for units redeemed upon the death of a
limited partner will be 100% of the Estimated Unit Value, with the aggregate annual number of units redeemed
upon death of a limited partner not to exceed 1% of units outstanding in the preceding 12-month period. The price
the Partnership will pay for units redeemed upon the death of a limited partner will be offset by any net proceeds
from capital transactions previously distributed to the deceased limited partner, or his or her estate, in respect of
such units as a return of capital contributions. For purposes of establishing the redemption price per unit,
“Estimated Unit Value” shall mean the most recently disclosed reasonable estimated value of the Partnership’s
units of limited partnership interest as determined by our general partner. On March 6, 2012, our general partner
determined the most recent Estimated Unit Value to be $20.00 per unit, which will be used as the Estimated Unit
Value until such time as our general partner provides a new estimated value of the Partnership’s units of limited
partnership interest.

The Partnership will not redeem in excess of 5% of the weighted average number of units outstanding during the
12-month period immediately prior to the date of redemption. Our general partner reserves the right in its sole
discretion at any time and from time to time to (1) waive the one-year holding period in the event of the death or
bankruptcy of a limited partner or other exigent circumstances, (2) reject any request for redemption, (3) change
the purchase price for redemptions, or (4) terminate, suspend and/or reestablish our unit redemption program.
Our general partner will determine from time to time whether thé Partnership has sufficient excess cash from
operations to repurchase units. Generally, the cash available for redemptlon will be limited to 1% of the operating
cash flow from the previous fiscal year, plus any net proceeds from the DRIP and Secondary DRIP. If the funds
set aside for the unit redéemption program are not sufficient to accommodate all requests, at such time, if any,
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when sufficient funds become available, pending requests will.be honored among all requesting limited partners
as follows: first, pro rata as to redemptions upon the death or disability of a limited partner; next, pro rata as to
limited partners who demonstrate, in the discretion of our general partner, another involuntary exigent
circumstance, such as bankruptcy; and, finally, pro rata as to all other redemption requests, if any, until all other
requests for redemption have been met. . ;

The Partnership complies with the Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity topic of the FASB ASC, which rquires, :
among other things, that financial instruments that represent a mandatory obligation of the Partnership to
repurchase limited partner units be classified as liabilities and reported at settlement value. We believe that
limited partner units tendered for redemption by the unit holder under the Partnership’s unit redemption program
do not represent.a mandatory obligation until such redemptions are approved at the discretion of: our general
partner. At such time, we will reclassify such obligations from equity to an accrued liability based upon their
respective settlement values. - As of December 31, 2012, we did not have any approved redemption requests
included in our liabilities. ‘ ’ : :

The followmg table summarizes the redemption activity for the years ended December 31, 2012 2011 and 2010
The amounts presented are in total units:

For the Years Ended December 31,

© 2012 2011 ‘ 2010

I. Commitments and Contingencies

From time to time, the Partnership enters into: guarantees of debtors’ or affiliates’ borrowings and provides credit
enhancements for the benefit of senior lenders in connection with the Partnership’s debtors and affiliates and
investments in partnerships (collectively referred to as “guarantees”), and accounts for such guarantees in
accordance with FASB ASC 460-10 Guarantees. Guarantees generally have fixed expiration dates or other
termination clauses and may require payment of a fee by the debtor. A guarantee involves, to varying degrees,
elements of credit risk in excess of the amount recognized in the balance sheets.- The Partnership’s exposure to
credit loss in the event of non-performance by the other party to the instrument is represented by the contractual
notional amount of the guarantee. -

In February 2009 the Partnership deposited $1.5 million into a money market account (the “Deposit Account”)
with LegacyTexas Bank (“LegacyTexas”) for the purpose of providing collateral to LegacyTexas for the benefit
of UMTH Lending Company, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (“UMTH.Lending”). UMTH Lending and the
Partnership’s general partner are each owned 99.9% by UMT Holdings and 0.1% by UMT Services, which serves
as the general partner for both UMTH Lending and the Partnership’s general partner. The Partnership provided
LegacyTexas a security interest in the Deposit Account as further collateral for a loan (the: “UMTH Lending
Loan”) obtained by UMTH Lending from LegacyTexas. In connection therewith, as required by the Partnership
Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, the Partnership obtained an'opinion' from Jackson
Claborn, Inc., an independent-advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to the
Partnership as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances.  In November
2010, UMTH Lending refinanced the UMTH Lending Loan with United Texas Bank (“UTB”). In conjunction
with this refinance, the Partnership deposited $1.5 million into a deposit account (the “UTB Deposit Account™)
with UTB for the purpose of providing collateral to UTB for the benefit of UMTH Lending. The UTB Deposit
Account replaced the Deposit Account previously established with LegacyTexas. The Partnership provided the
UTB Deposit Account as further collateral for a loan obtained by UMTH Lending from UTB (the “UTB-UMTH
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Lending Loan”). In consideration for providing the Deposit Account and UTB Deposit Account (collectively, the
“UMTH Lending Deposit Accounts”) as collateral for the UMTH Lending Loan and the UTB-UMTH Lending
Loan (collectively, the “UMTH Lending Loans”), UMTH Lending agreed to pay the Partnership a fee equal to
3% per annum of the amount outstanding in the UMTH Lending Deposit Accounts, paid in 12 monthly
installments for each year that the UMTH Lending Deposit Accounts secure the UMTH Lending Loans. The
UTB Deposit Account is included as restricted cash on the Partnership’s balance sheet. The fee is included in
mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income (see Note K for further discussion).

In August 2009, the Partnership entered into a guaranty (the “TCB Guaranty”) with Texas Capital Bank, National
Association (“Texas Capital”), by which the Partnership guaranteed the repayment of up to $5 million owed to
Texas Capital with respect to that certain promissory note between UMT Home Finance, L.P., a Delaware limited
partnership (“UMT Home Finance”), and Texas Capital. | UMT Home Finance is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
UMT. An affiliate of the Partnership’s general partner serves as the advisor to UMT. In connection therewith, as
required by the Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, the Partnership obtained
an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at
least as reasonable to the Partnership as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar
circumstances. In connection with the TCB Guaranty, the Partnership entered into a letter agreement with UMT
Home Finance which provides for UMT Home Finance to pay the Partnership annually, in advance, an amount
equal to 1% of the Partnership’s maximum exposure under the TCB Guaranty (i.e., $50,000 per annum) through
August 2012. Effective August 28, 2012, the letter agreement was modified and UMT Home Finance agreed to
pay the Partnership a monthly fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal balance of the Texas
Capital loan.. These fees are included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income (see
Note K for further discussion).

In March 2010, the Partnership entered into a guaranty (the “Resort Island Guaranty”) for the benefit of the Bank
of Las Colinas (“BOLC”), pursuant to which the Partnership guaranteed the repayment of up to $925,000 owed to
BOLC with respect to a loan between UDFLOF Resort Island, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (“UDFLOF
Resort Island”), and BOLC. UDFLOF Resort Island is a wholly owned subsidiary of UDF LOF. The general
partner of UDF LOF is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Partnership’s general partner, and the Partnership’s
general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF LOF. In connection therewith, as required by the Partnership
Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, the Partnership obtained an opinion from Jackson
Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to the
Partnership as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. In connection
with the Resort Island Guaranty, the Partnership entered into a letter agreement with UDFLOF Resort Island
which provides for UDFLOF Resort Island to pay the Partnership a guaranty fee equal to 1% of the Partnership’s
maximum exposure (i.e., $9,250) under the guaranty, which was paid to the Partnership upon the execution of the
guaranty and is included in the Partnership’s mortgage and transaction service revenues — related party income
(see Note K for further discussion). UDFLOF Resort Island paid off the loan to BOLC in December 2010, thus
extinguishing the guaranty. :

In April 2010, the Partnership entered into a guaranty (the “UDF IV HF Guaranty”) for the benefit of Community
Trust Bank of Texas (“CTB”), pursuant to which the Partnership guaranteed the repayment of up to $6 million
owed to CTB with respect to a revolving line of credit loan between UDF IV Home Finance, L.P., a Delaware
limited partnership (“UDF IV Home Finance”), and CTB. UDF IV Home Finance is a wholly owned subsidiary
of UDF IV. The Partnership’s general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF IV, and an affiliate of the
Partnership’s general partner serves. as the advisor for UDF IV. In connection therewith, as required by the
Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, the Partnership obtained an opinion from
Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at least as
reasonable to the Partnership as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar
circumstances. In connection with the UDF IV HF Guaranty, the Partnership entered into a letter agreement with
UDF IV‘Home Finance which provides for UDF IV Home Finance to pay the Partnership an annual credit
enhancement fee equal to 1% of the maximum loan amount (i.e., $60,000 per annum). The fee is to be paid in 12
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equal monthly installments and is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income
(see Note K for further discussion).

In April 2010, the Partnership entered into a guaranty (the “UMT 15th Street Guaranty”) for the benefit of CTB,
pursuant to which the Partnership guaranteed the repayment of up to $1.6 million owed to CTB with respect to a
loan between UMT 15th Street, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (“UMT 15th Street”), and CTB. UMT 15th
Street is a wholly owned subsidiary of UMT. An affiliate of the Partnership’s general partner serves as the
advisor to UMT. In connection therewith, as required by the Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage
Program Guidelines, the Partnership obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor,
stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to the Partnership as a loan or credit
enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. In connection with the UMT 15th Street
Guaranty, the Partnership entered into a letter agreement with UMT 15th Street which provides for UMT 15th
Street to pay the Partnership a monthly credit enhancement fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding
principal balance on the loan at the end of the month. The fee is included in mortgage and transaction service
revenues — related parties income (see Note K for further discussion). :

In June 2010, UDF I obtained the $15 million UDF I - Brockhoeft Loan from the Lender, as agent for a group of
lenders. As security for the UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan the Partnership provided the Lender with a guaranty of
repayment on the UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan, which was secured by a lien on all of the Partnership’s existing and
future assets. The Partnership’s general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF L. In connection therewith,
as required by the Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, the Partnership
obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is
fair and at least as reasonable to the Partnership as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in
similar circumstances. In consideration of the Partnership’s secured guaranty, commencing July 31, 2010, UDF I
agreed to pay the Partnership a monthly fee equal to 3% per annum of the outstanding balance of the UDF I —
Brockhoeft Loan. Effective June 21, 2012, the agreement was modified and UDF 1 agreed to pay the Partnership
a monthly fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal balance of the UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan.
UDF 1 paid off the UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan in December 2012, thus extinguishing the guaranty. These fees are
included in mortgage and transaction serv1ce revenues — related parties income (see Note K for further
discussion).

In August 2010, the Partnership entered into a guaranty (the “UDF IV Acquisitions Guaranty”) for the benefit of
CTB, pursuant to which the Partnership guaranteed the repayment of up to $8 million owed to CTB with respect
to a revolving line of credit loan between UDF IV Acquisitions, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (“UDF IV
Acquisitions™), and CTB. UDF IV Acquisitions is a wholly owned subsidiary of UDF IV. The Partnership’s
general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF IV, and an affiliate of the Partnership’s general partner serves
as the advisor for UDF IV. In connection therewith, as required by the Partnership Agreement and the NASAA
Mortgage Program Guidelines, the Partnership obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent
advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to the Partnership as a loan or credit
- enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. In connection with the UDF IV Acquisitions
Guaranty, the Partnership entered into a letter agreement with UDF IV Acquisitions which provides for UDF IV
Acquisitions to pay the Partnership- a monthly credit enhancement fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of -the
outstanding principal balance on the revolving line of credit at the end of the month. This fee is included in
mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income (see Note K for further discussion).

In December 2010, the Partnership entered into a guaranty (the “UDF IV Finance II Guaranty”) for the benefit of
The F&M Bank and Trust Company (“F&M”), pursuant to which the Partnership guaranteed the repayment of up
to $10 million owed to F&M with respect to a‘loan between UDF IV Finance II, L.P., a Delaware limited
partnership (“UDF IV Finance IT”), and F&M. UDF IV Finance I is a wholly owned subsidiary of UDF IV. The
Partnership’s general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF IV, and an affiliate of the Partnership’s general
partner serves as the advisor for UDF IV. In connection therewith, as required by the Partnership Agreement and
the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, the Partnership obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an
independent advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to the Partnership as a
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loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrowerin similar circumstances. In connection with the UDF IV
Finance II Guaranty, the Partnership entered into a letter agreement with UDF IV Finance II which provides for
UDF IV Finance II to pay the Partnership a monthly credit enhancement fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the
outstanding principal balance on the loan at the end of the month. This fee is included in mortgage and
transaction service revenues — related parties income (see Note K for further discussion).

In May 2011, the Partnership entered into a guaranty (the “UMT HF III Guaranty”) for the benefit of Veritex
Community Bank, National Association (“Veritex”), pursuant to which the Partnership guaranteed the repayment
of up to $4.3 million owed to Veritex with respect to a loan between UMT Home Finance III, L.P., a Delaware
limited partnership (“UMT HF III”), and Veritex. UMT HF III is a wholly owned subsidiary of UMT. An
affiliate of the Partnership’s general partner serves as the advisor to UMT. In connection therewith, as required
by the Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, the Partnership obtained an
opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at
least as reasonable to the Partnership as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar
circumstances. In connection with the UMT HF III Guaranty, the Partnership entered into a letter agreement with
UMT HF 1II which provides for UMT HF III to pay the Partnership a monthly credit enhancement fee equal to
one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal balance on the loan at the end of the month. The fee is included in
mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income (see Note K for further discussion).

In August 2011, the Partnership entered into a guaranty (the “UMT HF II Guaranty”) for the benefit of First
Financial Bank, N.A. (“FEB”), pursuant to which the Partnership guaranteed the repayment of up to $250,000
owed to FFB with respect to a loan between UMT Home Finance II, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (“UMT
HF 1I”), and FFB. UMT HF 1I is a wholly owned subsidiary of UMT. An affiliate of the Partnership’s general
partner serves as the advisorto UMT. In connection therewith, as required by the Partnership Agreement and the
NASAA Mortgage Program ‘Guidelines, the Partnership obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an
independent advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to the Partnership as a
loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. In connection with the UMT HF
IT Guaranty, the Partnership entered into a letter agreement with UMT HF II which provides for UMT HF 1I to
pay the Partnership a monthly credit enhancement fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal
balance on the loan at the end of the month. The FFB loan was repaid in full by UMT HF II in May 2012 and thus
the UMT HF II Guaranty was extinguished. The fee is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues —
related parties income (see Note K for further discussion).

In October 2011, the Partnership entered into a guaranty (the “UMT HF II Green Bank Guaranty”) for the benefit
of Green Bank, N.A. (“Green Bank”), pursuant to which the Partnership guaranteed the repayment of up to $5
million owed to Green Bank with respect to a loan between UMT HF II and Green Bank. UMT HF 1l is a wholly
owned subsidiary of UMT. An-affiliate of the Partnership’s general partner serves as the advisor to UMT. In
connection therewith, as required by the Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines,
the Partnership obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that this credit
enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to the Partnership as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated
borrower in similar circumstances. In connection with the UMT HF Il Green Bank Guaranty, the Partnership
entered into a letter agreement with UMT HF II which provides for UMT HF II to pay the Partnership a monthly
credit enhancement fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal balance on the loan at the end of
the month. The fee is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income (see Note K
for further discussion).

As of December 31, 2012, we had 11 outstanding guarantees, including: (1) 10 limited repayment guarantees with
total credit risk to us of approximately $50.6 million, of which approximately $37.6 million had been borrowed
against by the debtor and (2) one letter of credit issued on behalf of a borrower with total credit risk to us of
approximately $18,000, of which no amount had been borrowed against by the debtor.

As of December 31, 2011, we had 14 outstanding guarantees, including: (1) 13 limited repayment guarantees with
total credit risk to us of approximately $65.4 million, of which approximately $47.8 million had been borrowed
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against by the debtor and (2) one letter of credit issued on behalf of a borrower with total credit risk to us of
approximately $400,000, of which-no amount had been borrowed against by the debtor : -

As of December 31, 2012; we had ongmated 60 loans, mcludmg 33 loans that have been repald in full by the
‘respective borrower, totaling approximately $572.3 million.: -We had approximately $36.6. million of
commitments to be funded, including approximately $15.1 million of commitments for mortgage notes receivable
— related parties and $7.3 million. for participation interest — related party. For the year ended December 31,2012,

we did not originate or purchase any loans sold 1 loan partlclpatmn and did not acqu1re any additional
participation interests. :

As of December 31, 2011, we had originated 60 loans, including 31 loans that have been repaid in full by the
respective borrower, totaling approximately $537.3. million. We had approxrmately $35.1 million of
commitments to be funded, including approx1mately $12 3 million of commitments for mortgage notes receivable
—related parties and $9.5 million for participation interest — related party. For the year ended December 31, 2011,
we originated 2 loans, sold 3 loan participations, and did not purchase any loans or acquire any add1t10na1
participation interests.

To date, the Partnership has not incurred losses from guarantees entered into, and the debt that is guaranteed is
also collateralized by real estate. The value of such real estate may or may not be sufficient to settle such
obligations if liquidated. : >

J. General and Administrative Expenses

General and admlmstratlve expenses and general and administrative expenses — related parties of the Partnership
are summarized in the following charts:

) . For the Years Ended .
. - ) . - - December 31, l
General and administrative expenses - 2012 2011 2010
Investor relations S $ 464,000 $ 450,000 $ 525,000
Professional fees : 266,000 327,000 . 240,000
Other 332,000 263,000 404,000
Total general and administrative ) ) '
expenses v $ 1,062,000 $ - 1,040,000 '$ 1,169,000
For the Years Ended

December 31,

General and administrative expenses — ' ' : .
related parties : 2012 2011 ____ 2010

Amortlzanon of Placement Fees $. 1,222,000 $ 1,221,000 $1,217,000
Mortgage Servicing Fee 969,000 892,000 - 815,000
Amortization of debt financing fees 11,000 22,000 71,000
Operating Expense Reimbursement (1) 556,000 563,000 . 683,000
Total general and administrative _
expenses — related parties < § 2,758,000 $ 2,698,000 $2,786,000

(1) Asdefined in Note K

K. Related Party Transactions

As of December 31, 2012, we had approx1mately $49.0 million of mortgage notes receivables — related parties,
consisting of 7 related party loans, and one participation interest — related party totaling approximately
$75.2 million. Mortgage notes rece1vables - related parties and participation interest — related party represented
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approximately 34% of our total assets as of December 31, 2012. As of December 31, 2012, we had approximately
$2.7 million of accrued interest receivable — related parties, and we had paid our general partner approximately
$10.3 million since inception for acquisition and origination fee expenses associated with the mortgage notes
receivable, mortgage notes receivable — related parties and participation interest — related party. For the year ended
December 31, 2012, we recognized approximately $16.4 million-and $622,000 for interest income — related parties
and mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties, respectively. We also recognized approximately
$2.8 million of general and administrative expenses — related parties for the year ended December 31, 2012. As of
December 31, 2012, we had seven outstanding limited repayment guarantees benefitting related parties with total
credit risk to us of approximately $39.9 million, of which approximately $27.8 million had been borrowed against
by the debtor.

As of December 31, 2011, we had approx1mately $52.0 million of mortgage notes receivables — related parties,
consisting of 7 related party loans, and one participation interest — related party totaling approximately
$66.2 million. Mortgage notes receivables — related parties and participation interest — related party represented
approximately 33% of our total assets. As of December 31, 2011, we had approximately $2.6 million of accrued
interest receivable — related parties, and we had paid our general partner approximately $10.0 million since
inception for acquisition and origination fee expenses associated with the mortgage notes receivable, mortgage
notes receivable — related parties and participation interest — related party. For the year ended December 31, 2011,
we recognized approximately $15.2 million and $1.0 million for interest income — related parties and mortgage and
transaction service revenues — related parties, respectively. We also recognized approximately $2.7 million of
general and administrative expenses — related parties for the year ended December 31, 2011. As of December 31,
2011, we had nine outstanding limited repayment guarantees benefitting related parties with total credit risk to us
of approximately $52.7 million, of which approximately $37.1 million had been borrowed against by the debtor.

Land Devélopment'and certain of its affiliates receive fees in connection with the acquisition and management of
the assets and reimbursement of costs of the Partnership.

We reimburse UMTH General Services, L.P. (“General Services”), a Delaware limited partnership, for operating
expenses incurred by General Services in assisting Land Development in our management (the “Operating Expense
Reimbursement”). General Services-and Land Development are each owned 99.9% by UMT Holdings and 0.1%
by UMT Services, which serves as the general partner for both General Services and Land Development.

We incurred Placement Fees of 3% of the net amount available for investment in mortgages for fees and expenses
associated with the selection and origination of mortgages, including, but not limited to, legal fees and expenses,
travel and communications expenses, costs of appraisals, accounting fees and expenses, and title insurance funded
by us. Such fees are amortized into expense on a straight line basis and are currently being paid to Land
Development. The unpaid portion of these fees is included in accrued liabilities — related parties on our balance
sheet.

Land Development currently receives an unsubordinated promotional interest equal to 10% of cash available for
distribution prior to the return to our limited partners of all of their capital contributions and an 8% annual
cumulative (non-compounded) return on their net capital contributions. After our limited partners receive a return
of their net capital contributions and an 8% annual cumulative (non-compounded) return on their net capital
contributions, Land Development will receive a subordinated promotional interest equal to 15% of remaining cash
available for distribution, including net proceeds from capital transactions or a pro rata portion thereof.

Land Development receives a carried interest, which is an equity interest in us to participate in all distributions,
other than distributions attributable to its promotional interest of cash available for distribution and net proceeds
from capital transactions. If Land Development enters into commitments to investments in mortgages in excess of
82% of the gross offering proceeds, it will be entitled to a carried interest equal to (a) 1% for the first 2.5% of
commitments to investments in mortgages above 82% of the gross offering proceeds (or if commitments to
investments in mortgages are above 82% but no more than 84.5%, 1% multiplied by the fractional amount of
commitments to investments in mortgages above 82%), (b) 1% for the next 2% of additional commitments to
investments in mortgages above 84.5% of the gross offering proceeds (or if commitments to investments in
mortgages are above 84.5% but no more than 86.5%, 1% multiplied by the fractional amount of commitments to
investments in mortgages above 84.5%) and (c) 1% for each additional 1% of additional commitments to
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investments in mortgages above 86.5% of the gross offering proceeds: (or a fractional percentage equal to the
fractional amount of any 1% of additional commitments to investments in mortgages).

For services rendered in connection with the servicing of our loans, we incur a monthly Mortgage Servicing Fee to
Land Development equal to- one-twelfth of 0.25% of our aggregate outstanding development mortgage notes
receivable balance as of the last day of the month. Such fees are included in general and administrative — related
parties expenses. The. unpald portion: of such fees is mcluded in accrued liabilities — related partles on our balance
sheet. ~ ,

On September 21, 2009, the Partnershlp entered into the $15 million Brockhoef’t Credlt Facility with the Lender (as
discussed in Note E). In conjunction with the Brockhoeft Credit Facﬂlty, the Partnership paid UMTH Funding
Services, L.P. (“UMTH Funding”), a Delaware limited partnership, a debt placement fee equal to 1% ($150,000) of
the Brockhoeft Credit Facility, which was amortized over the initial term of the Brockhoeft Credit Facility. UMTH
Funding and the Partnership’s general partner are each owned 99.9% by UMT Holdings and 0.1% by UMT
Services, which serves as the general partner for both UMTH Funding and Land Development.

An affiliate of Land Development serves as the adwsor to UMT and UDF IV. The general partner of UDF LOF is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Land Bevelopment Land Development serves as the asset manager of UDF I, UDF
IV and UDF LOF.

The chart below summarizes the payment of related party fees and reimbursements associated with the Offering
and origination and management of assets for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010. We believe that
these fees and reimbursements are reasonable and customary for comparable mortgage programs.

For the Years Ended
. December 31,
Payee Purpose 2012 2011 2010
Land Development
Placement Fees ' $ 5% $ 472,000 6% $ 131,000 7%

Total Payments . o 3 ‘8,960,000 100% $ 7,486,000 100% $ 2,014,000 100%

The chart below summarizes general and administrative — related parties expense for the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010. We believe that these expenses are reasonable and customary for comparable mortgage
programs. .

For the Years Ended
. : December 31, .
General and administrative expense — related parties 2012 o 2011 ‘ 2010

$ 1,222,000 44% $ 1,221,000 45% $ 1,217,000 44%

Amortization of Placement Fees

Total general and administrative expense — related parties $ 2,758,000 100% $ 2,698,000 100% $ 2,786,000 100%
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Mortgage Notes Receivable — Related Parties

UDF PM Note

In September 2007, we originated a secured promissory note to UDF PM, LLC, a Texas limited liability company
and wholly-owned subsidiary of UDF I (“UDF PM”), in the principal amount of approximately $6.4 million (the
“UDF PM Note”), and in connection therewith, as required by our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA
Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating
that the UDF PM Note is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a transaction with an unaffiliated party in similar
circumstances. Our general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF I. The UDF PM Note, which bears an
interest rate of 15% per annum, is initially collateralized by a second lien deed of trust on approximately 335
finished lots and 15 acres of land located in Texas and, per the Second Amendment to Secured Promissory Note,
matures on September 4, 2013. In determining whether to modify the UDF PM Note, we evaluated the economic
conditions, the estimated value and performance of the underlying collateral, the guarantor, adverse situations that
may affect the borrower’s ability to pay or the value of the collateral and other relevant factors. In connection with
the UDF PM Note, UDF PM agreed to pay us commitment fees equal to 3% of each advance on the note, or
$187,500. We did not recognize any commitment fee income in connection with the UDF PM Note for years
ended December 31, 2012 or 2011. For the year ended December 31, 2010, approximately $44,000 in commitment
fee income is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties. For the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, we recognized approximately $308,000, $1.0 million and $1.2 million,
respectively, of interest income — related parties related to the UDF PM Note, of which approximately $5,000 and
$17,000, respectively, is included in accrued interest receivable — related parties as of December 31, 2012 and
2011. Approximately $280,000 and $4.2 million is included in mortgage notes receivable — related parties as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

UDF X Note

In November 2007, we originated a secured promissory note to United Development Fundmg X, L.P., a Delaware
limited partnership and wholly-owned subsidiary of our general partner (“UDF X”), in the pr1nc1pa1 amount of
approximately $70 million (the “UDF X Note™), and in connection therewith, as required by our Partnership
Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an
independent advisor, stating that the UDF X Note is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a transaction with an
unaffiliated party in similar circumstances. In August 2008, we amended the UDF X Note to reduce the
commitment amount to $25 million. In November 2012, we amended the UDF X Note to increase the commitment
amount to $26 million. In determining whether to modify this loan, we evaluated the economic conditions, the
estimated value and performance of the underlying collateral, the guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the
borrower’s ability to pay or the value of the collateral and other relevant factors. The UDF X Note, which bears an
interest rate of 15% per annum, is collateralized by a pledge of 100% of the ownership interests in UDF X and is
payable on November 11, 2014, as amended. In connection with the UDF X Note, UDF X agreed to pay us
commitment fees equal to 3% of each advance on the note, or approximately $751,000. For the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, approximately $145,000, $165,000 and $165,000 in commitment fee income
is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties, respectively. For the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, we recognized approximately $3.5 million, $3.2 million and $3.5 million,

respectively, of interest income - related parties related to the UDF X Note, of which approximately $27,000 and
$288,000, respectively, is included in accrued interest receivable — related parties as of December 31, 2012 and
2011. Approximately $21.7 million and $22.7 million is included in mortgage notes receivable — related parties as
of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

UDF NP Note

In December 2007, we originated a secured promissory note to UDF Northpointe, LLC, a Texas limited liability
company which was a wholly-owned subsidiary of UDF I at the time of the note’s origination (“Northpointe
LLC”), in the principal amount of approximately $6 million (the “UDF NP Loan”), and in connection therewith, as
required by our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion
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from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that the loan is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a
loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. . Our general partner serves as the
asset manager for UDF I. In December 2008, Northpointe LLC was purchased by an unrelated third party, who
thus assumed the UDF NP Loan. In May 2009, Northpointe LLC assigned its obligations associated with the UDF
NP Loan and its interests in the collateral by special warranty deed to UDF Northpointe II, L.P. (“Northpointe II”),
a subsidiary of UDF L . Concurrent with this assignment, Northpointe LLC entered into a contract for deed with
Northpointe II whereby Northpointe LLC agreed to make payments to Northpointe II for all debt service payments
in consideration for Northpointe I transferring ownership and possession of the collateral back to Northpointe
LLC. The secured promissory note, which bears an interest rate of 12% per annum, is initially collateralized by a
second lien deed of trust on 251 finished lots and 110 acres of land in Texas and was payable on December 28,
2010. The maturity date was extended to December 28, 2013 pursuant to a modification agreement effective as of
June 30, 2011 which also increased the UDF NP Loan to a maximum of $15 million, pursuant to a second secured
promissory note in the principal amount of $9 million. In determining whether to modify this loan, we evaluated
the economic conditions, the estimated value and performance of the underlying collateral, the guarantor, adverse
situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay-or the value of the collateral and other relevant factors. The
second secured promissory note bears the same interest rate and is secured by the same collateral as the original
promissory note. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, we recognized approximately $1.5
million, $1.3 million and $1.1 million, respectively of interest income — related parties related to the UDF NP
Loan. There was no balance in accrued interest receivable — related parties associated with the UDF NP Loan as of
December 31, 2012 or 2011. Approximately $13.4 million and $11.6 million is included in mortgage notes
receivable — related partles associated w1th the UDF NP Loan as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

UDF LOF Note

In August 2008, we originated a secured revolving line of credit to UDF LOF in the principal amount of up to $25
million, pursuant to a Secured Line of Credit Promissory Note (the “UDF LOF Note”). The general. partner of
UDF LOF is a wholly-owned subsidiary of our general partner, and our general partner serves as the asset manager
for UDF LOF. The UDF LOF Note, which bears interest at a base rate equal to 15% per annum, is secured by a
lien of all of UDF LOF’s existing and future acquired assets.. In connection therewith, as required by our
Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program- Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson
Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that the UDF LOF Note is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a
transaction with an unaffiliated party in similar circumstances. In August 2011, we amended the UDF LOF Note to
reduce the commitment amount to $10 million and extend the maturity date from August 20, 2011 to August 20,
2013. In determining whether to modify this loan, we evaluated the ‘economic conditions, the estimated value and
performance of the underlying collateral, the -guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to
pay or the value of the collateral and other relevant factors. In January 2010, the balance of the UDF LOF Note
was paid in full, although UDF LOF still has the ability to draw on the UDF LOF. Note until it matures. In
connection with this note, UDF LOF agreed to pay us commitment fees equal to 3% of each advance on the note,
or approximately $587,000. We-did not recognize any commitment fee income related to the UDF LOF Note for
the year ended December 31, 2012. For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, approximately $138,000
and $216,000, respectively, in commitment fee income is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues —
related parties. We did not recognize any interest income — related parties related to the UDF LOF Note for the
years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010. There was no balance in accrued 1nterest receivable — related
parties associated with the UDF LOF Note as of December 31, 2012 or 2011.

BCH Note

In August 2008, we originated a secured promissory note with Buffington Capital Homes, Ltd., a Texas limited
partnership (“Buffington Capital”), in the principal amount of $2.5 million (the “BCH Note”). Our general partner
had a minority partner interest in Buffington Capital. In connection therewith, as required by our Partnership
Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc.; an
independent advisor, stating that the BCH Note is fair and at least.as reasonable to us as a transaction with an
unaffiliated party in similar circumstances. The secured note, which bears interest at 14% per annum, is secured by
a first lien on finished lot inventory that is owned and controlled by: Buffington Capital. Pursuant to an Agreement
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and Plan of Merger dated November 30, 2009, Buffington Capital merged into Buffington Signature Homes, LLC
(“Buffington Signature™), which is ultimately owned and controlled by Buffington Homebuilding Group, LTD, a
Texas limited partnership (“BHG”). Our general partner has a minority limited partnership interest in BHG. Asa
result of the merger and pursuant to the Agreement and First Amendment to Loan Agreement dated December 8,
2009, Buffington Signature succeeded to all the rights, responsibilities and obligations of Buffington Capital under
the BCH Note. In determining whether to modify this loan, we evaluated the economic conditions, the estimated
value and performance of the underlying collateral, the guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s
ability to pay or the value of the collateral and other relevant factors. Buffington Signature’s payment and
performance of the BCH Note is guaranteed by Buffington Land, Ltd., a Texas limited partnership, and, pursuant to
the Extension Agreement and Second Amendment to Loan Agreement dated August 12, 2010, matured on August
12, 2011 with no balance outstanding on the note. The BCH Note was repaid in full in April 2010, although
Buffington Signature still had the ability to draw on the BCH Note until it matured. We did not recognize any
interest income — related parties related to the BCH Note for the years ended December 31, 2012 or 2011. For the
year ended December 31, 2010, we recognized approximately $16,000 of interest income — related parties related
to the BCH Note. There was no balance in mortgage notes receivable — related parties or accrued interest receivable
—related parties associated with the BCH Note as of December 31, 2012 or 2011.

BTC Note

In August 2008, we originated a secured promissory note with Buffington Texas Classic Homes, Ltd., a Texas
limited partnership (“Buffington Classic”), in the principal amount of $2 million (the “BTC Note”). Our general
partner had a minority partner interest in Buffington Classic. In connection therewith, as required by our
Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson
Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that the BTC Note is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a
transaction with an unaffiliated party in similar circumstances. The secured note, which bears interest at 14% per
annum, is secured by a first lien on finished lot inventory that is owned and controlled by Buffington Classic.
Pursuant'to an Agreement and Plan of Merger dated November 30, 2009, Buffington Capital merged into
Buffington Texas Classic Homes, LLC (“BTC LLC”), which is ultimately owned and controlled by BHG. Our
general partner has a minority limited partnership interest in BHG. As a result of the merger and pursuant to the
Agreement and First Amendment to Loan Agreement dated December 8, 2009, BTC LLC succeeded to all the
rights, responsibilities and obligations of Buffington Classic under the BTC Note. In determining whether to
modify this loan, we evaluated the economic conditions, the estimated value and performance of the underlying
collateral, the guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay or the value of the
collateral and other relevant factors. BTC LLC’s payment and performance of the BTC Note is guaranteed by
Buffington Land, Ltd., a Texas limited partnership, and, pursuant to the Extension Agreement and Fourth
Amendment to Loan Agreement dated August 21, 2012, is payable on August 21, 2013. We did not recognize any
interest income — related parties related to the BTC Note for years ended December 31, 2012 or 2011. For the year
ended December 31, 2010, we recognized approximately $10,000 of interest income — related parties related to the
BTC Note. There was no balance in mortgage notes receivable — related parties or accrued interest receivable —
related parties associated with the BTC Note as of December 31, 2012 or 2011.

HTC Loan

Effective December 2008, we modified a secured promissory note evidencing a loan (the “HTC Loan™) in the
principal amount of approximately $8.1 million to UDF I that we originated in December 2006 in the principal
amount of approximately $6.9 million. Our general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF 1. In connection
with the origination of such promissory note, and as required by our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA
Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating
the HTC Loan is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a transaction with an unaffiliated party in similar
circumstances. UDF I’s obligations under the HTC Loan are initially secured by a first lien deed of trust filed on
190 entitled single-family home lots located in Thornton, Colorado. The HTC Loan bears interest at a base rate
equal to 12% per annum and interest payments are due monthly. Effective June 30, 2011, the HTC Loan was
increased to a maximum of $12.8 million, pursuant to a second secured promissory note in the principal amount of
$4.7 million. The second secured promissory note bears the same interest rate and is secured by the same collateral
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as the original promissory note. The HTC Loan had an initial maturity date of December 31, 2011, but was
extended to June 30, 2012 pursuant to a fourth amendment to the secured promissory note effective as of June 30,
2011. Effective June 30, 2012, the principal amount available under the HTC Loan was increased to a maximum of
$15.6 million and the maturity date was extended to June 30, 2015, pursuant to a fifth amendment to the secured
promissory note. In determining whether to modify this loan, we evaluated the economic conditions, the estimated
value and performance of the underlying collateral, the guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s
ability to pay or the value of the collateral and other relevant factors. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011
and 2010, we recognized $1.5 million, $1.4 million and $1.2 million, respectively, of interest income — related
parties related to the HTC Loan. There was no balance in accrued interest receivable — related parties associated
with this note as of December 31, 2012 or 2011. Approximately $12.9 million and $12.6 million is included in
mortgage notes receivable — related parties as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, related to the HTC
Loan.

OU Land Note

g

In July 2009, we originated a secured promissory note to OU Land Acquisitions, L.P., a Texas limited partnership
and wholly-owned subsidiary of UDF I (“OU Land”), in the principal amount of approximately $2.0 million (the
“OU Land Note”), and in connection therewith, as required by our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA
Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating
that the OU Land Note is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated
borrower in similar circumstances. Our general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF 1. The OU Land
Note, which bore an interest rate of 15% per annum, was collateralized by a first lien on 56 acres of land located in
Houston, Texas and was payable on June 14, 2010, but remained outstanding as of December 31, 2010. In January
2011, the OU Land Note was paid off upon a sale of the underlying collateral. We did not recognize any interest
income — related parties related to the OU Land Note for the year ended December 31, 2012. For the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010, we recognized approximately $22,000 and $375,000, respectively, of interest
income — related parties related to the OU Land Note. There was no balance in mortgage notes receivable — related
parties or accrued interest receivable — related parties associated with the OU Land Note as of December 31,2012
or2011.

UDF TX One Note

In November 2010, we assumed a secured promissory note to UDF TX One, L.P., a Texas limited partnership and
wholly owned subsidiary of UDF I (“UDF TX One”), in the principal amount of $8.0 million (the “UDF TX One
Note™). Our general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF I.- In connection with the origination of the UDF
TX One Note, and as required by our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we
obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that the UDF TX One Note is fair
and at least as reasonable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar
circumstances. The UDF TX One Note, which bore an interest rate of 9.55% per annum, was collateralized by
finished lots in Douglas County, Colorado and was payable on January 31,2011. The UDF TX One Note was paid
in full in January 2011. We did not recognize any interest income — related parties related to the UDF TX One
Note for the year ended December 31, 2012. For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, we recognized
approximately $200 and $3,000, respectively, of interest income — related parties related to the UDF TX One Note.
There was no balance in mortgage notes receivable — related parties or accrued interest receivable — related parties
associated with the UDF TX One Note as of December 31, 2012 or 2011.

Ash Creek Note

In April 2011, we originated a promissory note to UDF Ash Creek, L.P. (the “Ash Creek Note”), a Delaware
limited partnership and wholly-owned subsidiary of UDF 1, in the principal amount of $50,000, and in connection
therewith as required by our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained
an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that the Ash Creek Note is fair and at least
as reasonable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. Our
general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF I. The Ash Creek Note, which bears interest at a base rate
equal to 15% per annum, was originally payable on December 5, 2011. Effective December 5, 2011, we entered
into an extension agreement with the borrower pursuant to which the maturity date of the Ash Creek Note was
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extended to December 21,2012. In December 2012, we amended the Ash Creek Note to increase the commitment
amount to $65,000 and extend the maturity date from December 21, 2012 to December 21, 2013. The Ash Creek
Note is secured by a second lien deed of trust. In determining whether to modify this loan, we evaluated the
economic conditions, the estimated value and performance of the underlying collateral, the guarantor, adverse
situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay or the value of the collateral and other relevant factors. For
the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, we recognized approximately $8,300 and $5,600, respectively, of
interest income — related parties related to the Ash Creek Note, of which approximately $5,800 and $5,600 was
included in accrued interest receivable — related parties as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
Approximately $58,000 and $50,000, respectively, is included in mortgage notes receivable — related parties
associated with the Ash Creek Note as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Participation Interest — Related Party

In September 2008, we entered into an Economic Interest Participation Agreement with UMT pursuant to which
we purchased (i) an economic interest in the UMT Loan and (ii) a purchase option to acquire a full ownership
participation interest in the UMT Loan (the “Option”). Our general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF 1.
An affiliate of our general partner serves as the advisor to UMT. In connection therewith, as required by our
Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson
Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that the Economic Interest Participation Agreement is fair and at least
as reasonable to us as a transaction with an unaffiliated party in similar circumstances. As of December 31, 2010,
the UMT Loan was a $60 million revolving line of credit facility evidenced by a Third Amended and Restated
Secured Line of Credit Promissory Note dated as of August 17, 2009, as extended to December 31, 2010 by an
amendment effective December 31, 2009. Effective December 31, 2010, the UMT Loan was subsequently
increased to $75 million and the maturity date was extended to December 31, 2011 as evidenced by a Second
Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Secured Line of Credit Promissory Note dated as of December 31,
2010. Effective December 31, 2011, the UMT Loan was amended and the maturity date was extended to
December 31, 2012 as evidenced by a Third Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Secured Line of Credit
Promissory Note dated as of December 31, 2011. Effective December 31, 2012, the UMT Loan was subsequently
increased to $82 million and the maturity date was extended to December 31, 2013 as evidenced by a Fourth
Amendment and Joinder Agreement to Third Amended and Restated Secured Line of Credit Promissory Note
dated as of December 31, 2012 (as amended, the “UMT Note”). In determining whether to modify this loan, we
evaluated the economic conditions, the estimated value and performance of the underlying collateral, the guarantor,
adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay or the value of the collateral and other relevant
factors. The UMT Loan is secured by a security interest in the assets of UDF I, including UDF I's land
development loans and equity investments pursuant to the First Amended and Restated Security Agreement dated
as of September 30, 2004, executed by UDF I in favor of UMT (the “Security Agreement”).

Pursuant to the Economic Interest Participation Agreement, each time UDF I requests an advance of principal
under the UMT Note, we will fund the required amount to UMT for application to its funding obligation to UDF 1
under the UMT Loan, and our economic interest in the UMT Loan will increase proportionately. Our economic
interest in the UMT Loan gives us the right to receive payment from UMT of principal and accrued interest relating
to amounts funded by us to UMT which are applled towards UMT’s funding obligations to UDF I under the UMT
Loan. We may abate our fundmg obhgatlons under the Economic Interest Participation Agreement at any time for
‘a period of up to twelve months by giving UMT notice of the abatement.

The Option gives us the right to convert our economic interest into a full ownership participation interest in the
UMT Loan at any time by giving written notice to UMT and paying an exercise price of $100. The participation
interest includes all rights incidental to ownership of the UMT Note and the Security Agreement, including
participation in the management and control of'the UMT Loan. UMT will continue to manage and control the
UMT Loan while we own an economic interest in the UMT Loan. If we exercise our Option and acquire a
panlclpatlon interest in the UMT Loan, UMT will serve as the loan administrator but both UMT and we will
participate in the control and management of the UMT Loan. The purpose of the UMT Loan is to finance UDF Is

investments in real estate development projects. The UMT Loan interest rate is the lower of 14% per annum or the
“highest rate allowed by law. UDF I may use the UMT Loan proceeds to finance indebtedness associated with the
acquisition of any assets and to seek income that qualifies under the Real Estate Investment Trust provisions of the
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Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, to the extent such indebtedness, including indebtedness financed by
funds advanced under the UMT Loan and indebtedness. financed by funds advanced from any other source,
including senior debt, is-no less than 68% of the appraised value of all subordinate loans and equity interests for
land development and/or land acquisition owned by UDF I and 75% for first lien secured loans. for land
development and/or acquisitions owned by UDF I. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, we
récognized approximately $9.5 million, $8.3 miillion and $7.3 million, respectively, of interest income — related
parties related to the Economic Interest Participation Agreement, of which approximately $2.6 million and $2.3
million is included in accrued interest receivable — related parties for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 201 l
respectlvely

The UMT Loan was subordinate to the UDF I — Brockhoeft loan. Ask of December 31, 2012 ‘and 2011,
approximately $74.7 million and $65.5 million related to the Economic Interest Participation Agreement is
included in participation interest — related party, respectively.

Loan Participations Sold to Related Parties

From inception through December 31, 2012, we have entered into 9 loan participation agreements with related
parties whereby a related party has purchased a participation interest in a ‘mortgage mvestment that we have
ongmated As of December 31 2012, 5 of these agreements remam outstandmg

Our related parties participate in these mortgage investments by ﬁmdmg our lendmg obligations up to-a maximum

amount for each participation. Such participations entitle our related parties to receive payments of principal up to

the amounts they have funded and interest from our borrower on the amounts they have funded and to share in the

proceeds of the collateral. for the loan, including the land and related improvements to residential property owned

by-the borrowers and/or the ownership interests of the borrower that secure the original mortgage investment. The

income earned by our related parties -and the amounts our borrowers owe to our related parties for principal and
interest earned with respect to these participation agreements are not reflected in our financial statements.

Buffington Bear Creeic Note

In September 2008, we orlgmated an $8.8 mllhon secured promissory note (the “Bufﬁngton Bear Creek Note™)
with Buffington Land, Ltd., an unaffiliated Texas limited partnership, and Len-Buf Land Acquisitions of Texas,
L.P., an unaffiliated Texas limited partnership, as co-borrowers (collectively, “Buffington”). The Buffington Bear
Creek Note was initially evidenced and secured by a first lien deed of trust recorded against approximately 67
finished residential lots in the Bridges at Bear Creek residential subdivision in Austin, Texas. The interest rate
under the Buffington Bear Creek Note was the lower of 14% or the highest rate allowed by law. Buffington was
required to pay interest monthly and to repay a portion of principal upon the sale of residential lots covered by the
deed of trust. Pursuant to the Third Note and Loan Modification Agreement, the Buffington Bear Creek Note was
scheduled to mature on June 30, 2011, although it was fully repaid in October 2010. In determining whether to
modify this loan, we evaluated the economic conditions, the estimated value and performance of the underlying
collateral, .the guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the. borrower’s ab111ty to pay or. the value of the
collateral and other relevant factors. ?

Effective December 2008, we entered into a loan participation agreement with UMT, pursuarit to which UMT
purchased a participation in the Buffington Bear Creek Note (the “UMT Bear Creek Participation™). An affiliate of
our general partner serves as the advisor to UMT. Effective January 2010, we entered into a loan participation
agreement with UDF IV, pursuant.to.which UDF IV also purchased a participation interest in the Buffington Bear
Creek Note (the “UDF IV Bear Creek Participation”). Our general partner serves as the asset manager of UDF IV.
We .obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that the loan participation
agreement is fair and at:least as reasonable to us as: a loan participation agreement with an unaffiliated borrower in
‘similar circumstances. The UMT Bear Creek Participation and the UDF IV Bear Creek Participation gave UMT
and UDF IV the right to receive payment from us of principal and accrued interest relating to amounts they funded
under their participation agreements.

On April 9, 2010, we entered into an Agent — Participant Agreement with UDF IV (the “Agent Agreement”). In
accordance with the Agent Agreement, we continued to manage and control the Buffington Bear Creek Note and
UDF 1V appointed us as its agent to act on its behalf with respect to all aspects of the Buffington Bear Creek Note,

F-35



provided that, pursuant to the Agent Agreement, UDF IV retained approval rights in connection with any material
decisions pertaining to the administration and services of the loan and, with respect to any material modification to
the loan and in the event that the loan became non-performing, UDF IV had effective control over the remedies
relating to the enforcement of the loan, including ultimate control of the foreclosure process.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we did not have an outstanding balance in mortgage notes receivable or
accrued interest receivable associated with the Buffington Bear Creek Note. As the Buffington Bear Creek Note
was fully repaid in October 2010, neither UMT nor UDF IV had any outstanding participation interest as of
December 31, 2012 or 2011. For the year ended December 31, 2010, we recognized approximately $15,000 of
interest income on the Buffington Bear Creek Note.

BCH Note and BTC Note

In August 2008, we originated the $2.5 million BCH Note and the $2.0 million BTC Note with Buffington Capital
and Buffington Classic, respectively (collectively, “Buff Homes”).

Effective March 2010, we entered into two Participation Agreements (collectwely, the “BCH and BTC
Participation Agreements”) with UDF IV pursuant to which UDF IV purchased a participation interest in the BCH
Note and the BTC Note (collectively, the “Lot Inventory Loans™). Our general partner serves as the asset manager
of UDF IV. We obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that the loan
participation agreement is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan participation agreement with an unaffiliated
borrower in similar circumstances. Pursuant to the BCH and BTC Participation Agreements, UDF IV will
participate in the Lot Inventory Loans by funding our lending obligations under the Lot Inventory Loans. The
BCH and BTC Participation Agreements give UDF IV the right to receive repayment of all principal and accrued
interest relating to amounts funded by them under the BCH and BTC Participation Agreements. UDF [V’s
participation interest is repaid as Buff Homes repays the Lot Inventory Loans. For each loan originated, Buff
Homes is required to pay interest monthly and to repay the principal advanced no later than 12 months following
the origination of the loan. The BCH Note matured in August 2011, was paid in full and was not renewed, and the
BTC Note, as amended, matures in August 2013. In determining whether to modify this loan, we evaluated the
economic conditions, the estimated value and performance of the underlying collateral, the guarantor, adverse
situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay or the value of the collateral and other relevant factors.

We are requlred to purchase back from UDF 1V the participation interest in the Lot Inventory Loans (i) upon a
foreclosure of our assets by our lenders, (ii) upon the maturity of the Lot Inventory Loans, or (iii) at any time upon
30 days prior written notice from UDF IV. In such event, the purchase price paid to UDF IV will be equal to the
outstanding principal amount of the Lot Inventory Loans on the date of termination, together with all accrued
interest due thereon, plus any other amounts due to UDF IV under the BCH and BTC Participation Agreements.

On April 9, 2010, we entered into the Agent Agreement. In accordance with the Agent Agreement, we will
continue to manage and control the Lot Inventory Loans and UDF IV has appointed us as its agent to act on its
behalf with respect to all aspects of the Lot Inventory Loans, provided that, pursuant to the Agent Agreement, UDF
IV retains approval rights in connection with any material decisions pertaining to the administration and services of
the loans and, with respect to any material modification to the loans and in the event that the loans become non-
performing, UDF IV shall have effective control over the remedies relating to the enforcement of the loans,
including ultimate control of the foreclosure process.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we did not have an outstanding balance in mortgage notes receivable — related
parties or accrued interest receivable — related parties associated with the BCH Note or the BTC Note. As of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, UDF IV had a participation interest associated with the BCH and BTC Participation
Agreements of approximately $499,000 and $246,000, respectively. 'The UDF IV participation interest is not
included on our balance sheet. For the year ended December 31, 2010, we recognized approximately $26,000 of
interest income associated with the BCH and BTC Note.

TR II Finished Lot Note

In August 2009, we originated a $3.4 million secured promissory note (the “TR II Finished Lot Note) with
CTMGT Travis Ranch II, LLC, an unaffiliated Texas limited liability company. The TR II Finished Lot Note is
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secured by a subordinate, second lien deed of trust recorded against finished residential lots in the Travis Ranch
residential subdivision located in Kaufman County, Texas. The TR II Finished Lot Note is guaranteed by the
limited liability company owners of the borrower and by the principal of the borrower. The interest rate under the
TR II Finished Lot Note is 15%. The borrower has obtained a senior loan secured by a first lien deed of trust on
the finished lots. For so long as the senior loan is outstanding, proceeds from the sale of the residential lots
securing the TR II Finished Lot Note will be paid to the senior lender and will be applied to reduce the outstanding
balance of the senior loan. After the senior lien is paid in full, the proceeds from the sale of the residential lots
securing the TR II Finished Lot Note are required to be used to repay the TR II Finished Lot Note. The TR II
Finished Lot Note was due and payable in full on August 28, 2012. Pursuant to a loan modification agreement
effective August 28, 2012, the maturity date on the TR II Finished Lot Note was extended to January 28, 2013.
The TR II Finished Lot Note was increased to $3.8 million pursuant to a Borrower’s Confirmation Certificate
effective as of December 31, 2012. Pursuant to a second loan modification agreement effective January 28, 2013,
the maturity date on the TR II Finished Lot Note was extended to January 28, 2014. In determining whether to
modify this loan, we evaluated the economic conditions, the estimated value and performance of the underlying
collateral, the guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay or the value of the
collateral and other relevant factors.

Effective June 2010, we entered into a loan participation agreement with UDF IV pursuant to which UDF IV
purchased a participation interest (the “TR II Finished Lot Participation™) in the TR II Finished Lot Note. Our
general partner serves as the asset manager of UDF IV. We obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an
independent advisor, stating that the loan participation agreement is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan
participation agreement with an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. Pursuant to the TR II Finished Lot
Participation, UDF IV is entitled to receive repayment of its participation in the outstanding principal amount of the
TR II'Finished Lot Note, plus accrued interest thereon, over time as the borrower repays the loan.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we did not have an outstandmg balance in mortgage notes recelvable or
accrued interest receivable associated with the TR II Finished Lot Note. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, UDF
IV had a participation interest associated with the TR II Finished Lot Participation of approximately $3.6 million
and $2.7 million, respectively. The UDF IV participation interest is not included on our balance sheet. For the year
ended December 31, 2010, we recognized approximately $140, 000 of interest income associated with the TR II
Finished Lot Note

TR Paper Lot Note

In September 2009, we originated an $8.1 million secured promissory note (the “TR Paper Lot Note”) ‘with
CTMGT Travis Ranch, LLC, an unaffiliated Texas limited liability company. The borrower owns paper lots in the
Travis Ranch residential subdivision of Kaufman County, Texas. A “paper” lot is a residential lot shown on a plat
that has been accepted by the city or county, but which is currently undeveloped or under development. The TR
Paper Lot Note was initially secured by a pledge of the equity interests in the borrower instead of a real property
lien, effectively subordinating the TR Paper Lot Note to all real property liens. The TR Paper Lot Note is
guaranteed by the limited liability company owners of the borrower and by the principal of the borrower. The
interest rate under the TR Paper Lot Note is 15%. The borrower has obtained a senior loan secured by a first lien
deed of trust on the paper lots. For so long as the senior loan is outstanding, proceeds from the sale of the paper
lots will be paid to the senior lender and will be applied to reduce the outstanding balance of the senior loan. After
the senior lien is paid in full, the proceeds from the sale of the paper lots are required to be used to repay the TR
Paper Lot Note. The TR Paper Lot Note was due and payable in full on September 24, 2012. Pursuant to a loan
modification agreement effective September 24, 2012, the maturity date on the TR Paper Lot Note was extended to
January 28, 2013. The TR Paper Lot Note was increased to $11.0 million pursuant to a Borrower’s Confirmation
Certificate effective as of December 31, 2012. Pursuant to a second loan modification agreement effective
January 28, 2013, the maturity date on the TR Paper Lot Note was extended to January 28, 2014. In determining
whether to modify this loan, we evaluated the economic conditions, the estimated value and performance of the
underlying collateral, the guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay or the value of
the collateral and other relevant factors. .
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Effective June 2010, we entered into, a loan participation agreement with UDF IV pursuant to which UDF IV
purchased a participation interest (the “TR Paper Lot Participation™) in the TR Paper Lot Note. Our general partner
serves as the asset manager of UDF IV. We obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent
advisor, stating that the loan participation agreement is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan participation
agreement with an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. Pursuant to the TR Paper Lot Participation,
UDF 1V is entitled to receive repayment of its participation in the outstanding principal amount of the TR Paper
Lot Note, plus its proportionate share of accrued interest thereon, over time as the borrower repays the TR Paper
Lot Note.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we did not have an outstanding balance in mortgage notes receivable or
accrued interest receivable associated with the TR Paper Lot Note. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, UDF IV
had a participation interest associated with the TR Paper Lot Participation of approximately $10.6 million and $9.2
million, respectively. The UDF IV participation interest is not included on our balance sheet. For the year ended
December 31, 2010, we recognized approximately $240,000 of interest income associated with the TR Paper Lot
Note.

Luckey Ranch Note

In November 2008, we purchased a $1.7 million secured promissory note (the “Luckey Ranch Note”) from San
Antonio. Holding Company, Ltd., an unaffiliated Texas limited partnership (“SAHC”). SAHC originated the loan
in October 2006 with Luckey Ranch Global Associates, an unaffiliated Texas general partnership (“Luckey
Ranch”). The Luckey Ranch Note was initially secured by a second lien on approximately 610 acres of land
located in Bexar County, Texas. The interest rate on the Luckey Ranch Note is 12% and the Luckey Ranch Note
matured on September 30,.2012, in accordance with the Tenth Modification Agreement entered into in September
2011. In determining whether to modify this loan, we evaluated the economic conditions, the estimated value and
performance of the underlying collateral, the guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to
pay or the value of the collateral and other relevant factors.

Effective May 2011, we entered into a loan participation agreement with UDF LOF pursuant to which UDF LOF
purchased a participation interest (the “Luckey Ranch Participation”) in the Luckey Ranch Note. The general
partner of UDF LOF is a wholly-owned subsidiary of our general partner, and our general partner serves as the
asset manager for UDF LOF. We obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating
that the loan participation agreement is fair and at least as reasonable to us.as a loan participation agreement with
an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. Pursuant to the Luckey Ranch Participation, UDF LOF is
entitled to receive repayment ofits participation in the outstanding principal amount of the Luckey Ranch Note,
plus its proportionate share of accrued interest thereon, over time as the borrower repays the Luckey Ranch Note.
The Luckey Ranch Note and Luckey Ranch Participation were subsequently paid in full in October 2012.

As of Decemiber 31, 2012, we did'not have an outstanding balance in mortgage notes receivable or accrued interest
receivable associated with the Luckey Ranch Note. As of December 31, 2011, we had an outstanding balance in
mortgage hotes receivable and accrued interest receivable of approx1mately $99 000 and $13,000, respectively,
associated with the Luckey Ranch Note. As of December 31, 2011, UDF LOF had a participation interest
associated with the Luckey Ranch Part1c1pat1on of approximately $824,000. The UDF LOF participation interest is
not included on our balance sheet. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, we recognized
approximately $51 000, $108, 000 and $162, 000, respectively, of interest income associated with the Luckey Ranch
Note. :

Buffington Brushy Creek Note

In May 2008, we originated a $4.7 million secured promissory note (the “Buffington Brushy Creek Note™) with
Buffington Brushy Creek, Ltd., an unaffiliated Texas limited liability company, and Buff Star Ventures, Ltd., an
unaffiliated Texas limited Iiability company, as co-borrowers (collectively, “Buff Star”). The Buffington Brushy
Creek Note is secured by a pledge of ownership interests in Buff Star. Buff Star owns partnership interests in a
limited partnership that-owns finished lots and entitled land in a residential subdivision in Travis County, Texas.
The interest rate under the Buffington Brushy Creek Note is 16%. Pursuant to the Second Amendment to Secured
Promissory Note entered into in May 2011, the maturity date of the Buffington Brushy Creek Note is May 19,

F-38



2013. In determining whether to modify this loan, we evaluated the economic conditions, the estimated value and
performance of the underlying collateral, the guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to
pay or the value of the collateral and other relevant factors.

Effective May 2011, we entered into a loan participation agreement with UDF LOF pursuant to which UDF LOF
purchased a participation interest (the “Brushy Creek Participation™) in the Buffington Brushy Creek Note. The
general partner of UDF LOF is a wholly-owned subsidiary of our general partner and our general partner serves as
the asset manager for UDF LOF. We obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor,
stating that the loan participation agreement is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan participation agreement
with an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. Pursuant to the Brushy Creek Participation, UDF LOF is
entitled to receive repayment of its participation in the outstandmg principal amount of the Buffington Brushy
Creek Note, plus its proportionate share of accrued interest thereon, over time as the borrower repays the note. The
Buffington Brushy Creek Note and Brushy Creek Part1c1pat10n were paid i m full in May 2012.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we did not have an outstanding balance in mortgage notes receivable or
accrued interest receivable associated with the Buffington Brushy Creek Note. As of December 31, 2011, UDF
LOF had a participation interest associated with the Brushy Creek Participation of approximately $619 000 The
UDF LOF participation interest is not included on our balance sheet. For the years ended December 31, 2011 and
2010, we recognized approximately $167, 000 and $579,000, respectively, of interest income associated with the
Buffington Brushy Creek Note.

CTMGT Note

In December 2007, we originated a $25 million secured promissory note (the “CTMGT Note”) with CTMGT,
LLC, an unaffiliated Texas limited liability company and its subsidiaries, who are co-borrowers of the CTMGT
Note. The CTMGT Note was subsequently amended to $50 million pursuant to an amendment entered into in July
2008 and to $64.5 million pursuant to an amendment entered into in November 2011. The CTMGT Note is a co-
investment loan secured by multiple investments. These investments are cross-collateralized and are secured by
collateral-sharing arrangements in second liens covering finished lots and entitled land, pledges of the ownership
interests in the borrowing entities, and guaranties. The collateral-sharing arrangements with our affiliatés and our
borrowers allocate the proceeds of the co-investment collateral between us and our affiliates. Under these
collateral-sharing arrangements for the CTMGT Note, we are entitled to receive 75% of collateral proceeds. In the
event of a borrower’s bankruptcy, we are entitled to receive 100% of the collateral proceeds after payment of the
senior lenders, ahead of payment to our affiliates: The CTMGT collateral is located in multiple counti€s in the
greater Dallas-Fort Worth area and surrounding counties. The interest rate on the CTMGT Note is 16.25%.
Pursuant to the amendment entered into in November 2011, the maturity date of the CTMGT Note was July 1,
2012. Pursuant to a second amendment entered into in July 2012, the maturity date of the CTMGT Note was
extended to July 1, 2013. In determining whether to modify this loan, we evaluated the economic conditions, the
estimated value and performance of the underlying collateral, the guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the
borrower’s ability to pay or the value of the collateral and other relevant factors. ,

Effective July 2011, we entered into a loan part1c1pat10n agreement with UDF LOF pursuant to Wthh UDF LOF
purchased a participation interest (the “CTMGT PMClpatlon”) in the CTMGT Note. The general partner of UDF
LOF is a wholly-owned subsidiary of our general partner and our general partner serves as the asset manager for
UDF LOF. We obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that the loan
participation agreement is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan participation agreement with an unaffiliated
borrower in similar circumstances. Pursuant to the CTMGT Participation,- UDF LOF is entitled to receive
repayment of its participation in the outstandlng principal amount of the CTMGT Note, plus its proportionate share
of accrued interest thereon, over time as the borrower repays the note.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had an outstanding balance in mortgage notes receivable of approximately
$42.1 million and $40.7 million, respectively, associated with the CTMGT Note.- As of December 31, 2012 and
2011, we did not have an outstanding balance in accrued interest receivable associated with the CTMGT Note. As
of December 31, 2012 and 2011, UDF LOF had a participation interest associated with the CTMGT Participation
of approximately $13.0 million and $16.6 million, respectively. The UDF LOF participation interest is not included
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on our balance sheet. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, we recognized approximately $6.7
million, $7.6 million and $7.6 million, respectively, of interest income associated with the CTMGT Note.

Northpointe LLC Note

In December 2008, we originated a $4.2 million secured promissory note (the “Northpointe LLC Note™) with
Northpointe LLC. The Northpointe LLC Note is initially collateralized by a first lien deed of trust on 303 finished
lots in Texas and assignments of distributions from Northpointe LLC. The interest rate under the Northpointe LLC
Note is 12%. Pursuant to the Second Loan Modification Agreement entered into in April 2012, the maturity date
on the Northpointe LLC Note was December 4, 2012. Pursuant to a Third Loan Modification Agreement entered
into in December 2012, the maturity date of the Northpointe LLC Note was extended to June 4, 2013. In
determining whether to modify the Northpointe LLC Note, we evaluated the economic conditions, the estimated
value and performance of the underlying collateral, the guarantor, adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s
ability to pay or the value of the collateral and other relevant factors.

Effective June 2012, we entered into a loan participation agreement with UDF IV pursuant to which UDF IV
purchased a participation interest (the “Northpointe LLC Participation”) in the Northpointe LLC Note. Our general
partner serves as the asset manager of UDF IV. We obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an
indepéndent advisor, stating that the loan participation agreement is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan
patticipation agreement with' an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. Pursuant to the Northpointe LLC
Participation, UDF IV is entitled to receive repayment of its participation in the outstanding principal amount of the
Northpointe LL.C Note, plus its proportionate share of accrued interest thereon, over time as the borrower repays
the UDF Northpointe Note.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had an outstanding balance in mortgage notes receivable of approximately
$1.4 million and $3.3 million, respectively, associated with the Northpointe LLC Note. As of December 31, 2012
and 2011, we did not have an outstanding balance in accrued interest receivable associated with the Northpointe
LLC Note. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, we recognized approximately $260,000,
$308,000 and $293,000, respectively, of interest income associated with the Northpointe LLC Note, As of
December 31, 2012, UDF 1V had a participation interest associated with the Northpointe LLC Participation of
approximately $212,000. The UDF IV participation interest is not included on our balance sheet.

Credit Enhancement Fees — Related Parties

In February 2009, we deposited $1.5 million into the Deposit Account w1th LegacyTexas for the purpose of
providing collateral to LegacyTexas for the benefit of UMTH Lending. UMTH Lending and our general partner are
each owned 99.9% by UMT Holdings and 0.1% by UMT Services, which serves as the general partner for both
UMTH Lending and our general partner. We provided LegacyTexas a security interest in the Deposit Account as
further collateral for the UMTH Lending Loan obtained by UMTH Lending from LegacyTexas. In connection
therewith, as required by our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained
an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at
least as reasonable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. In
November 2010, UMTH Lending refinanced the UMTH Lending Loan with UTB. In conjunction with this
refinance, we deposited $1.5 million into the UTB Deposit Account for the purpose of providing collateral to UTB
for the benefit of UMTH Lending. The UTB Deposit Account replaced the Deposit Account previously
established with LegacyTexas. We provided the UTB Deposit Account as further collateral for a loan obtained by
UMTH Lending from UTB. In consideration for providing the UMTH Lending Deposit Accounts as collateral for
the UMTH Lending Loans, UMTH Lending agreed to pay us a fee equal to 3% per annum of the amount
outstanding in the UMTH Lending Deposit Accounts, paid in 12" monthly installments for each year that the
UMTH Lending Deposit Accounts secure the UMTH Lending Loans. The UTB Deposit Account is included as
restricted cash on our balance sheet. This fee of approximately $45,000 is included in mortgage and transaction
service revenues — related parties income for each of the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010.
Approximately $8,000 and $23,000 related to these fees is included in accounts receivable — related parties as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. For further discussion on the UMTH Lending Loans and UMTH
Lending Deposit Accounts, see Note L
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In August 2009, in consideration for entering into the TCB Guaranty (as discussed in Note I), we entered into a
letter agreement with UMT Home Finance which provides for UMT Home Finance to pay us annually, in advance,
an amount equal to 1% of our maximum exposure under the TCB Guaranty (i.e., $50,000 per annum) through
August 2012. Effective August 28, 2012, the letter agreement was modified and UMT Home Finance agreed to
pay us a monthly fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal balance of the Texas Capital loan.
UMT Home Finance is a wholly-owned subsidiary of UMT. An affiliate of our general partner serves as the
advisor to UMT. In connection therewith, as required by our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage
Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that this
credit enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated
borrower in similar circumstances. "In conjunction with this agreéement, approximately $15,000, $50,000 and
$50,000, respectively, is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income for the
years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010. Approximately $3,000 related to these fees is included in
accounts receivable — related parties as of December 31, 2012. No amount is included in accounts receivable —
related parties as of December 31, 2011 related to these fees.

In March 2010, in consideration for entering into the Resort Island Guaranty (as discussed in Note I), we entered
into a letter agreement with UDFLOF Resort Island which provides for UDFLOF Resort Island to pay us a
guaranty fee equal to 1% of our maximum exposure (i.e., $9,250) under the guaranty. The guaranty fee was paid to
us upon the execution of the guaranty. UDFLOF Resort Island is a wholly owned subsidiary of UDF LOF. The
general partner of UDF LOF is a wholly-owned subsidiary of our general partner, and our general partner serves as
the asset manager for UDF LOF. In connection therewith, as required by our Partnership Agreement and the
NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent
advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan or credit enhancement
to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. UDFLOF Resort Island paid off the loan to BOLC in
December 2010, thus extinguishing the guaranty. In conjunction with this agreement, no amount is included in
mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income for the years ended December 31, 2012 and
2011. Approximately $9,000 is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income for
the year ended December 31, 2010.

In April 2010, in consideration of us entering into the UDF IV HF Guaranty (as discussed in Note I), we entered
into a letter agreement with UDF IV Home Finance which provides for UDF IV Home Finance to pay us an annual
credit enhancement fee equal to 1% of the maximum loan amount (i.e., $60,000 per annum). UDF IV Home
Finance is a wholly-owned subsidiary of UDF IV. Our general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF IV,
and an affiliate of our general partner serves as the advisor for UDF IV. In connection therewith, as required by
our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson
Claborn, Inc., an independent adviser, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to us as
a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. In conjunction with this
agreement, $60,000, $60,000 and $45,000, respectively, is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues —
related parties income for the years ended December 31,2012, 2011 and 2010.

In April 2010, in consideration of us entering into the UMT 15th Street Guaranty (as discussed in Note I), we
entered into a letter agreement with UMT 15th Street which provides for UMT 15th Street to pay us a monthly
credit enhancement fee equal to one-twelfth-of 1% of the outstanding principal balance on the loan at the end of the
month. UMT 15th Street is a wholly-owned subsidiary of UMT. An affiliate of our general partner serves as the
advisor to UMT. In connection therewith, as required by our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage
Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that this
credit enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated
borrower in similar circumstances. This fee of approximately $11,000, $11,000 and $10,000, respectively, is
included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income for the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010. Approximately $1,000 and $8,000 related to these fees is included in accounts receivable -
related parties as of December 31, 2012 and 201 1 , respectively.

In June 2010, UDF I obtained the $15 million UDF I — Brockhoeft Loaﬂ from the Lender, as agent for a group of
lenders (as discussed in Note I). As security for the UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan, we provided the Lender with a
guaranty of repayment on the UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan, which was secured by a lien on all of our existing and
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future assets. Our general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF L. In connection therewith, as required by
our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson
Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to us as
a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrewer in similar circumstances. In consideration of our secured
guaranty, commencing July 31, 2010, UDF I agreed to pay us a monthly fee equal to 3% per annum of the
outstanding balance of the UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan. Effective June 21, 2012, the agreement was modified and
UDF I agreed to pay us a monthly fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal balance of the UDF I
— Brockhoeft Loan. UDF 1 paid off the UDF I — Brockhoeft Loan in December 2012, thus extinguishing the
guaranty. This fee of approximately $198,000, $450,000 and $225,000, respectively, is included in mortgage and
transaction service revenues — related parties income for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010.
Approximately $273,000 and $113,000 related to these fees is included in accounts receivable — related parties as
of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

In August 2010, in consideration of us entering into the UDF IV Acquisitions Guaranty (as discussed in Note I), we
entered into a letter agreement with UDF IV Acquisitions which provides for UDF IV Acquisitions to pay us a
monthly credit enhancement fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal balance on the revolving
line of credit at the end of the month. UDF IV Acquisitions is a wholly-owned subsidiary of UDF IV. Our general
partner serves as the asset manager for UDF IV, and an affiliate of our general partner serves as the advisor for
UDF IV. In connection therewith, as required by our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program
Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that this credit
enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in
similar circumstances. This fee of approximately $59,000, $43,000 and $20,000, respectively, is included in
mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011
and 2010. Approximately $7,000 and $5,000 related to these. fees is included in accounts receivable — related
parties as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

In December 2010, in consideration of us entering into the UDF IV Finance II Guaranty (as discussed in Note I),
we entered into a letter agreement with UDF IV Finance II which provides for UDF IV Finance II to pay us a
monthly credit enhancement fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal balance on a $10 million
loan between UDF IV Finance II and F&M at the end of the month. UDF IV Finance II is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of UDF IV. Our general partner serves as the asset manager for UDF IV, and an affiliate of our general
partner serves as the advisor for UDF IV. In connection therewith, as required by our Partnership Agreement and
the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from an independent advisor stating that this
credit enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated
borrower in similar circumstances. This fee of approximately $58,000 and $52,000, respectively, is included in
- mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income for the years ended December 31, 2012 and
2011. No amount is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income for the year
ended December 31, 2010. Approximately $5,000 related to these fees is included in accounts receivable — related
parties as of each of December 31, 2012 and 2011.

In May 2011, in consideration of us entering into the UMT HF III Guaranty (as discussed in Note I), we entered
into a letter agreement with UMT HF 11l which provides for UMT HF III to pay us a monthly credit enhancement
fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal balance on a $4.3 million loan between UMT HF III
and Veritex at the end of the month. -UMT HF IiI is a wholly-owned subsidiary of UMT. An affiliate of our
general partner serves as the advisor to UMT. In connection therewith, as required by our Partnership Agreement
and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an
independent advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan or credit
enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. This fee of approximately $29,000 and $8,000,
respectively, 1s included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income for the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011. No amount is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related
parties income for the year ended December 31, 2010. Approximately $3,000 and $7,000 related to these fees is
included in accounts receivable — related parties as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

In August 2011, in consideration of us entering into the UMT HF II Guaranty (as discussed in Note I), we entered
into a letter agreement with UMT HF II which provides for UMT HF II to pay us a monthly credit enhancement fee
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equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal balance on the $250,000 loan between UMT HF II and FFB
at the end of the month. UMT HF II is a wholly-owned subsidiary of UMT. An affiliate of our general partner
serves as the advisor to UMT. In connection therewith, as required by our Partnership Agreement and the NASAA
Mortgage Program Guidelines; we obtained an opinion from Jackson Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating
that this credit enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to us as a loan or credit enhancement to an unaffiliated
borrower in similar circumstances. : The FFB loan was repaid in-full by UMT HF 1I in May 2012 and thus the UMT
HF II Guaranty was extinguished. This fee of approximately $500 and $400, respectively, is included in mortgage
and transaction service revenues — related parties income for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011. No
amount is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income for the year ended
December 31, 2010. Approximately $400 related to these fees is 1nc1uded in accounts receivable — related partles
as of December 31, 2011. :

In October 201 1,in consideration of us entering into the UMT HF II Green Bank Guaranty (as discussed in Note I),
we entered into a letter agreement with UMT HF II' which provides for UMT HF II to pay us a monthly credit
enhancement fee equal to one-twelfth of 1% of the outstanding principal balance on a $5 million loan between
UMT HF I and Green Bank at the end of the month. UMT HF 1II is a wholly-owned subsidiary of UMT. An
affiliate of our general partner serves as the advisor to UMT. In connection therewith, as required by our
Partnership Agreement and the NASAA Mortgage Program Guidelines, we obtained an opinion from Jackson
Claborn, Inc., an independent advisor, stating that this credit enhancement is fair and at least as reasonable to us as
a loan or credlt enhancement to an unaffiliated borrower in similar circumstances. This fee of approx1mately
$1,200 and $300, respectively, is included in mortgage and transaction service revenues — related parties income
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011. No amount is included in mortgage and transaction service
revenues — related parties income for the year ended December 31, 2010. Approximately $200 and $300 related to
these fees is included in accounts receivable — related parties as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

L. Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Partnership to concentrations of credit risk are primarily mortgage
notes receivable, mortgage notes receivable — related parties and participation interest — related party. The
Partnership maintains deposits in financial institutions that may at times exceed amounts covered by insurance
provided by the U.S. Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) The Partnershlp has not experienced any
losses related to amounts in excess of FDIC limits.

At December 31, 2012, approximately 95% of the outstanding aggregate principal amount of mortgage notes
originated by the Partnership are secured by properties located throughout Texas, approximately 3% are secured by
properties located in Colorado and approximately 2% are secured by properties located in Arizona. At December
31, 2011, approximately 96% of the outstanding aggregate principal amount of mortgage notes originated by the
Partnership are secured by properties located throughout Texas, approximately 3% are secured by properties
located in Colorado and approximately 1% are secured by properties located in Arizona. All of the Partnership’s
mortgage investments are in the United States.

M. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Selected quarterly financial data (unaudited) for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 is set forth
below:
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201
First quarter

N

Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter
For the year

[l

011
First quarter

Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter
For the year

[\

010
First quarter

Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter
For the year

Net Income

Per
Net Income Limited Weighted
’ Allocated to. Partnership Average
Limited Unit Units
Revenues Net Income Partners Basic/Diluted Outstanding
$ 13,111,817 $ 11,725,335 $ 10,508,204 $ 0.57 18,381,530
13,134,476 11,554,690 10,35 5,272~ ‘ 0.56 18,501,746
13,265,856 11,827,492 10,599,757 0.57 18,624,890
13,647,064 7,193,216 6,446,536 0.34 18,754,059
$53,159213 - § 42,300,733 $: 37,909,769 $ 2.04 18,566,233
$ 12,760,751 $ 11,400,437 $ 10,217,032 $ 0.57 17,840,589
12,911,611 11,476,081 10,284,85.‘3 0.57 17,976,682
12,813,803 1 1,342,167 10,164,810 0.56 18,113,285
12,940,782 7,955,868 - 7,130,021 0.39 18,248,968 .
$ 51,426,947 $ 42,174,553 $ 37,796,686 $ 2.09 18,046,187
$11,724,470 $ 10,256,069 $ 9,191,453 $ - 0.53 17,289,322
11,983,126 10,365,463 9,289,492 0.53 17,421,668
12,552;162 11,110,160 9,956,886 0.57 17,560,810
12,763,537 - . 8,360,781 7,492,903 0.42 17,701,718
$ 49,023,295 $ 40,092,473 $ 35,930,734 $ 2.05 17,494,694
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Number
3.1

3.2

33

3.4
4.1
4.2

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

Index to Exhibits

Description o
Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Registrant (previously filed

in and incorporated by reference to Exhibit B to prospectus of the Registrant filed pursuant to Rule
424(b)(3) on May 18, 2006)

Certificate of Limited Partnership of Registrant (previously filed in and incorporated by reference
to Registrant’s Registration Statement on F orm S-11, Commission File No. 333-127891, filed on
August 26, 2005)

First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited
Partnership of Registrant (previously filed in and incorporated by reference to
Exhibit B to Supplement No. 12 to prospectus dated May 15, 2006, contained
within Post-Effective Amendment No. 4 to Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-11, Commrssron File No. 333-127891, filed on May 12,
2009)
Second Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of
Registrant (previously filed in and incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on June 10, 2009)
Subscription Agreement (previously filed in and incorporated by reference to Exhibit C to
Supplement No. 12 to prospectus dated May 15, 2006, contained within Post-Effective
Amendment No. 4 to Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S- 11 Commission File
No. 333-127891, filed on May 12, 2009)
Amended and Restated Distribution Reinvestment Plan (previously ﬁled in and incorporated by
reférence to Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-3, Comm1ss1on File No. 333-159939,
filed on June 12,-2009)
Form of Escrow Agreement between United Development Funding 111, L.P. and Coppermark

- Bank (previously filed in and incorporated by reference to Pre-Effective Amendment No. 4 to

Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, Commission Flle No. 333-127891, filed on
February 10, 2006)

Form of Participation Agreement by and between the Registrant, UMTH Land Development, L.P.,
United Development Funding, L.P. and United Development Funding II, L.P. (previously filed in

- and incorporated by reference to Pre-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Registrant’s Registration

Statenient on Form S-11, Commission File No. 333-127891, filed on November 18, 2005)

Form of Marketing Support Agreement (previously filed in and incorporated by reference to Pre-
Effective Amendment No. 3 to Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, Commission
File No. 333-127891, filed on February 1, 2006)

Limited Guaranty by United Development Funding III, L.P. for the benefit of United Mortgage

‘Trust (previously filed in and incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on October 20, 2006)

Letter agreement with respect to the Limited Guaranty between United Development Funding III,
L.P. and United Mortgage Trust for the benefit of United Development Funding, L.P. (previously
filed in and incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on October 20, 2006)

Fairness opinion with respect to Limited Guaranty by United Development Funding III, L.P. for
the benefit of United Mortgage Trust and letter agreement with respect to the Limited Guaranty
between Registrant and United Mortgage Trust for the benefit of United Development Funding,
L.P. (previously filed in and incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on October 20, 2006)
Secured Promissory Note by Centurion Acquisitions, L.P. for the benefit of United Development
Funding III, L.P. (previously filed in and mcorporated by reference to Form 10-Q filed on
November 14, 2006)

Secured Promissory Note by Midlothian Longbranch L.P. for the benefit of United Development
Funding, III, L.P. (previously filed in and 1ncorporated by reference to Form 10- Q filed on

- November 14, 2006)



Exhibit
Number
10.9

10.10

10.11
10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15
10,16.

10.17

1018
10.19
10.20.
1021

10.22

1023

10.24

1025

Description
Environmental Indemnity Agreement by Midlothian Longbranch, L.P., Centurion Acquisitions,

L.P., Pars Investments, Inc. and Mehrdad Moayedi in favor of United Development Funding 111,
L.P. (previously filed in and incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2006)
Secured Promissory Note by Arete Real Estate and Development Company, Modern Modular
Home Rental Corp., and Creative Modular Housing Inc. for the benefit of United Development
Funding III, L.P. (previously filed in and incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q filed on
November 14, 2006)

Security Agreement by Arete Real Estate and Development Company, Creat1ve Modular Housing
Inc. and Modern Modular Home Rental Corp. in favor of United Development Funding III, L.P.
(previously filed in and incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2006)
Continuing Unconditional Guaranty by Joe Fogarty, Nancy Fogarty and the Fogarty Family Trust
for the benefit of United Development Funding III, L.P. (previously filed in and incorporated by
reference to Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2006)

‘Secured promissory note by Centurion Acqulsmons L.P. for the benefit of United Development

Funding III, L.P. (previously filed in and incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on

. November 21, 2006)

Security Agreement by Centurion Acqu1s1t1ons L.P.and Pars Investment Inc., for the benefit of
United Development Funding IIL. L.P. (previously filed in and incorporated by reference to Form
8-K filed on November 21, 2006)

Continuing Unconditional Guaranty by Pars Investment Inc for the benefit of United
Development Funding III, L.P. (previously filed in and incorporated by reference to Form 8-K

. filed on November 21, 2006) ‘
- Loan and Security Agreement between Unlted Development Funding HI, L.P., as borrower, and

Premier Bank, as lender (previously ﬁled in and incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on
January 3, 2007)

Revolving Note from Unlted Development Fundmg III, L.P. for the benefit of Premier Bank

(previously filed in and incorporated by.reference to Form 8-K filed on January 3, 2007)
Secured Promissory Note by United Development Funding, L.P. for the benefit of United

. Development Funding IIL, L.P. (previously filed in and incorporated by reference to Form 8-K
_filed on January 4, 2007) .

Fairness opinion with respect. to Secured Promlssory Note by United Development Funding, L.P.
for the benefit of United Development Funding III, L.P. (previously filed in and incorporated by
reference to.Form 8-K filed on January 4, 2007)

Secured Promissory Note by Buffington Hidden Lakes, Ltd. for the benefit of United
Development Funding III, L.P. (previously filed in and incorporated by reference to Form 10-K
filed on April 2, 2007)

Continuing Unconditional Guaranty by Bufﬁngton H1dden Lakes GP, Inc. for the benefit of
United Development Funding III, L.P. (previously filed in and 1ncorporated by reference to Form

- 10-K filed on April 2, 2007)

Letter of engagement between UMTH Fund1ng Services, L.P. and United Development Funding
IIL, L.P. regarding arrangement,of financing and financial advising (previously filed in and

- incorporated y:referenee to Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Registrant’s Registration
- Statement on Form S-11, Commission File No. 333-127891, filed-on April 30, 2007)

-~ Note Purchase, Assignment and Assumption Agreement by and between McDougal Family
~Partnership, Ltd. and United Development-Funding I, L.P. (prev1ously filed in and incorporated

by reference to Form 10-Q filed on May 15, 2007)
Secured Line of Credlt Promissory Note by United Development Funding X, L.P. (previously

. filed in and incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2007)

Security Agreement by United Development Funding X, L.P. in favor of United Development
Funding III, L.P. (previously filed in and incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q filed on
November 14, 2007)
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10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30 -

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39

23.1*

31.1*

31.2%
32.1%*
101.SCH***
101.INS*#*
101.CAL***
101.DEF***
101.LAB***

Description
Continuing Unconditional Guaranty by UMT Holdings, L.P. for the benefit of United

Development Funding III, L.P. (previously filed in and incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q
filed on November 14, 2007)

Fairness opinion with respect to Secured Line of Credit Promissory Note by United Development
Funding X, L.P. for the benefit of United Development Funding III, L.P. (previously filed in and
incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2007)

Secured Line of Credit Promissory Note by United Development Funding, L.P. for the benefit of
United Development Funding III, L.P. (previously ﬁled in and incorporated by reference to Form
10-Q filed on November 14, 2008)

Secured Line of Credit Promissory Note by United Development Funding Land Opportunity Fund,
L.P. for the benefit United Development Funding III, L.P. (previously filed in and incorporated by
reference to Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2008)

Security Agreement by United Development Funding, L.P. in favor of United Development
Funding III, L.P. (previously filed in and incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q filed on
November 14, 2008)

Security Agreement by United Development Funding Land Opportunity Fund, L.P. in favor of
United Development Funding III, L.P. (previously filed in and incorporated by reference to Form
10-Q filed on November 14, 2008)

First Amendment to Secured Line of Credit Promissory Note by United Development Fundmg X,
L.P. for the benefit of United Development Funding III, L.P. (previously filed in and incorporated
by reference to Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2008)

Economic Interest Participation Agreement and Purchase Option between United Mortgage Trust
and United Development Funding III, L.P. (previously filed in and incorporated by reference to
Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2008)

Fairness Opinion with respect to Secured Line of Credit Promissory Note by United Development
Funding, L.P. for the benefit of United Development Funding III, L.P. (previously filed in and
incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2008)

Fairness Opinion with respect to Economic Interest Participation Agreement and Purchase Option
between United Mortgage Trust and United Development Funding III, L.P. (previously filed in
and incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2008)

Fairness Opinion with respect to First Amendment to Secured Line of Credit Promissory Note by
United Development Funding X, L.P. for the benefit of United Development Funding III, L.P.

‘(previously filed in and incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2008)

Fairness Opinion with respect to Secured Line of Credit Promissory Note by United Development
Funding Land Opportunity Fund, L.P. for the benefit United Development Funding III, L.P.
(previously filed in and incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2008)
Loan and Security Agreement between Registrant, as Borrower, and Wesley J. Brockhoeft, as
Lender, dated as of September 21, 2009 (previously filed in and incorporated by reference to Form
10-Q filed on November 16, 2009)

Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement between Registrant, as Borrower, and
Wesley J. Brockhoeft, as Lender, dated as of June 21, 2012 (previously filed in and incorporated
by reference to Form 10-Q filed on August 14, 2012) ‘
Consent of Whitley Penn LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Principal Executive Officer

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Principal Financial Officer

Section 1350 Certifications

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document



Exhibit
Number Description
101.PRE*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

sk

*k

Kk

Filed herewith.

In accordance with Item 601(b)(32) of Regulation S-K, this Exhibit is not deemed “filed” for purposes of
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that
section. Such certifications will not be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that the
registrant specifically incorporates it by reference.

XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language) information is deemed not filed or a part of a registration
statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, is
deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and
otherwise is not subject to liability under these sections.



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registéred Public Accdunting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-3D) No. 333-159939, and in
the prospectus thereto, of our report dated April 1, 2013, with respect to the financial statements of United
Development Funding III, L.P., included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as of December 31, 2012 and 2011
and for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010.

/s/ Whitley Penn LLP
Dallas, Texas
April 1,2013



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, Hollis M. Greenlaw, certify that:

1.

2.

5.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of United Development Funding IIT, L.P.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made; in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial ‘statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(@

(®)

©

d

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the
period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of our
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to. materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

G

(b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Dated this April 1, 2013

/s/ Hollis M. Greenlaw

Hollis M. Greenlaw

President and Chief Executive Officer of UMTH
Land Development, L.P., sole general partner of the
Registrant, and President and Chief Executive Officer
of UMT Services, Inc., sole general partner of
UMTH Land Development, L.P.




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

[, Cara D. Obert, certify that:

1.

2.

5.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of United Development Funding III, L.P.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made not mlsleadmg with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and othér financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,

- and for, the periods presented in this report; -

The registrént’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing_ and maintaihing disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(2

(b)

(©)

(d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared; ,

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectlveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the
period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of our
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions): '

(@)

(b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Dated this April 1, 2013

/s/ Cara D. Obert

Cara D. Obert

Chief Financial Officer of UMTH Land
Development, L.P., sole general partner of the
Registrant




Exhibit 32.1

SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATIONS

This Certificate is being delivered pursuant to the requirements of Section 1350 of Chapter 63 (Mail Fraud) of Title
18 (Crimes and Criminal Procedures) of the United States Code and shall not be relied on by any person for any other

purpose.

The undersigned, who are (i) the President and Chief Executive Officer of UMTH Land Development, L.P., sole
general partner of United Development Funding ITI, L.P. (the “Partnership”), and President and Chief Executive Officer of
UMT Services, Inc., sole general partner of UMTH Land Development, L.P., and (ii) the Chief Financial Officer of UMTH
Land Development, L.P., sole general partner of the Partnership, each hereby certify as follows:

The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Partnership (the “Report”), which accompanies this Certificate, fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and all
information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Partnership. - , '

Dated this April'1, 2013

/s/ Hollis M. Greenlaw

Hollis M. Greenlaw

President and Chief Executive Officer of UMTH
Land Development, L.P., sole general partner of the
Registrant, and President and Chief Executive
Officer of UMT Services, Inc., sole general partner
of UMTH Land Development, L.P.

/s/ Cara D. Obert

Cara D. Obert

Chief Financial Officer of UMTH Land
Development, L.P., sole general partner of the
Registrant
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Hollis M ,Greenlaw,

‘Chairtan of the Board of Trustees
and Chiefl Executive Officerof -

10 DI 1V Chief Executive Officer
“of UM Services, UMTH Land

“Development and UMT Holdmgs,
Director of UMT Services;and -
Partner of UMT Holdings

Ben L. Wissink
President of UMTH Land

Development and Partner of UMT

Holdings

Todd F. Etter

Chaifm’m and Partner of UMT

'Holdmgs Executive Vice President

of UMTH Land De vdopmsni

Directorand Chairman of UM
‘Services:

Cara D. Cbert

Chief Financial Officer of UMTH
Land Development and Partner of
UMT Holdings

‘M@z@

Melissa Youngblood

Chief Operating Officer of UMTH
Land Development and Partier of
UMT Holdings
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